Joana Rita Batuca

HUMORAL RESPONSE TOWARDS HIGH DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN: A NEW MECHANISM FOR ATHEROGENESIS

Lisboa, 2013

Dissertation presented to obtain the PhD degree in *Ciências da Vida - Especialidade* Farmacologia in the Faculdade de Ciências Médicas da Universidade Nova de Lisboa

Experimental work conducted in the Departamento de Farmacologia - Centro de Estudo de Doenças Crónicas (CEDOC), Faculdade de Ciências Médicas da Universidade Nova de Lisboa,

under the scientific supervision of Prof. Doutor José Delgado Alves

This work was financially supported by:





Thinking is more interesting than knowing, but less interesting than looking (Johann Wolfgang von Goethe)

The scientific content of the present thesis has been included in the publication of the following international scientific periodicals with referees:

- **Batuca JR**, Ames PRJ, Isenberg DA and Delgado Alves J. Antibodies towards high-density lipoprotein components inhibit paraoxonase activity in patients with Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2007;1108 (1):137–146.

- **Batuca JR**, Ames PRJ, Amaral MC, Favas C, Isenberg DA and Delgado Alves J. Antiatherogenic and anti-inflammatory properties of high-density lipoprotein are affected by specific antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2009;48(1):26-31.

- **Batuca J** & Delgado Alves J. C-reactive protein in systemic lupus erythematosus. Autoimmunity. 2009 May;42(4):282-5

- **Batuca JR**, Amaral MC and Delgado Alves J. Humoral mechanism of atherogenesis. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2009;1173:401-408.

- **Batuca JR**, Gomes AL, Amaral MC, Favas C, Justino GC, Dias S and Delgado Alves J. Antibodies against high density lipoprotein components a new risk factor for atherosclerosis (submitted)

- **Batuca JR**, Amaral MC, Favas C and Delgado Alves J. Antibodies toward high-density lipoprotein components in patients with type 2 diabetes (submitted)

- Batuca JR, Amaral MC, Favas C and Delgado Alves J. Nicotinic acid increases anti-ApoA-I antibodies (submitted)

The work presented in this thesis was awarded with the - *Prémio NEDAI de Investigação em Auto-imunidade* from the Portuguese Society of Internal Medicine in 2010.

The work presented in this thesis was subject of patent application: Provisory patent application № 20131000056087 from 26/07/2013 with title "Quantification and isolation of antibodies against HDL complex".

To António

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The first thankfulness goes to my supervisor Prof. Doutor José Delgado Alves, for his consistent guidance into the scientific way of thinking, encouragement and support. Above of all, I greatly appreciate his truly enthusiastic approach to science, for giving me the opportunity to be his "Portuguese biochemist " and for be the person with whom I most liked to share good results after a long day in the lab.

I also wish to express my heartfelt gratitude to Prof. Doutora Emília Monteiro head of Pharmacology Department for giving me the opportunity to work in her laboratory. I could ever forget that she was my first mentor and continue to be very helpful to my growth as a scientist. I greatly appreciate the trust she have placed in me over the years and her dedication to her work.

I remain greatly indebted to all the clinicians and basic researchers that in somehow helped me throughout this project. My grateful thanks to Dr^a Marta Amaral, Dr^a Catarina Favas, Prof. Doutor David Isenberg, Doutor Paul Ames, Doutor Luis Lopez for their support and assistance with recruitment of subjects for the study, for allowing me to use the clinical trials in my thesis and for all those interesting discussions during the development of this project. I am also very grateful to Doutor Constantin Fesel, Doutor Sergio Dias, Doutor Michel Kranendonk, Doutora Ana Gomes, Doutor Gonçalo Justino for being so well received in their laboratories, for all the constructive inputs in scientific discussions and fruitful collaboration between our research groups.

My thanks to all staff (Prof. Doutora Teresa M, Prof. Doutora Silvia Conde, Prof. Doutora Sofia Pereira, Prof. Doutora Maria G, Prof. Doutor Paulo VC, Drª Umbelina C, Drª Natália M, Teresa L, Silvina, Lucília, Rita, Inês F, Aline, Maria João, Nádia, Joana S, Inês G, Raquel, Liliana, Clara, Patrícia) past and present, at the Pharmacology Department for making it such a wonderful place to work in and providing moral support and a lots of fun. I specially want to thank to Prof. Doutora Silvia Conde and Prof. Doutora Sofia Pereira for their continued friendship, kindness, for many good laughs over a cup of coffee and for sharing the joy of turning the Pharmacology Lab ("our lab") into what it is now, full of young researchers as we have already been, in which good science is made in a pleasant atmosphere. I would also like to acknowledge the institutional support given by the Science Medical Faculty and the CEDOC for providing the research facilities and for funding my salary, which have made this work possible.

My sincere thanks to all foundations and companies that provide the financially supported for this study.

Finally grateful thanks to:

My parents Manuel and Teresa, my sisters Marta and Inês, for their steadfast love, for always believing in me and encouraging me, for a firm foundation and through their example shown me the importance of honest and hard-work to achieve any goal.

My dear husband, Marco, for being there with limitless love and for giving me all the support I could ever have wished for. And to the greatest gift of all, our son, António, who changed everything, but with just a smile or a "gosto de ti mamã" make me believe that we'll get everything.

My remaining family and friends for their continued love, for filling my life with memorable fun moments and for putting up with me when I kept going on about my research.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOW	LEDGEMENTS	i			
TABLE OF CONTENTS					
LIST OF FIGURES					
LIST OF T	ABLES	xi			
LIST OF AI	LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS				
ABSTRAC	r	xix			
RESUMO		xxiii			
1. INTRO	ODUCTION	1			
1.1	Atherosclerosis: a global overview	3			
1.1.1	Hypercholesterolemia	4			
1.1.2	Diet	4			
1.1.3	Impaired glucose metabolism	4			
1.1.4	Hypertension	5			
1.1.5	Smoking	5			
1.1.6	Lack of exercise	5			
1.1.7	Hyperhomocysteinemia	5			
1.1.8	Infections	6			
1.1.9	Genetic factors	6			
1.2	Lipids and Plasma Lipoproteins in Atherogenesis	8			
1.2.1	Lipoprotein structure and composition				
1.2.2	Lipoprotein metabolism	9			
1.2.3	Lipoproteins and cardiovascular disease (CVD)				
1.3	High Density Lipoprotein (HDL)	15			
1.3.1	Structure (heterogeneity) and composition	15			
1.3.2	Atheroprotective functions of HDL				
1.3.3	Functionally defective HDL	40			
1.3.4	Epidemiology of cardiovascular risk in relation to low HDL-C				
1.3.5	Pharmacologic modulation of HDL-C				
1.4	Immunity in Atherogenesis	57			
1.4.1	Overview	57			
1.4.2	General innate immune response	57			
1.4.3	General adaptative immune response	58			

	1.4.4	The immune response in atherogenesis	60
	1.4.5	Immune response in atherogenesis and HDL	69
1	L.5	Aims of the thesis	72
2.	MET	HODS	73
2	2.1	Immunologic-related methods	75
	2.1.1	Enzyme-Linked Immunoabsorbent Assays (ELISAs)	
	2.1.2	Immunoturbidimetric immunoassay	79
	2.1.3	Antibody isolation	79
2	2.2	Biochemistry-related methods	81
	2.2.1	Paraoxonase 1 (PON1) activity	81
	2.2.2	Total anti-oxidant capacity (TAC)	81
	2.2.3	Nitric oxide metabolites	82
	2.2.4	Total HDL cholesterol, HDL2 and HDL3	82
2	2.3	Functional assays in vitro	83
	2.3.1 serur 2.3.2	Inhibition of paraoxonase 1 (PON1) activity by the antibodies isolated from p n 83 In vitro exposure of human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) to aHDL ant	atient's tibodies
		83	
2	2.4	Statistical analysis	84
з. МС	HUN DDIFIC	ORAL RESPONSE TOWARDS HDL COMPONENTS AND ITS ASSOCIATION WIT ATIONS OF THE ANTI-ATHEROGENIC PROPERTIES OF HDL	Ή 85
3	3.1		03
З		and appox-i antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus (SEE)	87
r	3.2 elated	Anti-HDL and aApoA-I antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in non auto-immune patients with atheroso clinical events	87 87 97
r	8.2 elated 3.2.1	Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in non auto-immune patients with atheroso clinical events Coronary artery disease (CAD) and ischemic stroke (IS)	87 clerosis- 97 97
r	3.2 related 3.2.1 3.2.2	Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in non auto-immune patients with atheroso clinical events Coronary artery disease (CAD) and ischemic stroke (IS) Type 2 diabetes	87 87 97 97 108
r 4. CO	8.2 elated 3.2.1 3.2.2 BIOL MPLE	Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in non auto-immune patients with atheroso clinical events Coronary artery disease (CAD) and ischemic stroke (IS) Type 2 diabetes OGIC ACTIVITY AND PATHOGENIC POTENTIAL OF ANTIBODIES TOWARDS TH	87 clerosis- 97 97 108 IE HDL 119
r 4. CO	8.2 elated 3.2.1 3.2.2 BIOL MPLE	Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in non auto-immune patients with atheroso clinical events Coronary artery disease (CAD) and ischemic stroke (IS) Type 2 diabetes OGIC ACTIVITY AND PATHOGENIC POTENTIAL OF ANTIBODIES TOWARDS TH	87 clerosis- 97 97 108 IE HDL 119 121
r 4. CO 4	8.2 elated 3.2.1 3.2.2 BIOL MPLE 4.1	Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in non auto-immune patients with atheroso clinical events Coronary artery disease (CAD) and ischemic stroke (IS) Type 2 diabetes OGIC ACTIVITY AND PATHOGENIC POTENTIAL OF ANTIBODIES TOWARDS TH C Introduction Aim	
r 4. CO 4 4	8.2 elated 3.2.1 3.2.2 BIOL MPLE 4.1 4.2	Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in non auto-immune patients with atheroso clinical events Coronary artery disease (CAD) and ischemic stroke (IS) Type 2 diabetes OGIC ACTIVITY AND PATHOGENIC POTENTIAL OF ANTIBODIES TOWARDS TH C Introduction Aim Patients and Methods	87 clerosis- 97 97 108 IE HDL 121 121 121
r 4. CO 4 4 4 4 4 5	8.2 elated 3.2.1 3.2.2 BIOL MPLE 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 PON1 a	Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in non auto-immune patients with atheroso clinical events Coronary artery disease (CAD) and ischemic stroke (IS) Type 2 diabetes OGIC ACTIVITY AND PATHOGENIC POTENTIAL OF ANTIBODIES TOWARDS TH C Introduction Aim Patients and Methods Isolation of aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies from patients with SLE and in vitro inhib	97 97 97 108 IE HDL 121 121 121 121 121 121 121 121
r 4. CO 4 4 4 4 F	8.2 elated 3.2.1 3.2.2 BIOL MPLE 4.1 4.2 4.4 PON1 a 4.4.1	Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in non auto-immune patients with atheroso clinical events Coronary artery disease (CAD) and ischemic stroke (IS) Type 2 diabetes OGIC ACTIVITY AND PATHOGENIC POTENTIAL OF ANTIBODIES TOWARDS TH C Introduction Aim Patients and Methods Isolation of aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies from patients with SLE and in vitro inhib ctivity Results	87 clerosis- 97 97 108 IE HDL 121 121 121 121 121 122
r 4. CO 4 4 4 4 F	3.2 elated 3.2.1 3.2.2 BIOL MPLEX 4.1 4.2 PON1 a 4.4.1 4.4.2	Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)	87 clerosis- 97 97 108 IE HDL 121 121 121 121 122 123
r 4. CO 4 4 4 4 5	3.2 elated 3.2.1 3.2.2 BIOL MPLE) 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 2ON1 a 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.5 CAD	Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in systemic lupus erytnematosus (SLE)	87 clerosis- 97 97 108 IE HDL 108 IE HDL 121 121 121 121 oition of 122 122 123 n IS and

REF	EREN	CES	_163
6.	OVE	RALL DISCUSSION AND PROPOSALS FOR FUTURE DIRECTIONS	_157
	5.3.5	Discussion	154
	5.3.4	Results	152
	5.3.3	Patients and methods	150
	5.3.2	Aim	150
	5.3.1	Introduction	149
5	.3	Influence of Rosuvastatin on the oxidative modification of LDL in type 2 diabetes	_ 149
	5.2.5	Discussion	148
	5.2.4	Results	146
	5.2.3	Patients and methods	145
	5.2.2	Aim	145
	5.2.1	Introduction	144
5 e	.2 rythen	Prevention of atherosclerosis with atorvastatin in patients with systemic natosus (SLE): a pilot study	lupus _ 144
	5.1.5	Discussion	142
	5.1.4	Results	137
	5.1.3	Patients and methods	134
	5.1.2	Aim	134
	5.1.1	Introduction	133
5 e'	.1 valuate	Exploratory, double blind placebo controlled, randomized, single cross-over sture e the potential anti-oxidant activity of Niaspan [®] (EXPLORE)	dy to _ 133
5.	PHAI	RMACOLOGIC MANIPULATION OF HDL-C AND aHDL ANTIBODIES TITRES	_131
	4.7.2	Discussion	128
	4.7.1	Results	126
-	.,	126	Joures
4	7	In vitro exposure of human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) to aHDL antih	123
	4.0.1	Discussion	125
4	.0	Results	- ¹²⁵
Л	4.3.2	In vitro inhibition of PON1 activity by aHDL antibodios	125
	152	Discussion	125

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Schematic presentation of the major lipoproteins in normal human plasma
Figure 2. Overview of lipoprotein metabolism
Figure 3. High density lipoproteins (HDL) heterogeneity17
Figure 4. Nomenclature of the high density lipoproteins (HDL) subclasses determined by different methods
Figure 5. Cholesterol ester transfer protein (CETP)-mediated lipid exchange between lipoproteins 26
Figure 6. Summary of the key anti-atherogenic properties attributed to high density lipoprotein (HDL)
Figure 7. HDL metabolism and reverse cholesterol transport (RCT)
Figure 8. Major pathways involved in vasodilatory activity of HDL
Figure 9. Contribution of platelets to the initiation and the progression of atherosclerosis
Figure 10. Intracellular signalling cascate triggered by the interaction of HDL with the platelet receptors SR-B1 and ApoER2
Figure 11. HDL and glucose homeostasis
Figure 12. Proposed model for generating dysfunctional HDL 41
Figure 13. Coronary artery disease (CAD) risk predicted by high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) and low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) in the Framingham Heart Study
Figure 14. Residual cardiovascular risk despite statin treatment
Figure 15. Percentage reductions in serum LDL cholesterol levels according to statin and daily dose
Figure 16. Effect of each statin on HDL-C levels
Figure 17. Mechanism of up-regulation of ApoA-I production by statins and effect on ABCA1 47
Figure 18. Cholesterol biosynthetic pathway
Figure 19. Mechanism of action of fibrates
Figure 20. Mechanisms of nicotinic acid-induced changes in lipolysis
Figure 21. Emerging HDL-based therapies
Figure 22. Interaction between innate and adaptative immunity
Figure 23. T cell-dependent B cell activation
Figure 24. Activation of innate immune response in atherosclerotic lesion
Figure 25. Activation of T cells in atherosclerotic lesions
Figure 26. Naive T-cell differentiation into specific T helper (Th) substes involved in atherosclerosis and its complex interactions
Figure 27. Role of HDL and ApoA-I in regulating immune responses
Figure 28: Levels of IgG aHDL (A) and IgG aApoA-I antibodies (B) in healthy controls (CTRL) and patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)
Figure 29: Correlation (Spearman's rank test) between PON1 activity (U/L) and IgG aHDL levels (A) and IgG aApoA-I levels (B) in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)
Figure 30: Correlation (Spearman's rank test) between the total antioxidant capacity (TAC) expressed in Vitamin E analogue (VEA) equivalent units (μ M) and IgG aHDL (A), IgG aApoA-I (B) antibodies titres and PON1 activity (C) in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)

Figure 44. Levels of IgG aHDL antibodies in the fractions collected from the HDL- HiTrap NHS activated HP column after patients serum was applied (A). Capacity of recovery of aHDL antibodies from fractions 31 and 32 in relation to the original patients samples applied to the column (B)..... 124

 Figure 46. Effect of aHDL antibodies isolated from patient's serum on the expression of VCAM-1 in

 HUVECs exposed to TNF-α.
 127

 Figure 47. Effect of aHDL antibodies isolated from patients serum on VEGF levels produced by
 127

 Figure 48. Study design scheme.
 127

 Figure 49. Effect of treatments on lipid profile.
 139

 Figure 50. Paraoxonase 1 (PON1) activity acording treatment groups at baseline and at end of 12

Figure 51. Serum nitric oxide metabolites (NO ₂ ⁻ + NO ₃ ⁻) acording treatment groups at baseline and a the end of 12 weeks of treatment
Figure 52. Levels of IgG aHDL (A) and IgG aApoA-I (B) antibodies in both groups of study at baselin and at the end of 12 weeks of treatment
Figure 53. Correlation (Spearman's rank test) between IgG aApoA-I and IgG HDL antibodies (A) an HDL2 levels (B) at the end of treatment in subject taking extended-release niacin
Figure 54. Correlation (Spearman's rank test) between IgGaApoA-I antibodies and PON1 activity a baseline (A) and at the end of 12 weeks of treatment (B) in subject taking extended-release niacir 14

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Composition of the major lipoprotein complexes. 9
Table 2. Proteins detected in high density lipoproteins (HDL) by mass spectrometry
Table 3. Classification of high density lipoproteins (HDL) by physical properties. 18
Table 4. Clinical evidence for ApoA-I/ HDL infusion. 55
Table 5. Several ligands for the different pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs), scavenger receptors(SRs) and toll-like receptors (TLRs)
Table 6. Demographic characteristics and clinical and serological data of healthy controls (CTRL) andpatients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)
Table 7: Biological variables (oxidation and endothelial dysfunction markers) measured in healthycontrols (CTRL) and patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)
Table 8: Demographic characteristics and clinical and serological data of healthy controls (CTRL) andpatients with atherosclerosis-associated clinical events: coronary artery disease (CAD) and ischemicstroke (IS).100
Table 9: Antibodies titres measured in healthy controls (CTRL) and in patients with atherosclerosis- associated clinical events coronary artery disease (CAD) and ischemic stroke (IS)
Table 10: Biological variables (oxidation and inflammation markers) measured in healthy controls(CTRL) and in patients with atherosclerosis-associated clinical events: coronary artery disease (CAD)and ischemic stroke (IS)
Table 11. Demographic characteristics and clinical and serological data of healthy controls (CTRL) and patients with type 2 diabetes
Table 12. Antibodies titres measured in healthy controls (CTRL) and in patients with type 2 diabetes. 112
Table 13. Biological variables (oxidation and inflammation markers) measured in healthy controls(CTRL) and in patients with type 2 diabetes
Table 14. Baseline demographic characteristics and clinical and serological data of two groups 138
Table 15. Demographic characteristics, clinical and laboratory data of patients with systemic lupuserythematosus (SLE) randomized to placebo and atorvastatin group.147
Table 16. Biological variables mesuared of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)randomized to placebo and atorvastatin group
Table 17. Demographic characteristics, clinical and serological data of patients with type 2 diabetesrandomized to receive or not rosuvastatin
Table 18. Effect of six weeks treatment with rosuvastatin in serological data of patients with type 2diabetes153
Table 19. Biological variables mesuared after treatment with or without rosuvastatin on patients with type 2 diabetes

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- aa amino acid
- aApoA-I anti-apolipoprotein A-I
- aApoA-II anti-apolipoprotein A-II
- aApoC-I anti-apolipoprotein C-I
- ABCA1 adenosine triphosphate-binding cassette transporter A1
- ABCG1/G4 adenosine triphosphate-binding cassette transporter G1/G4
- AC adenylate cyclase
- aCL anti-cardiolipin
- ACAT acyl-CoA:cholesterol acyltransferase
- ACE angiotensin-converting enzyme
- ACR American College of Rheumatology
- ADMA asymmetric dimethylarginine
- AGEs advanced glycation end products
- aHDL anti-high density lipoprotein
- AI-BP apolipoprotein A-I binding protein
- ALT alanine transaminase
- AMPK 5' adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase
- AP alkaline phosphatase
- AP-1 activator protein-1
- APCs antigen presenting cells
- APS antiphospholipid syndrome
- Apo apolipoprotein
- aPON1 anti-paraoxonase1
- ARB angiotensin receptor blocker
- AST aspartate aminotransferase
- ATGL adipose triacylglycerol lipase
- BAFF B cell activating factor
- β2GP1 beta 2 glicoprotein 1
- BCRs B cell antigen receptor
- BIC bicarbonate
- BILAG British Isles Lupus Assessment Group
- BSA bovine serum albumin
- Bregs regulatory B cells

- CAD coronary artery disease
- cAMP cyclic adenosine monophosphate
- CCL chemokine C-C motif ligand
- CCR2 chemokine receptor type 2
- CE cholesteryl ester
- CETP cholesteryl ester transfer protein
- CHD coronary heart disease
- cGMP cyclic guanosine monophosphate
- COX cyclooxygenase
- CREBP cAMP-response element binding protein
- CRP C-reactive protein
- CTRL healthy controls
- CVD cardiovascular disease
- CX3CR1 chemokine C-X3-C motif ligand 1
- DBP diastolic blood pressure
- DCs dendritic cells
- DNA deoxyribonucleic acid
- EGFR epidermal growth factor receptor
- EL endothelial lipase
- ELISA enzyme-linked immunoabsorbent assay
- EPCs endothelial progenitor cells
- eNOS endothelial nitric oxide synthase
- ET-1 endothelin-1
- FC free cholesterol
- FFA free fatty acid
- FH familial hypercholesterolemia
- FMD flow-mediated dilation
- FPG fasting plasma glucose
- FXR farnesoid X-activated receptor
- GPx3 glutathione peroxidases isoenzyme 3
- HbA1c glycosylated haemoglobin
- HBP high density lipoprotein binding protein
- Hcy Homocysteine
- HDL high-density lipoprotein
- HDL-C high-density lipoprotein cholesterol

- 12-HETE 12-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid
- HL hepatic lipase
- HMG-CoA reductase 3-hydroxy-3- methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase
- HOMA homeostatic model assessment
- hs-CRP high sensitivity C-reactive protein
- HSL hormone-sensitive lipase
- HSP heat shock proteins
- HUVECs human umbilical vein endothelial cells
- ICAM-1 intercellular adhesion molecule 1
- IDL intermediate-density lipoprotein
- IgG immunoglobulin G
- IgM immunoglobulin M
- IL interleukin
- IMT intima-media thickness
- INF-y interferon-gamma
- iNOS inductible nitric oxide synthase
- IS ischemic stroke
- KO knockout
- LCAT lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase
- LDL low-density lipoprotein
- LDL-C low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
- LOX-1 lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor 1
- Lp(a) lipoprotein(a)
- LPL lipoprotein lipase
- Lp-PLA2 lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2
- LPS lipopolysaccharide
- LTB₄ leukotriene B4
- LXR liver X receptor
- MAPK mitogen-activated protein kinase
- MCP-1 monocyte chemoattractant protein
- MDA malondialdehyde
- MHC major histocompatibility complex
- MI myocardial infarction
- MPO myeloperoxidase
- mRNA messenger ribonucleic acid

- MyD88 myeloid differentiation factor 88
- NAD nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
- NADP nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
- NADPH nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide reduced form
- NF-kB nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
- NMD nitroglycerin-mediated endothelium-independent dilation
- NK natural killers
- NO• nitric oxide
- NO2⁻ nitrite
- NO₃⁻ nitrate
- NOS nitric oxide synthase
- 3-NT 3-nitrotyrosine
- O_2^{\bullet} superoxide anion
- ONOO⁻ peroxynitrite
- OP organophosphate
- oxLDL oxidized low-density lipoprotein
- PAF-AH platelet-activating factor acetyl hydrolase
- PAI-1 plasminogen activator inhibitor-1
- PAMPs pathogen associated molecular patterns
- PAPS primaty antiphospholipid syndrome
- PBS phosphate buffered saline
- PDGF platelet-derived growth factor
- PGI2 prostacyclin
- pl isoelectric point
- PI3K phosphatidylinositide 3-kinases
- PKA protein kinase A
- PKC protein kinase C
- PL phospholipids
- PLTP phospholipid transfer protein
- pNPP p-nitrophenyl phosphate
- PON paraoxonase
- PPAR peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
- PRRs pattern-recognition receptors
- PUFAs polyunsaturated fatty acids
- RA rheumatoid arthritis

- RAGEs receptor for advanced glycation end products
- RCT reverse cholesterol transport
- rHDL reconstituted particules of HDL
- RXR retinoid X receptor
- S1P sphingosine-1-phosphate
- SAA serum amyloid A
- SBP systolic blood pressure
- SD standard deviation
- SLE systemic lupus erythematosus
- SLICC/ACR DI Systemic Lupus International Collaborating Clinics/American College of
- Rheumatology Damage Index
- SMCs smooth muscle cells
- SphK sphingosine kinase
- SRs scavenger receptors
- SR-BI scavenger receptor class B type I
- SREBP sterol regulatory element-binding protein
- TAC total antioxidant capacity
- TC total cholesterol
- TCRs T-cell receptors
- TF tissue factor
- TFPI tissue factor pathway inhibitor
- TG triglycerides
- TGF- β transforming growth factor-beta
- Th T helper
- TLR toll like receptors
- TNF- α tumour necrosis factor-alpha
- tPA tissue plasmogen activator
- Tregs regulatory T cells
- tRNA transfer ribonucleic acid
- TxA2 thromboxane A2 ()
- UKPDS UK Prospective Diabetes Study
- VCAM-1 vascular cell adhesion molecule 1
- VEA vitamin E analogue
- VEGF- vascular endothelial growth factor
- VLDL very low-density lipoprotein

ABSTRACT

Atherosclerosis is the major cause of morbidity and mortality in the western world. It is also responsible, directly or indirectly, for the highest percentage of health costs in most European countries. Despite the use of new technologies for the diagnosis of vascular disease and regardless of the major advances in treatment, the atherosclerosis-related clinical burden is still raising.

The "lipid theory" of atherogenesis, which identifies dyslipidemia as the primary cause of this vascular disease has some important practical implications: it allows the definition of simple guidelines and establishes therapeutic targets which can be generally met with current pharmacologic intervention.

The association between atherosclerosis an the immune system (the immune concept) has in turn provided new ways of exploring the mechanisms involved in this condition and has opened new perspectives in the understanding of the disease. However, it raises obvious difficulties when it comes to treatment options.

Of all the players (biochemical, immunological and anatomical) involved in this matter, high-density lipoproteins (HDL) are currently recognised as one of the most important factors in atherogenesis. This is based on the recognition of HDL's multiple anti-atherogenic properties: anti-oxidant, anti-inflammatory and antithrombotic, as well as its capacity to improve endothelial function. Nowadays, it is widely recognized that the anti-atherogenic functions of HDL go beyond reverse cholesterol transport (RCT), and the importance of HDL is based not just on its ability to reduce atheroma formation but also on its ability to stabilise plaques, therefore preventing their rupture and ultimately thrombosis.

Two main set of events have been recognised as fundamental in atherogenesis: one, characterized by lipoprotein metabolism alterations, resulting in pro-inflammatory and pro-oxidative lipoproteins, which interact with the normal cellular elements of the arterial wall leading to atheroma formation; the other, the immune cellular response towards new sets of antigens which lead to the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines.

Given to HDL complexity and multiple functions this lipoprotein has became a potential target for an auto-immune response, the consequences of which may explain some of the association identified in epidemiological and clinical studies, though the interaction between the immune system and HDL has never been thoroughly addressed.

Therefore, we hypothesized that under oxidative and pro-inflammatory conditions, the increase in the antigen (HDL) would lead to a consequent increase in the production of anti-HDL (aHDL) antibodies be responsible for quantitative and/or qualitative changes of HDL. The concept that these antibodies may contribute either to the long-term evolution of atherosclerosis or to the triggering of clinical events may also explain the heterogeneity found in individual patients and in large cohorts regarding risk factors and clinical outcomes. Moreover this may be a major breakthrough in understanding why therapeutic interventions that increase HDL levels, failed to show the anticipated reduction in vascular risk.

The overall aims of this thesis were to identified and characterize the humoral response towards HDL components and to evaluate the possible mechanisms that may contribute to the modifications of the anti-atherogenic properties of HDL.

To achieve this objective we investigated: **1**) the presence of aHDL antibodies in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and in patients with atherosclerosis-related clinical events, such as coronary artery disease (CAD), ischemic stroke (IS) and type 2 diabetes; **2**) the association between the titres of aHDL antibodies and different clinical features of these diseases; **3**) the modifications of the anti-atherogenic properties of HDL; **4**) the biologic effect of aHDL antibodies isolated from serum of patients on the anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of HDL; **5**) the effect of different pharmacologic treatments for dyslipidemia on the prevalence and activity of aHDL antibodies.

The methodologies used in this work included immunologic-related techniques (e.g. enzyme-linked immunoabsorbent assay – ELISA, immunoturbidimetric immunoassay and immunoaffinity chromatography), biochemical techniques (enzymatic assays with quantification by spectrophotometry and luminescence methods), cell culture experiments and flow cytometry.

Our results indicate that: **1**) The titres of IgG aHDL, anti-apolipoprotein A-I (aApoA-I) and anti-paraoxonase 1 (aPON1) antibodies were higher in patients with SLE, CAD, IS and type 2 diabetes when compared with age and sex matched healthy controls. **2**) The antibodies found in these patients were associated with decreased PON1 activity, (the enzyme responsible for most of the anti-oxidant effect of HDL), reduced total anti-oxidant capacity (TAC) of serum and increased biomarkers of endothelial dysfunction (nitric oxide metabolites, adhesion molecules, nitrotyrosine). In patients with SLE the antibody titres were associated with an increase in disease-related cardiovascular damage and activity whereas in patients with type 2 diabetes they were directly related with the fasting glucose plasma (FGP) levels and the glycosylated haemoglobin (HbA1c). **3**) The antibodies isolated from serum of our patients, directly inhibited HDL-associated PON1 activity in a dose dependent way ranging from 7 to 52%. **4**) The anti-inflammatory effect of HDL, measured by the percentage of inhibition of the cytokine-induced production of vascular adhesion molecules (VCAM-1), was reduced in more than 80% by aHDL antibodies isolated from our patients. **5**) The HDL-induced angiogenesis by increasing vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) levels was abrogated in 65% by the antibodies isolated from serum of patients. **6**) The current available pharmacologic agents for increasing HDL-C concentrations were associated with an increase in the titres of IgG aApoA-I antibodies. This increase was higher in the extended release niacin when compared to statins probably due to their dampening effect on oxidative stress.

In conclusion, aHDL antibodies are present in different pathologic conditions. aHDL antibodies represent a family of self-reacting immunoglobulins, of which ApoA-I and PON1 might be the most relevant targets. These antibodies are biologically active, interfering with the HDL anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory properties and, consequently, with the atherosclerotic process. The pathogenic potential of these antibodies may lead to the identification of a new biomarker for vascular disease, whilst presenting itself as a novel target for a different treatment approach which may redefine the treatment strategies and clinical trials design for HDL interventions in the future.
RESUMO

Aterosclerose é uma das principais causas de morbilidade e mortalidade no mundo ocidental. É responsável, direta ou indiretamente, pela maior percentagem de gastos com a saúde na maioria dos países europeus.

A "teoria lipídica" da aterosclerose, que se baseia na dislipidemia como causa primária para a doença vascular tem algumas implicações práticas importantes: permite a definição de linhas de orientação e protocolos simples e ainda estabelece alvos terapêuticos que podem ser atingidos na maior parte dos casos com a atual intervenção farmacológica.

A associação da aterosclerose com o sistema imunológico (a "teoria imunológica"), forneceu por sua vez novas formas de explorar os mecanismos envolvidos e abriu novas perspetivas para um conhecimento mais completo da doença. No entanto, levanta dificuldades evidentes no que diz respeito às possibilidades terapêuticas.

De todos os intervenientes no processo aterosclerótico (bioquímicos, imunológicos e anatómicos), as lipoproteínas de elevada densidade (HDL) são atualmente reconhecidas como um dos fatores mais importantes na aterogénese. Isto é baseado no reconhecimento das múltiplas propriedades anti-aterogénicas das HDL como por exemplo: a anti-oxidante, a anti-inflamatória e a antitrombótica, bem como o seu importante papel na melhoraria da função endotelial. Atualmente, é consensual que as funções anti-aterogénicas das HDL vão além do seu papel no transporte reverso do colesterol (RCT) e a importância das HDL no processo aterosclerótico baseia-se não apenas no seu papel protetor impedindo a formação da placa de ateroma, mas também na estabilização destas, prevenindo a sua ruptura e, consequentemente o evento trombótico.

Como fundamentais no processo aterosclerótico estão reconhecidos dois principais conjuntos de eventos: um caracterizado por alterações no metabolismo das lipoproteínas que resultam em lipoproteínas pró-inflamatórias e pró-oxidantes que interagem com os componentes celulares da parede arterial e que conduzem à formação da placa de ateroma; o outro evento é a resposta imunológica desencadeada contra um novo conjunto de antigénios que por sua vez leva à produção de citoquinas pró-inflamatórias.

Dada a complexidade da HDL e das suas múltiplas funções estas lipoproteínas tornaramse um potencial alvo para a resposta auto-imune, e cujas consequências podem explicar algumas das associações identificados em estudos clínicos e epidemiológicos. Contudo esta interação entre o sistema imunológico e HDL nunca foi exaustivamente estudada.

Portanto, pomos a hipótese de que em condições oxidativas e pró-inflamatórias, um aumento do antigénio (HDL) conduz a um consequente acréscimo na produção de anticorpos anti-HDL (aHDL) responsáveis pela alteração quantitativa e / ou qualitativa das HDL. O conceito de que estes anticorpos podem contribuir tanto para a evolução a longo prazo do processo aterosclerótico, como para o desencadeamento de eventos clínicos pode também explicar a heterogeneidade encontrada em cada doente e nos grandes estudos clínicos, no que diz respeito aos fatores de risco e *outcomes* clínicos. Para além disso, a confirmação desta hipótese pode permitir explicar porque é que as intervenções terapêuticas atualmente em desenvolvimento para aumentar os níveis de HDL, não conseguem mostrar a tão esperada redução do risco vascular.

O objetivo geral desta tese foi identificar e caracterizar a resposta humoral contra os componentes da HDL, e avaliar possíveis mecanismos que possam contribuir para a modificação das propriedades anti-aterogénicas das HDL.

Para alcançar este objetivo investigou-se: 1) A presença de anticorpos aHDL em doentes com lúpus eritematoso sistémico (SLE) e em doentes com manifestações clínicas de aterosclerose, como os doentes com doença arterial coronária (CAD), acidente vascular cerebral isquémico (IS) e diabetes tipo 2; 2) Os principais alvos antigénicos dentro do complexo das HDL e a associação entre os títulos de anticorpos aHDL e diferentes características clínicas destas doenças; 3) As modificações das funções normais associadas às HDL, em particular da função anti-oxidante e anti-inflamatória; 4) A atividade biológica dos anticorpos aHDL isolados do soro de doentes através de um conjunto de experiências *in vitro* de inibição da atividade da paraoxonase 1 (PON1) e da expressão de moléculas de adesão em culturas de células endoteliais. Para tal foi necessário estabelecer um método de isolamento dos anticorpos. Os anticorpos aHDL isolados do soro de doentes do soro de doentes do soro de doentes foram utilizados de forma a identificar as potenciais alterações dos sistemas celulares utilizados; 5) O efeito de fármacos usados no tratamento das dislipidemias, em particular o ácido nicotínico e as estatinas, na variação dos títulos de anticorpos aHDL através de ensaios clínicos randomizados, controlados com placebo e em dupla ocultação.

Os métodos utilizados neste trabalho incluíram: técnicas imunológicas (como por exemplo, *enzyme-linked immunoabsorbent assay* - ELISA, ensaio imunoturbidimetrico e

cromatografia de imuno-afinidade) técnicas bioquímicas (tais como a quantificação de atividade enzimática por espectrofotometria e por luminescência), experiências com cultura de células e citometria de fluxo.

Os nossos resultados mostram que: 1) A presença de anticorpos aHDL, e mais especificamente anticorpos contra alguns do seus principais componentes como a apolipoproteína A-I (ApoA-I, principal apolipoproteína presente nas HDL) e a PON1 (o enzima que mais contribui para a propriedade anti-oxidante das HDL), quer em doentes com doenças auto-imunes, como o SLE, quer em doentes com manifestações clínicas de aterosclerose, como CAD, IS e diabetes tipo 2. Os doentes apresentaram títulos de anticorpos IgG aHDL, aApoA-I e aPON1 significativamente mais elevados do que controlos saudáveis com a mesma idade e sexo. 2) A correlação positiva estatisticamente significativa entre os títulos de aHDL e aApoA-I e aPON1 sugere que estes sejam dois dos principais alvos antigénicos dentro do complexo das HDL. Os anticorpos encontrados nestes doentes estão associados com a diminuição da atividade da PON1 e a uma redução da capacidade anti-oxidante total (TAC) do soro, um aumento dos biomarcadores de disfunção endotelial (como por exemplo dos metabolitos do óxido nítrico - NO₂⁻ e NO₃⁻, as moléculas de adesão vascular e intracelular - VCAM-1 e ICAM-1 e os níveis de 3-nitrotirosina). Nos doentes com SLE os títulos destes estão associados a um aumento do dano cardiovascular e à atividade global da doença avaliados pelas escalas SLICC/ACR DI e BILAG score, respetivamente. Enquanto que nos doentes com diabetes tipo 2 estes anticorpos estão associados com um aumento dos níveis de glicemia em jejum (FGP) e hemoglobina glicada (HbA1c). 3) Após se ter estabelecido um método de isolamento dos anticorpos que permite isolar quantidades significativas de anticorpos do soro de doentes sem perder a sua especificidade, foi identificada a capacidade dos anticorpos isolados do soro de doentes inibirem de uma forma dependente da concentração a atividade da PON1 até um máximo de 70% no caso dos doentes com SLE e ente 7-52% no caso dos anticorpos isolados de doentes com CAD e IS. 4) O efeito anti-inflamatório das HDL na inibição da produção de VCAM-1 induzida por citoquinas (como o TNF- α) foi revertido em mais de 80% pelos anticorpos aHDL isolados do soro de doentes. 5) A angiogenesis induzida por HDL através do aumento do fator de crescimento do endotélio vascular (VEGF) foi anulada em 65% pelos anticorpos aHDL isolados do soro de doentes. 6) Os atuais agentes farmacológicos disponíveis para aumentar as concentrações de HDL-C estão associados a um aumento dos títulos de anticorpos

aApoA-I, sugerindo que o aumento da quantidade de HDL-C não se traduz necessariamente num aumento das funções de HDL. Este aumento foi maior no estudo clínico com niacina de liberação prolongada em comparação com os estudos com as estatinas, provavelmente devido ao seu efeito negativo sobre o stress oxidativo.

Em conclusão os anticorpos contra diversas estruturas do complexo das HDL estão presentes em diferentes condições patológicas. Os anticorpos aHDL representam uma família de imunoglobulinas, das quais a ApoA-I e a PON1 parecem ser os alvos mais relevantes. Estes anticorpos são biologicamente ativos, interferindo com as propriedades anti-oxidante e anti-inflamatórias das HDL e, consequentemente, com o processo aterosclerótico. A identificação do elevado potencial patogénico destes anticorpos poderá permitir a identificação de um novo biomarcador de risco de doença vascular, abrindo simultaneamente as portas para novas opções terapêuticas.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Atherosclerosis: a global overview

Atherosclerosis derives from the Greek words athero (meaning gruel or paste) and sclerosis (hardness). It is a general term describing any hardening of medium or large arteries with consequent loss of elasticity.

Atherosclerosis is considered to be the most common cause of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in western societies^{1,2} and by 2020 atherosclerosis is expected to be the leading cause of death worldwide.³ Atherosclerosis begin in the teenage years and progresses silently until the age 40 when it may manifest as myocardial infarction (MI) or stroke. It was initially perceived as a degenerative disease, an inevitable consequence of ageing secondary to the accumulation of lipids in the arterial wall resulting in narrowing of the lumen.

In 1913, Anitschkow and Chalatow showed that feeding cholesterol to rabbits rapidly produces an atheromatous disease similar to that found in man,⁴ giving rise to the "lipid theory" of atherosclerosis.

In 1950 Gofman et al^{5,6} showed that specific fractions of cholesterol such as low-density lipoprotein (LDL) were responsible for the rapid progression of atherosclerosis in human.

In the early 80s Brown and Goldstein⁷ showed that circulating LDL underwent some structural modification before it became fully pro-atherogenic. In the last three decades of the 20th century Ross and Glomset⁸ proposed the "response to injury hypothesis", and described atherosclerosis as consequence of mechanical, toxins, and free radicals injury to the endothelial lining of the arterial wall.⁹

The endothelium is an important organ that modulates vasomotor tone, inflammation, thrombosis.¹⁰⁻¹³ Under normal conditions, the endothelial lining has an anti-adhesive and antithrombotic phenotype¹⁴ but high-levels of native or modified LDL, free radicals, microorganisms, shear stress, hypertension and insulin resistance may shift the endothelium to a pro-adhesive and pro-thrombotic phenotype.

The susceptibility to atherosclerosis depends on potentially controllable factors such as hypercholesterolemia, diet, impaired glucose metabolism, hypertension, smoking, lack of exercise hyperhomocysteinemia, infections and non-modifiable risk factors such as genetic factors, age and gender.

1.1.1 Hypercholesterolemia

The concentration of serum cholesterol is determined by genetic and environmental factors such as the type and amount of fat in the diet, obesity and physical activity. Based on animal studies, epidemiologic data and interventional studies there is a strong evidence for an association between hypercholesterolemia and the increased risk of cardiovascular diseases (CVD). Familial hypercholesterolemia (FH) is an autosomal dominant disorder characterized by elevated plasma of LDL cholesterol (LDL-C) levels. Mutations in the gene encoding for LDL receptor, results in a defective LDL clearance and consequent increase risk for premature CVD.¹⁵

Several large randomized interventional trials with lipid lowering drugs have demonstrated that the decrease of serum total cholesterol particularly of LDL-C levels led to slowing or even reversing of the progression of clinical manifestations of atherosclerosis¹⁶⁻¹⁸ Conversely, serum levels of high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) are associated with a reduction in the risk of atherosclerosis,¹⁹ indeed therapies that raise HDL-C reduce the morbidity and mortality associated with coronary heart disease (CHD).^{20,21}

1.1.2 Diet

The industrial and technological revolutions of the last 200 years has lead to mass production of food, switch food-processing techniques that have created the so-called Western diet, characterized by high intake of red meat, fat, cereals and refined sugars.²²

Moreover the caloric intake has increased considerably, in face of clinical experimental evidences suggesting that caloric restriction may decrease the risk of atherosclerosis.²³

1.1.3 Impaired glucose metabolism

Although hyperglycaemia is an established CVD risk factor independent of hypercholesterolemia, clinical trials, such as the UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS), have not been able to demonstrate definitively that an intensive glucose lowering policy reduces CHD events.²⁴⁻²⁶ Thus, a focus on reducing glycaemia alone does not appear sufficient to reduce the excess risk in diabetes, highlighting the need for a comprehensive treatment of other risk factors.

Although type 2 diabetes is primarily a metabolic disorder, it is also a vascular disease²⁷ and the most important cause of death among these patients is CVD.²⁸⁻³⁰ The risk of cardiovascular events including fatal CHD in diabetic patients is higher than in non-diabetics

4

regardless of the previous vascular history. Furthermore, the risk of cardiovascular events in diabetic patients with no previous history of vascular morbidity is similar to that of non-diabetic patients who have such a history.³¹⁻³³

In patients with type 2 diabetes, the risk of developing atherosclerosis at an earlier age is three- to five folds greater than in non-diabetics, after controlling for other risk factors.³⁴⁻³⁶ Although type 2 diabetes is a state of increased plasma coagulability,³⁷ endothelial dysfunction is the most important factor for thrombotic complications.

1.1.4 Hypertension

Hypertension, defined as a systolic blood pressure in excess of 140 mmHg or a diastolic blood pressure above 90 mmHg has been shown to accelerate atherosclerosis and the risk of cardiac and cerebrovascular disease over time.³⁸ The mechanism by which hypertension causes atherosclerosis is not completely known, although loss of the nitric oxide (NO•) and prostacyclin (PGI2) precede some morphologic alterations of the arterial intima.^{39,40}

1.1.5 Smoking

Smoking promotes atherosclerosis by several mechanisms amongst which a higher degree of lipid peroxidation^{41,42} that induces and worsens endothelial damage. Smoking is associated with an increased risk of plaque formation and a reduction in plaque stability.⁴²⁻⁴⁴

1.1.6 Lack of exercise

Physical inactivity is a recognized risk factor for atherosclerosis and there is evidence suggesting that regular exercise may decrease blood pressure and cholesterol levels, insulin resistance and excessive weight ultimately lowering atherosclerotic risk and its mortality.⁴⁵

1.1.7 Hyperhomocysteinemia

Homocysteine (Hcy) is an amino acid (aa) with a sulphydryl group, formed by demethylation of methionine: deficiencies or impaired activity of the enzymes that metabolize Hcy as a result of genetic mutations and/or acquired deficiencies of folate, vitamin B12 and B6 causes hyperhomocysteinemia.⁴⁶ This blood levels is associated with lipid peroxidation and a pro-inflammatory state leading to endothelial damage that contributes to the development of atherosclerosis.⁴⁷

1.1.8 Infections

Over the past years several viral and bacterial infections have been associated with the development of atherosclerosis and the clinical complications of unstable angina, myocardial infarction, and stroke.^{48,49}

Some of these mechanisms by which viruses or bacteria increase the risk of atherosclerosis include direct infection of the cells of the arterial that in turn triggers an immune response which could initiate an autoimmune process against endothelial cells.^{48,50}

1.1.9 Genetic factors

Atherosclerosis is a complex multifactorial disease and it is likely that many genes may contribute to both the susceptibility and the pathogenesis of the disease. Advances in molecular genetics have revealed that genetic polymorphisms may significantly influence susceptibility to atherosclerosis. A large number of candidate genes, genetic polymorphisms and susceptibility loci have been identified in recent years and their number is rapidly increasing. Two major experimental approaches are being used to identify and understand the role of these genes: the first applies genomic and proteomic technology to study the expression, functions, and interactions of genes in models of atherosclerosis.⁵¹ The second approach is to study human populations for genetic variations that correlate with (and may determine) differences in rates of atherogenesis.⁵² Within a population, the heritability of atherosclerosis (the fraction of disease explained by genetics) has been high in most studies, frequently exceeding 50%.^{51,53}

Furthermore, genes that predispose to hypertension, type 2 diabetes, endothelial dysfunction, cellular proliferation, tissue remodelling and homeostatic defects can all be considered relevant genes for atherosclerosis.

However, there is a lack of consistent results from different studies and population groups which creates an ambiguity about the role of genetic variations in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Many of the individual genetic variations have only a modest effect on the risk of atherosclerotic disorders but their effects are enhanced in synergism with other genetic and environmental factors. Moreover, the variations among population groups, such as variations in age, sex, ethnicity and sample size as well as differences in clinical end points can significantly influence the results of genetic association studies. It has become apparent that the traditional risk factors explain only part of the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Albeit dyslipidemia is known to be a major cause of atherosclerosis that give raise to pro-inflammatory and pro-oxidative lipoproteins it is being increasingly recognised that immunologic mechanisms are also present and both innate and adaptive immunity are implicated in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, ⁵⁴⁻⁵⁶

1.2 Lipids and Plasma Lipoproteins in Atherogenesis

The major plasma lipids are cholesterol, triglycerides (TG) and phospholipids. Cholesterol is by far the most abundant sterol in plasma, predominantly synthesized by liver and other tissues but also obtained from the diet. Cholesterol is an essential component of cell membranes, a precursor of bile acids and of steroid hormones.

TG are esters formed by a glycerol backbone to which three molecules of fatty acids are attached and are stored in adipose cells.

Phospholipids are comprised of a polar head group attached to two fatty acids. Phospholipids are the most important building blocks of cell membranes, made up of bilayers of phospholipids with fatty acids oriented toward the interior of the membrane. The type of fatty acid attached to membrane phospholipids has a significant effect on membrane fluidity. The outer membrane phospholipid is mostly phosphatidylcholine whereas the inner one is phosphatidylserine.

Cholesterol, TG and phospholipids are water insoluble and because of their hydrophobicity are carried in plasma or serum on lipoproteins.

Lipoproteins are composed of lipids and proteins (apolipoproteins) at variable ratios, densities and sizes. Their role is to facilitate the transport of water insoluble lipids in the blood stream.

1.2.1 Lipoprotein structure and composition

In general lipoproteins are composed by a hydrophobic core of neutral lipids, namely cholesterol esters (CE) and TG, surrounded by a monolayer amphipathic surface of phospholipids with the fatty acids directed toward the core of the particle. Apolipoproteins and free cholesterol are embedded within the surface of the phospholipid outer layer.

The proteins component confers unique functions to each lipoprotein class by directing particle assembly, particle interaction with cell surface receptors and may acting as cofactors for enzymes involved in the metabolism of lipoproteins.^{57,58} Apolipoproteins also maintain the structure of the lipoproteins by stabilizing their micellar structure.⁵⁸

Lipoproteins are highly heterogeneous regarding to size, structure, hydrated densities, and immunological properties.⁵⁹ On the basis of the density at which they float by ultracentrifugation, lipoproteins are divided into 5 major classes: the chylomicrons are the largest and least dense and in increasing order of density can be found the very low density

lipoproteins (VLDL), intermediate density lipoproteins (IDL), LDL and HDL (Table 1 and Figure 1).

Complex Source		Density (g/mL)	%Protein	%TG	%PL	%CE	%С	%FFA
Chylomicron	Intestine	<0.95	1-2	85-88	8	3	1	0
VLDL	Liver	0.95-1.006	7-10	50-55	18-20	12-15	8-10	1
IDL	VLDL	1.006-1.019	10-12	25-30	25-27	32-35	8-10	1
LDL	VLDL	1.019-1.063	20-22	10-15	20-28	37-48	8-10	1
HDL	Intestine, liver (chylomicrons and VLDLs)	1.063-1.21	33-55	3-15	26-43	15-30	2-10	0

 Table 1. Composition of the major lipoprotein complexes.

Abbreviations: TG: triglycerides, PL: Phospholipids, CE: Cholesteryl esters, C: Free cholesterol, FFA: Free fatty acids

Two basic types of lipoproteins have been postulated. These are micellar lipoproteins and the pseudomolecular lipoproteins.⁶⁰ The micellar type contains less than 30 % of proteins and includes chylomicrons, VLDL and LDL. These are thought to consist of a hydrophobic core of TG and CE surrounded by a hydrophilic coat of protein, phospholipids, and free cholesterol. The pseudomolecular type contains more than 30 % of protein and includes HDL.



Figure 1. Schematic presentation of the major lipoproteins in normal human plasma. From Olson 1998.⁶¹

1.2.2 Lipoprotein metabolism

Lipoprotein metabolism involves the production, transport and removal of cholesterol and TG from the circulation, although the separation of the metabolism of these lipids is artificial as both are transported in lipoproteins. Lipid transport describes the "forward" and "reverse" transport of cholesterol. Three main pathways are responsible for the generation and transport of lipids within the body. In this case, "forward" transport indicates the arrival of cholesterol in the blood from diet (exogenous pathway) and from liver (endogenous pathway) and the carriage back to the liver, whereas "reverse" transport (reverse cholesterol transport (RCT) pathway) is the movement of cholesterol in the opposite direction, the efflux from peripheral tissues back to the liver. They are interdependent pathways and disturbances in one will affect the function and products of the other.

Chylomicrons are the largest lipoproteins and are synthesized, assembled and secreted in the intestinal epithelial cells to transport dietary TG and cholesterol from the site of absorption to the various cells of the body (Figure 2).⁶² Therefore, chylomicrons are the molecules formed to mobilize dietary lipids (exogenous pathway). The main structural apolipoprotein of chylomicrons is ApoB-48 while others may be found in small amounts.



Figure 2. Overview of lipoprotein metabolism: (1) transport of diet lipids (exogenous pathway). Diet lipids are secreted from intestinal cells on chylomicrons, a process that requires apolipoprotein B (ApoB). The triglyceride (TG) within the chylomicrons is hydrolyzed by lipoprotein lipase (LPL) with apolipoprotein C-II (ApoC-II) as cofactor, producing a chylomicron remnant which is taken up by the low-density lipoprotein-like receptor protein (LRP) in the liver; (2) endogenous pathway. Very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) are TG rich particles secreted by the liver. After suffers hydrolyses by LPL VLDL are converted in intermediate-density lipoprotein (IDL). The liver, via the interaction of ApoE with the LDL receptor, takes up some of the IDL particles; others are hydrolyzed by hepatic lipase (HL) to produce CE-rich low-density lipoprotein (LDL). LDL can be cleared by the liver via LDL receptor or delivers CE peripheral tissues such as macrophages. From Rader and Hobbs, 2008.⁶³

The catabolism of chylomicrons occurs at the endothelial surfaces of capillaries in adipose tissue and muscle: the TG in the core of the chylomicrons is hydrolyzed into free fatty acids and glycerol by the action of lipoprotein lipase (LPL).⁶⁴ This free fatty acids may be then absorbed by the tissues, used as an energy source by various cells or taken up by adipocytes and stored as TG. After the action of LPL, chylomicrons shrink in size becoming chylomicron remnants with lipid cores, having a relatively high concentration of CE.

Chylomicron remnants are taken up by liver cells via receptor-mediated endocytosis by a process equivalent to the mechanism of uptake of LDL and are further metabolized by hepatic lipases (HL) releasing the cholesterol to the endoplasmic reticulum where it becomes part of the cellular cholesterol pool.^{65,66} This cholesterol can be used for bile acid synthesis or resterified by acyl coenzyme A : cholesterol transferase (ACAT) and packaged along with TG within VLDL particles.

The endogenous pathway of lipoprotein metabolism refers to hepatic secretion and metabolism of VLD, IDL and LDL (Figure 2).

VLDL are TG rich particles with small amounts of CE, phospholipids, ApoB-100 and others apolipoproteins synthesized by the liver.⁶⁷ ApoB-100 also synthesized by the liver is essential for the assembly of VLDL particles and their secretion into the circulation^{68,69} Like chylomicrons, VLDL acquires in the bloodstream ApoCs and ApoE from circulating HDLs. Within the plasma compartment, the TG of VLDL are hydrolyzed by LPL to free fatty acids, generating a series of smaller, cholesterol-enriched lipoproteins. The free fatty acids may be delivered to cardiac or skeletal muscle cells for β-oxidation or to adipose tissue for TG resynthesis and storage. The circulating VLDL particles become progressively smaller as their core is removed by lipolysis whereas surface materials, including phospholipids, free cholesterol, ApoC's and some ApoE are transferred to HDL. The smaller VLDL remnant are released from the endothelial cells surface and become IDL.

IDL are essentially composed by CE and a small percentage of TG, having ApoB-100 and ApoE as their main apolipoproteins. IDL may become further enriched by CE derived from HDL by mediation of the cholesterol ester transfer protein (CETP). IDL have two metabolic fates following interaction with HL: (1) to be uptake by hepatocytes after binding to the LDL receptor in a both ApoB-100 and ApoE mediated process, or (2) are subject to further lipase activity continuing to lose TGs and are released into the circulation as LDL.⁷⁰ In humans this is the predominant pathway and ApoE is lost to HDL during both processes.

11

LDL are cholesterol-enriched lipoproteins, essentially CE, phospholipids, small amounts of TG, and ApoB-100 (the only protein component of LDL) make up the remainder of the particle. In comparison with the originally secreted VLDL, which range from 35 to 80 nm, LDL particles are much smaller having an average diameter of 22 nm, which allows them to cross the vascular endothelium and enter the tissue fluid delivering the cholesterol to the tissues. LDL delivers CE to peripheral (extrahepatic) cells (about 1/3 of LDL that is produced daily) or to hepatocytes within the liver (about 2/3 of LDL that is produced daily).

LDL particles are transferred from circulation to the liver and peripheral tissues via two pathways: 1) LDL receptor pathway which is regulated according to the cholesterol requirement of each individual cell; 2) non-receptor mediated pathways that depends almost entirely on the extracellular concentrations of LDL.

The LDL receptor is a single-chain transmembrane glycoprotein that is mainly expressed by hepatocytes (75 %) but is also present on adrenal and adipose tissue. Although capable of binding ApoE-containing lipoproteins, LDL receptor usually binds to the ApoB-100 containing lipoproteins, in particular LDL. After binding the LDL receptor-ligand complex is internalised within the cell by endocytosis, where it undergoes lysosomal degradation of LDL particles. ApoB is hydrolysed to its constituent aa and the CE is hydrolysed to free cholesterol by acid lipase. Free cholesterol is released to the cytoplasm where is re-esterifed by ACAT and stored as CE, reused for lipoprotein synthesis or converted into bile acid and vitamin D.²⁰ Following that the receptor is recycled back to the cell surface and is again able to bind lipoproteins. Expression levels of LDL receptors are regulated by a sensitive feedback control through the intracellular cholesterol content of hepatocytes and the need for cholesterol. Transcription levels of LDL receptor gene is controlled by promoters with sterol regulatory elements, stimulation of this mechanism causes the release of a sterol regulatory element binding protein (SREBP) which binds to DNA and switches on the transcription.⁷¹

Excess of cellular cholesterol, for example after high intake of dietary saturated fat and cholesterol, down-regulates LDL receptor, which lowers the uptake of LDL and consequently results in elevated plasma LDL-C levels and an accumulation of cholesterol in peripheral cells. Cholesterol excess also induces suppression of microssomal 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl coenzyme A reductase (HMG-CoA reductase), the rate-limiting enzyme of cholesterol biosynthesis.⁷²

Via the non-receptor-mediated pathway, LDL binds to cell membranes at sites other than those at which LDL receptors are located and some of it passes through the membrane by pinocytosis. HDL is able to compete with LDL for this type of cell-membrane association.

In addition, LDL may also be removed from the circulation by a number of receptors other than the classical LDL receptor, the scavenger receptors (CD36 and SR-A) which are responsible for the clearance of only relatively minor amounts of LDL. Since they bind modified LDL and are mainly present on the macrophages scavenger receptor have gained considerable interest because they may have a central role in atherogenesis.

Further to the exogenous and endogenous pathways above explained lipid transport also has an important third pathway, the RCT. HDL particles have the capacity to mediate cellular cholesterol efflux by acting as primary acceptors, thereby facilitating RCT, a process in which cholesterol is transferred from peripheral tissues, including from macrophages on the arterial wall, to the liver for the excretion into the bile. ^{73,74}

As HDL particles are the main interest of this dissertation these will be described below in more detail, including the RCT pathway since it is considered one of the most important mechanisms by which HDL protects against atherosclerosis.

1.2.3 Lipoproteins and cardiovascular disease (CVD)

The first significant study that associated lipid abnormalities with CVD risk was the Framingham Heart Study, carried out by the National Heart Institute in the small town of Framingham, Massachusetts. It begun in 1948 and it is still ongoing to this day.^{75,76} The original cohort of the Framingham Heart Study consisted of 5209 subjects of a random sample of 2/3 of the adult population of Framingham with 30 to 62 years of age. Measurements were made of most of the potentially relevant risk factors for CVD known at the time. These included data on cigarette smoking, blood pressure, total serum cholesterol, LDL-C, HDL-C and presence of type 2 diabetes. Since then, the subjects have continued to return to the study every two years for a detailed medical history, physical examination, and laboratory tests with the last examination being set between May of 2008 and February of 2010.

The study provided first solid evidence that individuals with high blood cholesterol levels were more likely to have CHD. It also showed that this was true for a number of other risk factors, such as high blood pressure, smoking, obesity, diabetes and physical inactivity, and that any combination of these risk factors were at least additive.⁷⁷

The results of the study drived the lipid management guidelines that are still focused on decreasing LDL-C levels as the primary target for reducing CHD risk. However, despite the generalised use of statins, aggressive LDL lowering has only led to 30 % reduction of clinical events.⁷⁸ Therefore, to further reduce atherosclerotic events, increasing attention is now focused on HDL as potential target for atherosclerosis management. According to NCEP/ATP III the HDL-C goal is ≥ 60 mg/dL.

1.3 High Density Lipoprotein (HDL)

1.3.1 Structure (heterogeneity) and composition

Structurally, HDL represents the smallest (Stoke's diameter of 7–12 nm) and the densest (ranging from 1.063 to 1.21 /mL) plasma lipoprotein (Table 1), which is produced by the liver and small intestine.⁷⁹ It is a heterogeneous fraction, comprising a wide range of circulating particles that differ in shape, size, density, composition and surface charge/electrophoretic mobility.⁸⁰

The basic structure of HDL involves a lipid core of CE and TG surrounded by a surface containing a phospholipid bilayer, free cholesterol and a number of apolipoproteins. HDL proteins constitute more than half of its mass, unlike the others lipoproteins which are mainly composed by cholesterol and /or TG.

PROTEINs							
Albumin	Complement C3						
Alfa-1-acid glycoprotein 2	Complement C4						
Alfa-1-antitrypsin	Complement C4b						
Alfa-1B-glycoprotein	Complement C9						
Alpha-2-antiplasmin	Fibrinogen						
Alpha-2-HS-glycoprotein	Haptoglobin-related protein						
Alpha-2-macroglobulin	Haptoglobin						
Alpha-amylase (salivary)	Inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitor chain H4						
Angiotensinogen	Kininogen-1						
Apo(a)	Lipopolysaccharide-binding protein						
ApoA-I	LCAT						
ApoA-II	PAF-AH (LpPLA2)						
ApoA-IV	Platelet basic protein						
АроВ	PLTP						
ApoC-I	PON1						
ApoC-II	PON3						
ApoD	Prenylcysteine oxidise						
АроЕ	Prothrombin						
ApoF	Retinol-binding protein						
АроН	SAA 1/2						
АроЈ	SAA 4						
ApoL-I	Serpin F1						
АроМ	Transferrin						
Bikunin	Transthyreitin						
C4b binding protein	Vitamin D-binding globulin						
CETP	Vitronectin						

Table 2. Proteins detected in high density lipoproteins (HDL) by mass spectrometry.

HDL proteins have traditionally been divided into four major subgroups: apolipoproteins, enzymes, lipid transfer proteins and minor proteins. However, the recent development of proteomic technologies have enhanced the sensitivity of protein detection, revealing that the protein burden of HDL is much more diverse than previously realized. ⁸¹⁻⁸⁵

Studies have allowed the identification of more than 50 proteins in human HDL (Table 2). In addition to the apolipoproteins and enzymes, numerous proteins involved in acute-phase response were found in HDL as well as proteins involved in complement regulation and protease inhibition,^{86,87} raising the possibility that HDL may play a previously unsuspected role in host defence mechanisms and inflammation. It is important to keep in mind, however, that the content of all these proteins in HDL is much lower than that of major HDL apolipoproteins, i. e., ApoA-I and ApoA-II (70% and 20%, respectively).

1.3.1.1 HDL subpopulations

On the basis of shape most of the HDL are spherical particles, although there is also a minor subpopulation of discoidal HDL (Figure 3 a). Discoid HDL are small (\leq 8 nm) particles and represent a nascent form of HDL, being lipid-poor and presenting two or three ApoA-I molecules arranged around a phospholipid bilayer. These relatively unstable and short-lived particles will be converted into mature spherical HDL. Spherical HDL particles are larger (> 8 nm) and contain a hydrophobic core of esterified cholesterol and TG surrounded by an outer part composed by two or more ApoA-I molecules, with or without ApoA-II, phospholipids and free cholesterol.⁸⁰

On the basis of isopycnic ultracentrifugation density HDL may be classified into three subfractions: HDL1 (mean density (d) 1.05 g/mL), HDL2 (1.063 < d < 1.125 g/mL) and HDL3 (1.125 < d < 1.21 g/mL). HDL2 and HDL3 subfractions are spherical and mature particles. The composition of the HDL3 particle is a monolayer of phospholipids, mainly phosphatidylcholine, and a small amount of free cholesterol, ApoA-I and ApoA-II and a core containing esterified cholesterol. HDL3 collects cholesterol to form the larger HDL2 particles without ApoA-II, which can exchange both cholesterol and TG with LDL and VLDL particles.

On the basis of immunoaffinity chromatography HDL may also be separated into two major subpopulations according to their apolipoprotein composition using (Figure 3 b). One subpopulation comprises HDL containing ApoA-I but no ApoA-II (LpA-I), while the other comprises particles containing both ApoA-I and ApoA-II (LpA-I/A-II).⁸⁸ ApoA-I is divided equally between LpA-I and LpA-I/A-II in most subjects, while virtually all of the ApoA-II resides in LpA-I/A-II. A small proportion of the ApoA-I exists in a lipid-poor form. LpA-I/A-II tend to be smaller and more dense than LpA-I, and prevail in the HDL3 subfraction. LpA-I are mostly found in the HDL2 subfraction.



Figure 3. High density lipoproteins (HDL) heterogeneity. The HDL in human plasma consist of several subpopulations of particles which differ in shape (a), apolipoprotein composition (b), density and size (c) and surface charge in electrophoretic mobility (d). Modified from Rye KA et al 2009⁸⁹ and Tabet F & Rye KA 2009.⁹⁰

On the basis of electrophoresis HDL can exhibit alpha (α), pre-beta (β) or gamma (γ) mobility (Figure 3 d). The α -electrophoretic mobility (faster) particles are spherical lipoproteins that include both the HDL2 and HDL3 subfractions as well as the LpA-I and LpA-I/A-II subpopulations and account for the major proportion of HDL in human plasma. Pre- β migrating (slower) HDL are either lipid-poor ApoA-I particles, with a single molecule of ApoA-I as a free molecule or in association with a few molecules of sphingomyelin and phosphatidylcholine, or nascent discoidal particles consisting of one or two molecules of ApoA-I complexed with phospholipids and possibly a small amount of unesterified cholesterol. In addition, γ migrating HDL are lipid-poor particles containing ApoE or ApoA-IV.^{91,92}

The nomenclature of the HDL subpopulations varies depending on the separation technique used (Figure 4) and have generated some confusion and inconsistency when comparing different studies.



Figure 4. Nomenclature of the high density lipoproteins (HDL) subclasses determined by different methods. From Asztlos et al, 2011.⁹³

Due to the increasing need to understand, validate, and quantify the diverse roles of HDL particles in the atherosclerotic process several investigators initiated an effort to uniform the nomenclature for HDL subpopulations. Recently, they proposed the development of a new classification system that defines five HDL subclasses on the basis of physical and chemical properties that includes very large HDL particles (VL-HDL), large HDL particles (L-HDL), medium HDL particles (M-HDL), small HDL particles (S-HDL), and very small HDL particles (VS-HDL). The very small HDL subclass includes pre- β -1, discoidal, or nascent HDL (Table 3).⁹⁴

	Table	3.	Classification	of	high	density	lipoproteins	(HDL)	by	physical	properties.	From	Rosenson	et	al
2011	.94														

Proposed term	Very large HDL (HDL-VL)	Large HDL (HDL-L)	Medium HDL (HDL-M)	Small HDL (HDL-S)	Very small HDL (HDL-VS)
Density range, g/mL	1.063-1.087	1.088-1.110	1.110-1.129	1.129-1.154	1.154-1.21
Size range, nm	12.9-9.7	9.7-8.8	8.8-8.2	8.2-7.8	7.8-7.2
Density gradient ultracentrifugation	HDL2b	HDL2a	HDL3a	HDL3b	HDL3c
Density range, g/mL	1.063-1.087	1.088-1.110	1.110-1.129	1.129-1.154	1.154-1.170
Gradient gel electrophoresis	HDL2b	HDL2a	HDL3a	HDL3b	HDL3c
Size range, nm	12.9-9.7	9.7-8.8	8.8-8.2	8.2-7.8	7.8-7.2
2-D gel electrophoresis	α-1	α-2	α-3	α-4	Pre-β-1 HDL
Size range, nm	11.2-10.8	9.4-9.0	8.5-7.5	7.5-7.0	6.0-5.0
NMR	Large HDL-P ^b	Mediu	m HDL-P	Sma	II HDL-P
Size range, nm	12.9-9.7	9.7-8.8	8.8-8.2	8.2-7.8	7.8-7.2
Ion mobility	HDL2b		HDL2a	and HDL3	
Size range, nm	14.5-10.5	10.5-7.65			

1.3.1.2 Major components

1.3.1.2.1 Apolipoprotein A-I (ApoA-I)

Human ApoA-I circulates in plasma primarily as a component of HDL (70 % of total HDL protein). It is also found in chylomicrons and VLDL.⁹⁵ ApoA-I has two major sites of synthesis: the intestine and the liver. The intestinal derived ApoA-I enters the circulation associated with chylomicrons but is rapidly transferred to HDL particles during lipase hydrolysis of chylomicrons. Hepatic ApoA-I enters the circulation associated with nascent HDL particles and is the major contributor to the plasma ApoA-I pool.

ApoA-I is a 28 kDa single polypeptide synthesized as a prepropeptide (267 aa residues) and is cleaved to release 24 aa residues. Mature, circulating ApoA-I consisting of 243 aa residues is encoded by exon 3 (residues 1–43) and exon 4 (residues 44–243) of a gene located on the long arm of chromosome 11. Analysis of its aa sequence reveals that with the exception of the 44 aa that form the (N)-terminal region, the protein is organized into eight α -helical amphipathic domains of 22 aa with two repeats of 11 aa that are frequently separated by proline residues. These α -helices contain the lipid-binding carboxyl (C)-terminal domain that confers ApoA-I the capacity of avidly binding to lipids and also to move between lipoproteins.⁹⁵⁻⁹⁷ ApoA-I does not undergo post-translational modifications such as glycosylation, phosphorylation⁹⁸ and has no disulfide linkages.

ApoA-I is polymorphic in plasma and is composed of a series of isoforms of similar molecular weights but different isoelectric points (pl). The protein is made up of one major isoform ApoA-I₁ (pl 5.6) and two minor isoforms ApoA-I₂ and ApoA-I₃ (pl 5.53 and 5.46).^{99,100}

The concentration of ApoA-I in plasma is about 100-150 mg/dL⁵⁸ and has a plasma half-life of about 4 days.¹⁰¹

ApoA-I exists in plasma in three general forms: lipid poor ApoA-I, nascent discoidal HDL particles and mature spherical HDL forms. ^{95,102,103}

In 1999 Segrest et al¹⁰⁴ proposed the "*double-belt model*" for discoidal HDL that consists of two ring-shaped ApoA-I molecules wrapped around a leaflet of a disk-like patch of lipid bilayer in an anti-parallel orientation. Despite some debate on details of certain regions of ApoA-I in the discs, the majority of the most recent theoretical and experimental data supports the general features of the "double belt model" ¹⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁷

In 1997, Borhani et al¹⁰⁸ hypothesized a *"Faberge Egg model"* for spherical HDL, suggesting that the intermolecular contacts found in the crystal structure (and in the

19

"double-belt model" in discs) are also present in HDL spheres. However, one model recently presented, using cross-linking chemistry and mass spectrometry , indicates that the *"double-belt model"* is a common organizational motif for ApoA-I in both discs and spheres.¹⁰⁹ These authors also showed that particles with a diameter superior to 93 Å (which is comparable with human HDL3) present one extra molecule of ApoA-I, but the cross-linking patterns in reconstituted spheres were highly similar to those in the discs, regardless of whether they contained three molecules of ApoA-I in each particle or only two. The most promising model seems the *"trefoil model"* where the phospholipids in the sphere surface are broken into three equal slices with angles of 120°.¹⁰⁹

The understanding of the ApoA-I spatial arrangement in both discs and spheres is critical because it offers insights into how the ApoA-I structure modulates the metabolism and function of HDL. In fact, Apo A-I is essential for the correct assembly, overall stability of HDL and the regulation of HDL metabolism.

1.3.1.2.2 Apolipoprotein A-II (ApoA-II)

ApoA-II is the second most important HDL apolipoprotein and represents approximately 15-20 % of total HDL protein. About half of the HDL particles may contain ApoA-II. ApoA-II circulates as a 17 kDa protein and its synthesis takes place mainly in liver.¹¹⁰ Like ApoA-I it is also synthesized as a propeptide (100 aa residues) from a gene on chromosome 1 and is posterior cleaved to release 23 aa residues.¹¹¹ ApoA-II transcription is upregulated by nuclear receptors such as peroxisomal proliferative-activated receptor-alfa (PPAR- α), retinoid X receptor (RXR) and SREBP-2.^{112,113}

ApoA-II circulates as a homodimer of two identical polypeptide chains, each containing 77 aa and linked by a single disulfide bond.¹¹¹ The presence of a cysteine residue allows ApoA-II to form heterodimers with other cysteine containing apolipoproteins, such as ApoE and ApoD. Although it has amphipathic properties, ApoA-II is more hydrophobic than ApoA-I.

Functionally, ApoA-II can both increase HDL particle stability and cause conformational changes in ApoA-I on HDL particles by displacing ApoA-I competitively from the HDL surface and thereby reducing lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) activation.^{114,115} Despite the relative abundance of ApoA-II, its role in HDL metabolism and whether it is an anti-atherogenic or pro-atherogenic protein is not completely clear.

1.3.1.2.3 Others apolipoprotein from HDL

The remainder apolipoproteins of HDL comprises the minor peptides ApoA-IV, V, C-I, C-II, C-III, D, E, F, H, J, L-1 and M, which have structural and functional roles as modulators of enzyme activities.

ApoA-IV is a glycoprotein synthesized primarily in the enterocytes of the small intestine during fat absorption and is secreted into circulation on the surface of newly formed chylomicron particles. The *in vitro* and *in vivo* properties of ApoA-IV include a role in the protective functions against inflammatory diseases¹¹⁶ and atherosclerosis.¹¹⁷⁻¹¹⁹

ApoA-V is predominantly located in TG-rich particles, chylomicrons and VLDL, but also on HDL, and its functions are activation of LPL, inhibition of hepatic production and secretion of TG.¹²⁰

ApoC-I is associated with both HDL and VLDL and can readily exchange between them. ApoC-I is involved in the accumulation of cholesterol ester in nascent HDL via inhibition of CETP and potential activation of LCAT.^{121,122} In addition, ApoC-I modulates the interaction of ApoE with VLDL and inhibits the binding of VLDL to the LDL receptor.¹²³

In plasma, ApoC-II and C-III are associated with HDL and VLDL and can exchange between their surfaces. Excess ApoC-II has been associated with the increase of TG-rich lipoproteins and modifications in the HDL particle distribution, factors that may boost the risk of CVD.^{124,125}

ApoD is mainly associated with HDL. Unlike others, ApoD does not possess a typical apolipoprotein structure and belongs to the lipocalin family, which is a multifunctional family of carrier proteins.^{126,127} ApoD has been described in association with various neurological disorders, including Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease and stroke.^{126,128}

The major fraction of circulating ApoE is carried by TG-rich lipoproteins in which ApoE mediates their receptor binding, internalization and catabolism. Interestingly, ApoE is the evolutionary precursor of mammalian ApoA-I. Human ApoE exists as three major isoforms, ApoE2, ApoE3 and ApoE4, which differ by aa substitutions at positions 130 and 176. Human ApoE3 preferentially binds to HDL, while ApoE4 preferentially binds to VLDL.¹²⁹ ApoE isoforms are associated with different levels of disease's risk, most notably for atherosclerosis¹³⁰ and Alzheimer's disease.¹³¹

ApoF is present in human HDL and LDL, being also known as lipid transfer inhibitor protein due to its ability to inhibit CETP-mediated lipid transfer between

lipoproteins.¹³²Human and mouse ApoF overexpression reduce HDL-C levels, improve the clearance of HDL-CE from the plasma and result in HDL particles that are more efficient acceptors of macrophage-derived cholesterol.¹³³

ApoH, also known as beta-2-glycoprotein I (β_2 GPI) is a multifunctional phospholipid binding protein, which binds particularly cardiolipin but also various types of negative charged substances such as heparin. ApoH may prevent activation of the intrinsic blood coagulation cascade by binding to phospholipid on the surface of damaged cells. It also regulates platelet aggregation by inhibiting the generation of factor Xa or XI¹³⁴ and activating both factor XIIa and protein C. ApoH has other physiological roles, that include apoptotic cell clearance,¹³⁵ binding to oxidized low-density lipoprotein (oxLDL),¹³⁶ and has been found to be the most relevant antigen target in the subset of antibodies towards oxLDL.^{137,138}

ApoJ, also called clusterin, presents a structure that allows binding to a wide spectrum of hydrophobic molecules and to specific cell-surface receptors. ApoJ was classified as a functional homologue of the small Heat Shock Proteins (HSP)¹³⁹ in many age-related diseases including neurodegeneration, vascular damage, diabetes and tumorigenesis.¹⁴⁰

ApoL-I is a key functional element of the trypanosome lytic factor of human serum and is associated with HDL.¹⁴¹ Lack of this protein from mutations in both APOL1 alleles leads to trypanosome infection in humans.¹⁴²

ApoM, first identified and characterized in 1999, is the latest addition to the apolipoprotein family.¹⁴³ ApoM is selectively expressed in hepatocytes and in kidney cells. It is mainly found in HDL, but also in VLDL and LDL. Data from knockout (KO) mice shows that ApoM is critical for the formation of HDL, notably pre- β HLD (lipid-poor ApoA-I).¹⁴⁴ Overexpression of ApoM in LDL-receptor-deficient cholesterol fed mice protects against the development of atherosclerosis through a not yet clarified mechanism.¹⁴⁴

1.3.1.2.4 Paraoxonase 1 and 3 (PON1 and 3)

Human paraoxonases are calcium dependent lactonases and consist in three members PON1, PON2 and PON3. The three PON genes are aligned on the long arm of chromosome 7q21.3-22.1 and are well conserved in mammals sharing 79-95% aa identity and 81-95% identity at the nucleotide level between different species.¹⁴⁵

The name "PON" reflects the ability of PON1, the first enzyme discovered of the family to catalyze the hydrolysis of the active metabolite of the organophosphate (OP) insecticide

parathion, the paraxon, which is the substrate commonly used to measure paraoxonase activity (EC 3.1.8.1, aryldialkylphosphatase). PON1 is capable of hydrolyzing a broad spectrum of toxic oxon metabolites of OP insecticides, nerve gases as well as a number of aromatic carboxylic acid esters.¹⁴⁶ PON1 also hydrolyzes phenylacetate which corresponds to the arylesterase activity. Although its esterase activity has been known for long, only more recently the natural and /or endogenous subtract for PON1 was found. PON1 is primarily a lactonase^{147,148} capable of hydrolyzing a variety of lactones, including certain drugs (e.g. spironolactone, mevastatin, lovastatin, simvastatin and prulifloxacin), endogenous compounds (e.g. lactone metabolites of arachidonic acid, or hcy-thiolactone) and acylhomoserine lactones, which are quorum sensing signals of pathogenic bacteria.^{148,149}

Phylogenetic analysis shows that PON2 is the oldest member of the family followed by PON3 and PON1.¹⁵⁰ Human PON1 is synthesized mainly in the liver and circulates in the bloodstream associated to HDL. Similarly, PON3 is expressed typically by the liver and at low levels by the kidney and is also associated with HDL in circulation albeit at much lower levels than PON1.¹⁵¹ In contrast PON2 is not detectable in serum associated with HDL although it is ubiquitous expressed and found in many tissues and cells including macrophages, heart, brain, liver, kidney, lung, placenta, small intestine, spleen, stomach and testis.¹⁵²

Current findings suggest that the name PON is in fact a misnomer, as the capacity of hydrolase OP (paraoxonase activity) is almost exclusive of PON1. All three PONs have arylesterase activity, although very low activity with the exception of PON1. Nevertheless PON1, PON2, and PON3 share the lactonase activity with overlapping but also distinct substrate specificity.¹⁵³ Dihydrocoumarin, long chain fatty acid lactones and acyl-homoserine are hydrolyzed by all three PONs and likely represent their natural subtracts.¹⁵⁴ The three members of the family seem to have an important role in the maintenance of a low oxidative state in plasma by protecting against or reversing HDL and LDL oxidation.¹⁵⁵ Despite a growing interest on PON2 and PON3, PON1 still by far the best studied member of the family.

PON1 gene sequence identified almost 200 polymorphic sites on the coding and promoter regions. The two most studied and common coding polymorphisms are at position 192 leading to a glutamine – arginine substitution (Q192R) and at position 55 the leucine to methionine substitution (L55M). These polymorphism exhibits an exogenous substrate-dependent effect on enzyme activity. For instance, subjects with the RR genotype have

23

significantly higher paraoxonase activity towards paraoxon than subjects with QQ genotype, but hydrolyze diazoxon, soman, and sarin less rapidly.^{156,157} Both isoforms of the enzyme hydrolyze phenyl acetate at approximately the same rate and do not affect PON1 protein concentration.¹⁴⁸ Regarding the other polymorphism at position 55 it seems to affect enzyme quantity, rather than specific activity or substrate preference although this is not yet fully clarified.¹⁵⁸ The binding affinity and stability of PON1 on HDL is affected by the PON1 polymorphisms.¹⁵⁹

The association between PON1 polymorphisms and CHD remains controversial, few studies showed a positive association between PON1 192 RR genotype and CHD whereas many others failed to confirm this. Recently was performed a meta-analysis on the relation between PON1 polymorphism and CHD which included 88 studies published before August 2010, with a total of 24,702 CHD cases and 38,232 controls.¹⁶⁰ This study reported a weak overall association with the PONQ192R with a doubtful relevance since there was no significant association amongst the larger studies included in the analysis, thereby replicating the results of past.¹⁶¹⁻¹⁶³ However low PON1 activity seems to be associated with atherosclerosis independently of the PON1 polymorphism and appears to be a better predictor of CVD development than the PON1 genotype.^{157,164,165}

PON1 activity and/or level of expression are regulated by several exogenous factors such as life –style, dietary factors and age.^{166,167} PON1 activity increases with the intake of lipid lowering drugs, antidiabetic and hormone-replacement drugs.¹⁶⁸

Some of recent studies regarding the PON1 lactonase activity are focused in its capacity to hydrolyse Hcy - thiolactones. Elevated blood levels of Hcy (an intermediate metabolite in methionine biosynthesis) is a known risk factor for atherosclerosis and is associated with a moderately risk of CVD.¹⁶⁹ The metabolic conversion of Hcy to Hcy - thiolactone is a mistake reaction of the methionyl-tRNA synthetase which by an editing error selected Hcy instead of methionine.¹⁷⁰ The Hcy-thiolactone formed is a reactive metabolite that has the ability to establish isopeptide bonds with protein lysine residues that cause protein N-homocysteinylation¹⁷¹ which has detrimental effects on protein structure and function leading to severe pathophysiological consequences including activation of the immune response¹⁷² and enhanced thrombosis.¹⁷³

Several studies show that Hcy-thiolactonase activity of PON1 inhibits the Hcy-thiolactone formation and consequently N-homocysteinylation of proteins,^{147,174,175} so in

24

addition to the anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory functions of peroxidase and esterase activity of PON1, the thiolactonase activity also contributes significantly for its cardioprotective function.

1.3.1.2.5 Lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT)

LCAT (*EC 2.3.1.43*) catalyzes the esterification of cholesterol to CE by transferring the fatty acid from the second position on the glycerol backbone of lecithin or phosphatidylethanolamine to the free hydroxyl group on the first ring of cholesterol.¹⁷⁶ The generated CE is very hydrophobic molecules that migrate into the inner core of the particle, creating a pool of so-called "neutral lipid," which is completely encapsulated by a surface coat of phospholipid, free cholesterol, and apolipoprotein. Cholesterol esterification by LCAT occurs predominantly in HDL, but can also take place in ApoB containing particles.

LCAT plays an important role in RCT as the majority of tissue-derived cholesterol is delivered to the liver as CE and only a small amount as free cholesterol. CE trapped in the HDL core cannot be spontaneously exchanged with other lipid molecules until it is removed from the circulation by the liver.¹⁷⁷ In parallel, LCAT promotes cholesterol efflux from peripheral cells, acting via the elevation of the concentration gradient for unesterified cholesterol between cell membranes and HDL.

LCAT is a 63 kDa protein synthesized mainly in the liver and, to a lesser extent, in the brain and testes. Mature LCAT contains 416 aa residues and is heavily glycosylated.

In plasma LCAT is closely associated with ApoD. ApoA-I mediates the binding of LCAT to HDL and its activation. Others apolipoproteins, including ApoA-IV, C-I, E, are also capable of activating LCAT, although less potently compared to ApoA-I.

LCAT has been shown to directly hydrolyse oxidized polar phospholipids and also prevent the accumulation of oxidized lipids in LDL.^{178,179} However aldehydes that are generated during lipid peroxidation can modify HDL structure and inhibit LCAT activity.^{180,181} LCAT activity is also decreased in HDL isolated from diabetic subjects (and in *in vitro* glycated HDL), due to the glycation of lysine residues in ApoA-I.^{182,183} Furthermore, the displacement of ApoA-I by serum amyloid A (SAA) during acute phase reaction inhibits LCAT activity.¹⁸⁴

1.3.1.2.6 Cholesterol ester transfer protein (CETP)

CETP is a plasma lipid transfer protein, primarily expressed by the liver and adipose tissue. The mature CETP contains 476 aa residues and multiple glycosylation sites. In

circulation, this hydrophobic 74 kDa glycoprotein facilitates the bidirectional transfer of CE and TG between mature spherical HDL and ApoB containing lipoproteins. Specifically, CETP transfers CE from HDL to ApoB containing lipoproteins, such as VLDL, IDL and LDL, in exchange for TG (Figure 5).¹⁸⁵

Its substrate specificity is regulated by lipid transfer inhibitor protein (or ApoF).¹³² These processes deplete the HDL core of CE and enrich them with TG. Therefore CETP promotes HDL-mediated cholesterol efflux from peripheral cells via elevation of the concentration gradient for unesterified cholesterol between cell membranes and HDL. HDL-derived CE that accumulate in ApoB containing lipoproteins can be subsequently delivered to the liver through the hepatic LDL receptor, as described before (sub-chapter 1.2.2). Thus, in addition to the important role in RCT, CETP actions are equally implicated in the intravascular remodelling of lipoproteins, which favours HDL particle recycling and thus the formation of lipid-free/lipid-poor ApoA-I, thereby leading to enhanced cellular free cholesterol efflux and plasma LCAT activity.



Figure 5. Cholesterol ester transfer protein (CETP)-mediated lipid exchange between lipoproteins. From Nicholls et al, 2011.¹⁸⁶

Such actions are synonymous to an anti-atherogenic role of CETP. A second major CETP mediated pro-atherogenic pathway takes place in states of moderate to marked hypertriglyceridaemia, in which CETP drives an enhanced transfer of TG from VLDL to HDL, leading to TG enrichment of HDL with anomalous intravascular metabolism involving HL mediated hydrolysis of HDL phospholipids and TG, with a consequent reduction of particle

size, formation of small dense HDL and dissociation of lipid-poor ApoA-I. This lipid-poor ApoA-I instead of acting as an acceptor of cholesterol from pheriferic tissues can be removed and lost irreversibly from plasma due to accelerated renal catabolism.¹⁸⁷⁻¹⁸⁹ Therefore CETP may exert both pro-atherogenic and anti-atherogenic actions, the balance between them clearly depending primarily on the metabolic context.

The importance of CETP in HDL metabolism is demonstrated by the discovery of individuals who have loss-of-function mutations in both alleles of the CETP gene. These subjects, found almost exclusively in Japan, have extremely elevated levels of HDL-C.^{190,191} In addition, their HDL is exceptionally large, and the turnover of ApoA-I is substantially reduced.¹⁹²

1.3.1.2.7 Other HDL components

Platelet activating factor acetylhydrolase (PAF-AH, EC 3.1.1.47) whose plasma form is known as lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 (Lp-PLA2), is a calcium-independent enzyme that degrades the short *sn*-2 residue of PAF to the biologically inactive lyso-PAF, as well as pro-inflammatory oxidized short-chain phospholipids and esterified isoprostanes.¹⁹³ This action of Lp-PLA2 indicates that it may be a potent anti-inflammatory enzyme. However, Lp-PLA2 also generates lysophosphatidylcholine and bioactive oxidized non-esterified fatty acids, two key pro-inflammatory mediators implicated in atherosclerosis.¹⁹⁴ Thus, Lp-PLA2 could play both pro-atherogenic and anti-atherogenic role depending on which lipoprotein the enzyme is associated in plasma.¹⁹⁵

Other minor constituent of HDL are: 1) the glutathione peroxidases isoenzyme 3 (GPx3) that may reduce the oxidative damage by catalyzing the glutathione dependent reduction of lipid hydroperoxides to their corresponding alcohols and hydrogen peroxide to water.¹⁹⁶ 2) the phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP) that aids in the transfer of phospholipids between HDL and VLDL, as well as between different HDL particles.¹⁹⁷ 3) the sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) that is a bioactive lipid involved in various cellular processes such as cell proliferation, motility, apoptosis, angiogenesis, wound healing and immune response.¹⁹⁸

1.3.2 Atheroprotective functions of HDL

Recently, the interest in HDL has spiked, with the recognition of its multiple antiatherogenic properties. The best known anti-atherogenic function of HDL is the capacity to promote cellular cholesterol efflux from peripheral cells and deliver cholesterol to the liver for excretion, thereby playing a key role in RCT. However the anti-atherogenic roles of HDL goes beyond RCT and involve anti-oxidant, anti-inflammatory and antithrombotic properties, as well as cytoprotective, vasodilatory, anti-infectious and antidiabetic activities (Figure 6).¹⁹⁹

It is believed that the varied physiological functions of HDL reflect, the wide variety of proteins carried by HDL and the heterogeneity of HDL complexes; indeed, specific HDL associated functions appear to be mediated by one or more distinct proteins potentially acting synergistically. Nearly all HDL subpopulation display multiple atheroprotective functions, many of these activities are particularly effective in small, dense, protein-rich HDL.²⁰⁰ Not only the protein content of HDL may influence its functions, the lipid composition of HDL may interfere with the association of the different proteins at the HDL surface.



Figure 6. Summary of the key anti-atherogenic properties attributed to high density lipoprotein (HDL). From Yamashita et al, 2010.¹⁹⁹

1.3.2.1 Reverse cholesterol transport (RCT)

Promotion of cholesterol efflux from macrophages on the arterial wall for excretion into bile constituents, completing the RCT pathway is thought to be one of the most important mechanisms by which HDL protects against atherosclerosis (Figure 7).

ApoA-I is synthesized by the liver and released into the plasma as relatively free from lipid, known as nascent HDL. Small nascent HDL are unstable and rapidly receives free cholesterol and phospholipids from tissues by a unidirectional active transport process that is mediated by a family of transmembrane adenosine triphosphate-binding cassette proteins (ATP-binding proteins). The best characterized member of this family, is adenosine triphosphate-binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1) which preferentially efflux cholesterol to lipid deplete or free forms of ApoA-I producing discoid HDL particles. Such particles further acquire cellular lipids via pathways mediated by ABCA1 and others ATP-binding proteins as the ABCG1 and ABCG4 which preferentially binds to mature spherical HDL particles.²⁰¹



Figure 7. HDL metabolism and reverse cholesterol transport (RCT). The liver secretes lipid-poor apolipoprotein A-I (ApoA-I), which quickly acquires cholesterol via the hepatocytes ATP-binding cassette sub-family member 1 transporter (ABCA1). Lipid-poor ApoA-I also promotes the efflux of free cholesterol from macrophages via ABCA1. Lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) esterifies free cholesterol to cholesteryl esters (CE) to form mature HDL, which promotes cholesterol efflux from macrophages via the ABCG1 transporter, as well as from other peripheral tissues by processes not fully defined. Mature HDL can transfer its cholesterol to the liver directly via scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI) or indirectly via cholesterol ester transfer protein (CETP) mediated transfer to ApoB-containing lipoproteins, with subsequent uptake by the liver via the LDL receptor. Hepatic cholesterol can be excreted directly into the bile as cholesterol or after conversion to bile acids and, unless reabsorbed by the intestine, is ultimately excreted in the faeces. HDL can be remodelled by lipases such as hepatic lipase (HL) and endothelial lipase (EL), which hydrolyze HDL triglycerides and phospholipids, respectively. From Duffy et al, 2009.²⁰²

Excess of cholesterol can also be removed from cells by scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI) that promotes an ATP-independent bidirectional cholesterol flux between cellular membranes and large HDL particles according to concentration gradients.²⁰³

Within the HDL particle, unesterified cholesterol can be esterified to CE by the addition of fatty acid to the cholesterol molecule through the action of the HDL associated LCAT, hereafter this newly formed CE migrates into the hydrophobic core of immature discodial HDL turning it into a mature and spherical HDL.²⁰⁴ Since the particles on the surface remains relatively deplete of cholesterol the gradient driving efflux from cells to the HDL particle is maintained.

Ultimately, HDL must deliver the cholesterol acquired via transporters to the liver for bile excretion as free-cholesterol or bile acids. Cholesterol transported by HDL can arrive to the hepatocyte by several ways. Perhaps the most common is via SR-BI expressed in the hepatocytes. Unlike what happens with LDL when it binds to its receptor the binding of HDL to SR-BI does not result in the internalization of the complex formed. In this case the SR-BI mediates the selective translocation of the CE of HDL, but not protein, by forming a hydrophobic channel through the plasma membrane designate caveolae while the HDL and SR-BI remain on the plasma membrane.²⁰⁵ Thus, HDL particles are quickly recycled and returned to the cell surface as a smaller particle (lipid-poor ApoA-I) ready to acquire more free cholesterol and continue the loading process to larger particles.²⁰⁶

HDL particles can also be removed from the circulation by holoparticle HDL receptors. Both liver and kidney can rapidly take up holo-HDL particles, including ApoA-I, by endocytosis and can be subsequently transferred to multivesicular bodies and, to a minor degree to lysosomes for degradation.²⁰⁷ In the last thirty years have been identified several potentially candidates leading to HDL holoparticle or ApoA-I uptake and degradation, including cubilin, megalin, ApoA-I binding protein (AI-BP), two other membrane proteins named HB1 and HB2, also high density lipoprotein binding protein (HBP) and more recently the ectopic β -chain of ATP synthase.⁷³

Alternatively, an indirect pathway can occur and CE from HDL is transferred to ApoB containing lipoproteins such VLDL, IDL and LDL in exchange for TG through the action of CETP.²⁰⁸ PLTP can transfer phospholipids from ApoB containing lipoproteins to HDL.¹⁹⁷ Following transfer to ApoB containing lipoproteins CE are either taken up by the liver via LDL receptor or delivered to cells in the periphery. In healthy, normolipidemic individuals such indirect RCT pathway to delivery CE to the liver accounts for 70 % of CE removal from peripheral tissues.²⁰⁹

1.3.2.2 Anti-oxidant function of HDL

Oxidative stress has a key role in initiation and propagation of atherosclerosis and its associated complications.²¹⁰ Oxidative stress results from an imbalance between increased generation of intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the decreased ability of endogenous antioxidant systems to scavenge them. Molecules generated during oxidative stress may damage the normal structure / functions of proteins, lipids, carbohydrates, nucleic acids and thus affect diverse cellular processes like membrane function, enzyme activity and DNA replication. Enhanced production of ROS has been attributed to increased activation of enzymes such as myeloperoxidase (MPO), nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase, xanthine oxidase, lipoxygenase and cyclooxygenase (COX), as

30

well as dysfunction of the mitochondrial respiratory chain. ROS may oxidize phospholipids within LDL. OxLDL is a powerful chemoattractant for monocytes, and the phagocytosis of oxLDL by monocytes is a critical step for transformation of monocytes into foam cells.²¹¹

The anti-oxidant functions of HDL are explained by its content of anti-oxidants, ApoA-I and several enzymes such as PON, PAF-AH and GPx3 which directly or indirectly prevent LDL oxidation.²¹²⁻²¹⁶ Furthermore, HDL is cytoprotective against apoptosis of vascular cells elicited by oxLDL.²¹⁷

The importance of PON's anti-oxidant effect has been demonstrated in several studies: PON1 was highly effective in preventing LDL oxidation,^{218,219} moreover PON1 inhibits macrophage cholesterol biosynthesis by attenuating oxLDL uptake by macrophages²²⁰ and also stimulates HDL-mediated cholesterol efflux from macrophages.²²¹ Anti-inflammatory actions of PON1 has also been reported as it decrease monocyte chemotaxis and adhesion to endothelial cells²²² Furthermore, transgenic animals deficient in PON1 were more susceptible to atherosclerosis development,²²³ while those that overexpressed PON1 had less atherosclerosis.²²⁴

With the finding that the major activity of PON's is a calcium dependent lactonase and that the affinity of PON1 for lipid hydroperoxides is several orders of magnitude lower than its affinity for lactones, the established anti-atherosclerotic properties of PON1 may also involve its major activity as lactonase. In particular, by hydrolyzing Hcy-thiolactones and protecting against the pro-atherogenic modifications of proteins caused by them.²²⁵

In addition to ApoA-I, other HDL apolipoproteins display antioxidative activity such as ApoE²²⁶, ApoJ²²⁷ and ApoA-IV²²⁸. ApoE possesses distinct antioxidative properties and can promote regression of atherosclerosis independently of the reduction in plasma cholesterol levels.²²⁹ Moreover, HDL particles also contain small amounts of lipophilic anti-oxidants, mainly tocopherols, which may supply a minor input to antioxidative properties of HDL.²³⁰

1.3.2.3 Anti-inflammatory function of HDL

HDL display multiple anti-inflammatory properties which together may significantly contribute to its anti-atherosclerotic properties.²³¹⁻²³³

HDL decreases the cytokine-induced adhesion molecule expression on endothelial cells and inhibits monocyte adhesion to the endothelium. *In vitro* HDL particles potently inhibit the expression of VCAM-1, intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and E-selectin induced in endothelial cells by tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), interleukin -1 (IL-1), endotoxin or C-reactive protein (CRP).^{213, 234-236}

These affects may be accomplished by HDL inhibition of factor nuclear kappa B (NF- κ B) activation induced by oxLDL and TNF- α .²¹⁴

Furthermore HDL can inhibit monocyte activation via reducing the expression of chemokine C-C motif ligand 2 (CCL2), CCL5 and chemokine C-X3-C motif ligand 1 (CX3CR1), as well as chemokine receptors like C-C chemokine receptor type 2 (CCR2) and CX3CR1.²³⁷

In vivo, infusions of reconstituted HDL (rHDL) inhibit adhesion molecules expression across arterial endothelium in a rabbit model of acute arterial inflammation^{.238} Intravenous infusions of rHDL (ApoA-I/phosphatidylcholine) decreases VCAM-1 expression in atherosclerotic plaques obtained from patients with peripheral vascular disease in a placebo-controlled trial.^{236,239}

HDL-associated ApoA-I displays inhibitory activity towards contact-mediated activation of human monocytes by stimulated T-lymphocytes.²⁴⁰ As direct cell-cell contact with stimulated T lymphocytes is a strong inducer of cytokine production in monocytes, HDL specifically inhibits the production of some pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, CCL3 and CCL4) induced by T-cell contact.²⁴¹

In addition ApoA-I inhibits oxLDL-induced monocyte chemotaxis and significantly decreases lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-mediated monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1), sL-selectin, sICAM-1 and sVCAM-1 release from THP-1 cells.²⁴²

Apart from turning into foam cells a significant proportion of blood monocytes differentiated into migratory dendritic cells (DCs). These monocyte-derived DCs may migrate via the afferent lymph and have a considerable role in the removal of dying cells from atherosclerotic lesions, which could be a solution to solve the local inflammation. Nevertheless, this emigratory process is impaired in atherosclerosis²⁴³ as a consequence of inhibitory signals generated by PAF or oxLDL that acts as a PAF mimetic.²⁴⁴

These multiple anti-inflammatory properties of HDL suggest that several action mechanisms may be operative at one time: the cellular lipid efflux mediated by ABCA1 and ABCG1 is a mechanistic basis that explains the capacity of HDL to decrease adhesion molecule expression and to inhibit monocyte and neutrophil activation, probably due to the rapid depletion of cholesterol from cell membranes.^{245,246} The removal of cellular cholesterol by HDL also results in changes in the expression of genes involved in the regulation of the
inflammatory response, as the down-regulation the inflammatory phenotype of macrophage with consequent attenuation of signalling via toll-like receptor (TLR) 4.²⁴⁷

On the other hand the ability of HDL to inhibit adhesion molecule expression may be related to the presence of several protein and lipid components, which include ApoA-I, ApoA-II, ApoA-IV and HDL-associated lysosphingolipids, such as S1P.^{119,235,248}

Transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β) possesses several anti-inflammatory properties and stabilizes the atherosclerotic plaque.²⁴⁹ HDL induces TGF- β 2 expression *in vitro* and *in vivo* via phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt activation, running as another important mechanism by which HDL may exert protective effects on endothelial cells and vascular wall.²⁵⁰

Modulation of ILs can be equally involved in the effects of HDL on inflammatory cascade. In fact, HDL attenuates the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokine, such as IL-1 β and IL-6,^{239,251} but increases the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines as IL-10.²⁵²

1.3.2.4 Vasodilatory function of HDL

One major indicator of endothelial dysfunction in the development, progression, and clinical complications of atherosclerosis is the decreased endothelial NO[•] production and bioavailability, as result of enhanced inactivation of NO[•] by superoxide anion $(O_2^{••})^{253,254}$ This leads to increased neutrophil adherence to the endothelium, enhanced smooth muscle cells (SMCs) proliferation and platelet aggregation and adhesion.

HDL particles display potent vasodilatory activity, which reflects their capacity to modify endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) expression as well as its activity and the stimulation of endothelial NO[•] production *in vitro* and *in vivo*.^{255,256}

Moreover, administration of rHDL has been shown to improve endothelial function in subjects with hypercholesterolemia and in subjects with isolated low HDL due to heterozygous loss-of-function mutations in the ABCA1 gene locus.^{257,258}

Several different mechanisms have been proposed to account for the endothelial NO[•] stimulating capacity of HDL (Figure 8).

Endothelial NOS is localized in caveolae, specialized microdomains prevalent on the plasma membrane of endothelial cells that contain cholesterol, sphingomyelin, glycosphingolipids, phospholipids and membrane proteins. The structure of caveolae depends on the type and amount of cholesterol associated with the domain and a sufficient level of cholesterol is required to maintain the invaginated structure of the caveolae and its association with eNOS. Lipoproteins may modulate eNOS activity by interacting with the receptors found in caveolae such as SR-BI, CD36 and the caveolae protein, caveolin-1. It is known for long that oxLDL depletes caveolae of cholesterol, via binding to CD36 leading to the intracellular translocation of eNOS and a reduction in the capacity to activate eNOS.²⁵⁹ On the contrary, HDL binding to SR-BI maintain the concentration of caveola-associated cholesterol by promoting the uptake of CE. Therefore oxLDL-induced depletion of caveola cholesterol is prevented and the subcellular location of eNOS is mantained.²⁶⁰



Figure 8. Major pathways involved in vasodilatory activity of HDL. HDL enhances nitric oxide (NO[•]) production by endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) phosphorylation at serine residue 1177 via binding of ApoA-I to SR-BI and binding of HDL-associated lysophospholipids to the S1P3 receptor. Also, HDL mediated efflux of 7-oxysterols through endothelial ABCG1 has been observed to inhibit the interaction between eNOS and caveolin, and to prevent the loss of eNOS dimerization induced by ROS in the endothelium. From Besler C et al, 2012.²⁶¹

Yuhanna et al²⁶² have shown that HDL directly stimulate eNOS mediated NO[•] production through the biding of ApoA-I to SR-BI in endothelial cells.

Mechanistically, the binding of HDL to SR-BI leads to a tyrosine kinase Src-mediated activation of PI3K, which in turn activates Akt and the mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) /extracellular signal-regulated kinase pathway.^{255,263} This activation of endothelial Akt has been shown to stimulate phosphorylation of eNOS at serine residue 1177, recognized as an key regulatory mechanism that leads to eNOS activation.²⁶⁴

In contrast, the mechanism through which the MAPK/extracellular signal-regulated kinase pathway activates eNOS in endothelial cells stimulated with HDL remains poorly understood. Nevertheless, several lysophospholipids found in HDL (i.e. sphingosylphosphorylcholine, S1P, lysosulfatide) can via Akt-mediated activation of eNOS independently release NO[•] through binding of lysophospholipid receptor S1P3 that is expressed in endothelial cells.²⁶³

Another pathway whereby HDL may maintain endothelial cell NO[•] production and availability is mediated by ABCG1 and involves cholesterol efflux.²⁶⁵ Studies with cholesterol-fed mice suggested that HDL-mediated efflux of cholesterol and 7-oxysterols (a dietary oxysterol) via endothelial ABCG1 improving the formation of active eNOS dimers and results in decreased ROS production.²⁶⁵ In support of these data, vascular deficiency of ABCG1 impairs eNOS-mediated relaxation and accelarates atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-deficient mice.²⁶⁶ Furthermore, HDL-mediated cholesterol efflux via ABCG1 reduced the inhibitory interaction of eNOS with caveolin-1 induced by cholesterol loading resulting in increased eNOS activity.²⁶⁷

Recently, Besler et al²⁵⁶ suggested that inhibition of PON1 in HDL from healthy subjects impaired the capacity of HDL to stimulate Akt/eNOS phosphorylation, endothelial NO[•] production and NO[•]-dependent vasodilatation. Consistent with these findings, HDL isolated from PON1-deficient mice failed to stimulate endothelial NO[•] production. These data suggest a role of HDL-associated PON1 activity in maintaining the endothelial atheroprotective effects of HDL, at least in part by preventing formation of the lipid peroxidation product malondialdehyde (MDA) rather than directly degrading MDA. Furthermore, inhibition of PON1 prevented the protective effects of HDL from healthy subjects on TNF- α -stimulated endothelial VCAM-1 expression, endothelial monocyte adhesion and endothelial repair, suggesting that the capacity of HDL to stimulate endothelial NO[•] production is important for the vasodilatory and anti-inflammatory effects of HDL.

HDL can also stimulate the production of PGI2, which possesses potent vasorelaxing activity and therefore being able to modify thrombosis as well as other intravascular events.^{268,269} Furthermore, PGI2 acts synergistically with NO[•] to induce vascular smooth muscle relaxation, inhibit platelet activation and adhesion and diminish the release of growth factors that stimulate the local proliferation of vascular SMCs.

35

The effect of HDL on prostacyclin production in the endothelium occurs both by the provision of arachidonate^{268,270} and upregulation of COX-2 expression.^{271,269} Several different mechanisms have been proposed to account for the HDL mediated COX-2 expression and PGI2 release. HDL induces the phosphorylation of p38 MAPK, which is implicated in the activation of cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB) in endothelium²⁶⁹ and mimics the mechanism that occurs in vascular smooth muscle.²⁷² Moreover, the SR-B1 mediated PI3K–Akt–eNOS signalling pathway plays a role in HDL induced PGI2 and COX-2 production in endothelial cells.²⁷³ Also, oxidized steroids may increase COX-2 expression through the PI3K–Akt–eNOS pathway in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs).²⁷⁴

In addition, HDL has a beneficial effect not only on endothelium, but also on endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs).²⁷⁵⁻²⁷⁶ EPCs mainly reside in bone marrow are mobilized into circulation in response to various stimuli of angiogenesis. In the circulation, EPCs express surface CD34, CD133 and KDR (VEGFR-2) and may go to the site of injured endothelial cells and differentiate into mature and healthy endothelial cells to maintain the integrity of the endothelial monolayer.²⁷⁷ Numerical and functional impairment of EPCs contribute to endothelial dysfunction and the associated increase in cardiovascular risk.²⁷⁸ A direct link between HDL and EPCs was demonstrated with rHDL infusions in ApoE deficient mice which nearly doubled the number of EPCs, effectively promoted the EPCs-mediated repair of damaged endothelium²⁷⁵ and enhanced ischemia-induced angiogenesis²⁷⁹ in vivo through the stimulation of differentiation of EPCs. Infusions of rHDL also increased circulating EPCs in patients with type 2 diabetes.²⁷⁶ HDL prevents the apoptosis of EPCs by activating eNOS and inhibiting caspase 3 in vitro.²⁸⁰ Both ApoA-I, possibly through interaction with SR-BI,²⁸¹ and S1P through S1P3 receptor²⁸² have the ability to stimulate EPCs and promote neovascularization. More recently, was demonstrated that PI3K/Akt-dependent cyclin D1 activation plays an essential role in HDL-induced EPCs proliferation, migration and angiogenesis.²⁸³

1.3.2.5 Antithrombotic function of HDL

Platelets are implicated in the initiation, progression and rupture of atherosclerotic lesions (Figure 9).²⁸⁴ Arterial thrombus formation is determined by the balance between prothrombotic mediators, like tissue factor (TF) and plasmogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1),

and antithrombotic such as tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI) and tissue plasmogen activator (tPA).²⁸⁵

Dyslipidemia is frequently associated with increased platelet reactivity and thrombogenic potential.²⁸⁶



Figure 9. Contribution of platelets to the initiation and the progression of atherosclerosis. From Nofer et al 2010^{284}

HDL exerts multiple antithrombotic effects and thereby counteracts the development of atherothrombotic vascular disease.²⁸⁴ In fact, infusion of rHDL particles significantly mitigates *ex vivo* platelet aggregation response to multiple agonists activation, in subjects with type 2 diabetes characterized by enhanced platelet aggregation.²⁸⁷ The *in vitro* antithrombotic activities of HDL on platelets involves a dose-dependent inhibitory action by glycoprotein IIb/IIIa on agonist-stimulated platelet aggregation (such as thrombin, collagen, ADP, adrenaline, oxLDL and arachidonic acid) ^{288,289} and on thrombin-induced binding of fibrinogen, which is a pre-requisite of platelet aggregation.²⁹⁰ In addition, HDL-mediates inhibition of thrombin- and ADP-stimulated secretion of alpha- and dense granules as well as the liberation of thromboxane A2 (TxA2) and 12-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid (12-HETE). Furthermore, HDL can decrease platelet aggregation as a result of enhanced production of NO[•].²⁸⁴

Blood coagulation involves a series of intrinsic or extrinsic pathways that occurs through the formation of enzymatic protein complexes that assemble on the surface of anionic phospholipids. Although these pathways are initiated by distinct mechanisms, the two converge on a common pathway that leads to fibrin clot formation. HDL inhibits factors that promote blood coagulation, including tissue factors and factors X, Va and VIIIa.^{291,292} HDL also has been shown to contain a TFPI,²⁹³ which would turn HDL less thrombogenic, and thrombin that is generated on the surface of HDL might be 20 times less efficient than when formed on the surface of TG-rich lipoproteins.

Moreover, ApoA-I neutralize the procoagulant properties of anionic phospholipids, which lose their capacity to mediate activation of prothrombin by factor Xa in the presence of factor Va and unable to support binding of factor Va.²⁹⁴



Figure 10. Intracellular signalling cascate triggered by the interaction of HDL with the platelet receptors SR-B1 and ApoER2. SR-B1-mediated interaction prompts the activation of protein kinase C (PKC), which leads to cytoplasmic alkalization and inhibits activity of phosphatidylinositol specific phospholipase C (PI-PLC). ApoER2-mediated interaction induces activation of nitric oxide synthase (NOS) and generation of nitric oxide (NO[•]), which subsequently stimulates the production of cyclic GMP (cGMP). ApoER2 may also induce a signalling cascade encompassing protein kinases MKK3/6 and mitogen activated protein kinase p38 (p38MAPK) as well as phospholipase A2 (PLA2), arachidonic acid (AA), and thromboxane A2 (TxA2). From Nofer et al 2010.²⁸⁴

1.3.2.6 Anti-apoptotic function of HDL

In addition to the functions already described HDL also protects macrophages and endothelial cells from apoptosis²¹⁵ and from the cytotoxic effects of numerous agents, such as oxLDL,²⁹⁵ chylomicron remants,²⁹⁶ TNF- α^{297} and protein of complement system.²⁹⁸

The most important intracellular mechanisms underlying the anti-apoptotic actions of HDL include: (i) cellular efflux of oxidized cholesterol, mainly of 7-ketocholesterol, mediated by ABCG1;²⁹⁹ (ii) decreased intracellular generation of ROS,²⁹⁷ suggesting that cytoprotection can be related to the intracellular anti-oxidant properties of HDL; (iii) preservation of mitochondrial integrity resulting in the inhibition of release of cytochrome c and apotosis-inducing factor from mitochondria followed by the abrogation of caspase cascade activation;²¹⁵ (iv) stimulation of NO[•] synthesis by HDL via interaction with SR-BI and

stimulation of Akt pathway in a PI3K-dependent manner,²⁵⁵ which is essential for the vasodilatory effect of HDL and (v) stimulation of endothelial cell migration by induction of intracellular signalling via S1P receptors.³⁰⁰

1.3.2.7 Other functions of HDL

Furthermore, HDL also has mitogenic activity³⁰¹ and can potentiate the beneficial effects of growth factor (EGFR, PDGF, EGF, IGF). HDL induced proliferation of SMCs can strengthen the fibrous cap of the atherosclerotic plaque and improve plaque stability.

The cytoprotective capacity of HDL is not limited to arterial wall cells and appears to represent a broad physiologic phenomenon. HDL modulates the survival of both human and murine β -cells in isolated islets by decreasing basal as well as IL-1 β and glucose-induced apoptosis.³⁰² This study shown that inducible NOS (iNOS), which mediates the pro-apoptotic effects of glucose and cytokines and the death receptor Fas is down-regulated by HDL.

Recent data, suggest that low HDL-C may play a causative role in the development of insulin resistance.³⁰³ It has been shown that HDL may improve glucose metabolism by multiple mechanisms which include enhanced insulin secretion by β -cells as a result of improved cellular cholesterol homeostasis (Figure 11).³⁰³⁻³⁰⁵



Figure 11. HDL and glucose homeostasis. HDL might regulate the insulin secretion (1), increasing glucose uptake into skeletal muscle (and presumably other peripheral tissues) through non-insulin-dependent mechanisms (for example by AMPK phosphorylation and activation) (2) and increasing peripheral insulin sensitivity via HDL anti-inflammatory actions within the tissues themselves (for example, adipose tissue, muscle, liver) (3) and macrophages (4). The actions of HDL in metabolic tissues and macrophages might result from direct signalling events and via lipid removal through reverse cholesterol transport, with subsequent improvement of inflammation. From Drew et al, 2012.³⁰⁶

Indeed, infusions of rHDL particles reduced plasma glucose, increased insulin secretion and improves the homeostatic model assessment (HOMA) index compared with placebo.³⁰⁷ Based on this study and on cell culture experiments (skeletal muscle cells), those authors suggested the infusions of rHDL increases skeletal muscle glucose uptake via activation of AMPK pathway, this effect involves the binding of ABCA1, maintenance of cholesterol homeostasis in pancreatic β -cells and stimulation of insulin secretion.^{305,307}

The beneficial effect of HDL and ApoA-I on glucose metabolism and insulin resistant states are not limited to their actions on β -cells, skeletal muscle cells and monocyte but may be also target adipocyte. Thus, both over-expression of ApoA-I and treatment with ApoA-I mimetic peptide D-4F, reduces white fat mass, improve insulin resistance and diabetes in mice who develop obesity upon feeding on a high fat diet.³⁰⁸ HDL-induced 5' AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) activation in adipose tissue may led to the inhibition of fatty acid lipolysis and oxidation as observed in patients with type 2 diabetes infused with rHDL.³⁰⁹

1.3.3 Functionally defective HDL

HDL particles progressively lose their normal biological functions and acquire altered properties as a result of modification in HDL composition, structure and metabolism that occur in the context of high cardiovascular risk.³¹⁰ Such altered HDL particles have been termed "dysfunctional HDL",³¹¹ and HDL has been proposed to possess "chameleon-like properties" (Figure 12).^{216,312,313}

Compared with normal fully functional HDL, the composition of both the protein and lipid components of HDL can be modified in metabolic conditions associated with accelerated atherogenesis and enhanced cardiovascular risk. In such diseases states, HDLs become depleted in ApoA-I, CE, PON1 and LCAT and enriched in ApoE, ApoC-I, ApoC-III, free cholesterol, free fatty acids, lysophosphatidylcholine, isoprostanes, sphingolipids, TG, complement C3, C9 and SAA, during the acute phase, displaying covalent modifications as a result of oxidation and/or glycation (Figure 12).^{310,314}

The diminution in HDL ApoA-I levels in inflammatory states is associated to both decreased hepatic ApoA-I synthesis and to its replacement in HDL particles by SAA, which may become the major HDL apolipoprotein during the acute phase.^{312,314}

In addition, ApoA-I can undergo other modifications in the circulation, it aa residues like tyrosine, metionine, cysteine and lysine can be selectively modified under the action of prooxidants secreted by arterial cells.³¹⁵⁻³¹⁸



Figure 12. Proposed model for generating dysfunctional HDL. From Otocka-Kmiecik et al, 2012.³¹⁹

MPO is an enzyme released during degranulation of neutrophils and monocytes, that uses hydrogen peroxide to generate chlorinating and nitrating oxidants which play an essential role in killing microorganisms. However, these reactive species can also modify host proteins and lipids. MPO is a major source of chlorinating and nitrating oxidants in the arterial wall and is enriched in human atheroma.³²⁰ It has been shown to alter the function of HDL, in particular binds to ApoA-I *in vitro* and *in vivo* and produces similar patterns of oxidized aa residues.^{315,320,321} In fact, the modified ApoA-I are unable to interact with the ABCA1 which also leads to impairment of other functions such as the ability to bind lipids.³¹⁵ Such modifications of ApoA-I display altered immune properties an can be quantitatively detected by specific antibodies.^{322,323} Besides, ApoA-I oxidation may lead to its fragmentation, as well as oligomerization, as take place in aging.³²⁴

In addition to the oxidative modification, ApoA-I can be non-enzymatically glycated under conditions of chronic hyperglycemia, as in diabetic patients³²⁵ or in aged patients.³²⁶ Non-enzymatic glycation of proteins is a post-translational modification produced by a reaction between reducing sugars and amino groups located in lysine and arginine residues

or in the N-terminal position. Highly reactive glucose-derived dicarbonyl compounds, such as methylglyoxal, may account for the formation of glycated ApoA-I.³²⁷ Glycation ApoA-I may result in severe structural changes associated with lower binding affinity to phospholipid, building discoid HDL with decreased α -helical content.³²⁸ Furthermore, it may adversely affect RCT due loss of ApoA-I ability to activate LCAT,¹⁸³ and also the anti-inflammatory properties via a reduced capacity to inhibit NF- κ B activation and ROS formation.^{327,329}

HDL-associated enzymes, including PAFAH, PON1, and LCAT can become dysfunctional and/or depleted under inflammatory conditions,^{227,330-332} in metabolic diseases involving low HDL levels (type 2 diabetes, metabolic syndrome).^{333,334}

During the acute phase response there is a reduction of PON1 activity, probably as result of displacement and replacement of PON1 by SAA.³³⁵ Moreover decreased PON1 activity may be caused by enzyme inactivation as a consequence of oxidation,³³⁶⁻³⁴⁰ glycation^{341,342} and /or homocysteinylation.^{343,344}

The activity of both HDL-associated enzymes LCAT and PAF-AH may be also diminished under conditions such as dyslipidemia, insulin resistance, inflammation, infection and autoimmune disease.³⁴⁵⁻³⁴⁹

Even though apolipoproteins and enzymes are the most important determinants of altered HDL function, it may considerably be influenced by changes in HDL lipid composition. Enrichment in TG with depletion of CE in HDL core is the most frequent abnormality of HDL lipid composition.^{314,346,350} Furthermore, the acute-phase HDL also contain high levels of nonesterified fatty acids, lysophosphatidylcholines and isoprostanes compared with normal HDL.³¹⁴ Also HDL lipids can also suffers modification and being oxidized *in vivo* with formation of biologically active compounds.

Even HDL formation itself may be also modified since it occurs a reduction of hepatic production of ApoA-I and defective ApoA-I lipidation upon interaction with ABCA1. Thus the defective formation of large HDL increases renal clearance of ApoA-I and subnormal HDL-C levels, and can also be caused by diminished cholesterol esterification by LCAT.

All of the previously described anti-atherogenic properties of HDL, such as cholesterol efflux capacity, anti-oxidant, anti-inflammatory, vasodilatory, antithrombotic and cytoprotective activity can become impaired under conditions favouring the accelerated atherogenesis and enhanced CVD risk.

The degree of loss of normal HDL function (i.e., defective function) compared with the absence of this function (i.e., dysfunction) depends on the assay used to characterize HDL functionality. In fact, HDL can be dysfunctional (complete loss of the capacity of HDL to perform normal anti-atherogenic function) in cell-based or cell-free assays aimed at measuring anti-inflammatory activity^{311,351} and vasodilatory functions.³⁵² In contrast, measurements of antioxidative activity³³⁰⁻³³⁴ or cholesterol efflux capacity^{346,353} demonstrate a diminished levels of the HDL normal anti-atherogenic functionality rather than a complete dysfunction.

1.3.4 Epidemiology of cardiovascular risk in relation to low HDL-C

The Framingham Heart Study conclusively demonstrated that low HDL-C is a risk factor for CAD independently of LDL-C (Figure 13): at any level of LDL-C, a decrease in HDL-C increases the risk of CAD.³⁵⁴



Figure 13. Coronary artery disease (CAD) risk predicted by high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) and low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) in the Framingham Heart Study. Modified from Gordon et al, 1977.³⁵⁴

Subsequent studies of large populations provide even more evidence to support the role of low HDL-C as a CVD risk factor. Thus, simultaneous analysis of four American prospective studies (Framingham Heart Study, Lipid Research Clinics Prevalence Mortality Follow-Up Study, Coronary Primary Prevention Trial Placebo Group and Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial) has indicated that a 1 mg/dL increase in HDL-C was associated with a significant reduction in CAD risk of 2% in men and of 3% in women.³⁵⁵ Plasma HDL-C levels were also found to be an important predictor of event rates in clinical trials using statins.^{356,357} Although the evidence for the utility of HDL-C as a risk marker in patients treated with lipid-altering therapy has been conflicting depending on the extent of covariate adjustments.

Large multivariable analyses using the Systematic Coronary Risk Evaluation (SCORE) dataset containing HDL-C levels of 104961 individuals (45% women) without pre-existing CHD from 7 pooled European prospective studies, confirmed the inverse, independent, strong and graded relationship between HDL-C and both CVD and CHD mortality.³⁵⁸

Of 58 prospective studies that providing multivariate assessments of the associations between low HDL-C and cardiovascular risk, 31 found a significant inverse association for all cardiovascular outcomes and subpopulations studied, whereas 17 found a significant association for some cardiovascular outcomes and/or subpopulations assessed.³⁵⁹ Another large-scale epidemiologic study in which HDL-C was evaluated as a risk marker on 302430 individuals without initial vascular disease, from 68 long-term prospective studies, mostly in Europe and North America confirmed in multivariate models adjusted for both nonlipid and lipid (TG and non-HDL-C) risk factors that HDL-C was inversely associated with CHD events. For every 15 mg/dL increase in HDL-C concentration, the risk of a CHD event was reduced by 22% (95% CI, 18%–26%).³⁶⁰

These data leave no doubt regarding the role of low HDL-C as major cardiovascular risk factor. Thus, HDL-C has become an important component of algorithms to assess the global cardiovascular risk of patients such as the Framingham risk prediction tool, the PROCAM score and the SCORE approach.^{361,362} Furthermore HDL is also a target for therapeutic intervention and for the definition of treatment goals.

1.3.5 Pharmacologic modulation of HDL-C

Lipid management guidelines are still focused on decreasing LDL-C levels using statins, which inhibit HMG-CoA reductase (a key enzyme in cholesterol biosynthesis), as the primary target for reducing CHD risk. However, despite the generalized use of statins aggressive LDL-C lowering resulted only in a reduction of 30% to 40% of the clinical events and high residual cardiovascular risk (approximately 60-70%) continue to persist (Figure 14).^{78,363-365}

Therefore, to further reduce atherosclerotic cardiovascular events, increasing attention is now focused on HDL as a potential target for atherosclerosis management.



Figure 14. Residual cardiovascular risk despite statin treatment. 4S=Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study; HPS=Heart Protection Study; CARE=Cholesterol and Recurrent Events; WOSCOPS=West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study; LIPID=Long-termIntervention with Pravastatin in Ischemic Disease; PROSPER=Prospective Study of Pravastatin in Elderly at Risk; CARDS=Collaborative Atorvastatin Diabetes Study; ASCOT=Anglo-Scandinavian Cardiac Outcomes Trial–Lipid-lowering Arm; AFCAPS=Air Force/Texas Coronary Atherosclerosis Prevention Study; JUPITER=Justification for the Use of Statins in Primary Prevention: An Intervention Trial Evaluating Rosuvastatin. Fom Chapman et al, 2010.³⁶⁶

1.3.5.1 Current available therapies for increasing HDL-C concentrations

The current pharmacologic options available for raising HDL-C levees include statins, fibrates and niacin.

1.3.5.1.1 Statins

Statins are competitive antagonist of HMG-CoA reductase, the enzyme that catalyzes the conversion of HMG-CoA to mevalonate, an early and rate-limiting step in cholesterol biosynthesis. Statins, therefore by competing directly with the endogenous substrate for the active site of the enzyme effectively reduce serum cholesterol levels. In addition they reduce serum cholesterol levels by upregulating hepatic receptor-mediated LDL-C clearance.

The major effect of statin is to effectively diminish plasma levels of ApoB-containing lipoproteins, principally LDL (20-60%) (Figure 15), but also IDL, VLDL and quilomicrons. The lowering of intracellular cholesterol levels leads to the activation of SREBP transcription factors, which activate the transcription of a number of genes involved in the clearance of LDL particles from plasma, such as the LDL receptor.³⁶⁷ Statins also lower plasma TG due to a diminished VLDL production, probably as a consequence of less availability of cholesterol for

VLDL and quilomicrons assembly.^{368,369} In addition, they may lower TG due to a strong induction of receptor-mediated remnant clearance.



Figure 15. Percentage reductions in serum LDL cholesterol levels according to statin and daily dose. Summary estimates from 164 randomised placebo controlled trials. Adapted from Law et al, 2003.³⁷⁰

Statins only modestly raise HDL-C levels (by 3% to 15%)^{199, 371-373}. Individual statin are not identical in their potency to increase HDL-C (Figure 16) with rosuvastatin an pitavastatin being the most potent compounds.¹⁹⁹



Figure 16. Effect of each statin on HDL-C levels. From Yamashita et al 2010.¹⁹⁹

The differential effects of individual statins on HDL are further highlighted by the finding that increases in HDL-C is positively related to statin dose with rosuvastatin and simvastatin but inversely related to dose with atorvastatin, at least within the dose range of 20 to 80 mg/day.³⁷³⁻³⁷⁵

It has been difficult to clinically dissociate the benefits of the increased HDL-C from LDL-C lowering since the studies were designed to address LDL-C as the principal mechanism

of action of the statins. However the effects of statins on HDL-C levels may be attributed in part to inhibition of Rho-signalling pathways with activation of PPAR- α and consequent stimulation of ApoA-I production (Figure 17).^{372,376} Statins also reduced circulating levels of CETP, and also importantly the rate of CETP-mediated CE transfer from HDL to VLDL secondary to reduction in the latter.^{377,378} Statins, however, are not known to be direct inhibitors of CETP.



Figure 17. Mechanism of up-regulation of ApoA-I production by statins and effect on ABCA1. From Yamashita et al 2010.¹⁹⁹

Importantly, statins exert multiple pleiotropic effects, as they inhibit the prenylation of proteins, such as Ras and Rho that activate the MAPK cascade or NF-κB pathway, that include anti-inflammatory, antiproliferative and antithrombotic effects (Figure 18) (For review see³⁷⁹).

Furthermore, statins seems to improve anti-oxidant actions of HDL by increasing the activity of HDL-associated enzymes as demonstrated for PON1. The increased PON1 activity was clinically confirmed with the administration of fluvastatin,³⁸⁰ simvastatin,^{381,382} atorvastatin^{383,384} and rosuvastatin.³⁸⁵ Statin effect on PON1 activity seems to be independent of HDL elevation.

In vitro studies showed that pitavastatin induces PON1 expression through the activation of the p44/42 MAPK signalling cascade in hepatoma cells, suggesting a beneficial effect on HDL functionality.³⁸⁶

Previously, Deakin et al³⁸² observed that simvastatin was able to modulate *in vitro* the expression of PON1 regulated by SREBP-2 and increase serum PON1 concentration and activity in human hepatic HepG2 cells.

Statins are generally well tolerated; the most common adverse effects involve muscle problems such as myophathy and/or myositis with potential for rhabdomyolysis, raised liver enzymes (alanine transaminase ALT and aspartate transaminase AST), central nervous system effects, and the appearance of diabetes.³⁸⁷



Figure 18. Cholesterol biosynthetic pathway. Inhibition of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase by statins decreases the synthesis of isoprenoids and cholesterol. PP pyrophosphate; BMP-2: bone morphogenetic protein-2; eNOS: endothelial nitric oxide synthase; t-PA: tissuetype plasminogen activator; ET-1: endothelin-1; PAI-1: plasminogen activator inhibitor-1. From Liao et al, 2005.³⁷⁹

1.3.5.1.2 Fibrates

The fibrates are effective agents for managing dyslipidemia in particular elevated concentrations of TG-rich lipoproteins and low levels of HDL-C typically associated type 2 diabetes and the metabolic syndrome.³⁸⁸

Fibrates are PPAR α agonists of moderate affinity that exert multiple effects on lipid and fatty acid metbolism.³⁸⁹

Fibrates bind to PPAR α expressed in hepatocytes, endothelial and smooth muscle cells, monocytes, macrophages and the heart, and heterodimerizes with the RXR. The heterodimer PPAR α /RXR binds to peroxisome proliferator response elements in the promoter regions of specific genes, activating the expression of these genes and thereby increasing protein expression (Figure 19).³⁹⁰ Activation of PPAR α by fibrates mediates

several effects such as the modulation of lipoprotein metabolism, coagulation, haemostasis and attenuation of inflammation.³⁹¹

The primary effect of fibrates on plasma lipoprotein lipids involves a 30–50% reduction in TG levels and in general increase levels of HDL-C by 5–15%, depending on lipid phenotype and baseline concentration.^{388,392} Fibrates may also reduce LDL-C potentially by up to 15-20% although the effect is variable, depending on the fibrate in question and on baseline lipid profile.^{388,393}



Figure 19. Mechanism of action of fibrates. From Chapmam 2006.³⁹¹

Fibrates decrease circulating TG levels by increasing catabolism of VLDL (and chylomicrons) via induction of LPL and ApoA-V expression, and simultaneously, LPL action is potentiated due to attenuated hepatic ApoC-III expression, a well-known inhibitor of LPL. In addition they stimulate cellular fatty acid uptake and transformation to acyl-CoA derivatives, and by raising peroxisomal and mitochondrial β -oxidation, thereby leading to attenuated synthesis of fatty acids and TGs that results in a decrease in VLDL production.³⁹⁰

Fibrates increase HDL independently of TG reduction by direct up-regulation of the transcription of APOA1 and APOA2 genes, leading to increased synthesis of ApoA-I and ApoA-II, thereby enhancing the formation of new HDL particles.³⁹⁴

Another main aspect of the action of fibrates on HDL metabolism involves enhanced expression of ABCA1, a major regulator of HDL biogenesis in hepatocytes, and known to be up-regulated by the transcription factor liver X receptor (LXR), especially LXR α , which expression is further enhanced by activation of the PPARs.³⁹⁵

Studies in primary hepatocytes from mice have shown a down-regulation of hepatic SR-BI protein levels on treatment with fibrates.³⁹⁶ Down-regulation of this receptor in the liver leads to decreased HDL clearance and would provide another mechanism by which fibrates could increase plasma HDL levels.

Interestingly the indirect inhibitory action of PPARα agonists on plasma CETP activity as resulted of reduced TG levels, can be, partly counteracted by enhanced CETP expression, as showed by effect of fenofibrate in increasing CETP mRNA, protein and activity in human CETP transgenic animal model.³⁹⁷ Consistent with this result, fenofibrate increases circulating CETP levels in dyslipidemic humans.³⁹⁸

In addition, fibrates increased PON1 concentration and activity³⁹⁹ and are involved in the redistribution of PAF-AH from ApoB containing lipoproteins to HDL in dyslipidemia patients, thereby lowering the pro-inflammatory potential of the enzyme.^{400,401}

Despite such significant anti-atherogenic actions, clinical trials of cardiovascular risk reduction by fibrates have provide mixed results, some revealed beneficial effects (Helsinki Heart Study, VA-HIT and WHO trial),⁴⁰² whereas in contrast others (BIP and FIELD trial) are controversial.^{402,403}

Disappointingly, HDL-C increase by fibrates is markedly attenuated by type 2 diabetes and typically does not exceed 5% .^{366,403} The relatively weak HDL-C-raising effect of fibrates in this group of patients may, in part, reflect the increase of atherogenic Hcy plasma levees and thus down-regulating hepatic synthesis of ApoA-I.⁴⁰⁴ In the FIELD trial PPARα agonists thus increase plasma Hcy levels and this were negatively correlated with increases in HDL-C and ApoA-I, but positively correlated with elevation in ApoA-II levels.^{403,404} In fact, PPARα agonists that have more robust effect on HDL-C and ApoA-I and do not raise Hcy would therefore be desirable.

PPAR α agonists can also attenuate the production of pro-inflammatory stimuli such as TNF α , interferon gamma (IFN- γ), IL-6 and IL-1, as well as the acute phase proteins, including fibrinogen and CRP.⁴⁰⁵ PPAR α activation decrease the expression of adhesion molecules to the endothelium, due to the reduction cytokine-induced VCAM-1 expression, leading to decreased leukocyte recruitment into the arterial wall.⁴⁰⁶ Furthermore PPAR α activators inhibit thrombin-induced endothelin-1 production and consequently decreases the proliferation of smooth muscle cells.⁴⁰⁷

In general, fibrate therapy is well tolerated, but may induce hyperhomocysteinemia with concomitant increase of the creatinine levels, a marker of renal dysfunction.^{408,409} Association of some fibrates with statin may produce a increase in the risk of myopathy and rhabdomyolysis, due to interferes with statin glucuronidation that could lead to elevation in statin plasma concentrations.⁴¹⁰⁻⁴¹²

1.3.5.1.3 Niacin

Niacin (nicotinic acid), vitamin of the complex B3, has been used as a pharmacologic agent to regulate abnormalities in plasma lipid and lipoprotein metabolism since 1955.⁴¹³ Niacin is presently the most effective commercial available lipid-regulating agent to increase HDL-C levels. The HDL-C raising effect of niacin may reach to 35% of increase at a 2g/day dose, as well as substantially lowering TGs (20-40%), LDL-C (15-30%) and lipoprotein(a) (Lp(a)) (15-35%).⁴¹⁴⁻⁴¹⁶

The primary action of niacin is to transiently suppress the TG lipolysis in adipose tissue.^{417,418} Nicotinic acid has been identified as a ligand for the human G-protein-coupled receptors GPR109A and GPR109B that signal through Gi-mediated inhibition of adenylyl cyclase (AC), resulting in a decrease in intracellular cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) levels.⁴¹⁹ This cyclic nucleotide is the principal mediator of adipocyte lipolysis (Figure 20) Lipolysis is increased when cAMP levels are elevated due to increased AC activity, for example, by β-adrenergic receptor activation or by decreased phosphodiesterase-mediated cAMP degradation.⁴²⁰ Thus, the nicotinic acid-induced, GPR109A-mediated AC inhibition suppressing the prolipolytic effects of elevated intracellular cAMP levels and stimulation of protein kinase A (PKA), which phosphorylates a number of proteins, most notably hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL), which are required for TG hydrolysis.⁴¹⁶

Another important lipase in this process is the adipose triacylglycerol lipase (ATGL), which hydrolyzes the TGs into FFA and glycerol. Thus, the antilipolytic action of nicotinic acid is likely mediated by activation of the Gi-coupled nicotinic acid receptor, impeding the cAMP/PKA signalling cascade thereby decreasing lipolysis and the subsequent release of FFA into the circulation. The flux of FFA to the liver constitutes the main substrate for hepatic TG synthesis, such TG may be either integrated into nascent VLDL particles and secreted into the circulation, or may alternatively be stored in the form of intracellular lipid droplets in the hepatocyte. Furthermore niacin inhibit the diacylglycerol acyltransferase 2, a key enzyme of

TG synthesis in human hepatocytes.⁴²¹ The inhibition of TG synthesis by niacin potentially results in the accelerated intracellular hepatic degradation of ApoB and subsequent decreased secretion of VLDL/LDL particles.



Figure 20. Mechanisms of nicotinic acid-induced changes in lipolysis of triacylglycerol (TG) on adipocytes and reduction hepatic very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) production. ATGL, adipocyte-triacylglycerol-lipase; CETP, cholesterol ester transfer protein; FFA, free fatty acid; HSL, hormone-sensitive lipase; PKA, protein kinase A; TG, triacylglycerol; AC, adenylyl cyclase; β -AR, β -adrenergic receptor. From Gille et al, 2008.⁴²²

The mechanism of the nicotinic acid–mediated increase in HDL-C levels is less clear. Most likely, the decrease in TG levels in ApoB-containing lipoproteins (LDL/VLDL) results in a decreased exchange between CE carried by HDL particles and TG in VLDL and LDL particles via CETP, resulting in an increase in HDL-C plasma concentrations. In parallel niacin may also promotes hepatic ApoA-I production and slows hepatic clearance of ApoA-I.^{422,424}

Furthermore, another potential mechanism of niacin raising HDL-C involves the induction of cholesterol efflux via ABCA1 and ABCG1 from peripheral cells to HDL acceptors. In fact, niacin enhances transcription of ABC transporters via nuclear PPAR γ -dependent pathway⁴²⁵ and may promote cholesterol efflux from adipocytes to ApoA-I via ABCA1 mediated by LXR- α dependent mechanism.⁴²⁶

There is emerging interest in several potentially beneficial non-lipid mediated effects of niacin e.g. anti-inflammatory, anti-oxidant, antithrombotic and cytoprotective effects.

Niacin administration has been shown to inhibit TNF- α induced inflammatory response in cultured human endothelial cell by decreasing NF- κ B activation, VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 expression and MCP-1 secretion.⁴²⁷⁻⁴²⁹

Furthermore, niacin also decreases CRP levels,⁴³⁰ improves endothelial dysfunction,^{431,432} improves the endothelial and leukocyte redox state *in vitro*, which

protected against ROS-induced endothelial dysfunction,^{427,433} enhances plaque stability and reduces thrombosis.⁴³⁴

Niacin increases adiponectin, an adipokine with insulin sensitizing, anti-atherogenic, and anti-inflammatory properties.⁴³⁵⁻⁴³⁷

Recently, it has been reported that niacin inhibits vascular inflammation via mechanisms independent of its lipid-modifying effects.^{433,437} Therefore in addition to its lipid modulation role these athero-protective qualities seem contribute to the improved cardiovascular outcomes demonstrated in patients treated with niacin.

However, the therapeutic potential of niacin has been limited by its adverse effects; cutaneous flushing phenomenon that occurs in 70–80% of the patients.

Niacin has also been criticized for dysregulation of glycaemia control,^{438,439} elevation of liver enzymes⁴⁴⁰ and uric acid level⁴⁴¹.

1.3.5.2 Emerging therapies for reducing CVD risk via HDL

The magnitude of the HDL-C elevations achieved by either lifestyle or any of the currently available pharmacologic options is small relative to the LDL-C reductions achieved by statins and the high residual cardiovascular risk (approximately 60-70%) continue to persist. Therefore, development and testing of new therapies that exploit the vascular protective effects of HDL constitutes a rational and complementary approach.

In recent years, a number of promising HDL-based therapies have emerged from intensive research (Figure 21).



Figure 21. Emerging HDL-based therapies. From Shah 2007.⁴⁴²

This has led to several new drugs that are currently in various stages of development and testing (Phase I–III clinical trials). It is hoped that one or more of these new HDL-based therapies, if proven effective and safe, will become a part of the therapeutic option for management of dyslipidemia and against cardiovascular disease. These therapeutic approaches to raise HDL-C levels can target one or more of several mechanisms involved in HDL metabolism, including the production of ApoA-I or modification of intravascular remodelling of HDL particles.

For the purpose of this work I have included only the ones that consist in the administration of HDL components as they may have a direct association with the production of antibodies towards HDL complex.

1.3.5.2.1 Apo A-I/Reconstituted HDL (rHDL) Infusions

Despite intensive research, small molecules that could increasing endogenous ApoA-I expression without the multiple side effects of the above-mentioned substances remain elusive, an alternate strategy has been to directly infuse ApoA-I or rHDL into the circulation that might act as cholesterol acceptors.

ApoA-I Milano has been known for years to be a variant of the ApoA-I protein backbone of HDL particles that enhances the ability of to transport cholesterol out of the body. People from a small village in Italy who have this genetic variant have lower CHD events and longer. Recombinant form of ApoA-I Milano in a phospholipid complex (ETC-216) is being developed as an infusion product.

Infusions of wild-type ApoA-I/HDL and ApoA-I Milano were tested in animal models and were associated with attenuation, and even regression, of atherosclerosis in rabbit models.⁴⁴³⁻⁴⁴⁶

This effect has also been demonstrated in humans as shown in Table 4 which summarizes the clinical evidence of infusion of Apo-AI Milano and wild-type Apo-AI remarkable decrease of atheromatous burden.^{239,447-449}

Besides this effect on acute plaque regression the ApoA-I/HDL infusions seems to exerts anti-inflammatory effects.^{239,446}

Bringing this compound to clinical practice will require further large trials that evaluate its impact on cardiovascular events. However, due to its complexity the protein is difficult

and very expensive to produce and its use via the intravenous route limits its trial application compared to oral medication.

Study	Patients	Administration	Results
Nissen et al, 2003 ⁴⁴⁷	123 post-acute coronary events (randomized)	Intravenous ApoA-I Milano	4.2% decrease of atheromatous plaque volume (measured by ultrasound)
Nicholls et al, 2006 ⁴⁴⁸	47 post-acute coronary events (randomized)	Intravenous ApoA-I Milano	4.6% decrease of internal elastic lamin (measured by ultrasound)
Tardif et al, 2007 ⁴⁴⁹	183 patients on coronariography (randomized)	Intravenous reconstituted wild-type HDL	3.4% decrease of plaque volume (measured by ultrasound) at follow up (not difference at baseline)
Shaw et al, 2008 ²³⁹	20 patients with claudication who underwent femoral endarterectomy (randomized)	Intravenous reconstituted wild-type HDL	Decreased expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and decreased lipid content

Table 4. Clinical evidence for ApoA-I/ HDL infusion. Adapted fom Redondo et al, 2011.⁴⁵⁰

1.3.5.2.2 Synthetic Apo A-I mimetic peptides

ApoA-I mimetic peptides are short synthetic amphipathic peptides of 18–22 aa, which mimic the lipid-binding domain of ApoA-I and retain functional properties of ApoA-I, such as the ability to form complexes with lipids, promote cell cholesterol efflux, and activate LCAT.^{451,452} They have the advantage of being relatively easy and cheap to synthesize compared with the full-length ApoA-I

The most promising ApoA-I mimetic peptide seem to be D4F, an orally active peptide with D-amino acids (which are resistant to gastric hydrolysis unlike L-amino acids) and 4 phenylalanine substitutions, has been shown to enhance the anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory function of HDL and improve its cholesterol efflux ability without increasing plasma HDL-C levels in mouse models.⁴⁵³

The D4F peptide is also the only apolipoprotein mimetic peptide reported so far to undergo testing in human subjects. In a Phase I study of 50 patients with coronary heart disease received a single a single dose of 30, 100, 300, or 500 mg of unformulated D-4F. Even though no apparent toxicity was observed from this trial, there has been apprehension about whether long term use of D4F.⁴⁵⁴

Therefore the early optimism regarding the therapeutic potential of these mimetic peptides has been attenuated by the inability of any of these peptides to move to an advanced stage of clinical development. An alternative therapeutic option may be to turn on endogenous ApoA-I synthesis. Such an approach would generate nascent HDL particles, which should carry out normal physiological functions. Nevertheless, the capacity to identify agents that selectively increase ApoA-I synthesis has proven to be a major challenge.

RVX-208 is a first-in-class, orally active, small-molecule that acts via an epigenetic mechanism leading to enhanced activity of the APOAI gene resulting in upregulation hepatic expression of ApoA-I and to increase systemic cholesterol efflux capacity in *in vitro* and *in vivo* models and in phase I/II clinical trials.⁴⁵⁵⁻⁴⁵⁷

Currently there is great expectation for the results of two Phase IIb trials with this ApoA-I stimulator the SUSTAIN (the Study of Quantitative Serial Trends in Lipids with Apolipoprotein A-I Stimulation) study that aims to evaluate the lipid efficacy, safety and tolerability of RVX-208, and the ASSURE (the ApoA-I Synthesis Stimulation and Intravascular Ultrasound for Coronary Atheroma Regression Evaluation) study that aims to evaluate the effect of RVX-208 on plaque burden.⁴⁵⁸

1.4 Immunity in Atherogenesis

1.4.1 Overview

Once considered a feature of the long and relentless aging process, atherosclerosis is regarded now as a chronic inflammatory and auto-immune disease in which all branches of the immune system are involved at each stage of the atherosclerotic process. ⁵⁴⁻⁵⁶

Some of the most remarkable data in support of a link between immune response and atherosclerosis came from epidemiologic studies of patients with auto-immune diseases. Patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) have a 2- to 5-fold increase in cardiovascular morbidity and mortality,⁴⁵⁹ and patients with SLE have a 9 to 50-fold risk of developing atherosclerotic CHD than the normal population.⁴⁶⁰ Interestingly, patients with SLE, RA and other inflammatory syndromes share several auto-immune phenomena with atherosclerotic patients, such as immune dysfunction, inflammation and endothelial activation as a consequence of chronic therapies.⁴⁶¹⁻⁴⁶³

The study of immunity in atherogenesis was boosted with the creation of animal models of atherosclerosis. Hypercholesterolaemic mice deficient in specific components of the innate and adaptive immunity show that the net effect of both systems is pro-atherogenic.⁴⁶⁴⁻⁴⁶⁶ These findings may explain why atherosclerosis has such a major impact in systemic auto-immune diseases as they are characterized by a dysregulated and hyperactive immune system. However, immune activation and hyperesponse can still be a major player in atherogenesis event outside the context of auto-immune diseases.

Therefore, these particular diseases might constitute a logical model for the study of the complex mechanisms of atherogenesis.

1.4.2 General innate immune response

The innate immune system is the first line of defence against bacteria, viruses, and substances that appear foreign and harmful. Innate immunity is mediated by leucocytes, mast cells, natural killer (NK) cells and antigen presenting cells (APCs), such as macrophages and DCs.

Inflammation in physiological conditions is a self-limiting ancient protective mechanism that defends the host from invading pathogens. However it has become apparent that the innate arm of the immune inflammatory response does not involve only specific responses and phagocytosis. It relies on a set of pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) that include scavenger receptors (SRs) and TLRs that are able to sense highly conserved pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and endogenous products of tissue injury and inflammation, with a greater degree of specificity than previously believed and has the ability to discriminate self versus foreign pathogens.^{467,468}

TLRs expression is not constitutive and may be regulated by multiple factors including cell differentiation and the presence of their cognate ligands. Once activated, the TLR recruits adaptor proteins, being the myeloid differentiation factor 88 (MyD88) common to all TLR signalling pathways (with the exception of TLR3), that triggers the activation of proinflammatory transcription factors (NF-kB, AP1, CREB, c/EBP, and IRF), resulting in stimulation of the expression of various inflammatory molecules, such as IL-6, TNF- α , and IL-1 β , chemokines, proteases, free oxygen radicals, ecosanoids (leukotriene B4, LTB₄) and costimulatory molecules.

In the circulation, these pro-inflammatory mediators induced by SRs and TLRs stimulation may subsequently activate hepatic (low grade) acute phase responses. For instance, systemic IL-6 can induce expression of the acute phase proteins such as CRP and SAA, whose elevated levels are associated with increased cardiovascular risk.⁴⁶⁹

Furthermore, recent evidence indicates that activation of the innate immunity is necessary to stimulate complete maturation of DCs and is essential to the induction of adaptive immune responses.

TLR-induced DCs maturation is characterized functionally by increased potency of DCs as APCs which results from the upregulation of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II and costimulatory molecules (CD40, CD80, CD86), as well as by cytokine production which leads to an efficient T cell activation (Figure 22).^{470,471}

1.4.3 General adaptative immune response

The adaptive immune response, evolved later than the innate immune response, is composed of specialized antigen-specific lymphocytes T and B cells that require presentation of antigens, costimulators and particular cytokines from innate immune cells to become activated. Adaptive responses occur following recognition of an antigen by T-cell receptors (TCRs) on T cells and B cell antigen receptor (BCRs) on B cells. Once the adaptive immune cells have been activated, memory cells will be generated to rapidly respond in case of a new infection by the same pathogen.^{472,473}



Figure 22. Interaction between innate and adaptative immunity. Dendritic cell (DCs) maturation and consequent T cell activation. Activation of toll-like receptors (TLRs) by recognition of pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) in DCs results in the stimulation of the expression of various inflammatory cytokine and costimulatory molecules and upregulation of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II, which are all necessary for the DCs antigen presentation and efficient T cell activation. From Akira, 2009.⁴⁷¹

Adaptive immune responses are carried out by lymphocytes that mediate two types of response: a cellular immunity (cell-mediated immune responses) and a humoral immunity (antibody responses) that are carried out by T cells and B cells, respectively.

T cells can be divided into subsets based on their cell surface antigens, i.e. into CD4⁺ T cells, also called T helper (Th) cells, regulatory T cells and cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells. Both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells are activated by mature antigen presenting DCs, however CD8⁺ T cells are activated by peptide-antigens presented on MHC class I molecules and also requires costimulation via CD28 (on the T cell) and CD80 or CD86 (on the APC) and secretion of cytokines from CD4⁺ T cells.⁴⁷⁴

CD4⁺T cells are key players in orchestrating immune responses by differentiation into specific Th subtypes with distinct and adequate immune responses. In addition, Th cells participate in humoral immune responses, by "helping" B cell isotype switch, resulting in the generation of antigen specific antibody production.

Once an antigen is recognized by the BCRs on B cells it transmits signals directly to the cell's interior and triggers a receptor-mediated endocytosis which allows the antigen to be processed and displayed as peptide fragments bound to MHC class II molecules at the B cell surface. B cell can then be recognized by antigen-specific armed Th cells, leading to the expression of the B cell stimulatory molecule CD40 ligand (CD40L) on the Th cell surface and to the secretion of the B cell stimulatory cytokines IL-4, IL-5, and IL-6, which drive the

proliferation and differentiation of the B cell into antibody-secreting plasma cells (plasma B cells) and memory B cells (Figure 23).⁴⁷⁵

In addition to producing antibodies, B cells play an important role in T cell responses via antigen presentation⁴⁷⁶ and cytokine production.⁴⁷⁷



Figure 23. T cell-dependent B cell activation. Once a B cell encounters its cognate antigen, the B cell receptor (BCR) delivers the antigen to intracellular sites where it is degraded and returned to the B-cell surface as peptides bound to MHC class II molecules. The peptide:MHC class II complex can be recognized by antigen-specific armed helper T (Th) cells, leading them to make B cell stimulatory molecule CD40 ligand (CD40L) and cytokines such as IL-4 that cause the B cell to proliferate and differentiate into antibody-secreting plasma cells (plasma B cells) and memory B cells. Adapted from Avci et al, 2011.⁴⁷⁸

1.4.4 The immune response in atherogenesis

1.4.4.1 Innate immune response in atherogenesis

Activation of the innate immune mechanisms are implicated early in atherogenesis and in the inflammatory response.⁴⁷⁹ The most abundant cell types within the atherosclerotic plaque are innate immune cells, such monocytes-macrophages, DCs and endothelial cells that can express a large repertoire of SRs classes and TLRs types.^{467,480} These recognize and internalize a broad range of molecules and particles such as bacterial endotoxins, stress proteins, apoptotic cell fragments, DNA motifs, modified lipoprotein as oxLDL, HSP60 (Table 5).⁴⁸¹ Although other antigens may also be important, recent data suggests that major atherosclerosis-relevant antigens consist of neoepitopes generated as a consequence of oxidative reactions, as occur when oxLDL is formed or when cells undergo apoptosis.⁴⁸²

Ligand	Scavenger Receptor (SR)	Toll-Like Receptor (TLR)
LPS	SR-A	TLR2, TLR4
Lipoteichoic acid	SR-A	TLR2, TLR4
Acetyl-LDL	SR-A, MARCO, SR-EC	?
Oxidized LDL	SR-A, CD36, SR-PSOX, LOX-1	?
HSP60	?	TLR2, TLR4
Bacterial CpG DNA	?	TLR9

Table 5. Several ligands for the different pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs), scavenger receptors (SRs)and toll-like receptors (TLRs). From Hansson et al, 2002.⁵⁴

Intracellular cholesterol that accumulates after SRs –mediated uptake of modified LDL might activate cytoplasmic caspase-1-activating protein complexes (inflammasomes), being the most studied NLRP3, that promote maturation and secretion of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and IL-18 (Figure 24).⁴⁸³

TLRs also recognise modified LDL triggering the intracellular signalling cascade described previously that culminate with the expression of several pro-inflammatory molecules such as cytokines, chemokines, eicosanoids, proteinases, oxidases and costimulatory molecules (Figure 24).



Figure 24. Activation of innate immune response in atherosclerotic lesion Uptake of modified LDL particles such as oxLDL through scavenger receptors (SRs) leads to the intracellular increase of cholesterol that can trigger the inflammasome, inducing the secretion of IL-1 β . Toll-like receptors (TLRs) also recognise components of modified LDL, triggering an intracellular signaling cascade that leads to the expression of a series of genes encoding pro-inflammatory molecules, including cytokines, chemokines, eicosanoids, proteinases, oxidases and costimulatory molecules. From Hansson and Hermansson, 2011.

In addition to stimulate complete maturation of DCs, activation of monocytesmacrophages are also a crucial link between the innate and adaptive arms of the immune response either on presenting foreign antigen to T cells as by subsequently responding to cytokines produced by activated T cells, promoting inflammatory responses, stimulation of lesion progression, and increase the risk of plaque rupture.⁴⁸⁵

1.4.4.2 Adaptative immune response in atherogenesis

1.4.4.2.1 Cellular immunity

Several studies have shown an accumulation of activated T lymphocytes in atherosclerotic plaques strongly suggesting that they influence disease progression.⁴⁸⁶⁻⁴⁸⁸

APCs within the atherosclerotic plaque trigger a predominantly Th1 cell response characterized by secretion of IFN- $\gamma^{489\cdot491}$ which activates monocytes-macrophages, DCs, improves the efficiency of antigen production and promotes further Th1 polarizatin.⁴⁸⁴ Furthermore, IFN- γ induces the expression of the SRs in macrophages increasing the oxLDL uptake, and inhibits the ABC transporters leading a defective cholesterol efflux, thus contributing to the formation of foam cells.⁴⁹² In addition to IFN- γ activated monocytesmacrophages and DCs produce others inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, IL-12, IL-15, IL-18, and TNF- α and release proteases that reduce the stability of plaque by degrading the extracellular matrix and induce migration of SMCs from the media. These cells may also produce prothrombotic and procoagulant factors that directly precipitate the formation of thrombus at the site of plaque rupture (Figure 25 and Figure 26).

The role of Th2 cells in atherogenesis is poorly understood and data are inconsistent depending on the stage and \checkmark or site of the lesion, as well as on the experimental model (Figure 26). The Th2 cytokine IL-4 has been reported to be pro-atherogenic⁴⁹³ or have no effect.⁴⁹⁴ On the other hand, IL-13 was reported to be atheroprotective,⁴⁹⁵as was IL-5.⁴⁹⁶

The third distinct lineage of Th cells are the Th17, characterized by the production of the inflammatory cytokine IL-17,⁴⁹⁷ and several other pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-22 and IL-23) and are differentiated from activated naive T cells in the presence of TGF- β and pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6.



Figure 25. Activation of T cells in atherosclerotic lesions. It is characterized by a type 1 helper T (Th1) effector cells response that secrete interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) which improves the efficiency of antigen presentation and stimulates synthesis of inflammatory cytokines. Various cytokines and mediators produced by macrophages and T lymphocytes reduce the stability of plaque and induce migration of SMCs from the media and their proliferation and extracellular matrix production. They may also increase prothrombotic and procoagulant factors that directly accelerate the formation of thrombus at the site of plaque rupture. From Andersson et al, 2010.⁴⁷³

Th17 cells are involved in the promotion of inflammatory auto-immune diseases.⁴⁹⁸ Nevertheless the effects of Th17 cells or IL-17 in human atherosclerosis are inconsistent, likely reflecting poorly understood relationships between Th1 and Th17.⁴⁹⁹ Although accumulation of Th17 cells and IL-17 has been observed in murine^{500,501} and human^{502,503} atherosclerotic lesions, conflicting results with pro-^{503,504} and anti-atherogenic (Figure 26).^{505,506}

The discrepancies in the data may be relate to the existence of IL-17–producing T cells that also produce IFN- γ , ^{502,507} or to plasticity of Th17 cells, which can redifferentiate into Th1 cells. ^{508,509}

While overall T effector cells aggravate atherosclerosis, certain subsets of T cells within certain contexts can limit inflammation and counteract plaque complication. Regulatory T cells (Tregs), which actively maintain immunological tolerance to self and nonself antigens, are powerful inhibitors of atherogenic process by secreting anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10, TGF- β , and IL-35 (Figure 25 and Figure 26).⁵¹⁰



Figure 26. Naive T-cell differentiation into specific T helper (Th) substes involved in atherosclerosis and its complex interactions. From Ait-Oufella et al, 2009.⁵¹¹

The atheroprotective role for Tregs in animal models of atherosclerosis has been supported by studies in which Tregs depletion,^{511,513} ablation⁵¹⁴ or genetic inactivation/blockade of Tregs, principal effector cytokines IL-10 and TGF- $\beta^{510,515}$ significantly, aggravates atherosclerosis. On the other hand injection or induction of the Tregs leads to diminished disease.^{511,516,517}

Recently, the importance of Tregs in atherosclerosis development was further showed by the Tregs-mediated suppression on monocytes-macrophages foam-cell formation though inhibiting the uptake of oxLDL.⁵¹⁸ In addition Treg can also directly regulate endothelial cell activation and leukocyte recruitment, independent of their suppressive functions on effector T-cells.⁵¹⁹ Moreover, prolonged hypercholesterolemia resulted in reduction of peripheral and plaque Treg numbers, increased Treg apoptosis and diminished Treg lesional infiltration, but reversal of hypercholesterolemia can restored Treg numbers and stopped lesion growth.⁵²⁰

Nevertheless the human atherosclerotic lesions contain only limited Treg numbers (1– 5% of all T-cells) given the pro-inflammatory lesion microenvironment, the survival and maintenance of Treg cells would be compromised compared with pathogenic T cells suggesting that protection mediated by Treg is hampered in atherosclerosis.

1.4.4.2.2 Humoral immunity

Despite the complexity of the interactions between the immune and vascular systems, most of the research so far has targeted the cellular aspects of the immune response. Nevertheless, the development of atherosclerosis is also associated with B cell activation suggesting that the humoral immune response might also play a relevant role in this process.

B cells have been found in atherosclerotic lesions in mice⁵²¹ and in humans.⁵²² Moreover it has been shown that patients with atherosclerosis produce antibodies against many antigens, the best characterized are HSP and oxLDL.

HSP are a group of more than 20 molecules categorized in five families according to molecular weight.⁵²³ They are present in all living organisms and represent one of the most conserved protein structures in evolution. HSP have a dual function: inside the cells they help in the assembling and translocation of newly formed proteins as well as in repairing or clearing proteins which have become unstable,⁵²⁴ and outside the cells they act as stress markers in order to allow the recognition of stressed cells by the immune system.⁵²⁵

HSP have been widely associated with atherosclerosis. In the early 1990's, anti-HSP65 antibodies were associated with atherosclerosis.⁵⁰ Later, this data would be confirmed in another prospective population-based survey which showed that the same type of antibodies was elevated in subjects with carotid atherosclerosis when compared to those without lesions.⁵²⁶ More recently, these results have been complemented with the finding of an association between the risk of development of premature atherosclerosis in young males and the level of reactivity of T lymphocytes to human HSP60.⁵²⁷ Eventually, clinical (cardiovascular) events would also be associated with the presence of these antibodies along with an already known presence of diffuse atherosclerosis.⁵²⁸ These findings have been thoroughly tested and confirmed in different animal models (e.g. the presence of anti-HSP antibodies in general and anti-HSP60/65 in particular was associated with endothelium injury in rabbits fed with cholesterol-rich diets.⁵²⁹ Different hypotheses were put forward to explain this association, one of the most popular being the one based on the concept of "molecular mimicry". An immune response against HSP would represent a cross-reaction between HSP produced by endothelial cells subjected to oxidative or other pro-atherogenic stress factors and HSP produced as a response to eventual bacterial and viral infections that happened in the past. In this way, HSP60 expressed by the endothelial cells in response to

any biochemical or haemodinamic stress would become a target of an immune system that has already been sensitized to it on previous infectious events.

However, other possibilities have been put forward to explain such a consistent association of atherosclerosis and anti-HSP antibodies: the protein could become immunogenic due to oxidation or metabolic-induced alterations, other antigens (foreign or self) could interact with HSP60 hence forming a immunogenic complex, the lack of recognition of soluble HSP as a self protein could be due to the fact that it is in most cases an intracellular molecule, and finally the possibility of genetic variations that would keep the immune response active.⁵³⁰

These hypotheses are directly or indirectly based on the concept of HSP as an interface between infection and atherosclerosis. In fact, numerous studies have shown a relationship between chronic infection-associated bacteria or viruses and vascular disease. The classic example is the long term infections by Chlamydia pneumoniae and Chlamydia trachomatis which have been associated with an increased rate of atheroma formation and even the sites of infection for the latter (the eye and the fallopian tubes) show fibrosis with the presence of lymphocytes and macrophages in a surprisingly similar way to the development of the atherogenic plaque.⁵³¹ Further evidence has been provided in relation to other microorganisms including Helicobacter pylori, Cytomegalovirus, Epstein-Barr virus amongst others.⁵³²

The atherosclerotic lesion starts when LDL molecules are trapped in the arterial wall, in the subendothelial extracellular matrix.⁵⁶ At this stage, lymphocytic T cells are already present in this lesion, and it was shown that these cells recognize as antigens the oxidized molecules of LDL.⁴⁸⁷

OxLDL are the product of a variety of modifications of both the lipid and protein components of LDL due to the increased concentration of ROS at the subendothelial level. The resulting oxidized phospholipids and aldehyde-modified breakdown fragments of ApoB-100 are not only pro-inflammatory but also are recognized as foreign by the immune system and therefore are highly immunogenic.⁵³³

In 1989 antibodies to oxLDL (anti-oxLDL) were detected in atherosclerotic patients, experimental animals and in atherosclerotic lesions.⁵³⁴ Experimental models whereby atherosclerosis suppression was achieved by immunization of hypercholesterolaemic

rabbits⁵³⁵ or apolipoprotein E-deficient mice,⁵³⁶ with oxLDL, reinforces the concept that an immune response to oxLDL may modulate atherogenesis.

Both IgM and IgG auto-antibodies to oxLDL are common in humans but their association with cardiovascular disease remains controversially. Although IgG type anti-oxLDL antibodies were positively associated with vascular risk, circulating levels of IgM type anti-oxLDL antibodies have been more frequently linked with reduced vascular risk in humans.⁵³⁷⁻⁵³⁹ Moreover, high levels of IgG anti-oxLDL were associated with lipid-rich, fibrous poor plaques (characteristic of vulnerable, rupture-prone plaques), whilst high levels of IgM anti-oxLDL were related with fibrous, lipid-poor plaques containing less macrophages and more extracellular matrix (characteristic of stable plaques with little risk of clinical events).⁵⁴⁰

Further studies are needed to clarify whether oxLDL auto-antibodies are markers of CVD and/or have an active role in either the progression of or protection against the atherogenesis.

In addition to this two main auto-antigens others have been identified, such as β 2GP1 and cardiolipins, predominantly in the context of autoimmune diseases.

 β 2GP1 is a phospholipid-binding protein that is present on platelets, endothelial cells and in human atherosclerotic plaques.⁵⁴¹ Auto-antibodies against β 2GP1 have been found in patients with inflammatory disorders, including atherosclerosis, SLE, and antiphospholipid syndrome (APS).

OxLDL interact with this endogenous anti-atherogenic plasma protein to form complexes (oxLDL β 2GP1), preventing its uptake by macrophages.¹³⁶ OxLDL β 2GP1 complexes are found in primary and secondary APS, SLE¹³⁶ and chronic nephritis.⁵⁴²

The binding of auto-antibodies to these complexes at endothelial level has been reported to be responsible for the endothelial activation and the immune-mediated inflammation.⁵⁴³ In fact, these immune complexes (antibody towards oxLDL β 2GP1) are phagocytised by macrophages much faster, leading to an increased rate of foam cell formation and enhanced atherogenesis.¹³⁷ IgG antibodies towards oxLDL β 2GP1 are associated with arterial thrombosis in SLE related APS.⁵⁴³ Ames et al,⁵⁴⁴ described a direct association of IgG anti-oxLDL β 2GP1 complexes with intima-media thickness (IMT) in primary APS (PAPS), suggesting a potential atherogenic role of these antibodies.

Another aspect is that oxLDL β 2GP1 complex binds CRP.⁵⁴⁵ Previous studies have revealed that CRP binds phosphorylcholine moieties on oxLDL in what appears a very primitive form of innate immunity.⁵⁴⁶ *In vitro* data demonstrated that CRP can bind oxLDL β 2GP1 in a ternary complex (CRP-oxLDL β 2GP1).⁵⁴⁷ This ternary complex was specific for PAPS and predicted by increased IgG- β 2GP1, suggesting that an enhanced level of oxLDL might require buffering from both β 2GP1 and CRP.⁵⁴⁸

Reason why these complexes and their related auto-antibodies exist as well as their function role remains unclarified.

Anti-cardiolipin (aCL) antibodies are auto-antibodies directed against negatively charged phospholipids and plasma proteins such β 2GP1.⁵⁴⁹ The aCL antibodies are considered the hallmark of primary APS,⁵⁵⁰ a distinct clinical entity characterized by the occurrence of arterial and/or venous thrombosis and recurrent miscarriages. These antibodies have also been detected in the sera of patients with SLE⁵⁵¹ and it has been proposed that they may play a pathogenic role in the accelerated atherosclerosis that afflicts these diseases.⁵⁵² The atherogenic mechanism of these antibodies seems to involve the formation of pro-inflammatory IgG- oxLDL β 2GP1 complexes.⁵⁵³

In immunized mice, aCL and β 2GP1 antibodies were detected and associated with the development of atherosclerosis.⁵⁵⁴ aCL antibody titres independently predicted IMT of carotid arteries, an acceptable and reliable surrogate marker of sub-clinical atherosclerosis, in subjects with PAPS.⁵⁵⁵ In addition, these titres were inversely correlated with the PON1, contributing to the overall increase oxidation found in these patients.⁵⁵⁶

Since the beginning of the 2000's several others studies support the hypothesis that humoral immunity protects against atherosclerosis. Caligiuri et al,⁵⁵⁷reported that splenectomy increases atherosclerotic lesion development in ApoE(^{-/-}) mice, whereas B-cell transfer ameliorates atherosclerosis. Likewise, using bone marrow transplantation strategy demonstrated that mice lacking B cells increased lesion growth in Ldlr(^{-/-}) mice.⁵⁵⁸ These observations contribute to the acceptance of a paradigm that, in contrast to other immune-mediated diseases, i.e., RA and SLE, B cells have been assigned a protective role in atherosclerosis.
However, in a major paradigm shift, the two recent studies demonstrated that depletion of B cells in $ApoE(^{-/-})$ and $Ldlr(^{-/-})$ mice by anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody ameliorated the Western diet-induced atherosclerosis.^{559,560}

The atherogenic role of B cells was confirmed in 2012 in studies using hypercholesterolemic B cell activating factor (BAFF) receptor deficient $ApoE(^{-/-})$ mice, which reported that atherosclerosis and arterial inflammation was markedly reduced in these animal models.^{561,562}

The exact role of B cells in atherosclerosis is not yet fully understood, partly due to incomplete characterization of B cell subsets in humans. B cell subsets have been well recognized in mice, however surface markers that identify B cell subsets differ between mice and humans. While CD5 is a marker of B1 cells in mice, it does not reliably discriminate between B1 and B2 cells in humans.^{563,564} In mice both B1 and B2 cells have been shown to play significant roles in atherosclerosis. B1 cells represent a small percentage of B lymphocytes and their major role is in innate immune responses, where they are responsible for the production of the bulk of serum IgM.⁵⁶⁵ While B2 cells are predominant population of B cells in spleen and lymph nodes and are the main producers of adaptive IgG antibody after activation by specific antigens and differentiation into plasma cells.⁵⁵⁹⁻⁵⁶¹

Overall, these data contribute to the hypothesis that natural IgM is playing a protective role in atherosclerosis whereas the adaptative IgG response is pro-atherogenic. However the concept of a third subpopulation of B cells with regulatory properties (Breg) was only recently introduced.⁵⁶⁶ This B-cell subsets seems to act as immune regulators via IL-10 production, which inhibits pro-inflammatory cytokines and supports regulatory T cell differentiation, although the role of Bregs in atherosclerosis is not yet determined.

1.4.5 Immune response in atherogenesis and HDL

In addition to the multiple anti-atherogenic properties of HDL previously described accumulating evidence also suggests that HDL possesses important function in both innate and adaptive immunity.

Perhaps the interaction between HDL and the immune system longest known is their ability to protection from sepsis caused by the LPS, the endotoxin from gram-negative

69

bacteria that binds preferentially to HDL preventing LPS to interact with TLRs hence preventing macrophages to release massive amounts of inflammatory cytokines.^{567,568}

ApoA-I seems to be a key component responsible for LPS neutralization.⁵⁶⁹ Infusion of ApoA-I mimetic peptides into animals with experimental sepsis improves survival preventing defects in vascular function.⁵⁷⁰

Furthermore, HDL also plays a protective role in parasitic infections. The lysis of trypanosomes is mediated by HDL particles that contain ApoL-I and haptoglobin-related protein.¹⁴²

The proteomic analysis of HDL composition identified proteins involved in complement regulation, including C3, C4a, C4b, C9, suggesting that HDL may regulate complement activation and consequently have a role in host defence mechanisms.⁸⁶

In addition to anti-inflammatory properties ApoA-I appears to play an important role in modulating innate immune response. ApoA-I inhibits DCs differentiation from monocytes with a decreased expression of surface costimulatory molecules such as CD1a, CD80, CD86 and increased production of PGE2 and LI-10 (which are known to be DC differentiation inhibitors and/or modulators of DC function).⁵⁷¹ Moreover DCs differentiated in the presence of ApoA-I stimulate T cells to a lesser extent, suggesting that ApoA-I exerts a protective mechanism against the differentiation and activation of DCs.

Likewise, ABC transporter-deficient macrophages resulted in impaired cholesterol efflux to HDL or ApoA-I, leading to accumulate excess free cholesterol in plasma membrane and improvement of lipid rafts formation, which increased TLRs cell surface concentration and enhanced inflammatory responses.^{247,572} These studies suggest that HDL and ApoA-I by exerting anti-inflammatory effects by promoting cholesterol efflux via ABCG1 and ABCA1 attenuated TLR activation (Figure 27).



Figure 27. Role of HDL and ApoA-I in regulating immune responses by promoting cholesterol efflux via ATP-binding cassette transporters (ABCG1 and ABCA1) with consequent attenuation of toll like receptor (TLR) signaling, which is activated by the increased lipid raft. From Weber et al, 2011.⁵⁷³

Besides cholesterol depletion from lipid rafts downregulates signalling pathways in several immune cells it also disturb the antigen-presenting capacity.⁵⁷⁴

It has been shown that MHC class II molecules are localized in lipid rich microdomains on the surface of APCs, the integrity of this lipid rafts are important for the antigen presentation to T and B cells.^{575,576} In fact the number of MHC class II molecules present in this lipid rich microdomains are important because it provide a mechanism for localized concentration of MHC class II-peptide complexes on the surface of APCs which decrease the amount of the antigen required for T or B activation.

Recently, Wang et al⁵⁷⁷ showed that HDL and ApoA-I reduced cholesterol and MHC class II protein content in lipid rafts, suggesting that cholesterol efflux from APCs to HDL and ApoA-I inhibits antigen presentation and consequently T cell activation.

Despite these significant function of HDL in the immune system, an humoral response towards HDL has not been fully explored and only few studies have addressed the importance anti-HDL (aHDL) antibodies and its potential pathogenicity.^{556,578,579}

1.5 Aims of the thesis

We hypothesized that antibodies towards HDL and/or its components are associated with modifications in the anti-atherogenic functions of HDL and might represent a new mechanism of atherogenesis.

The goals of this thesis are to identify and characterize the humoral response towards HDL components and to evaluate the possible mechanism that may contribute to the modifications of the anti-atherogenic properties of HDL.

The specific aims are:

1) To identify the presence of antibodies towards HDL components in patients with vascular diseases. For this purpose we used different cohorts: a) patients with SLE, a disease characterised by an enhanced humoral activity with a high prevalence of cardiovascular events; b) diseases associated with a higher atherosclerotic burden such as CAD, cerebrovascular disease and diabetes.

2) To determine whether these antibodies have any biologic effect. For this purpose aHDL antibodies were isolated from patients and introduced in several experiments design to determine if their presence interfered with HDL anti-oxidative and anti-inflammatory properties.

3) To investigate whether drugs acting on plasma lipids and lipoproteins in different fashions could alter the antibody profile.

2. METHODS

The following chapter describes the methods that were used throughout the thesis, according to the methodology and the order that they are referred to in the results chapter All the information about the subjects in the different studies (healthy controls and patients) and the selection criteria for the clinical trials will be described in their respective results chapter.

2.1 Immunologic-related methods

2.1.1 Enzyme-Linked Immunoabsorbent Assays (ELISAs)

2.1.1.1 Performance parameters / optimization of assays

To determine the appropriate assays conditions for the ELISAs assays described in the following sections, of each step/component was performed using a check board. This enable the optimization of two components simultaneously and the maintenance of all the other reagents constant. Optimization of the assays included the determination of the type of plate, assay temperature, duration of incubation, coating concentration, blocking buffer, standards, controls and serum dilutions (always in triplicates), secondary antibody concentration and signal detection. The optimization of the assay was performed using negative controls, with high and low analyte concentrations. Optimum concentrations were selected based in the maximal desired optical density and minimum background activity e ratio.

All assays were validated by the inclusion of internal quality control samples of known activity. Results were expressed as a percentage of the positive control present in each plate after subtraction from the background in the uncoated half of the plate. Exceptions are mentioned. Inter/intra plate coefficients of variation were always less than 10 %. Sera from 150 healthy subjects was used for standardisation of the methods for determination of titres of the different antibodies. Values >3 standard deviations (SD) above the mean of healthy age and sex matched controls were considered to be positive.

2.1.1.2 Anti-high density lipoproteins (aHDL) IgG and IgM antibodies

IgG and IgM aHDL antibodies were measured by ELISA using a 96-well microtitre plates (Polysorp, Nunc, VWR, Portugal) half-coated with 20 μ g/mL (IgG) or 10 μ g/mL (IgM) human HDL (Sigma-Aldrich, Sintra, Portugal) in 70 % ethanol up to evaporation at 37°C. The plates were then blocked (non-specific binding) with the addition of 100 μ L/well of 1 % or 2 % (w/v)

of bovine serum albumin (BSA from Sigma-Aldrich) - 10 mM phosphate buffer saline (PBS from Sigma-Aldrich) pH 7.4 for IgG or IgM antibodies, respectively, over one hour at 37 °C. The unbound blocking agent was removed by washing the plates four times with PBS. Next, positive and negative controls and samples were diluted (1:100) in the respective blocking buffer (1 % BSA - 10 mM PBS pH 7.4 for IgG or 2 % BSA - 10 mM PBS pH 7.4 for IgM) and added in both halves of the plate for one hour at 37 °C. The unbound antibodies were removed by repeating the washing step. Secondary antibodies (Sigma-Aldrich) alkaline phosphatase (AP) conjugated anti-human IgG (1:1000 in blocking buffer) or anti-human IgM (1:5000 in blocking buffer) were added for one hour at 37 °C. Following three washes with PBS and three washes with bicarbonate (BIC) buffer pH 9.8 the colorimetric reaction was performed by the addition of 100 μ L/well p-nitrophenyl phosphate (pNPP from Sigma-Aldrich) 1:5000 in BIC buffer, an AP substrate and allowed the reaction to proceed for one hour at 37 °C. Absorbance of the resultant yellow colour was measured by Biotrak II plate reader (Amersham Biosciences) at 405 nm.

2.1.1.3 Anti-apolipoprotein A-I (aApoA-I) IgG antibodies

IgG aApoA-I antibodies were measured by half-coating a 96-well plate (Polysorp) with 10 μg/mL human ApoA-I (Sigma-Aldrich) in 70 % ethanol up to evaporation at 37°C. Blocking (non-specific binding) was performed using 100 μL/well 1% BSA - 10 mM PBS pH 7.4 for 1 hour at 37°C following four washes with PBS. Serum samples, positive and negative controls (1:200 in blocking buffer) and standards were added to each half of the plate for 1 hour at 37°C. The washing step was repeated and the secondary antibody AP conjugated antihuman IgG (1:1000 in blocking buffer) added for 1 hour at 37°C. After washing three times with PBS and three times with BIC buffer pH 9.8 the plates were incubated with 100 μl pNPP (1:5000 in BIC buffer) for 1 hour at 37°C. Absorbance of the resultant yellow colour was measured at 405 nm.

Initially the titres of aApoA-I antibodies were expressed as the percentage of the positive control present in each plate after subtraction from the background in the uncoated half of the plate. After chapter 3, section 3.2 the aApoA-I antibody titres were converted in μ g/mL, as determined by the standard curve present in each plate. This curve was prepared with six standards of human monoclonal aApoA-I antibody in a concentration range of

 $0.001-0.04 \ \mu g/mL$. In both assays the inter and intra plate coefficients of variation were always less than 10%.

2.1.1.4 Anti-paraoxonase 1 (aPON1) IgG antibodies

Human PON1 (Abnova, Tebu-bio, Portugal) was adsorbed on half-microtitre plates by incubating 100 μ L/well at a concentration of 1 μ g/mL prepared in 70 % ethanol up to evaporation at 37°C. The plate was blocked with 1 % BSA - 10 mM PBS pH 7.4 for 1 hour at 37 °C and washed four times with PBS. Serum samples, positive and negative controls (1:300 dilutions in blocking buffer) were added in both halves of plate for 1 hour at 37 °C. After repeating the washing step, the secondary antibody AP conjugated anti-human IgG (1:1000 in blocking buffer) was added for 1 hour at 37 °C. To remove the unbound conjugate the plate was washed three times with PBS and three times with BIC buffer pH 9.8. The plate was incubated with 100 μ L pNPP (1:5000 in BIC buffer) and after 1 hour the absorbance was measured at 405 nm.

2.1.1.5 Anti-apolipoprotein A-II (aApoA-II) and C-I (aApoC-I) IgG antibodies

Ninety-six well plates (Polysorp) were half-coated up to evaporation at 37° C with 10 µg/mL human Apo A-II (Sigma-Aldrich) or 2 µg/mL human Apo C-I (Sigma-Aldrich) in 70 % ethanol. The plates were blocked with 1 % BSA - 10 mM PBS pH 7.4 for 1 hour at 37 °C. Samples and positive control were diluted in blocking buffer (1:100) and added in both halves of the plates for 1 hour at 37 °C. The washing step was repeated and the anti-human IgG conjugated with AP (1:1000 in blocking buffer) added to each well for 1 hour at 37 °C. Following three washes with PBS and three washes with BIC buffer pH 9.8 the plate was incubated with 100 µL pNPP (1:5000 in BIC buffer) for 1 hour at 37 °C. Absorbance of the resultant yellow colour was measured at 405 nm.

2.1.1.6 3-Nitrotyrosine (3-NT)

Serum concentration of 3-NT were determined by ELISA using commercial kits (Oxis Research, Foster City CA, USA) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. Standard curves were performed in each plate, using samples with known 3-NT concentrations included in the kit and the results were expressed as nM. Repeatability and accuracy of the assay was ensured by the inclusion of internal quality control sample.

2.1.1.7 Soluble vascular cell adhesion molecules (VCAM-1) and intracellular cell adhesion molecules (ICAM-1)

Soluble adhesion molecules (VCAM-1 and ICAM-1) levels were measured by ELISA using commercial kits (R&D systems, Citomed, Portugal), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Standard curves were performed in each plate, using samples with known VCAM-1 or ICAM-1 concentrations, respectively included in each kit and being the results expressed as ng/mL. Repeatability and accuracy of the assay was ensured by the inclusion of internal quality control sample.

2.1.1.8 Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)

Levels of VEGF from supernatant of cell cultures were quantified by ELISA using commercial kits (R&D systems, Citomed, Portugal), in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. Standard curves were performed in each plate, using samples with known VEGF concentrations included in the kit and the results expressed as pg/mL. Repeatability and accuracy of the assay was ensured by the inclusion of internal quality control sample.

2.1.1.9 High sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP)

Serum concentration of hs-CRP were assessed by ELISA using commercial kits (Biosupply Ltd, Bradford, UK), in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. Standard curves were performed in each plate, using samples with known hs-CRP concentrations included in the kit and the results expressed as μ g/mL. Repeatability and accuracy of the assay was ensured by the inclusion of internal quality control sample.

2.1.1.10 Serum amyloid A (SAA)

SAA levels were evaluated by ELISA using commercial kits (Europa Bioproducts, Ely, UK), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Standard curves were performed in each plate, using samples with known SAA concentrations included in each kit and being the results expressed as μ g/mL Repeatability and accuracy of the assay was ensured by the inclusion of internal quality control sample.

2.1.1.11 Oxidised low density lipoprotein-beta 2 glycoprotein-l complex (oxLDL β2GP1)

oxLDL β_2 GP1 complex levels were determined by ELISA using commercial kits (Corgenix, Bloomfield, Colorado, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Standard curves were performed in each plate, using samples with known oxLDL β_2 GP1 concentrations

78

included in each kit and being the results expressed as units/mL. Repeatability and accuracy of the assay was ensured by the inclusion of internal quality control sample.

2.1.1.12 Asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA)

Serum concentration of ADMA were quantified measured by ELISA using commercial kits (DLD, Diagnostika GmbH, Hamburg, Germany), in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. Standard curves were perform in each plate, using samples with known ADMA concentrations, included in each kit and being the results expressed as μ M. Repeatability and accuracy of the assay was ensured by the inclusion of internal quality control sample.

2.1.2 Immunoturbidimetric immunoassay

2.1.2.1 Apolipoprotein A-I

Serum concentration of ApoA-I was determined by a immunoturbidimetric immunoassay using commercial kits (Randox, Irlandox - Laboratorios Quimica Analitica Lda, Porto, Portugal) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. The test is based on the reaction of a sample containing ApoA-I (calibrator or serum sample) and specific antiserum to form an insoluble complex which can be measured turbidemetrically at 340 nm by RX Daytona (Randox). ApoA-I concentration was determined using a WHO/IFCC reference standard⁵⁸⁰ and the results expressed as mg/dL. Repeatability and accuracy of the assay was ensured by the inclusion of internal quality control sample.

2.1.3 Antibody isolation

2.1.3.1 aHDL and aApoA-I IgG antibodies isolation in a 96-well microtitre as solid phase

aHDL antibodies were isolated by solid phase adsorption using microtitre plates (Polysorb) half-coated overnight at 4 °C with 20 μ g/ml human HDL in 70 % ethanol. Blocking was performed using 1 % BSA - 10 mM PBS pH 7.4 for 1 hour at 37 °C. The plate was washed four times with PBS. Serum samples positive for IgG aHDL antibodies (1:50 in blocking agent) were added in quadruplicate in both half of the plate for 1 hour at 37 °C. The washing steps were repeated and then 250 μ L of 100 mM glycine buffer (pH 2.0) were added. The content of each quadruplicate well was aspirated to a tube which contained 70 μ L of Tris buffer 1 M pH 9.0 for neutralization. Afterwards, each fraction was dialyzed against PBS and then lyophilised (Christ Alpha 1-Z, B. Braun Biotech International). The procedure for the aApoA-I antibody isolation was overall similar the only difference being that the antigen used to coat

the plate was 10 μ g/mL of human ApoA-I and the serum samples were selected based on their highly positive activity for the antigen. In each fraction, the titres of aHDL or aApoA-I antibodies were tested by ELISA following the protocol described in sub-chapter 2.1.1.2 and 2.1.1.3 respectively.

2.1.3.2 aHDL IgG antibodies isolated by immunoaffinity chromatography

aHDL antibodies were isolated using an HiTrap NHS- activated HP (1 mL) column. The ligand, human HDL (10 mg) was dissolved in coupling buffer (0.2 M NaHCO3, 0.5 M NaCl pH 8.3). The column was embedded in isopropanol to preserve the stability of the activated medium and immediately prior the coupling of HDL the column was washed with six column volumes (6 mL) of 1 mM ice-cold HCl using a syringe of 1 mL at a flow rate of 1 mL/min (1/2 drop/sec). Following the addiction of the HDL solution, the column was sealed and left to stand for 45 minutes at room temperature. To deactivate any excess active groups that had not coupled to the ligand and the non-specifically bound ligands, the column was washed with 6 mL of 0.5 M ethanolamine, 0.5 M NaCl pH 8.3 (buffer A) following 6mL of 0.1 M acetate, 0.5 M NaCl pH 4 (buffer B) and again with the same volume of buffer A. After this, the column was sealed and left standing for 30 minutes at room temperature. The washes were then restarted using buffer B interspersed with buffer A. In the end of the second wash with buffer B the column was washed with 10 mM phosphate buffer NaH₂PO₄, 2.7 mM KCl, 137 mM NaCl pH 7.4. After this step the column was ready for use. If it was not used immediately, it was stored, after applying a storage buffer consisting of 0.05 M Na₂HPO₄, 0.1 % NaN3 pH 7.

Before applying the samples, the column was conditioned with 10 mL of binding buffer (20 mM Tris pH 7.5). Serum samples were diluted in equal volume of the binding buffer and filtered through a Millex GV 0.22 μ m filter. The diluted serum was then applied into the column using a 1 mL syringe and passed over at least six times at room temperature. The unbound antibodies were removed by washing the column with 10 mL of 20 mM Tris pH 7.5 and further 10 mL of 20 mM Tris, 500 mM NaCl pH 7.5. Antibodies retained by the HDL-column were eluted with 10 mL of 0.1 M glycine pH 2.5 into tubes containing 70 μ L of the neutralization buffer (Tris 1 M pH 8.8). After elution of the antibodies at low pH, the column was washed with 10 mL of 20 mM Tris pH 8.8 and then with 10 mL of 20 mM pH 7.5 to reconditioned the column.

Absorbance (280 nm) of the collected fractions (1 mL) was measured and the peak fractions were dialyzed against PBS and tested for the presence of aHDL antibodies by the ELISA procedure described above (sub-chapter 2.1.1.2). The fractions positive for the antibodies were pooled, concentrated by evaporation under nitrogen and stored at -4 °C until tested for their biologic activity.

2.2 Biochemistry-related methods

2.2.1 Paraoxonase 1 (PON1) activity

Serum PON1 activity was measured according to Eckerson et al,⁵⁸¹ with some modifications. Paraoxon (1mM) (Sigma-Aldrich) was freshly prepared in 300 µL of 50 mM glycine buffer containing 1 mM CaCl (pH 10.5) and then was incubated at 37 °C with 10 µL of serum for 10 min in 96 well plates (PolySorp). Para-nitrophenol formation was monitored at 412 nm. Enzyme activity was calculated with a molar extinction coefficient of 18.290 Mcm-1 and expressed as U/L, which is defined as 1µmol of p-nitrophenol generated per minute per litter under assay conditions. All samples were tested in triplicate. Inter/intra plate coefficients of variation were always less than 10%.

2.2.2 Total anti-oxidant capacity (TAC)

TAC was assessed by measuring the capacity of a sample to scavenge peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) formed by the reaction between $O_2^{\bullet^-}$ and NO• released from a solution of 3-morpholino-sydnonimine hydrochloride (SIN-1). The assay was performed in a Greiner 96 F White plate using an ABEL-41M2 antioxidant test kit (Knight Scientific, Plymouth, UK) which uses Pholasin (a photoprotein that produces light in the presence of free radicals and certain oxidants), as a probe. The light emission was measured every 54 seconds for 1 hour at 25 °C using an Anthos Zenyth 1100/3100 multimode detector. The antioxidant capacity of the sample is defined as the time maximum light was emitted i.e. the time taken to consume the available antioxidants. The time to achieve peak luminescence (peak time) was converted into Vitamin E analogue (VEA) equivalent units (μ M), using six solutions of 6-hydroxy-2,5,7,8-tetramethyl-chroman-2-carboxylic acid with known concentration to generate a standard curve in each plate.

2.2.3 Nitric oxide metabolites

NO• has a short biological half-life (10–20 milliseconds) that cannot be measured directly, so must be inferred by indirect methods. Estimation of stable NO• end products, nitrite (NO₂) and nitrate (NO₃), are widely used as indicators of the effective availability of NO•.⁵⁸² Therefore, these metabolites were determined using a modified Griess reaction, following the reduction of nitrate to nitrite using nitrate reductase and NADPH as previously reported.⁵⁸³ Briefly, the assay was performed in a standard flat-bottomed 96-well plates half divided for simultaneous measurement of NO_2^- and NO_3^- concentration. Serum was diluted one in four with PBS pH 7.4, and 200 µl of this solution was ultra-filtered by centrifugation at 10000 g for 1 hour, using 10000 kD molecular weight filters (Ultrafree-MC, Millipore, VWR). Only clear and colourless filtrates were tested. Fifty µL/well of PBS (blank), standard or serum sample were added in duplicate to both halves of the plate. In one of the halves, 4 µL of nitrate reductase (Sigma-Aldrich) and 10 µL of NADPH (Sigma-Aldrich) were added for the reduction of NO₃⁻ to NO₂⁻, giving a final concentration of 6.3 U/L and 550 μ M respectively. Following 2 hours of incubation at room temperature, Griess reaction was initiated by adding equal volumes of 2 % sulfanilamide (Sigma-Aldrich) in 5 % H3PO4 and 0.2 % N-(1naphthyl)-ethylenediamine dihydrochloride (Sigma-Aldrich) in water, mixed just prior to use. After 10 minutes of incubation at room temperature the absorbance was read at 540 nm and the levels were expressed as μ M.

2.2.4 Total HDL cholesterol, HDL2 and HDL3

(This quantifications were made by Firmina Lebre, Técnica Especialista de Análises Clínicas of FCM).

Total HDL cholesterol (HDL-C), HDL2 and HDL3-cholesterol were determined by a precipitation assay using the QUANTILOP HDL (HDL2/HDL3) test reagent. The test consists of the addition of the precipitation reagents containing polyethylene glycol (PEG) in different concentrations and pH to the serum.

Reagent A precipitates VLDL and LDL fractions, while Reagent B precipitates along with VLDL, LDL, HDL2 subclass. Therefore, after centrifugation of the solution precipitated with Reagent A the supernatant contains all the HDL subclasses whereas the centrifugation of the solution precipitated with Reagent B, creates a supernatant containing only the HDL3 subclass. The cholesterol content of these supernantants was quantified using the CHOD-

PAP enzymatic test reagent at 500 nm . The content of HDL2 cholesterol was obtained by subtracting the HDL3 to total HDL.

2.3 Functional assays in vitro

- 2.3.1 Inhibition of paraoxonase 1 (PON1) activity by the antibodies isolated from patient's serum
 - 2.3.1.1 aHDL and aApoA-I IgG antibodies isolated from patients systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)

Dose dependent inhibition was performed by incubating 50 μ L of human HDL as a source of PON1 with 50 μ L of aHDL or aApoA-I antibodies isolated from patients with SLE (descried above in sub-chapter 2.1.3.1) for 1 hour at 37 °C. Irrelevant human IgG (Sigma-Aldrich) at the same concentration of HDL was used as controls and glycine buffer. After 1 hour of incubation, PON1 activity was measured as described in sub-chapter 2.2.1. A dose dependent inhibition test was performed by incubating doubling dilutions (2, 4, 8 and 16 fold) of HDL (starting at 200 μ g/mL). All experiments were run in triplicate.

2.3.1.2 aHDL IgG antibodies isolated from patients with atherosclerosis-associated clinical events: ischemic stroke (IS) and coronary artery disease (CAD)

Dose dependent inhibition assays of PON1 activity were performed by incubating human HDL (100 μ g/mL) with PBS pH 7.4 (basal) or aHDL IgG antibodies isolated from patients with IS and CAD (pool) (descried in sub-chapter 2.1.3.2). Irrelevant human IgG was used as control at the same concentration of the antibodies tested. After 1 hour of incubation, PON1 activity was assessed as described in sub-chapter 2.2.1. All experiments were run in triplicate and the results were expressed as a percentage of the effect on PON1 activity in basal conditions.

2.3.2 In vitro exposure of human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) to aHDL antibodies

Confluent monolayers of HUVECs seeded in 24-well tissue culture plates were incubated for 16 hours at 37 °C in 5 % CO2, in different conditions: M199 medium (Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 1% fetal calf serum (basal); human HDL (1.6 mg/mL) with or without aHDL antibodies (50 μ g/mL) isolated from serum of patients (descried in sub-chapter 2.1.3.2), a non-specific human IgG (50 μ g/mL), or human nonoclonal aApo A-I antibody (30 μg/mL). HDL and the antibodies were incubated for 1h at 37°C before cell addiction. After washing, the cells were incubated further for 4 hours in the basal or stimulated state with 10 ng/mL TNF-α. Following three washes with PBS, cells were gently dislodged by brief trypsinization (0.025 % trypsin and 2 mM EDTA in PBS) for 3 minutes at room temperature. Trypsin was neutralized with PBS and the cells were centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 5 minutes. The supernatants were colleted and stored at -20°C for VEGF quantification as described in sub-chapter 2.1.1.8. The cells were stained with a fluorescein-conjugated mouse monoclonal anti-human VCAM-1 (R&D system) added for 30 minutes at 4°C and then washed again with FACS buffer (PBS containing 0.1% BSA and 0.01% sodium azide) to remove the unreacted anti-VCAM-1 reagent. The expression of VCAM-1 was measured as fluorescence intensity in a FACSCalibur (Becton Dickinson) flow cytometer. Ten thousand cells were analyzed per sample by using Cell Quest Software. Data was expressed as the percentage of basal VCAM-1 expression positive cells. All experiments were done in triplicate.

Cell viability was determined by a lactate dehydrogenase release assay and found to be >90% in all experiments.

2.4 Statistical analysis

Data was expressed as means ± SD, unless otherwise stated. Variation between groups was compared by ANOVA, or Kruskal-Wallis test for normal and non-normal distributed variables, respectively. Likewise, a t-test or Mann-Whitney test was used to compare individual groups depending on variable distribution. Relationships between variables were assessed by Spearman correlation. Multiple regression was used to assess independence of relationships after log- transformation, when appropriate, to normalise distributions.

All reported probability values are two-tailed, with values of p < 0.05 being considered statistically significant. Statistical analysis and graphical illustration was carried out using the GraphPad Prism software, version 5 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, USA). Determination of independent predictors was done using the SPSS version 21 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, USA)

3. HUMORAL RESPONSE TOWARDS HDL COMPONENTS AND ITS ASSOCIATION WITH MODIFICATIONS OF THE ANTI-ATHEROGENIC PROPERTIES OF HDL

The presence of antibodies against lipoproteins suggests a humoral response against some lipoprotein components, independently of a possible underlying auto-imune condition.

This thesis deals mostly with cross sectional studies, that limit causuality assumption, but represents the baseline from which prospective population-based studies may be developed.

To enhance the chance of detecting these antibodies we initially explored their presence in SLE a systemic disease characterised on the one hand by an enhanced and pleitropic humoral response and on the other by a higher cardiovascular risk identified as increased atherogenesis. The confirmation of their presence with a high prevalence and biologic activity allowed the obvious extention towards the general population with known, common atherosclerosis risk factors but without immune-mediated comorbidities.

3.1 aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)

SLE is a chronic autoimmune systemic disease with a wide spectrum of clinical manifestations ranging from skin and mucosal lesions to severe injuries in the central nervous system, kidneys and other organs. It is characterized by systemic inflammation and by the presence of auto-antibodies against a large variety of auto-antigens.⁵⁸⁴

SLE is much more frequent among women than men, with a ratio of approximately 9:1, although this ratio can change in different age groups. Additionally, ethnic origins is thought to be a major factor in SLE onset, as African-American, Afro-Caribbean, Asian Indian, Polynesian and Chinese women are are more likely to develop disease than European descents.^{585,586}

The diagnosis of SLE is based on clinical and laboratory criteria. For the purpose of classification the most widely used are the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) criteria, proposed in 1971 and revised in 1982 and again in 1997.^{587,588}

Genetic, hormonal, environmental and infectious factors are involved in the pathogenesis of SLE.⁵⁸⁹ Furthermore multiple immune system defects have been described in SLE patients, including B cell hyperactivity and increased auto-antibody production, abnormal T cell activation, aberrant cytokine production and enhanced apoptosis.⁵⁹⁰⁻⁵⁹²

Currently, more than one hundred auto-antibodies have been described in SLE, these include autoantibodies directed against a multiplicity of nuclear, cytoplasmic, cell

membrane, phospholipid-associated, blood cells, endothelial cells, and nervous system antigen, plasma proteins, matrix proteins, and miscellaneous antigens.⁵⁹³

Over the past 50 years, improved patient survival in SLE has allowed the emergence of CVD as a major cause of morbidity and mortality.⁵⁹⁴ However, the traditional cardiovascular risk factors does not explain the increased CVD burden in SLE, and therefore it has been suggested that disease-specific factors, such as prolonged steroid treatment, chronic inflammation and renal disease, could be more relevant.⁵⁹⁵⁻⁵⁹⁷

Furthermore, an atherogenic lipid profile, characterized by elevated levels of VLDL, TG and lower levels of HDL has been reported in SLE.⁵⁹⁸ Indeed, decreased levels of HDL and its main protein component, Apo A-I, have been shown to be an important feature in the development of atherosclerosis in SLE.^{599,600} These findings might be relevant considering that HDL is a particular lipoprotein with different atheroprotective functions.

The occurrence of autoantibodies against plasma lipoproteins and their constituents has been addressed in SLE but with major emphasis on anti-LDL and/or its oxidized form, with the possibility of cross-reactivity between these autoantibodies and aCL antibodies.⁶⁰¹

Very few studies have addressed the importance of the humoral response towards HDL and the potential pathogenesis of these antibodies in SLE.^{556,578,579}

3.1.1.1 Aim

This study aimed at confirming the presence of a humoral response towards HDL in SLE and to assess whether Apo A-I could be a specific target. We have also explored the relationship between aHDL and aApo A-I antibodies and the anti-oxidant and antiinflammatory functions of HDL in SLE, to determine a possible association with disease activity and damage.

3.1.1.2 Patients and methods

Patients

SLE patients attending the Lupus Outpatients Clinic of University College London, London, UK and controls of similar age and sex, recruited amongst healthy staff members and students attending the rheumatology department were invited to participate in a study assessing the relevance of new markers of atherosclerosis in SLE. Exclusion criteria for SLE patients were secondary APS, a positive aCL and/or lupus anticoagulant test even in the absence of thrombosis or miscarriage and the use of lipid-lowering drugs. Ninety-eight

88

consecutive patients fulfilling at least four of the ACR revised criteria⁵⁸⁸ for the classification of SLE were considered, of whom 21 were excluded: 16 had at least one of the exclusion criteria and 5 declined to participate.

Exclusion criteria for controls were diabetes, hyperlipidaemia, hypertension, kidney, liver, heart or lung disease, and intake of lipid-lowering drugs. A total of 64 healthy subjects were invited to participate but 14 were not considered: 8 met one or more of the exclusion criteria and 6 were excluded in order to achieve a frequency match by sex and age with the study group.

The study was therefore carried out on 77 SLE patients and 50 controls, after approval from the local ethics committees in agreement with the revised Declaration of Helsinki and with written consent being given by all participants.

Data regarding steroid dose, immunosuppressant drugs use and anti-platelet agents were available for all SLE patients. Disease-related damage was determined at the time of serum sampling using the Systemic Lupus International Collaborating Clinics/American College of Rheumatology Damage Index (SLICC/ACR DI).⁶⁰² The disease activity was assessed using the British Isles Lupus Assessment Group (BILAG-2004) index: patients scored Grade A or B in any system were categorised as having active disease and patients scored Grade C, D or E in all systems were categorised as having inactive disease.⁶⁰³ Serum from patients and controls were kept at –80°C until analysis. Demographics and clinical data of patients and controls are shown in Table 6.

Methods

Serum IgG aHDL and aApo A-I antibodies titers and levels of soluble VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 were measured by ELISAs. PON1 activity, TAC and nitric oxide metabolites (NO₂⁻ and NO₃⁻) were tested as described in the methods chapter. Lipid profile (total cholesterol, HDL, LDL and TG) were determined by standard enzymatic techniques in the hospital when sample was collected. Statistical analysis was performed as described in the previous chapter.

3.1.1.3 Results

IgG aHDL and aApo A-I antibodies, PON1 activity and plasma lipids

Patients with SLE showed lower HDL and higher TG, LDL and total cholesterol than controls (Table 6).

, , , ,	/		
	CTRL (n = 50)	SLE (n = 77)	P value
Age, years	36.56 ± 13.17	39.61 ± 11.75	0.2
N. (%) female/male	45 (90) / 5 (10)	68 (88.3) / 9 (11.7)	0.7
Global score (BILAG)	NA	4.5 ± 3.8	-
Medication			
Steroids, n. (%)	NA	52 (67.5)	-
Steroid dosage (mg/day)	NA	6.74 ± 3.34	-
Hydroxycloroquine, n. (%)	NA	32 (41.6)	-
On immunosuppressant treatment, n. (%)	NA	37 (48.0)	-
Serological data (mg/dL)			
Total cholesterol	139.6 ± 55.9	201.0 ± 41.6	<0.0001
TG	91.3 ± 58.9	133.7 ± 92.4	0.006
LDL-C	76.7 ± 35.7	111.3 ± 35.0	<0.0001
HDL-C	66.6 ± 25.3	57.5 ± 13.3	0.02

Table 6. Demographic characteristics and clinical and serological data of healthy controls (CTRL) and patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). Data are presented as mean ± SD.

Abbreviations: BILAG:British Isles Lupus Assessment Group; TG: Triglycerides; NA Not applicable. Data are presented as mean ± SD. P value represents the statistical comparison between the two groups.

Mean IgG aHDL and aApo A-I antibodies were higher in SLE patients than healthy controls (Figure 28 A and B) and positively correlated (r = 0.64, P<0.0001) in the SLE population. The prevalence of positive titres of IgG aHDL antibodies were 59.7% in SLE patients and 8% in healthy controls, whilst for aApo A-I antibodies were 50.6% in SLE patients and 10% in healthy controls.

HDL-C levels showed an inverse correlation with IgG aHDL (r = -0.32, p=0.02) and IgG aApoA-I (r = -0.41, p=0.001).



Figure 28: Levels of IgG aHDL (A) and IgG aApoA-I antibodies (B) in healthy controls (CTRL) and patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) Bars show the means.

Mean PON1 activity was lower in SLE than controls (P<0.0001) (Table 7) and negatively correlated to IgG aHDL (r = -0.34, P=0.002) and IgG aApo A-I titres (r = -0.31, P=0.006) (Figure 29 A and B).

 Table 7: Biological variables (oxidation and endothelial dysfunction markers) measured in healthy controls (CTRL) and patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE).

	CTRL (n = 50)	SLE (n = 77)	P value
PON1 activity (U/L)	303.60 ± 60.38	185.00 ± 86.37	<0.0001
TAC (VEA equivalents units μM)	6773 ± 1343	5448 ± 2519	0.001
NO2 ⁻ (μM)	10.97 ± 6.60	20.71 ± 11.81	<0.0001
NO3 ⁻ (μM)	20.75 ± 13.92	37.94 ± 19.51	<0.0001
$NO_{2} + NO_{3} (\mu M)$	31.42 ± 15.48	58.52 ± 25.95	<0.0001
VCAM-1 (ng/mL)	558.00 ± 91.67	816.80 ± 357.90	<0.0001
ICAM-1 (ng/mL)	280.40 ± 48.27	346.20 ± 106.40	0.0008

Abbreviations: PON1: paraoxonase 1; TAC: Total antioxidant capacity; NO_2 : nitrite; NO_3 : nitrate; 3-NT: 3-nitrotyrosine; VCAM-1: vascular cell adhesion molecule; ICAM-1: intracellular adhesion molecule. Data are presented as mean ± SD. P value represents the statistical comparison between the two groups.

Current treatment did not affect the titres of IgG aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies or PON1 activity in the SLE group.



Figure 29: Correlation (Spearman's rank test) between PON1 activity (U/L) and IgG aHDL levels (A) and IgG aApoA-I levels (B) in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE).

In a regression model including HDL-C or PON1 activity as the dependent variables and age, smoking, current steroid dose, current immune suppressor dose, other lipid proflie measurements, IgG aHDL, aApoA-I, SLICC/ ACR and BILAG as independent variables, higher IgG aApoA-I titre were independently associated with lower levels of HDL-C (t = -3.04, p = 0.004) and decrease PON1 activity (t = -2.35, p = 0.02).

Total antioxidant capacity (TAC) and nitric oxide metabolites (NO2⁻ and NO3⁻)

TAC was lower in patients with SLE than in healthy controls (p=0.001) (Table 7) and inversely correlated with to the titres of IgG aHDL (r = -0.43, p = 0.0005) and IgG aApoA-I (r = -0.47, p = 0.0001). There was a positive association with PON1 activity (r = 0.32, p = 0.0009) (Figure **30**).



Figure 30: Correlation (Spearman's rank test) between the total antioxidant capacity (TAC) expressed in Vitamin E analogue (VEA) equivalent units (μ M) and IgG aHDL (A), IgG aApoA-I (B) antibodies titres and PON1 activity (C) in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE).

As both NO₂⁻ and NO₃⁻ levels were higher in patients with SLE compared to healthy controls (p<0.0001) (Table 7) for the association analyses the sum of both metabolites was used. In SLE patients, NO₂⁻ + NO₃⁻ levels showed a direct correlation with IgG aHDL (r = 0.33, p = 0.009) and IgG aApoA-I (r = 0.42, p = 0.008) antibodies and an inverse correlation with PON1 activity (r = 0.32, p = 0.0009).

Soluble vascular adhesion molecules (VCAM-1) and soluble intracellular adhesion molecules (ICAM-1).

Mean levels of VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 were higher in patients with SLE compared to healthy controls (p<0.0001 and p = 0.0008, respectively (Table 7). In the SLE group, IgG aHDL antibody titres independently predicted ICAM-1 (t = 3.51, p = 0.001) whereas IgG aApoA-I and $NO_2^- + NO_3^-$ independently predicted VCAM-1 (t = 3.31, p = 0.002 and t = 2.27, p = 0.02, respectively). VCAM-1 (r = -0.39, p = 0.004) and ICAM-1 (r = -0.32, p = 0.02) inversely correlated with PON1 activity but no relationship was observed with TAC.

Relationship between serological and clinical data

SLE patients with a higher damage index had elevated IgG aHDL and IgG aApoA-I titres (Figure 31 A) and lower PON1 activity (Figure 31 A). Patients with active disease (BILAG) showed higher titres of IgG aHDL, IgG aApoA-I and lower PON1 activity than patients with inactive disease (p= 0.03, p= 0.03 and P= 0.002, respectively) (Figure 31 B).



Figure 31. Relationship between the titres of IgG aHDL, aApoA-I antibodies and PON1 activity with SLICC/ACR damage index (A) and disease activity (BILAG score) (B) in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (Kruskal-Wallis test – Anova).

Mean $NO_2^{-}+NO_3^{-}$ was associated with an increase in the SLICC/ACR DI (p = 0.02), but no association was found with disease activity (Figure 32 A).

TAC was not associated with either disease activity or damage. VCAM-1 levels were associated with an increased SLICC/ ACR DI (p = 0.006) and disease activity (p = 0.03) (Figure 32 B and C), but no associations were found between ICAM-1 levels and clinical data.



Figure 32. Relationship between the $NO_2^2+NO_3^2$ (A) and VCAM-1 (B, C) levels with damage (SLICC/ACR DI) and disease activity (BILAG score) in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (Kruskal-Wallis test – Anova).

In a regression model including SLICC/ ACR as the dependent variable and age, smoking, current steroid dose, current immune suppressor dose, HDL-C, IgG aHDL, aApoA-I, PON1 activity, $NO_2^-+NO_3^-$, VCAM-1, ICAM-1 and BILAG as independent variables, higher IgG aHDL antibodies titres and , $NO_2^-+NO_3^-$ levels were independently associated with high SLICC/ACR damage index (t = 2.44, p = 0.02 and t = 2.61, p = 0.01, respectively).

3.1.1.4 Discussion

This study confirms the presence of antibodies towards HDL, and its main protein component ApoA-I, in patients with SLE. They are associated with decreased PON1 activity, reduced TAC (suggesting a lower resistance to oxidation of the plasma), endothelial activation (elevated $NO_2^- + NO_3^-$, VCAM-1 and ICAM-1), and with an increase in damage and disease activity. Altogether, these findings suggest that IgG aHDL antibodies increase the risk of oxidative stress, therefore contributing to the accelerated atherogenesis present in SLE.

In this cohort, titres of IgG aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies strongly correlate, suggesting that ApoA-I might be one of the key antigens for aHDL antibodies. This does not exclude the possibility of other potential targets within the HDL complex.

Patients with SLE have increased levels of TG, LDL-C, and total cholesterol and lower HDL-C levels when compared with controls.⁵⁹⁸ In this patients, IgG aApoA-I antibody titres were independently associated with HDL-C levels, suggesting that quantity as well as quality of HDL may be influenced by them.

The presence of IgG aHDL and aApo A-I antibodies may have clinical implications as their relationship with the SLICC/ACR DI indicates. This finding is further highlighted by the lower PON1 activity in patients with higher disease activity. PON1 is the enzyme that accounts for most of the capacity of HDL to prevent oxidation of LDL, and consequent reduction of foam cell formation. By interfering with PON1 function, aHDL and aApoA-I may tilt the oxidant/anti-oxidant balance towards oxidative stress. The activity of this enzyme has already been associated with particular SLE-related features such as lupus nephritis.⁶⁰⁴

NO• plays a central role in regulating vascular tone, but its overproduction may contribute to tissue injury, by increasing the vascular permeability, generating toxic-free radicals such as ONOO⁻, and inducing cytotoxicity.²⁶¹ Belmont et al,⁶⁰⁵ reported overexpression of iNOS in periods of active disease. NO• has a short half-life and its metabolites, including nitrite and nitrate, are widely used as indicators of the effective availability of NO•.⁶⁰⁶ Our study confirms elevated plasma NO• concentration in patients when compared with healthy controls.^{605,607}

Under normal conditions, NO• inhibits vascular muscle cell proliferation, platelet aggregation and monocyte adhesion to the endothelium. However, free radicals such as ONOO⁻, when excessively generated by the reaction of NO• with superoxide, induce

modifications in proteins, lipids and DNA which may increase the immunogenicity of intracellular antigens, leading to a break in immune tolerance.

Furthermore, the overproduction of free radicals and the excess NO• concentration primes the vascular endothelium for subsequent injury. Here we report for the first time that NO• is in a positive relationships with IgG aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies and in a negative one with PON1 activity, highlighting how these changes may reflect clinical damage (SLICC/ACR DI).

Oxidative stress plays a vital role in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and its complications. TAC reflects the capacity of serum to resist oxidation and has been defined as a global measure that takes into account the overall antioxidant defence of serum.

In the present study, TAC of patients with SLE was significantly lower than the control group, and IgG aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies were negatively associated with TAC. Moreover the positive correlation between TAC and PON1 activity suggests that IgG aHDL and aApoA-I may decrease TAC by an inhibitory effect on PON1. Since PON1 inhibits oxidation of phospholipids, thus preventing ONOO⁻-mediated lipid peroxidation, the reduction of PON1 activity, as seen in SLE patients, would further increase the overall oxidative state showed by a reduction in TAC.

The interaction of leucocytes with the vascular endothelium is pivotal to the inflammatory process, and is mediated, amongst others, by adhesion molecules, such as VCAM-1 and ICAM-1, which participate in atherogenesis by promoting monocyte adhesion to the endothelium and subsequent accumulation in the arterial intima. In the above process, HDL inhibits the expression of cell surface adhesion molecules by activated endothelial cells.²¹³ Levels of soluble adhesion molecules have been shown to correlate with various cardiovascular risk factors including low HDL-C.⁶⁰⁸

Our study showed that soluble VCAM-1 levels correlate with low HDL levels and with disease activity, being significantly higher during active disease. Soluble ICAM-1 levels did not reflect disease activity. Whilst the variations in VCAM-1 are in agreement with previous studies,⁶⁰⁹⁻

⁶¹¹ ICAM-1 levels have generated contradictory results, with studies reporting a positive correlation between s-ICAM-1 levels and disease activity,⁶¹² and others failing to find significant differences when compared with healthy controls, or even an association with disease activity.^{609,613} This difference was addressed by Cybulsky et al,⁶¹⁴ who showed that VCAM-1 deficiency significantly diminishes early foam cell lesion formation in the aorta of

96

mice deficient in the LDL receptor (Ldlr -/-), suggesting that VCAM-1 may play a role in preventing the initiation of atherosclerosis. However, ICAM-1 deficiency did not influence early foam cell lesion formation, either alone or when combined with VCAM-1 deficiency. Despite the up-regulation of both adhesion molecules in atherosclerotic lesions, VCAM-1 seems to play a more important role in the initiation of atherosclerosis.⁶¹⁴

The association between VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 levels and IgG aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies and PON1 activity was demonstrated by the first time in this study. Moreover the IgG aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies titres independently predicted higher levels of ICAM-1 a VCAM-1 levels, respectively, suggesting that the presence of the antibodies may induce the synthesis these molecules by inhibiting HDL.

In conclusion, by interfering with the anti-atherogenic properties of HDL, IgG aHDL and aApoA-I are associated with an enhanced oxidative stress and a higher SLE-related atherosclerotic risk. Given the cross-sectional nature of the study, disease activity and damage cannot be causally linked with the markers under study: their prognostic value with regards to SLE-related vascular disease should be assessed prospectively in further studies. At this point we asked ourselves whether this was a SLE-specific phenomenon or was it present also in the non autoimmune setting

3.2 Anti-HDL and anti-ApoA-I antibodies in non auto-immune patients with atherosclerosis-related clinical events

3.2.1 Coronary artery disease (CAD) and ischemic stroke (IS)

CAD (or atherosclerotic heart disease) is the end result of the accumulation of atheromatous plaques within the walls of the coronary arteries and is one of the most relevant clinical features of atherosclerosis. Although without the same strong association IS can also be related to an increased atheroma burden in the arteries supplying blood to the brain.

Despite major advances in the understanding of the nature of the atherosclerotic plaque and the phenomenon of plaque rupture, together with the proliferation of coronary care units, angioplasty and bypass surgery, thrombolysis, pharmacologic treatment for hypercholesterolemia and hypertension (e.g. statin and angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors) and a tremendous emphasis on lifestyle modification, CAD and IS continue to be major causes of mortality and morbidity throughout the world.^{1,2}

Epidemiologic and clinical studies show an inverse correlation between HDL-C and an increased incidence of cardiovascular diseases³⁵⁴ and the importance of HDL is now more recognised not just for preventing atheroma formation but also for stabilising plaques, therefore preventing rupture and ultimately thrombosis.^{239,447-449}

The existence of a possible humoral response towards the HDL complex was found in patients with autoimmune disease like SLE where enhanced atherogenesis and overactive immune response are prominent features.

The suspicion that antibodies against HDL might be present outside the context of autoimmune diseases, led us to test this hypothesis in non auto-immune patients with atherosclerosis-related clinical events.

3.2.1.1 Aim

This study aimed to identify the presence of antibodies towards HDL and/or some of its components in patients with atherosclerosis-related clinical events such as CAD and IS and to evaluate their association with endothelial dysfunction and with some of the HDL anti-oxidative properties.

3.2.1.2 Patients and methods

Patients

One-hundred and eleven consecutive patients (56 CAD and 55 IS) with atherosclerosisassociated clinical events, followed at the Internal Medicine outpatients clinic of Curry Cabral Hospital from November 2007 to September 2008 were invited to participate in this study. Inclusion criteria were: routine follow up appointment, for patients with at least a vascular event confirmed by CT scan (IS) or coronary angiography (CAD) in the last 5 years, without evidence of active systemic inflammation (normal erythrocyte sedimentation rate -ESR) and hs CRP < 1.0 mg/dL. Exclusion criteria included renal or hepatic dysfunction (serum creatinine < 1.2 mg/dL and ALT/AST < 2x reference value), infection, neoplastic disease, decompensated cardiac insufficiency and a thrombotic event of any kind in the previous 3 months. Of the initial cohort, 16 patients with CAD and 15 with IS were excluded: 11 CAD and 12 IS to match both groups for age (the oldest patients were excluded), 5 did not have CAD confirmed and 3 had had a cerebral haematoma and not IS. Forty patients with CAD and 40 with IS were definitely enrolled in the study. Ten patients with CAD also had an IS and 5 patients with cerebral events had cardiac insufficiency, but no coronary disease was confirmed. Two patients with IS had atrial fibrillation.

Healthy subjects used as controls were recruited during the same period of time amongst family and friends of the patients. Demographic data of patients and controls, medical history including current medication and other clinical data are summarized in Table 8.

All subjects signed consent forms approved by the ethics committees of the Hospital and the study was carried out according to the revised declaration of Helsinki.

Blood samples were collected after a 12h fast and were centrifuged at 3000 xg at 4°C for 10 min to obtain serum. Serum from patients and controls were kept at -80°C until assayed.

Methods

Serum IgG /IgM aHDL, IgG aApoA-I, IgG aPON1, IgG aApoA-II and aApoC-I antibodies titres and levels of soluble VCAM-1, ICAM-1 and 3-NT were measured by ELISAs. PON1 activity, TAC and nitric oxide metabolites (NO₂⁻ and NO₃⁻) levels were also tested as described in methods chapter. Lipid profile (total cholesterol, HDL-C, LDL-C and TG) were determined by standard enzymatic techniques in the hospital when sample was collected. Statistical analysis was performed as described in methods.

3.2.1.3 Results

Characteristics of the study subjects

The characteristics of the study subjects are shown in Table 8. Patients groups were more likely to present with co-morbidities such hypertension (65-75%), type 2 diabetes (20-30%) and dyslipidemia (22.5-25%) and to be on medication than controls.

	CTRL (N=40)	CAD (N=40)	IS (N=40)	P value
Age (years)	67 ± 12	78 ± 7	69 ± 12	‡0.0004
Female sex (%)	50	50	50	0.89
Medical History, N (%)				
Hypertension	4 (10)	26 (65)	30 (75)	<0.0001
Type 2 diabetes	1 (2.5)	12 (30)	8 (20)	0.004
Dyslipidemia	2 (5)	10 (25)	9 (22.5)	0.04
Medication, N (%)				
ACE inhibitors	1 (2.5)	12 (30)	7 (17.5)	0.004
ARB	0	2 (5)	2 (5)	0.36
Beta-Blocker	0	7 (17.5)	5 (12.5)	0.01
Calcium-channel blocker	0	7 (17.5)	4 (10)	0.02
Diuretics	2 (5)	14 (35)	9 (22.5)	0.004
Anti-platelet agents	0	13 (32.5)	12 (30)	0.0004
Statin	0	9 (22.5)	5 (12.5)	0.007
Lipid levels (mg/dL)				
HDL-C	56.7 ± 22.2	34.9 ± 13.5	37.4 ± 13.3	<0.0001
LDL-C	82.1 ± 30.9	100.0 ± 36.3	112.3 ± 42.1	0.002
Total cholesterol	153.4 ± 51.7	140.7 38.1	164.7 ± 57.9	0.11
Triglycerides	95.2 ± 45.6	110.3 ± 37.6	137.2 ± 65.6	0.003

Table 8: Demographic characteristics and clinical and serological data of healthy controls (CTRL) and patients with atherosclerosis-associated clinical events: coronary artery disease (CAD) and ischemic stroke (IS).

Abbreviations: ACE: angiotensin-converting enzyme; ARB: angiotensin receptor blocker. NA: not applicable. Data are presented as mean \pm SD. P value represents the statistical comparison between the three groups, Kruskall Wallis with Dunn's post hoc. \ddagger Statistical comparison between CTRL and CAD patients

IgG aHDL, aApoA-I and aPON1 antibodies in patients with CAD and IS

Mean titres of IgG aHDL, aApoA-I and aPON1 antibodies were higher in both patient groups, when compared to healthy controls (Figure 33 A-C; p < 0.0001).

No differences were observed for the remaining antibodies tested (IgG aApoA-II, aApoC-I and IgM aHDL) (Table 9).

associated clinical events coronary aftery disease (CAD) and ischemic stroke (is).				
	CTRL	CAD	IS	P value
IgG aHDL (% p. control)	87.5 ± 26.9	184.5 ± 81.3	182.6 ± 115.4.5	<0.0001
IgM aHDL (% p. control)	43.3 ± 29.6	46.8 ± 65.1	42.3 ± 62.5	0.11
lgG aApoA-I (μg/mL)	0.49 ± 0.22	1.19 ± 0.74	1.14 ± 0.98	< 0.0001
IgG aApoA-II (% p. control)	154.6 ± 133.3	178.2 ± 119.4	165.2 ± 120.5	0.70
IgG aApo C-I (% p. control)	334.8 ± 318.7	372.9 ± 353.6	336.4 ± 310.4	0.94
lgG aPON1 (% p. control)	87.2 ± 57.8	163.5 ± 114.5	211.5 ± 162.9	<0.0001

Table 9: Antibodies titres measured in healthy controls (CTRL) and in patients with atherosclerosisassociated clinical events coronary artery disease (CAD) and ischemic stroke (IS).

Abbreviations: aHDL: anti-high density lipoprotein antibodies; aApo A-I: anti-apolipoprotein A-I antibodies; aApo A-II: anti-apolipoprotein A-II antibodies aApo C-I: anti-apolipoprotein C-I antibodies; aPON1: anti-paraoxonase 1 antibodies; Kruskall Wallis with Dunn's post hoc.

The prevalence of positive titres of IgG aHDL were 97.5% for patients with CAD, 95% for patients with IS and 45% in healthy controls, whilst for aApo A-I antibodies were 60% and 77.5% for patients with CAD and IS, respectively and 25% in healthy controls. The prevalence of positive titres of IgG aPON1 in patients with CAD was 40% and 32.5% in patients with IS while in healthy controls was 12.5%.



Figure 33. Levels of IgG aHDL (A), aApoA-I (B) and aPON1 (C) antibodies in healthy controls (CTRL) and patients with atherosclerosis-associated clinical events: coronary artery disease (CAD) and ischemic stroke (IS). Bars show the means. Kruskall Wallis test.

IgG aHDL directly correlated with the IgG aApoA-I titres (p < 0.0001 in CAD and IS) and IgG aPON1 titres p < 0.0001 but only patients with CAD (Figure 34 A, B).

Co-morbidities such hypertension, diabetes melitus and dyslipidemia were not associated with differences between antibodies titres in the patients with CAD and IS, or with different treatment modalities. There were also no differences when we compared patients with and without hypertension regardless of the groups.

Although total cholesterol did not differ between patients groups and healthy controls, LDL-C and TG levels were higher and HDL-C levels were lower in both patients groups, when compared to healthy controls, as expected (Table 8). No correlation was found between HDL-C levels the presence of IgG aHDL, aApoA-I or aPON1 antibodies.



Figure 34. Relationship between the titres of IgG aHDL and IgG aApo A-I (A) and aPON1 antibodies (B) in both group of patients with atherosclerosis-associated clinical events: coronary artery disease (CAD) and ischemic stroke (IS).

PON1 activity and association with antibody titres

PON1 activity was lower in both groups of patients when compared to healthy controls (p<0.0001, Table 10) and negatively correlated with the titres of aApo A-I antibodies (CAD p = 0.006 and IS p = 0.01) and aPON1 antibodies (CAD p = 0.007 and IS p = 0.0004) (Figure 35 A, B).



Figure 35. Correlation (Spearman's rank test) between PON1 activity (U/L) and IgG aApoA-I (A) and aPON1 antibodies (B) in both groups of patients with atherosclerosis-associated clinical events coronary artery disease (CAD) and ischemic stroke (IS).

No difference was observed in the mean levels of TAC (Table 10) between both groups of patients and healthy controls.

When age, HDL-C, LDL-C, TAC and IgG aHDL, aApoA-I and aPON1 antibodies titres were entered as independent variables In a regression model with PON1 activity as the dependent variable for the CAD group IgG aApoA-I antibodies titres negatively predicted PON1 activity (t = -2.91, p = 0.006); when a similar regression model was applied to the IS group IgG aPON1 antibodies titres and high HDL-C levels resulted as independent negative (t = -4.65, p = 0.0001) and positive (t = 4.16, p = 0.0001) predictors of PON1 activity respectively.

50 0 10 1.				
	CTRL	CAD	IS	P value
PON1 activity (U/L)	275.7 ± 76.7	181.2 ± 97.3	190.6 ± 88.0	<0.0001
TAC (VEA equivalents units μ M)	8.1 ± 1.6	8.9 ± 2.8	8.0 ± 2.0	0.13
NO ₂ (μM)	13.4 ± 8.8	8.6 ± 4.2	9.6 ± 6.1	0.006
NO ₃ ⁻ (μM)	25.6 ± 15.9	42.8 ± 33.5	16.5 ± 11.4	0.006
3-NT (nM)	16.2 ± 3.9	21.2 ± 8.3	19.2 ± 5.7	0.002
VCAM-1 (ng/mL)	589.8 ± 158.2	1534.0 ± 792.5	1057.0 ± 547.6	<0.0001
ICAM-1 (ng/mL)	297.6 ± 69.1	462.4 ± 156.4	347.6 ± 76.9	< 0.0001

Table 10: Biological variables (oxidation and inflammation markers) measured in healthy controls (CTRL) and in patients with atherosclerosis-associated clinical events: coronary artery disease (CAD) and ischemic stroke (IS).

Abbreviations: PON1: paraoxonase 1; TAC: total antioxidant capacity; NO₂⁻: nitrite; NO₃⁻: nitrate; 3-NT: 3-nitrotyrosine; VCAM-1: vascular cell adhesion molecule; ICAM-1: intracellular adhesion molecule. Kruskall Wallis with Dunn's post hoc: NO₃⁻ (CAD vs IS p<0.001); VCAM-1 (CAD vs IS p<0.001); ICAM-1 (CAD vs IS p<0.001).

Endothelial dysfunction parameters have distinct profiles between patients groups

Mean NO₂⁻ levels were decreased in both patient groups when compared with controls (p = 0.006, Table 10) and with no significant difference between CAD and IS. Mean NO₃⁻ levels were higher in CAD patients when compared to IS patients (p < 0.001) and healthy controls (p = 0.006, Table 10). Additionally, 3-NT, VCAM-1and ICAM-1 levels were increased in both patient groups, when compared to healthy controls (Table 10, p = 0.002, p < 0.0001, p < 0.0001, respectively, Table 10). VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 levels were higher in CAD patients than in IS patients (p < 0.001).

In CAD patients the levels of NO_3^- were directly correlated with IgG aHDL (p = 0.02), aApoA-I (p = 0.006) and aPON1 (p = 0.02) antibodies (Figure 36 A-C) whereas in IS patients the levels of NO_2^- were inversely correlated with IgG aApoA-I (p = 0.0001) and aPON1 (p = 0.02) antibodies.

The levels of 3-NT were directly correlated with IgG aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies (r = 0.36, p = 0.02) and NO₃⁻ levels (r = 0.41, p = 0.01) in CAD patients, whereas in IS patients 3-NT levels were positively correlated with IgG aApoA-I antibodies (r = 0.47, p = 0.003) and inversely correlated with NO₂⁻ levels (r = -0.37, p = 0.01).


Figure 36. Correlation (Spearman's rank test) between NO₃ levels and IgG aHDL (A), aApoA-I (B), aPON1 (C) antibodies titres in coronary artery disease (CAD) patients.

VCAM-1 levels showed a direct correlation with IgG aHDL (CAD: p = 0.02, IS: p = 0.04), aApo A-I (CAD and IS: p = 0.01) and aPON1 antibodies (CAD and IS: p = 0.03) in both groups of patients. In patients with CAD, the ICAM-1 levels showed a direct correlation with IgG aHDL (p < 0.0001), aApoA-I (p = 0.0004) and aPON1 antibodies (p < 0.0001). In patients with IS, ICAM-1 levels were only positively correlated with IgG aPON1 antibodies (p = 0.02). An inverse correlation was found between PON1 activity and VCAM-1 levels (CAD: p = 0.01 and IS: p = 0.004) in both groups of patients. ICAM-1 levels were negatively correlated with PON1 activity only in the IS group (p = 0.009).

In patients with CAD, NO_3^- levels showed a direct correlation with VCAM-1 (p = 0.003) and ICAM-1 (p = 0.01) while a positive correlation was observed between 3-NT levels and these adhesion molecules in IS patients (VCAM-1 and ICAM-1: p = 0.01).

Multivariate analysis entering the endothelial dysfunction markers as dependent variables and titters of IgG aHDL, aApoA-I and aPON1 antibodies as independent variables demonstrated that IgG aApoA-I titers independently predicted NO_3^- levels (t = 2.92, p = 0.006) while IgG aPON1 titers independently predicted ICAM-1 levels (t = 3.97, p = 0.0001) in patients with CAD.

3.2.1.4 Discussion

This study shows for the first time that antibodies towards HDL and two of its major components ApoA-I and PON1 are present in patients with IS and CAD. Previously, only aApoA-I antibodies had been identified in a cohort of patients with acute coronary syndrome and MI.⁶¹⁵⁻⁶¹⁷ The lack of a positive titre of IgG aApoA-II and IgG aApoC-I across the two study groups rules against ApoA-II and ApoC-I as possible (auto)-antigens within the HDL complex, rather the strong correlation between IgG aHDL, aApoA-I and aPON1 titres suggests that ApoA-I and PON1 might be key targets. Moreover, the presence of IgG aHDL, aApoA-I and aPON1 antibodies in these subset of patients are associated with a decrease in PON1 activity and an increase in biomarkers of endothelial dysfunction (NO₃⁻, 3-NT, VCAM-1 and ICAM-1), suggesting some biologic activity and potential pathogenicity.

It is widely accepted that elevated LDL and low HDL are independently related to the risk of vascular disease.⁶¹⁸ The anti-atherogenic properties of HDL are well established but neither the effect of aHDL antibodies on HDL's protective function, nor its relevance in patients without an auto-immune background is known. In this study the presence of IgG aApoA-I and aPON1 antibodies independently predicted decreases in PON1 activity and an increases in serum levels of endothelial dysfunction markers (NO₃⁻, ICAM-1) indicating that the antioxidant/oxidant balance is tilted towards the latter with possible negative effects on the endothelial function.

The two NOS, the constitutive eNOS and the iNOS, convert L-arginine to NO• and citrulline at different concentrations according to substrate availability.⁶¹⁹ Of the NO• metabolites, it is generally accepted that in humans only NO₂⁻ reflects changes in eNOS activity and endothelial dysfunction whereas NO₃⁻ reflects mostly the "inflammatory" NO• from iNOS.⁶²⁰⁻⁶²² In keeping with these concepts serum NO₂⁻ was decreased in both patient groups whereas NO₃⁻ was markedly higher in CAD than IS. This may be a reflection of a more relevant role of inflammation in coronary diseases when compared to the brain-associated

injury. Moreover only CAD patients showed that IgG aApoA-I titers independently predicted increased NO_3^- levels, thus supporting an atherogenic role for IgG aApoA-I antibodies in CAD patients and highlight a different pattern of the two groups of patients regarding oxidation.

Physiological stimulation of the eNOS or iNOS enzyme enhances NO• release which then behaves either as a pathogenic mediator or as a cytotoxic molecule.^{623,624} In the latter case NO• reacts with O₂•⁻ generating ONOO^{-,625} a strong oxidant that induces modifications in proteins, lipids and DNA by reacting with the tyrosine residues to form 3-NT which may in turn increase the immunogenicity of intracellular antigens, leading to a break in immune tolerance.⁶²⁶ Nitrotyrosine (3-NT) has been widely used as a biomarker of protein damage induced by ONOO⁻ and other reactive nitrogen species. In both groups of patients, 3-NT levels were increased when compared with healthy controls, however patients with CAD showed a positive relationship between 3-NT and IgG aHDL, aApoA-I antibodies, NO₃⁻, whereas in IS patients 3-NT levels were positively association only with IgG aApoA-I antibodies and negative related with NO₂⁻ levels, again suggesting the possibility of different mechanisms in patients with cardio and cerebrovascular disease.

Levels of soluble adhesion molecules have been shown to correlate with various cardiovascular risk factors including low HDL-C levels.⁶⁰⁸ Both groups of patients showed increased levels of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 when compared with healthy subjects. Patients with CAD showed greater serum levels of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 than IS patients though this difference was no obvious in previous surveys on cardio-vascular and cerebrovascular cohorts.⁶²⁷⁻⁶²⁹ Although ICAM-1 has a low constitutive expression in a variety of cell types, VCAM-1 is not constitutively expressed, though up-regulation of the expression of both may be rapidly induced by pro-atherosclerotic conditions in animal models and in humans.⁶³⁰⁻⁶³¹ The clinical relevance of plasma adhesion molecules is not clear. In healthy individuals, an increase in ICAM-1 titres is a significant predictor of future CAD events whereas VCAM-1 is a significant predictor of future coronary events only in patients with pre-existing CAD.⁶³²⁻⁶³⁶ In patients with IS a plasma concentration of VCAM-1 greater than 1350 ng/mL increases 4-fold the risk of new cerebrovascular events,⁶³⁷ while increase of ICAM-1 is linked to a poor short term in acute stroke prognosis.⁶³⁸

In this study, VCAM-1 levels were positive associated with IgG aHDL, aApoA-I and aPON1 antibodies in both groups of patients, while ICAM-1 levels were positive associated with IgG aHDL, aApoA-I and aPON1 antibodies in CAD patients. In patients with IS, ICAM-1 levels were

only positive associated with IgG aPON1 and additionally IgG aPON1 titres independently predicted increased ICAM-1 levels in these group of patients.

This study reports the concurrent presence of IgG aHDL, aApoA-I and aPON1 antibodies in non autoimmune patients with atherosclerosis-associated clinical events together with markers of oxidation, nitrative stress and endothelial activation/damage. Outside the autoimmune disease context, only one group has shown a significant presence of aApoA-I antibodies in patients with acute coronary syndrome⁶¹⁵ and suggested that these antibodies increase atherosclerotic plaque vulnerability⁶¹⁷ and could be used as a prognostic marker in MI.⁶¹⁶ However they could do not found an association of the aApoA-I antibodies with other arterial or venous thromboembolic events, such as stroke or acute pulmonary embolism. Moreover, our study described for the first time the presence of aPON1 antibodies. The associations between antibodies titres and markers of oxidation, nitrative stress and endothelial activation/damage were found to be stronger in CAD patients than in IS patients, which can be explained by a greater inflammatory drive in CAD patients. Because of its cross sectional design, this study cannot explain whether the antibodies are causal to the clinical events, nevertheless the antibodies titres seems to be significant predictors of decreased HDL anti-atherogenic function and the associations found are consistent with a coherent pathogenic explanation.

3.2.2 Type 2 diabetes

Type 2 diabetes is primarily a metabolic disorder, with a major vascular involvement³¹ and is a risk factor for the development of atherosclerosis. In fact the risk of developing atherosclerosis at an earlier age in patients with type 2 diabetes is three-to five fold greater that of nondiabetics after controlling for other risk factors.³²

Recent findings indicate that HDL improve glucose metabolism by multiple mechanisms which include enhanced insulin secretion by β -cells as a result of improved cellular cholesterol homeostasis, protection of stress-induced apoptosis and islet inflammation³⁰³⁻³⁰⁵ and may be a causative role in the development of insulin resistance.³⁰³

Infusions of rHDL in patients with type 2 diabetes reduce plasma glucose, increase insulin secretion, improve the HOMA index when compared with placebo³⁰⁶ and can inhibit

the cellular expression of VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 on stimulated human coronary endothelial cells.⁶³⁹

Dysfunctional HDL has been identified in patients with type 2 diabetes: these show an impaired HDL-mediated RCT as well as defaults in the anti-oxidative, anti-inflammatory and endothelial-protective features of HDL.⁶⁴⁰ Dysfunctional HDL can be due to changes in its multiple components, but is most frequently associated with ApoA-I glycation.³²⁷

We confirmed the presence of antibodies towards HDL components outside the context of autoimmune diseases, in patients with CAD and IS. Due to the potential role of HDL in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes, together with the known increased atherosclerotic risk of these patients, we looked for the presence of aHDL antibodies also in this disease.

3.2.2.1 Aim

This study was undertaken to determine the presence of antibodies directed against different components of HDL in patients with type 2 diabetes and establish a possible relationship between these antibodies and the anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of HDL.

3.2.2.2 Patients and methods

Patients

Seventy four consecutive patients with type 2 diabetes, followed at the Internal Medicine outpatients clinic of Curry Cabral Hospital from June 2010 to June 2011, where invited to participate in this study. Seventeen declined participation and 57 accepted. Inclusion criteria were routine follow up appointment, diagnosis of type 2 diabetes according to American Diabetes Association guidelines 2008^{641} : fasting plasma glucose (FPG) $\geq 126 \text{ mg/dL}$ (7.0 mmol/L) or two-hour plasma glucose $\geq 200 \text{ mg/dl}$ (11.1 mmol/L) during an glucose tolerance test (OGTT) or classic symptoms of hyperglycaemia such as polyuria, polydipsia, and unexplained weight loss. Exclusion criteria included diabetes mellitus other than type 2; disease, renal or hepatic (serum creatinine < 1.2 mg/dL and ALT/AST < 2x reference value) dysfunction, infection, neoplastic disease, history of alcoholism or drug abuse, history of mental illness

Of the initial cohort, 7 patients with type 2 diabetes were excluded to match with the control group for age (the oldest patients were excluded), fifty patients were definitely enrolled in the study.

Healthy subjects used as controls were recruited during the same period of time from healthy blood donors and family and friends of hospital staff.

Demographic data of patients and controls, medical history (including current medication) and other clinical data are summarized in Table 11.

All subjects signed consent forms approved by the ethics committees of the Hospital and the study was carried out according to the revised declaration of Helsinki.

Blood samples were collected after a 12h fast and were centrifuged at 3000 xg at 4°C for 10 min to obtain serum. Serum from patients and controls were kept at -80°C until assayed.

Methods

Serum IgG aHDL, IgG aApoA-I, IgG aPON1, IgG aApoA-II and aApoC-I antibodies titers and levels of soluble VCAM-1, ICAM-1 and 3-NT were measured by ELISAs. PON1 activity and nitric oxide metabolites (NO₂⁻ and NO₃⁻) levels were tested as described in methods. Lipid profile (total cholesterol, HDL-C, LDL-C and TG) were determined by standard enzymatic techniques in the hospital when samples were collected. ApoA-I levels were determined by immunoturbidimetry as described in methods chapter.

3.2.2.3 Results

Characteristics of the study subjects

Type 2 diabetic patients had a greater body mass index than controls and were more likely to present with co-morbidities such hypertension (50%) and dyslipidemia (22%) and to be on medication (Table 11).

FPG levels ($180.0 \pm 95.4 \text{ mg/dL}$) and HbA1c ($9.1 \pm 4.9 \%$) have been used as the indices of glycaemia as they were measured in all subjects and they were significantly increased in patient with diabetes, consistent with uncontrolled diabetes (Table 11).

HDL-C and ApoA-I were significantly lower in patients with diabetes when compared with controls, but other lipid parameters were not significantly different across subject groups (Table 11). In patients with diabetes, HDL-C levels were inversely correlated with FPG levels (r = -0.41, p = 0.004) and both HDL-C and ApoA-I levels were negatively associated with HbA1c (r = -0.42, p = 0.003).

	CTRL (n = 50)	Type 2 diabetes (n = 50)	P value
Age (years)	67 ± 12	71 ± 10	0.06
Sex: female/male (n)	24 / 26	21 / 29	0.68
BMI (Kg/m ²)	28.6 ± 4.0	32.1 ± 5.5	<0.0001
Medical History, N (%)			
Hypertension	5(10)	25 (50)	<0.0001
Dyslipidemia	2(4)	11 (22)	0.01
Medication, N (%)			
Sulfonylureias	0	11 (22)	0.0005
Biguanides	0	16 (32)	<0.0001
Insulins	0	5 (10)	0.05
Antihypertensives drugs	5(10)	17 (34)	0.007
Antidyslipidemic drugs	2(4)	9 (18)	0.05
Serological data			
FPG (mg/dL)	89.5 ± 10.8	180.0 ± 95.4	<0.0001
HbA1c (%)	5.1 ± 1.3	9.1 ± 4.9	<0.0001
HDL-C (mg/dL)	55.0 ± 22.7	37.4 ± 12.3	<0.0001
LDL-C (mg/dL)	89.2 ± 32.7	90.0 ± 35.3	0.76
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	163.3 ± 53.3	149.3 ± 45.2.	0.07
TG (mg/dL)	113.7 ± 51.8	135.7 ± 55.9	0.14
ApoA-I (mg/dL)	147.6 ± 26.8	121.7 ± 27.2	<0.0001

 Table 11. Demographic characteristics and clinical and serological data of healthy controls (CTRL) and patients with type 2 diabetes.

Abbreviations: Body mass index (BMI); Fasting plasma glucose (FPG); Glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c); Triglycerides (TG); Apolipoprotein A-I (ApoA-I). Data are presented as mean ± SD. P value represents the statistical comparison between the two groups. Mann Whitney test.

IgG aHDL, aApoA-I and aPON1 antibodies in patients with type 2 diabetes

Mean titres of IgG aHDL, aApoA-I and aPON1 antibodies were higher in patients with type 2 diabetes than healthy controls (Figure 37 A-C; p < 0.0001, p = 0.0005, p < 0.0001, respectively). No other differences were observed for the remaining antibodies (IgG aApoA-II, aApoC-I) tested (Table 12).

The prevalence of positive titres of IgG aHDL antibodies were 66% in patients with type 2 diabetes and 26% in healthy controls, whilst for aApo A-I antibodies were 48% and 10% for patients type 2 diabetes and healthy controls, respectively. The prevalence of positive titres of IgG aPON1 antibodies in patients with type 2 diabetes were 64% and in healthy controls 8%.

IgG aHDL directly correlates with the IgG aApoA-I titers (r = 0.56, p < 0.0001) and IgG aPON1 titers (r = 0.52, p < 0.0001) in patients with type 2 diabetes.



Figure 37. Levels of IgG aHDL (A), aApoA-I (B) and aPON1 (C) antibodies in healthy controls (CTRL) and in patients with type 2 diabetes. Bars show the means. Mann Whitney test.

CTRL	Type 2 diabetes	P value
170.6 ± 61.56	261.5 ± 130.1	<0.0001
35.5 ± 24.6	30.14 ± 22.0	0.48
0.43 ± 0.23	0.96 ± 0.89	0.0008
126.8 ± 78.33	153.2 ± 75.5	0.21
289.3 ± 158.2	344.1 ± 202.6	0.28
71.3 ± 45.5	192.0 ± 108.4	<0.0001
	$CTRL$ 170.6 ± 61.56 35.5 ± 24.6 0.43 ± 0.23 126.8 ± 78.33 289.3 ± 158.2 71.3 ± 45.5	CTRLType 2 diabetes 170.6 ± 61.56 261.5 ± 130.1 35.5 ± 24.6 30.14 ± 22.0 0.43 ± 0.23 0.96 ± 0.89 126.8 ± 78.33 153.2 ± 75.5 289.3 ± 158.2 344.1 ± 202.6 71.3 ± 45.5 192.0 ± 108.4

Table 12. Antibodies titres measured in healthy controls (CTRL) and in patients with type 2 diabetes.

Abbreviations: aHDL: anti-high density lipoprotein antibodies; aApo A-I: anti-apolipoprotein A-I antibodies; aApo A-II: anti-apolipoprotein A-II antibodies aApo C-I: anti-apolipoprotein C-I antibodies; aPON1: anti-paraoxonase 1 antibodies. Mann Whitney test.

Patient's fasting glucose, glycosylated haemoglobin levees and lipid profile association with titres of antibodies

FPG levels of patients with type 2 diabetes were positively correlated with the titres of IgG aHDL (r = 0.49, p < 0.0001), aApoA-I (r = 0.36, p = 0.01) and aPON1 (r = 0.78, p < 0.0001) antibodies. Levels of HbA1c were also positively correlated with IgG aHDL (p < 0.0001), aApoA-I (p = 0.01) and aPON1 (p < 0.0001) antibodies (Figure 38 A-C).



B)

Figure 38. Correlation (Spearman's rank test) between glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c %) and IgG HDL (A), aApoA-I (B) and aPON1 (C) antibodies in patients with type 2 diabetes.

HDL-C levels were negatively correlated with the titres of IgG aHDL (r = -0.47, p = 0.0006), aApoA-I (r = -0.38, p = 0.008) and aPON1 (r = -0.45, p = 0.001) antibodies. Whilst ApoA-I levels were only negatively correlated with the presence of IgG aPON1 antibodies (r = -0.40, p = 0.004).

In a regression model including FGP levels or HbA1c as the dependent variables and age, gender, HDL-C, LDL-C, total cholesterol, TG, ApoA-I levels, PON1 activity, IgG aHDL, aApoA-I and aPON1 antibodies titres as independent variables, IgG aPON1 antibodies independently predicted FGP levels (t = 4.52, p = 0.0001), whilst IgG aHDL antibodies independently predicted increased HbA1c (t = 3.49, p = 0.001).

Moreover a regression model including HDL-C as the dependent variable and age, gender, LDL-C, total cholesterol, TG, ApoA-I levels, PON1 activity, IgG aHDL, aApoA-I and aPON1 antibodies titres as independent variables, Apo A-I levels were independently predicted HDL-C levels (t = 5.53, p = 0.0001), whilst IgG aApoA-I antibodies negatively predicted HDL-C levels (t = -3.05, p = 0.006).

PON1 activity and association with higher titres of antibodies

PON1 activity was lower in patients when compared to healthy controls (p<0.0001, Table 13) and correlated in a negative fashion with the titres of IgG aHDL (p = 0.009), aApoA-I (p = 0.01) and aPON1 (p = 0.005) antibodies (Figure 39 A-C). Moreover PON1 activity directly correlated with ApoA-I levels (r = 0.32, p = 0.04) but was lower when associated with FGP levels (r = -0.30, p = 0.04).

Table 13. Biological var	iables (oxidation	and inflammation	markers) measu	red in healthy	controls (CTRL
and in patients with type 2 di	abetes.				

	CTRL	Type 2 diabetes	P value
PON1 activity (U/L)	274.0 ± 78.9	174.0 ± 92.6	<0.0001
NO2 ⁻ (μM)	13.7 ± 8.7	15.5 ± 10.9	0.67
NO ₃ (μM)	25.5 ± 17.0	42.3 ± 31.5	0.008
3-NT (nM)	16.3 ± 6.0	20.7 ± 11.0	0.25
VCAM-1 (ng/mL)	723.6 ± 342.4	1307.0 ± 635.1	<0.0001
ICAM-1 (ng/mL)	286.7 ± 90.9	452.5 ± 234.2	0.0002

Abbreviations: PON1: paraoxonase 1; NO_2 : nitrite; NO3: nitrate; 3-NT: 3-nitrotyrosine; VCAM-1: vascular cell adhesion molecule; ICAM-1: intracellular adhesion molecule.

In this cohort of patients with type 2 diabetes, IgG aPON1 antibodies titres independently predicted PON1 activity (t = -3.68, p = 0.001) in a negative fashion in a multivariate analysis.



Figure 39. Correlation (Spearman's rank test) between PON1 activity (U/L) and IgG HDL (A), aApoA-I (B) and aPON1 (C) antibodies in patients with type 2 diabetes.

Endothelial dysfunction parameters and association with higher titres of antibodies

There were no differences between mean NO_2^- levels in healthy control and patients with type 2 diabetes, but NO_3^- levels were increased when compared with healthy controls (p = 0.008) (Table 13). No association were observed between NO_3^- and the antibodies titers in type 2 diabetes. Also there were no differences regarding 3-NT levels between healthy control and patients with type 2 diabetes.

VCAM-1and ICAM-1 levels were increased in patients with type 2 diabetes, when compared to healthy controls, (p < 0.0001, p = 0.0002, respectively) (Table 13). VCAM-1 levels showed a direct correlation with IgG aApoA-I (p = 0.0001) and aPON1 (p < 0.0001) antibodies (Figure 40 A-B).



Figure 40. Correlation (Spearman's rank test) between VCAM-1 (ng/mL) levels and IgG aApoA-I (A) and aPON1 (B) antibodies in patients with type 2 diabetes.

VCAM-1 levels were inversely correlated with HDL-C (r = -0.46, p = 0.001), ApoA-I levels (r = -0.46, p = 0.002) and PON1 activity (r = -0.39, p = 0.009). ICAM-1 levels were directly correlated with IgG aHDL (r = 0.35, p = 0.02), aApoA-I, aPON1 antibodies(r = 0.43, p = 0.006) and with FGP levels (r = 0.39, p = 0.01). An inverse correlation was found between ICAM-1 and ApoA-I (r = -0.52, p = 0.0008) levels and with PON1 activity (r = -0.36, p = 0.02) in patients with type 2 diabetes.

In a regression model including VCAM-1 as the dependent variable and HDL-C, LDL-C, total cholesterol, TG, ApoA-I, FGP levels, HbA1c, PON1 activity, IgG aHDL, aApoA-I and aPON1 antibodies titres as independent variables, IgG aPON1 antibodies independently predicted VCAM-1 levels (t = 3.89, p = 0.001) whereas HDL-C negatively predicted VCAM-1 levels (t = -2.41, p = 0.02). Using the same regression model but with ICAM-1 as a dependent variable aApoA-I levels negatively predicted ICAM-1 (t = -2.51, p = 0.02).

3.2.2.4 Discussion

This study shows for the first time that antibodies towards HDL and two of its major components ApoA-I and PON1 are presented in patients with type 2 diabetes. The absence of aApoA-II and aApoC-I antibodies suggests that this is a specific immune response towards HDL, indeed the strong correlation between IgG aHDL, aApoA-I and aPON1 suggests that ApoA-I and PON1 might be key targets.

The relationship between HDL-C levels and glucose metabolism has been widely studied.^{642,643} In our cohort the inverse relationship between FPG levels or HbA1c % and

HDL-C and ApoA-I levels were confirmed. Moreover titres of IgG aHDL antibodies independently predicted increased HbA1c while IgG aPON1 antibodies were independently associated with higher FGP levels and consequently with poor glycaemia control suggesting that these antibodies may interfere with the protective effect of HDL on glucose metabolism.

Furthermore, the presence of IgG aHDL, aApoA-I and aPON1 antibodies in these subset of patients was also associated with a decrease of HDL-C and ApoA-I levels and PON1 activity and an increase of adhesion molecules (VCAM-1 and ICAM-1).

Chronic hyperglycaemia leads to generation of advanced gyration end products (AGEs), products from the nonenzymatic glycation of reducing sugars with macromolecules which are directly involved in endothelial dysfunction in these patients. The binding of AGEs to its receptor (RAGEs) activates intracellular signalling processes triggering AGE-mediated pro-inflammatory effects.^{644,645} AGE modification is known to occur not only with hemoglobin (HbA1c), but also with various proteins, thus affecting their functions. In fact, it has been reported that nonenzymatic glycation of HDL, ApoA-I and PON1 *in vitro* affect their anti-atherogenic properties, in particularly impairs HDL anti-inflammatory and antioxidant functions.^{329,646,647} Such modifications in proteins and lipids may increase the immunogenicity of intracellular antigens, leading to a break in immune tolerance.

These findings suggest that antibodies towards HDL are associated with an increased risk of oxidative stress in these patients and therefore contributing to the accelerated atherogenesis present in type 2 diabetes.

As mentioned previously NO_2^- levels seem to reflect changes in eNOS activity and endothelial dysfunction whilst NO_3^- reflects mainly the "inflammatory" NO• from iNOS.⁶²⁰⁻⁶²² It is also known that iNOS, which mediates the pro-apoptotic effects of glucose is downregulated by HDL.³⁰²

In this cohort, patients with type 2 diabetes showed increased levels of VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 when compared with healthy subjects and a positive association with IgG aHDL, aApoA-I and aPON1 antibodies. In particularly IgG aPON1 antibodies which independently predict increased VCAM-1 levels, suggesting that this antibodies may interfere with the anti-inflammatory properties of HDL.

117

This study describes the concurrent presence of IgG aHDL, aApoA-I and aPON1 antibodies in patients with type 2 diabetes and its association with markers of oxidation, nitrative stress and endothelial activation/damage

These results add to the mounting evidence of greater than expected humoral autoimmunity in non autoimmune patients with atherosclerotic related clinical events. Prospective studies are now required to confirm whether these antibodies are indeed a direct cause of the identified immune changes.

4. BIOLOGIC ACTIVITY AND PATHOGENIC POTENTIAL OF ANTIBODIES TOWARDS THE HDL COMPLEX

4.1 Introduction

In the previous chapter it was proposed that a humoral response against the HDL complex could account for a quantitative and/or qualitative fault of this lipoprotein.

aHDL antibodies and more particularly aApoA-I (the main apolipoprotein contained in HDL) and aPON1 (the main antioxidant enzyme in HDL) antibodies are present in patients with autoimmune diseases but also in patients with atherosclerosis-associated clinical events outside the context of autoimmune diseases. Furthermore an association was found between the titres of these antibodies and several biomarkers of oxidation and endothelial dysfunction. However, these findings were reported in cross-sectional clinical studies and therefore a causal relationship could not be inferred. Prospective studies would be needed to determine the pathogenic effect of these antibodies. Nevertheless, the pathogenicity of these antibodies can be assessed in *in vitro* systems.

The knowledge that aHDL antibodies purified from patients might interfere with defined physiologic mechanisms could provide strong evidence for their pathogenic potential and reject their presence as simple bystanders. So far, antibodies against the HDL complex have not been previously isolated and therefore proper experiments regarding its biological activity are needed.

4.2 Aim

The goal of this study is to demonstrate the biologic activity and consequent pathogenic capacity of the antibodies towards the HDL complex by isolating them from patient's serum and then studying there *in vitro* effects on the anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of HDL.

4.3 Patients and Methods

Patients

Patients with SLE and CAD and IS from the cohorts previously studied who had aHDL antibodies were selected and the respective serum (already stored) was used.

Methods

Antibodies from patients with SLE were isolated using a 96-well microtitre plate as solid phase, following the protocol described in methods. The aHDL antibodies from patients with

CAD and IS were isolated by immunoaffinity chromatography using a HiTrap NHS- activated HP column following the protocol explained in methods.

Inhibition of PON1 activity by aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies isolated from SLE patients was performed as described in previously in 2.3.1.1, whilst inhibition of PON1 activity by aHDL antibodies isolated from a pool of patients with CAD and IS was performed as described in section 2.3.1.2.

The effect of the aHDL antibodies isolated from a pool of patients with CAD and IS on expression of VCAM-1 and in VEGF levels in HUVECs was studied as described in section 2.3.2 and 2.1.1.8, respectively.

The results and discussion of each set of experiment will be presented in separated sections

4.4 Isolation of aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies from patients with SLE and in vitro inhibition of PON1 activity

4.4.1 Results

The aHDL and aApo A-I antibodies isolated from patients with SLE and incubated with human HDL significantly reduced PON1 activity up to a maximum of 70.2% and 78.4% respectively, when compared to irrelevant human IgG (Figure 41 A and B). The inhibition of PON1 activity was dose-dependent in relation to the concentration of the antibody incubated with different known concentrations of HDL.



Figure 41. *In vitro* inhibition of paraoxonase 1 (PON1) activity by aHDL (A) and aApoA-I (B) antibodies isolated from serum patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). Human IgG was used as control and correspond to 0% of effect. ***p<0.001; **p<0.01; *p<0.05.

4.4.2 Discussion

The aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies isolated from SLE patients at a constant concentration directly inhibited the activity of PON1 in a dose dependent fashion. This complementary set of experiments demonstrates that aHDL and aApoA-I interfere with HDL disrupting the normal activity of PON1. The negative correlations found in the SLE cohort analysis in the previous chapter between the antibodies titres and the PON1 activity were confirmed by this *in vitro* assay.

The purification protocol allowed only a small recovery volume after isolation and it was not possible to determine the concentration of IgG aHDL and aApo A-I antibodies, therefore the dose dependency inhibition of PON1 was evaluated by incubating the fixed antibody concentration with decreasing concentrations of antigen (HDL).

4.5 Immunoaffinity chromatography purification of aHDL antibodies from patients with IS and CAD

4.5.1 Results

The profile of the HDL coupling to the HiTrap NHS activated HP column at 280mn was represented in Figure 42.



Figure 42. Representative profile of the HDL coupling to the HiTrap NHS activated HP column at 280nm.

Figure 43 shows the typical profile of serum patients; composed by a bulk of unretained proteins that passed directly through the column (fractions from 14-17), a second peak of retained proteins that were eluted when the buffer was changed to 0.1 M Glycine pH 2.5 (fractions from 30-32) and a third peak appeared after washing the column with 20 mM Tris pH 8.8 (fractions from 39-41).



Figure 43. Representative elution profile of a pool of serum patients with atherosclerosis-associated clinical events: coronary artery disease (CAD) and ischemic stroke (IS) and applied to a HDL-HiTrap NHS activated HP column at 280nm. Proteins which bound to the column were eluted with 0.1 M Glycine pH 2.5.

All the collected fractions were tested for the presence of IgG aHDL antibodies (Figure 44 A) and they were only identified on fractions 31 and 32.

The IgG aHDL antibodies isolated retained the ability to bind to human HDL (Figure 44 B) and the recovery rate in the column was greater than 90%. The fractions 31 and 32 were pooled and concentrated to test the biologic activity of the isolated aHDL antibodies.



Figure 44. Levels of IgG aHDL antibodies in the fractions collected from the HDL- HiTrap NHS activated HP column after patients serum was applied (A). Capacity of recovery of aHDL antibodies from fractions 31 and 32 in relation to the original patients samples applied to the column (B). Bars show means.

4.5.2 Discussion

The main new finding of this experiment was the development of a methodology for the isolation of aHDL antibodies from serum of patients, using immunoaffinity chromatography with a HDL - HiTrap NHS activated HP column.

Immunoaffinity chromatography is a general method for the isolation of antibodies found in biologic fluids. The use of a pre-packed column has several advantages over the first protocol (Antibodies isolated in a 96-well microtitre as solid phase) since it allows the purification of larger amounts and more concentrate antibodies at the same time maintaining their specificity and preserving their biological activity. Furthermore, columns can be re-used if stored in adequate, though the matrix adsorbed on the column has a limited lifetime, and the ligand coupled to the matrix can suffer oxidation (or other biologic modification), which may interfere with the isolated antibody.

This protocol was developed to purify aHDL antibodies from serum of patients with atherosclerotic clinical events (IS and CAD). However, it is a method that is generally applicable for the purification of antibodies towards different HDL components (ApoA-I and PON1) and also in other pathologies such as SLE.

4.6 In vitro inhibition of PON1 activity by aHDL antibodies

4.6.1 Results

aHDL antibodies isolated from patients with CAD and IS inhibited PON1 activity in a dose-dependent fashion from 7% to 52% (Figure 45). The non-specific human IgG used as control did not affect PON1 activity when compared to basal conditions (0% effect).

4.6.2 Discussion

This experiment showed that aHDL antibodies purified from CAD and IS patients directly inhibit PON1 activity, supporting the previous clinical studies where aHDL was associated with a pro-oxidant effect and a consequent increase in oxidative stress via a disruption of the normal activity of PON1 (sub-chapter 3.2.1).



Figure 45. *In vitro* inhibition of paraoxonase 1 (PON1) activity by IgG aHDL antibodies isolated from serum of patients with atherosclerosis-associated clinical events (CAD and IS). Human IgG was used as control and 0% effect is the PON1 activity at basal conditions (HDL 100µg/mL).

4.7 In vitro exposure of human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) to aHDL antibodies

4.7.1 Results

Unstimulated HUVECs do not express VCAM-1 (incubation of HUVECs with HDL induced a 26.4 ± 11.3 % increase in the expression of VCAM-1 compared to baseline which might be likely attributed to an artefactual oxidation of HDL during isolation). VCAM-1 expression can be induced by stimulation with TNF- α , in this experiment there was an increase of 213.7 ± 55.4 % of VCAM-1 expression in comparison to baseline. The pro-inflammatory effect of the cytokine was prevented by pre-incubation of HUVECs with HDL which led to a marked reduction of 160% in the subsequent expression of VCAM-1 (p=0.0004). In contrast, the addition of the aHDL antibodies isolated from patients to the pre-incubation solution abrogated the inhibitory effect of HDL on VCAM-1 expression by more than 80%, when compared with the non-specific human IgG (Figure 46). The presence of aHDL antibodies alone or with TNF- α (without HDL) did not modified the expression of VCAM-1 on HUVECs. Additionally the pre-incubation of HUVECs with human monoclonal aApo A-I antibody prevented the effect of the pro-inflammatory cytokine by only 65% in comparison to nonspecific human IgG.



Figure 46. Effect of aHDL antibodies isolated from patient's serum on the expression of VCAM-1 in HUVECs exposed to TNF- α . Confluent cultured HUVECs were incubated in basaline conditions (0% effect), with human HDL (1.6mg/mL), TNF- α (10ng/mL), HDL + TNF- α alone or with aHDL antibodies (50µg/mL) isolated from serum of patients with atherosclerosis-associated clinical events or a non-specif human IgG (50µg/mL) or human monoclonal aApo A-I antibody (30µg/mL). Bars show the means ± SD. Differences between means were evaluated using an Bonferroni's Multiple Comparasion test. ***P<0.0001 with reference to HDL + TNF- α ; NS not significant.

HDL induced a 157% increase in the levels of VEGF produced by HUVECs in comparison with baseline. aHDL antibodies isolated from patients decreased HDL-associated VEGF levels by 65%, whilst the incubation with human monoclonal aApo A-I antibody did not change the VEGF levels (Figure 47).



Figure 47. Effect of aHDL antibodies isolated from patients serum on VEGF levels produced by HUVECs. Cells were exposed to HDL alone or with aHDL antibodies ($50\mu g/mL$) or human monoclonal aApo A-I antibody ($30\mu g/mL$). Bars show the means ± SD. Differences between means were evaluated using an Bonferroni's Multiple Comparasion test. ⁺⁺⁺P<0.0001 with reference to HDL.

4.7.2 Discussion

The interaction of leucocytes with the vascular endothelium is pivotal to the inflammatory process, and is mediated, amongst others, by adhesion molecules such as VCAM-1. They participate in the early events of atherogenesis by promoting monocyte adhesion to the endothelium and their subsequent migration through the arterial intima. Levels of soluble adhesion molecules have been shown to correlate with various cardiovascular risk factors including low HDL-C levels.⁶⁰⁸ In fact, the ability of HDL as well as some of its constituents, to inhibit cytokine-induced upregulation of cell surface adhesion molecules expression has been consistently demonstrated *in vitro* with native HDL^{213,648} and reconstituted HDL.^{234,235} This inhibition has been documented in endothelial cells activated with both TNF- α and IL-1.

However the mechanism by which HDL interacts with the cells to inhibit adhesion molecules expression is not fully understood. Some studies suggest that HDL blocks the sphingosine kinase (SphK) pathway, an enzyme catalysing a key step in endothelial cell activation by TNF- α .⁶⁴⁹

In the present study we confirmed the anti-inflammatory property of HDL by inhibiting the TNF- α induced expression of VCAM-1 in HUVECs. Furthermore, by adding aHDL antibodies isolated from patients to the pre-incubation solution, the inhibitory effect of HDL on VCAM-1 expression was blocked, confirming the biologic activity of these antibodies.

In previous studies (Chapter 3) adhesion molecules levels were directly associated with the antibody titres both in SLE patients and in non-autoimmune patients. Although, this experiment tested only aHDL antibodies isolated from patients with IS and CAD the inhibitory effect of the monoclonal human aApo A-I antibody suggests that aApo A-I antibodies isolated from autoimmune or no-autoimmune patients might also exert an inhibitory effect on VCAM-1 expression. This pro-inflammatory effect of the aApo A-I antibodies is not surprising due to the known anti-inflammatory properties of Apo-I.^{242,239} In fact, the present results suggest that HDL may exert its anti-inflammatory properties via an ApoA-I dependent mechanism.

Angiogenesis is a critical component of several human diseases, including cancer, autoimmune diseases, ocular neovascularizing disorders and CVD. VEGF plays a central role in this process and in most of these diseases increased levels of VEGF is likely to contribute to disease progression. However, in ischemic heart and peripheral vascular disease the problem is one of vascular insufficiency. In fact, autocrine VEGF is required for the homeostasis of blood vessels in the adult.⁶⁵⁰ As matter of fact in animal models non-invasive injection of pro-angiogenic compounds such as VEGF has shown promising results in regenerating cardiac microvasculature, however these results have failed to translate into successful clinical trials, although the motive still unclear.⁶⁵¹

In the present study we also confirmed that HDL-induces angiogenesis⁶⁵² by increasing VEGF levels in HUVECs. The addiction of aHDL antibodies isolated from patients to the preincubation solution abrogated the positive effect on VEGF levels. Unlike what was observed on VCAM-1 expression, human aApo A-I antibody did not exert the same effect of the aHDL antibodies isolated from patients with IS and CAD. This result suggest that HDL-induced angiogenesis by a mechanism independent of ApoA-I and can be due to other components of the HDL complex.

5. PHARMACOLOGIC MANIPULATION OF HDL-C AND aHDL ANTIBODIES TITRES

This chapter will deal with three blind / randomized clinical trials with different antidyslipidemic drugs in which the primary endpoint was not the evaluation of the effect of the drug on the humoral response towards HDL, nevertheless this effect was evaluated in a subsequent analysis. None of these studies protocol was written / developed by myself however for a better understanding of the study they will be described. All the measurements of biochemical and immunological variables presented here in were performed by me and included in this thesis with the respective authorization of clinicians that developed these clinical trials.

5.1 Exploratory, double blind placebo controlled, randomized, single cross-over study to evaluate the potential anti-oxidant activity of Niaspan[®] (EXPLORE)

5.1.1 Introduction

Niacin (nicotinic acid or vitamin B3) is a water soluble vitamin that at physiologic concentrations is a substrate for the synthesis of NAD and NADP, which are important cofactors in intermediary metabolism (the intracellular process in which nutrient molecules are metabolized and converted into cellular components). The pharmacologic effect of niacin requires large doses (1.5-3 g/day) and is independent of the use of nicotinic acid to produce NAD or NADP. Niacin has been used as a pharmacologic agent to regulate abnormalities in plasma lipids and lipoprotein metabolism since 1955.⁴¹³

Niacin is the most effective commercially available agent to increase HDL-C levels.⁴¹⁶ Indeed, a meta-analysis of more than 80 clinical trials revealed that niacin (all formulations) induced elevation in HDL-C levels to a degree that was 1.6-fold higher than that achieved with fibrates.³⁹² Furthermore, niacin not only reduces elevated TG levels by 15 % to 40 % as a function of baseline levels, but also reduces LDL-C by up to 25 %; the magnitude of the decrement in LDL-C varies with the formulation and dose employed.⁶⁵³

Niaspan[®], an extended-release formulation of niacin, reduces the incidence of niacininduced major side effects: flush and hepatotoxicity. Although its mechanisms are not fully understood, the effects of Niaspan[®] are thought to be due to an increase Apo A-I levels, a reduction in the rate of hepatic uptake of HDL particles, a shift in the distribution of the HDL subfractions, with and increase of HDL2 when compared to HDL3.⁴²² Data regarding the effect of extended-release niacin on ApoA-I metabolism are controversial. Niacin has been shown to increase the production rate of ApoA-I both in the liver and in the intestinal cells.^{422,424} In fact, niacin activates both MAP kinase and the PPAR transcription factors pathways, which affect ApoA-I production.¹¹² However, *in vitro* studies using hepatic cells and animal experiments with mice reported no effect of niacin on ApoA-I production rate, but a decreased in ApoA-I hepatic clerarance.^{654,655}

Furthermore niacin is the only commercially available agent known to specifically reduce circulating levels of Lp(a); this decrement may reach 30% or more in certain instances.⁶⁵⁶ Lp(a) is similar to LDL, but contains apo (a) in addition to ApoB-100 in its protein moiety. It plays an intricate role in the development of atherothrombosis and premature CHD when present at elevated plasma levels (>50 mg/dL), and/or when associated with elevated levels of LDL-C (>130 mg/dL).⁶⁵⁷

Despite being proven that extended-release niacin increases HDL-C levels in plasma, there are no studies regarding its effect on HDL function.

5.1.2 Aim

The aim of this study was to assess qualitative changes in the anti-oxidant activity of HDL, as well as in the titres of IgG aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies independently of the plasma reduction of the lipoprotein levels or HDL-C increase in patients treated with extended-release niacin.

5.1.3 Patients and methods

Study design

This exploratory phase II, randomized double blind placebo controlled, single cross-over study (EMR 64300-609) was investigator initiated and conducted in one center in Portugal: Department of Pharmacology, Faculty of Medical Sciences, Lisbon, Portugal.

The study was divided in two sequential treatment periods that had the same scheduled visits and assessments (Figure 48). The first treatment period started at V1 (week1) and the subjects eligible for enrolment had to meet all the protocol inclusion criteria and none of the exclusion criteria; in Visit 1 patients were randomized to placebo or Niaspan[®] for a total of twelve weeks. The first 7 weeks of each treatment period corresponded to the titration dose period, which was followed by a period of 5 weeks on maximum dose (1500mg of Niaspan[®])

or placebo). After 4 weeks of wash-out period and cross-over of treatment arms, Niaspan[®] or placebo were provided for an equivalent period (second treatment period). After a followup period (4 weeks after last visit of the second treatment period) a final assessment of safety and efficacy was performed.



Figure 48. Study design scheme.

The study had a screening visit up to 4 days before randomization (these two visits could be combined in the same evaluation day if all assessments required for the study were available). The first period of treatment included scheduled visits at weeks 1, 4, 8 and 13. Followed by a wash-out period and cross-over of the treatment groups that was scheduled for visit at week 17. The second period of treatment included scheduled visits at weeks 20, 24 and 29. The follow-up period and final visit were scheduled for week 33.

Niaspan[®] or placebo was administered orally once a day, at night. Subjects had an initial loading dose from weeks 1 till 8 (500 mg and 1000 mg daily), followed by a total of 5 weeks with maximum (1500 mg) dose, corresponding to the first period of treatment. After 4 weeks of wash-out and cross-over of treatment arms, Niaspan[®] or placebo were provided for an equivalent period (second period of treatment).

Study subjects

Patients were screened in 2009 and men and nonpregnant women who were \geq 18 years of age and with HDL-C \leq 40 mg/dL in men or HDL \leq 50 mg/dL in women and were included in this trial. No other dyslipidemic medication besides the study medication was used during the study course.

Exclusion criteria included a history of sensitivity to any of the components of the treatment drug; serious or unstable medical or psychological conditions that could compromise the patient's safety or successful trial participation; treatment with statins,

fibrates or anti-oxidant during the 8 weeks prior to enrolment; serum LDL-C > 180 mg/dL and TG > 200 mg/dL; clinically relevant CAD, type 2 diabetes or other relevant CVD; a history of active peptic ulcer; a history of active arterial hemorrhagic; a history of drug abuse (with the exception of alcohol abuse); creatinine clearance > 60 mL/min; total bilirubin \ge 2 times the upper limit of normal; AST and ALT \ge 3 times the upper limit of normal; and participation in another investigational drug trial within 30 days of trial enrolment.

All participants gave informed consent before any trial procedure was initiated. The relevant institutional review boards approved the trial protocol and any amendments, and the trial was performed in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and according to Good Clinical Practice guidelines.

Assessments

Blood assessments were carried out in the fasting state at baseline (before randomization to Niaspan[®] or placebo) and for the safety parameters (hematology and clinical chemistry) at week 17 and 33, and for target parameters at week 8, 12, 17, 24, 29 and 33. The target parameters included PON1 activity, serum nitric oxide metabolites (NO₂⁻ and NO₃⁻), total HDL-C, HDL sub-fractions 2 and 3, ApoA-I levels, IgG aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies

Biochemical parameters

Serum IgG aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies titters were measured by ELISAs and ApoA-I, total HDL-C, HDL2 and HDL3, PON1 activity and nitric oxide metabolites (NO_2^- and NO_3^-) levels were tested as described in methods.

Statistical analysis

The primary efficacy end point was the change of PON1 activity in serum and the analysis was performed based on the intention-to-treat and per protocol populations. Changes of PON1 activity from baseline to the end of the treatment periods were analyzed (within and between treatment groups), using Wilcoxon test. Mean changes and 95% confidence intervals were presented.

Secondary efficacy endpoint included changes in serum nitric oxide metabolites, lipid profile and IgG aHDL and ApoA-I antibodies, and were analyzed within and between treatment groups using Wilcoxon test. The secondary efficacy analysis was performed based on the intention-to-treat population. Pearson coefficients were used to analyze the correlation between changes in HDL-C and/or ApoA-I levels and the following variables: PON1 activity, serum nitric oxide metabolites levels and IgG aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies.

Sample size was calculated with SD for change in log-transformed PON1 activity values of 0.34 from a previous study. With a power of 80%, it was estimated that a total of 30 patients needed to be randomized.

Thus, assuming a 15% dropout rate, a minimum of 36 subjects were planned to be randomized.

Quantitative variables were described using mean, SD, median, range and 95% confidence interval when applicable. Qualitative variables were summarized by number of observations (n) and percentages (%). All statistical tests were two-tailed with a significance level of 5%.

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS (Version 21.0) software package.

Safety assessments included recording of treatment-emergent adverse events (adverse events that started or worsened during randomized treatment), hematologic and clinical chemistry measurements (performed in the same central laboratory), and physical examinations. All patients who received any study drug were included in the safety analysis, and safety data were summarized descriptively without statistical analysis.

5.1.4 Results

Study population and baseline characteristics

A total of 21 patients were enrolled as the study was interrupted earlier due to a lack of efficacy. Of the 21 patients enrolled and randomized, 4 patients discontinued treatment due to the occurrence of adverse events (2 from Niaspan[®] group and 2 from the placebo group). Since these 4 patients left the study before the occurrence of cross-over, only 17 patients completed and were taken into account for the efficacy analysis.

The baseline characteristics are summarized in Table 14 and were similar in both groups. There were 44% and 50% of patients, respectively in group placebo and Niaspan[®] who had a prior history of hypertension. The baseline lipid profile was comparable amongst the groups.

	Placebo	Niaspan [®]	р
	(n = 9)	(n = 8)	
Age (years)	49 ± 13	47 ± 11	0.57
Sex: female/male (n)	4 / 7	3 / 7	1.00
Ethnic origin: black/caucasian (n)	1/8	1/7	1.00
Weight (Kg)	78.2 ± 13.8	87.9 ± 17.5	0.22
Height (m)	1.69 ± 0.09	1.77 ± 0.11	0.12
BMI (Kg/m ²)	29.6 ± 4.6	28.6 ± 4.0	0.64
SBP (mmHg)	124.1 ± 17.1	133.5 ± 17.2	0.27
DBP (mmHg)	76.4 ± 12.9	79.8 ± 7.5	0.52
Medical History, N (%)			
Hypertension	4(44)	4 (50)	1.00
Cerebrovascular disease	0(0)	1 (12)	0.47
Others	5(56)	7(87)	0.29
Lipid profile (mg/dL)			
LDL-C	132.5 ± 31.2	141.5 ± 25.4	0.43
Total cholesterol	199.8 ± 27.6	206.2 ± 28.6	0.51
TG	127.5 ± 52.7	151.9 ± 67.9	0.25
VLDL-C	25.5 ± 10.5	30.5 ± 13.6	0.23
HDL-C	35.3 ± 7.7	34.3 ± 4.6	0.63
HDL2	7.4 ± 3.0	6.4 ± 1.7	0.23
HDL3	27.9 ± 5.2	27.9 ± 3.7	0.98
ApoA-I	135.9 ± 18.2	133.7 ± 11.6	0.69
Biological variables			
PON1 activity (U/L)	333.1 ± 101.8	331.3 ± 97.9	0.70
$NO_2 + NO_3 (\mu M)$	58.9 ± 37.0	55.8 ± 38.8	0.82
IgG aHDL (% p. control)	126.7 ± 67.2	128.3 ± 102.1	0.44
IgG aApoA-I (µg/mL)	0.37 ± 0.14	0.34 ± 0.10	0.55

Abbreviations: Body mass index (BMI); systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP), Low density lipoprotein-cholesterol (LDL-C); Triglycerides (TG); Very low density lipoprotein-cholesterol (VLDL-C); High density lipoprotein-cholesterol (HDL-C); Apolipoprotein A-I (ApoA-I); Paraoxonase 1 (PON1); nitric oxide metabolites (NO2 + NO3); anti-HDL antibodies (aHDL) and anti-ApoA-I antibodies (aApoA-I). Data were presented as mean ± SD. Differences between means were evaluated using Mann-Whitney t-test.

Flushing was reported as moderate/mild by 3 (37.5%) subjects in the extended-release niacin group and 1 (11.1%) in the placebo group, but none stopped the medication. Others adverse events include epigastric pain, dry mouth and headache also occurred at similar rates in both groups.

No significant differences were observed in the safety hematologic and clinical chemistry parameters assessed (transaminase, total bilirubin, creatinine, creatine kinase, electrolytes and uric acid) between the two study groups.

Effect of Niaspan® on lipid profile

Patients treated with extended-release niacin showed a decrease of VLDL-C (p = 0.04), TG (p = 0.04) and increase of HDL2 (p = 0.04) levels when compared to placebo at the end of treatment (Figure 49 A and B).



Figure 49. Effect of treatments on lipid profile. Percentage of change from baseline on low density lipoprotein-cholesterol (LDL-C), very low density lipoprotein-cholesterol (VLDL-C), total cholesterol (TC) and triglycerides (TG) levels at the end of 12 weeks of treatment (A). Percentage of change from baseline on total high density lipoprotein-cholesterol (HDL-C), HDL2, HDL3 and apolipoprotein A-I (ApoA-I) levels at the end of treatment (B) Bars show the means. Black bars represents placebo group and white bars the Niaspan[®] group. Differences between means were evaluated using Mann-Whitney t-test

Although LDL-C, total cholesterol, HDL-C and HDL3 levels did not differ between treatment groups in a statistically significant fashion, the levels of LDL-C, total cholesterol decrease and HDL-C and HDL3 increase when compared to placebo at the end of treatment

Moreover, the levels of total HDL-C and HDL3 subclass were positively associated with ApoA-I levels in both groups of study both at baseline and at the end of treatment (r = 0.73, p = 0.001 and r = 0.74, p = 0.0009, respectively). The HDL2 subclasses also showed a positive association with ApoA-I levels but only in placebo group at baseline and in extended -release niacin group at the end of treatment (r = 0.72, p = 0.001 and r = 0.65, p = 0.005, respectively).

Effect of Niaspan® on PON1 activity

PON1 activity of both groups was comparable at the baseline and no significant effect on PON1 activity was observed after extended-release niacin treatment in comparison to placebo (Figure 50).





No association was found between PON1 activity and the levels of total HDL-C, HDL2, HDL3 subclasses and ApoA-I in both groups at baseline or at the end of treatment.

Effect of Niaspan® on nitric oxide metabolites

No significant difference were observed on total nitric oxide metabolites (NO₂⁻ + NO₃⁻) levels between both treatments at the end of study (Figure 51), nor between mean NO₂⁻ and NO₃⁻ levels.



Figure 51. Serum nitric oxide metabolites $(NO_2^{-} + NO_3^{-})$ acording treatment groups at baseline and at the end of 12 weeks of treatment. Bars show the means ± SD. Black bars represents placebo group and white bars the Niaspan[®] group.

Effect of Niaspan® on titres of IgG aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies

Baseline IgG aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies titres were non-significantly different in the two groups of study. The level of IgG aApoA-I antibody increased 73% after 12 weeks of
treatment with extended-release niacin in comparison with placebo (p = 0.001) (Figure 52).

There was no significant variation regarding IgG aHDL antibodies in either groups.



Figure 52. Levels of IgG aHDL (A) and IgG aApoA-I (B) antibodies in both groups of study at baseline and at the end of 12 weeks of treatment. Bars show the means ± SD. Black bars represents placebo group and white bars the Niaspan® group. Differences between means were evaluated using an Mann-Whitney t test. ****p=0.009 represents the statistical comparison between Niaspan® and placebo group at the end of 12 weeks of treatment.

Although titres of IgG aHDL antibodies did not differ between treatment groups, there was a positive correlation between IgG aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies after 12 weeks of treatment with extended-release niacin (p = 0.03) (Figure 53 A). A positive correlation was observed between HDL2 and IgG aApoA-I antibodies (p = 0.03) after the 12 weeks of treatment with extended-release niacin, that was not observed at baseline, neither in the placebo group (Figure 53 B).

B)





Figure 53. Correlation (Spearman's rank test) between IgG aApoA-I and IgG HDL antibodies (A) and HDL2 levels (B) at the end of treatment in subject taking extended-release niacin.

Despite the fact that treatment did not alter PON1 activity a negative correlation was observed between PON1 activity and IgG aApoA-I antibody titres at baseline and at the end of treatment, in the group of subjects taking extended-release niacin (p = 0.02 and p = 0.01, respectively) (Figure 54).



Figure 54. Correlation (Spearman's rank test) between IgGaApoA-I antibodies and PON1 activity at baseline (A) and at the end of 12 weeks of treatment (B) in subject taking extended-release niacin.

5.1.5 Discussion

In this study levels of VLDL-C, TG decreases and HDL2 subclasses increased after treatment with extend release niacin when compared to placebo, however PON1 activity did not significantly increased. The main findings of this study was the enhancement of IgG aApoA-I antibodies at the end of 12 weeks of treatment with extend release niacin when compared with the placebo group. This results suggest that despite the concentration of HDL2 increase its protective capacity or functionality does not increase with extend release niacin, rather these increases resulted in a enhancement of the production of auto-antibodies against HDL components.

Previous studies suggest that bedtime niacin administration diminishes lipolysis and release of free fatty acids to the liver; this, in turn, leads to an abolition of the usual diurnal increase in plasma TG, which may result in diminished formation and secretion of TG in the VLDL fraction.^{417,418} It has been proposed that alterations in VLDL-C production by the liver limits plasma CETP activity which exchanges TGs in VLDL and LDL particles for cholesteryl esters in HDL particles, thus a reduction in free fatty acids could explain, at least in some part, the effects of niacin on VLDL-C, HDL-C and LDL-C. This study confirms the effect of extended-release niacin in reducing the TG, VLDL-C levels and increasing HDL2 subclasses.

Although treatment with extended-release niacin did not changed LDL-C, total cholesterol, HDL-C and HDL3 levels in a statistically significant fashion, the levels of LDL-C, total cholesterol decrease and HDL-C and HDL3 increase when compared to placebo. Moreover treatment with extended-release niacin did not change the ApoA-I levels as previously descried.^{422,424}

The lipid-modifying efficacy of niacin requires a minimum dose of 1000 mg/day, with the greatest lipid efficacy seen at the 2000 mg/day dose. Progressive increase in the dose of Niaspan[®] tablets by 500 mg/day at monthly intervals produced incremental reductions in LDL-C and ApoB levels each of approximately 5%, together with incremental increases in HDL-C of approximately 5% over the dose range of 500 mg to 2000 mg/day.⁶⁵⁸

In the present study the extend release niacin dose was escalated to 1500 mg/day in all patients that completed the study. The effect of the doses of 1500 mg, 1000 mg and 500 mg/day of extend release niacin, when analyzed separately showed that total HDL-C, HDL2, HDL3 and ApoA-I elevation were more marked in the lower dose group. Thus, the effect on total HDL-C, HDL2, HDL3 or ApoA-I by extend release niacin was found not to be dose dependent, in this study.

A recent study comparing the effect of niacin and ezetimebe on serum paraoxonase and arylesterase activity showed a significant reduction in both PON activities with ezetimide, but no change was observed in PON or arylesterase activity with niacin.⁶⁵⁹ Our study had similar results with no significant differences on PON1 activity after treatment with extended-release niacin or placebo.

Furthermore, niacin also improves endothelial dysfunction, measured by flow-mediated dilation (FMD) of the brachial artery and nitroglycerin-mediated endothelium-independent dilation (NMD), in patients with CAD and low HDL-C, but not with normal HDL-C.⁴³² In addition, extended-release niacin therapy improved the capacity of HDL to stimulate endothelial NO•, to reduce superoxide production, and to promote endothelial progenitor cell–mediated endothelial repair in patients with type 2 diabetes.⁴³¹ The present study did not show an increase in NO• production with niacin-treatment.

The effect of lipid modifying agents on antibodies toward HDL and its constituents had never been study. Interestingly, titres of IgG aApoA-I antibodies were significantly higher after 12 weeks of treatment with extended-release niacin in comparison with placebo. Although titres of IgG aHDL antibodies were not increased, they were positively associated with IgG aApoA-I antibodies. Furthermore, HDL2 was positively associated with IgG aApoA-I antibodies and PON1 activity was negatively associated on the group treated with extended-release niacin.

All together this data suggest that extended-release niacin may increase the levels of HDL2 subclasses but it did not improve the functionality of HDL. In fact, by increasing titers of IgG aApoA-I antibodies niacin may be is to increase the dysfunctionality HDL.

Nonetheless, there are several limitations to this study. First of all, this study had a small number of patients, the wash-out period of 4 weeks may not have been sufficient for the crossover of the treatments and the duration of treatment of 12 weeks may not have been sufficient. Finally, patients included in this study did not have an elevated cardiovascular risk, with exception of low HDL-C levels, but normal ApoA-I levels.

Niacin is the most effective medication in current clinical use for increasing HDL-C, however if this increase is translated in a increase of HDL function is not clear. This study suggests that the anti-oxidant properties of HDL are not induced by extend release niacin. Due to the already referred study limitations, these results should be viewed as hypothesisgenerating and will require replication in other study.

5.2 Prevention of atherosclerosis with atorvastatin in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE): a pilot study

5.2.1 Introduction

CVD accounts for a significant morbidity and mortality in patients with SLE⁵⁹⁴, with a frequency of 6.1 to 8.9 (varies with age) fold higher than in the normal population, even after correction for the traditional Framingham risk factors.⁶⁶⁰ Age at first MI occurs almost 20 years earlier than in the general population.⁶⁶¹

An association of atherosclerosis with disease-specific factors, such as prolonged steroid treatment, chronic inflammation and renal disease has been demonstrated in this population, ⁵⁹⁵⁻⁵⁹⁷ together with an atherogenic lipid profile, characterized by elevated levels of VLDL, TG and lower levels of HDL.⁵⁹⁸

Statins have been used extensively in clinical practice to reduce cardiovascular-related morbidity and mortality. This effect is partly mediated through beneficial effects on the lipid profile, in particularly lowering LDL-C, but accumulated evidences suggested that statins

exert immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory actions independently of their lipidlowering effects.^{662,663} These pleiotropic immunomodulatory properties of statins indicate that theses might have a therapeutic effect on autoimmunity and atherosclerosis, acting in these was on both factors for CVD in patients with SLE. Unfortunately, very few observational and interventional trials have evaluated the effect of statins in SLE, which makes routine statin therapy inappropriate in these patients

5.2.2 Aim

This study aimed at determining the effect of one year placebo controlled pilot trial with atorvastatin in some pro-atherogenic oxidant and inflammatory markers, as well as in the titres of antibodies towards HDL complex on SLE patients.

5.2.3 Patients and methods

Patients and study design

The study was designed as a pilot, randomised, double blind and placebo controlled. SLE patients were stratified by age (age <40 or >40 years) and randomised by computer generated numbers in a 1:1 ratio to receive 40 mg of oral atorvastatin daily or placebo. Between September 2006 and November 2008, consecutive SLE patients from the Leeds Connective Tissue Disease Clinic, who fulfilled the inclusion and exclusion criteria, were invited to participate in the study.

Inclusion criteria were 4 or more the ACR revised criteria^{587,588} for the classification of SLE, being 18 years of age, able to understand and provide informed consent and willingness to switch to atorvastatin if already on a different statin, unless contraindicated.

Exclusion criteria were inability or unwillingness to give informed consent, acute or chronic infections, uncontrolled heart failure, uncontrolled endocrine disease, uncontrolled hypertension, mal-absorption, acute liver disease, heavy alcohol intake, pregnancy or risk of pregnancy (not using appropriate contraception or planning pregnancy over the study period), breast feeding and previous statin intolerance.

The relevant hospital committee granted ethical approval (reference MREC 04/012). Patients were seen at baseline and then every 3 months for one year. At baseline case notes were reviewed with regards to traditional CVD risk factors, past and current medication, history of vascular occlusions (ischemic heart disease with or without MI, IS, peripheral vascular disease). At each visit, including baseline, patients underwent a physical examination and had their weight and blood pressure checked and women had a pregnancy test. At each visit routine blood samples were taken for full blood count, clotting screen including lupus anticoagulant, renal and liver function tests, lipid profile (TG, total cholesterol, LDL-C and HDL-C), IgG aCL. In addition research blood samples were taken in baseline and after one year of treatment for, -hsCRP, SAA, oxLDL β 2GP1, nitric oxide metabolites (NO₂⁻ + NO₃⁻), plasma 3-NT, TAC, PON1 activity and IgG aHDL and aApoAI antibodies.

Forty four patients were enrolled in the study. Of these 7 were already on a different statin and were switched to atorvastatin; therefore 37 SLE patients were randomized, 20 in the placebo arm and 17 in the atorvastatin arm. After randomisation 7 patients from the placebo arm and 7 from the atorvastatin arm dropped out or simply ceased attending. Final pre and post data were available for 17 patients in the atorvastatin arm, of whom 12 were statin naïve and 5 were statin pre-treated (simvastatin n=4, pravastatin n=1; switched to atorvastatin at study entry) and for 13 patients in the placebo arm.

Biochemical parameters

Serum IgG aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies titers were measured by ELISAs and plasma levels of 3-NT, hs-CRP and SAA, oxLDL β 2GPI complex and serum PON1 activity, TAC and nitric oxide metabolites (NO₂⁻ + NO₃⁻) levels were quantified as described in methods.

Statistical analysis

For categorical variables, Chi-squared test or Fisher's exact test were used. Univariate comparisons between baseline and one year of atorvastatin treatment for continuous variables was carried out by Mann-Whitney t-test paired. Statistical analysis was performed using the GraphPad Prism software, version 5 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, USA).

5.2.4 Results

Characteristics of the study subjects

Baseline demographic and clinical characteristics of the placebo and atorvastatin groups were matched (Table 15).

Regarding the biological variables measured all of them were comparable among the groups at baseline.

	Placebo	Atorvastatin	р
	(n = 13)	(n = 17)	
Age (years)	48 ± 10	55 ± 10	0.08
Sex: female/male (n)	13/0	17/0	1.00
Ethnic origin:	2 / 11	0 / 17	0.07
black/caucasian (n)	3/11	0/1/	
Disease duration (years)	15 ± 11	9 ± 8	0.10
BMI (Kg/m ²)	26.4 ± 4.0	26.5 ± 5.4	0.93
SBP (mmHg)	128.0 ± 21.2	125.0 ± 14.4	0.65
DBP mmHg)	79.0 ± 3.5	82.5 ± 24.8	0.62
Medical History N (%)			
Hypertension	8 (61.5)	11 (64.7)	1.00
Type 2 diabetes	0	1 (5.9)	1.00
Dyslipidemia	3 (23.1)	6 (35.2)	0.69
Medication N (%)			
Prednisolone	7 (53.8)	11 (64.7)	0.71
Hydroxycloroquine	7 (53.8)	8 (47.0)	1.00
Methotrexate	2 (15.4)	3 (17.6)	1.00
Anti-hypertensive agents	7 (53.8)	9 (52.9)	1.00
Warfarin	1 (7.7)	4 (23.5)	0.35
Aspirin	8 (61.5)	4 (23.5)	0.06
Laboratory features N (%)			
lg aCL > 20GPL	3 (23.1)	1 (5.9)	0.29
Lupus anticoagulant	2 (15.4)	1 (5.9)	0.56

Table 15. Demographic characteristics, clinical and laboratory data of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) randomized to placebo and atorvastatin group.

Abbreviations: Body mass index (BMI), systolic blood pressure (SBP); diastolic blood pressure (DBP); anticardiolipin (aCL); Data were presented as mean ± SD.

Changes in measured biological variables over 12 months

After one year of therapy with atorvastatin patients with SLE showed a significant decreases in total cholesterol (-22%), LDL-C (-37%), hs-CRP (-75 %) and oxLDL β 2GP1 (-18 %) levels, in comparison with the placebo group (Table 16).

No differenced were observed in SAA levels between atorvastatin and placebo group. 3-NT levels significantly increased in placebo group (+82%) in comparison with atorvastatin group.

Non-significant increases were observed in HDL-C (+0.3%), TAC (+6%) and PON1 activity (-6%) even decreased after on year of treatment with atorvastatin.

No statistical significant differences in the IgG aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies titres were observed after on year treatment in comparison with placebo, nevertheless the increase of the IgG aApoA-I antibodies in placebo group when compared with baseline was higher than in atorvastatin group.

	Placebo (n=14)			Atorvastatin (n=17)			р
	Baseline	After 1 year	Δ%	Baseline	After 1 year	Δ%	
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	186.9±66.5	212.7±39.4	+14	174.5±	3.2±0.6	-22	0.0008
LDL-C (mg/dL))	96.4±48.9	122.3±20.5	+27	96.4±37.7	60.7±23.12	-37	< 0.0001
HDL-C (mg/dL)	67.5±17.5	69.8±17.7	+3	56.9±26.5	57.1±19.9	+0.3	0.412
TG (mg/dL)	100.8±59.9	103.3±42.0	-3	103.3±42.0	93.2±47.4	-10	0.419
hs-CRP (µg/mL)	3.1±2.8	2.8±1.9	-9.	5.1±7.4	1.4±1.0	-75	0.001
SAA (µg/mL)	19.7±6.7	3.5±2.4	-82	19.5±10.0	4.7±4.3	-76	0.417
oxLDLβ ₂ GPI (units/mL)	2.7±0.6	3.1±0.6	+14	2.6±0.6	2.1±0.7	-18	0.003
NO3 (μM)	32.5±24.5	28.0±18.1	-14	23.9±14.8	21.3±13.9	-16	0.778
NO2 ⁻ (μM)	8.9±4.6	9.3±4.8	+5	11.7±5.9	10.9±4.1	-6	0.675
3-NT (nM)	3.5±8.0	6.6±2.0	+82	4.1±1.9	6.5±4.3	+15	0.005
TAC – Vit E analogue equivalent units (mM)	9.0±2.0	9.5±1.9	+6	9.1±2.1	9.7±1.7	+6	0.769
PON1 activity (U/L)	194.2±57.1	186.9±51.8	-4	203.9±45.4	192.8±45.5	-6	0.900
IgG aHDL antibodies (%p. control)	154.2±80.3	141.0±72.8	-8	110.4±35.8	100.9±51.2	-8	0.933
IgG aApoA-I antibodies (μg/mL)	1.0±0.3	2.1±1.6	+102	1.6±1.3	2.0±1.6	+23	0.072

 Table 16. Biological variables mesuared of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) randomized to placebo and atorvastatin group.

Abbreviations: Δ %: percentage difference; TG: triglycerides; Low density lipoprotein-cholesterol (LDL-C); High density lipoprotein-cholesterol (HDL-C); hs-CRP: high sensitive C-reactive protein; SAA: serum amyloid A; oxLDL β 2GPI: oxidised low density lipoprotein-beta 2 glycoprotein-I complex; NO₃⁻: nitrate; NO₂⁻: nitrite; 3-NT: 3-nitrotyrosine; TAC: total antioxidant capacity; PON1: paraoxonase 1; anti-HDL antibodies (aHDL) and anti-ApoA-I (aApoA-I) antibodies. Data are presented as mean ± SD. Differences between Δ % were evaluated using an Mann-Whitney t-test.

5.2.5 Discussion

In this study, levels of total cholesterol, LDL-C, hs-CRP and oxLDL β 2GP1 in SLE patients were reduced after one year of atorvastatin treatment. However, no changes were observed in HDL-C, PON1 activity and TAC after on year of treatment with atorvastatin.

The major effect of statins is the reduction of plasma levels of ApoB-containing lipoproteins, principally LDL (20-60%), with a modest raise of HDL-C levels (by 3% to 15%)^{199,} 371-373

Atorvastatin, reduces LDL-C from 35 to 61% over the dose range of 10 to 80 mg, as well as total cholesterol (19 to 45%) and TG (12 to 53%).⁶⁶⁴ The effect of atorvastatin on HDL-C is varies between unchanged or increases of approximately 2 to 7%.⁶⁶⁵ Some studies show that the increase of HDL-C is inversely related to the dose of atorvastatin (in the range of 20 to 80 mg/day), unlike any other statins.^{374,375}

Similarly to previous studies, our results show that atorvastatin significantly reduces total cholesterol (22%), LDL-C (37%) and triglyceride (10%) levels, however there were no changes in HDL-C levels.

With regards to the two inflammatory markers evaluated in this study, SAA and CRP, only the latter showed a significant post treatment changes. Even though the levels of SAA have also decreased significantly in relation to the baseline this effect cannot be attributed to treatment with statin because the same percentage decrease was observed in the placebo group.

Patients treated with atorvastatin seems to have lesser increase of 3-NT when compared to the placebo group (14% vs. 82%).

Statins seems to enhance the activity of HDL-associated enzymes as demonstrated by the increase in PON1 activity (5 to 14%).⁶⁶⁷⁻⁶⁶⁹ In the present study the PON1 activity decreased in both groups, probably due to the lack of change of HDL-C.

PON1 accounts for most of the HDL protective effect against LDL oxidation hence against atherosclerosis itself and its activity can be reduced in SLE as showed in previously chapters. To counteract this mechanism, β 2GPI, binds to oxLDL to form the covalent complex oxLDL β 2GPI. This complex is elevated in patients with APS, SLE¹³⁶ and chronic nephritis.⁵⁴² Here we show that atorvastatin treatment induces a reduction of serum concentration of the oxLDL β 2GPI complex in keeping with its anti-atherogenic effect.

Regarding the antibody titres atorvastatin did not have any significant effect, however IgG aApoA-I antibodies increased in both groups though this was more pronounced in the placebo group that also had a lower baseline titre.

5.3 Influence of Rosuvastatin on the oxidative modification of LDL in type 2 diabetes

5.3.1 Introduction

Premature vascular disease is a well-established complication of type 2 diabetes largely promoted by oxidative stress.²⁷ There is considerable evidence that hyperglycaemia might result directly, or indirectly in the generation of AGEs and/or ROS via the activation of diacylglycerol-PKC pathway in vascular cells, and to increased glucose flux through the aldose reductase pathway.⁶⁷⁰ These pathways have been associated with activation of NF-κB

and increased release of O_2^{\bullet} which play a role in glucose-mediated inflammation and oxidative stress.⁶⁷¹

Several studies have indicated that patients with type 2 diabetes tend to have more oxidative internal environments than those of healthy normal subjects. Therefore, these patients show an increased ROS generation and oxidative stress markers, such as elevated lipid peroxidation levels with an accompanying decrease in anti-oxidant levels.⁶⁷²⁻⁶⁷⁴

As in other diseases associated with atherosclerotic cardiovascular complications, enhanced serum levels of oxLDL and oxLDL β 2GP1 complexes have been reported.^{675,676} In addition, the redox imbalance becomes overwhelmed due to an impaired PON1-mediated HDL anti-oxidant function also observed in these patients.^{646,677}

Observations that statins may lower oxLDL β2GP1 complexes⁶⁷⁵ and increased PON1 activity⁶⁷⁸ may suggest that the pleiotropic effects of this class of drugs may prevent or decrease the oxidative modification of LDL possibly by an antioxidant mechanism. In this study we intended to test this hypothesis; rosuvastatin is a hydrophilic statin with multiple sites that form a strong interaction with the enzyme HMG-CoA reductase and therefore provide more potent enzyme inhibition than other statins.⁶⁷⁹ In fact, rosuvastatin has an affinity for the HMG-CoA reductase active site that is 104-fold higher than that of HMG-CoA. In addition, rosuvastatin has an advantage compared to some other statins (like atorvastatin), since it is not metabolized predominantly through CYP3A4, eliminating many potential drug-drug interactions. Furthermore, rosuvastatin together with pitavastatin are the most potent compounds within this class to increase HDL-C (6-12%).¹⁹⁹

5.3.2 Aim

This study aimed at determining the effect of rosuvastatin in prevent or decrease the oxidative modification of LDL possibly by an antioxidant mechanism mediated by PON1-HDL, as well as in the titres of antibodies towards HDL complex in patients with type 2 diabetes.

5.3.3 Patients and methods

Patients and study design

The study was an open label 2:1 assignment of consecutive diabetes patients into a oral rosuvastatin (10 mg/day for six weeks) arm or an observational arm respectively. Consecutive type 2 diabetes patients attending the endocrinology and diabetes outpatient

clinic at the Hospital General de Occidente, Zapopan, Mexico from August 2007 to October 2008 were invited take part in the study.

The diagnosis of type 2 diabetes mellitus relied on the presence of abnormal FGP (normal range 70–110 mg/dL), abnormal glucose tolerance test, chronic hyperglycaemia and metabolic disturbances of lipid, carbohydrate and protein metabolism due to defects in insulin production or activity.⁶⁸⁰

Exclusion criteria were macroalbuminuria or kidney disease, CVD (MI, angina, peripheral arterial disease and stroke), concomitant systemic acute or chronic inflammatory diseases (bacterial or viral infections), concomitant acute or chronic autoimmune disorders, pregnancy, statin use within 6 months of the study and intolerance to statins.

Diabetes patients with hypertension, obesity, dyslipidemia and microalbuminuria were accepted within the study: hypertension was defined as a systolic blood pressure > 130 mmHg or diastolic blood pressure > 85 mmHg and obesity as a BMI > 27 for the Mexican population.⁶⁸¹ One hundred and twenty five patients were eligible for the study. After the 2:1 assignment, 86 patients entered the rosuvastatin arm and 39 the observational arm. In the rosuvastatin group 10 patients did not complete the study (4 discontinued intervention for minor side effects and 6 did not attend follow-up) and in the observational group 4 did not attend follow-up. The final study included 111 patients of whom 76 completed 6 weeks' treatment with 10 mg daily of oral rosuvastatin and 35 did not receive rosuvastatin and were reviewed at the end of the same time span.

Patients on rosuvastatin were instructed not to modify other regular medications throughout the study. Counselling with a dietician was available to all patients throughout the study.

Physicians involved in the care of the patients were not involved in data analysis and interpretation. The study (#141/07) was approved by the ethics committee of the Hospital General de Occidente, Zapopan (Mexico), performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and all patients signed informed consent before entering the study.

Fasting blood samples were obtained from all participants at study entry (baseline sample) and from all patients who completed the 6 weeks interventional and observational arms. Sera for routine chemistry, lipid profile, oxLDL β 2GPI complexes, nitric oxide metabolites (NO₂⁻ + NO₃⁻), 3-NT, ADMA levels, PON1 activity, IgG aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies were stored frozen at -70°C until tested at the end of the study. Routine

chemistry and lipid profile investigation were performed at the Hospital General de Occidente clinical laboratory in Mexico with standard laboratory methods (Wiener Laboratories, Rosario, Argentina). The measurement of HbA1C was determined by the NycoCard HbA1C (Axis-Shield PoC AS, Oslo, Norway) (reference range 4.5–6.3%). All other parameters were quantified at the Pharmacology Laboratory of Faculty of Medical Sciences of Lisbon.

Biochemical parameters

Serum IgG aHDL, aApoA-I antibodies titers, 3-NT, oxLDL β 2GPI complexes and ADMA levels were measured by ELISAs, and serum PON1 activity and nitric oxide metabolites (NO₂⁻ and NO₃⁻) levels were tested as described in methods.

Statistical analysis

For categorical variables, Chi-squared test or Fisher's exact test were used; for continuous variables and to analyse the effect of rosuvastatin treatment on study variables, paired t-test and Wilcoxon Signed Rank Sum test (when applicable) were used. Statistical analysis was performed using the GraphPad Prism software, version 5 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, USA).

5.3.4 Results

Characteristics of the study subjects

Demographics, baseline clinical characteristics and serological data of rosuvastatin and observational arms were shown in Table 17. Both groups were matched on demographic and baseline clinical characteristics. Regarding the serological data all of them were comparable, with exception of total cholesterol and LDL-C levels that were higher on the observational arm.

	Type 2 diab			
	Without Rosuvastatin (n = 35)	With rosuvastatin (n = 76)	р	
Age (years)	56 ± 7	54 ± 12	0.620	
Sex: female/male (n)	27/8	53/23	0.499	
Disease duration (years)	7.6 ± 6.1	7.9 ± 7.0	0.972	
Medical History N (%)				
Hypertension (%)	5 (14.2)	18 (23.7)	0.319	
Obesity (%)	22 (62.8)	33 (43.4)	0.237	
Medication N (%)				
Oral glucose lowering drugs	30 (85.7)	61 (80.2)	0.600	
Insulin	5 (14.3)	13 (17.1)	0.788	
Anti-hypertensive agents	6 (17.1)	7 (9.2))	0.339	
Serological data				
FGP (mg/dL)	137.1 ± 67.9	160.2 ± 82.8	0.253	
HbA1c (%)	7.5 ± 1.9	7.6 ± 2.8	0.927	
CRP (mg/L)	2.8 ± 0.3	2.5 ± 0.3	0.191	
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	224.5 ± 22.6	199.5 ± 36.1	0.0002	
TG (mg/dL)	227.7 ± 120.3	222.2 ± 125.5	0.529	
LDL-C (mg/dL)	141.4 ± 26.7	120.1 ± 31.9	0.001	
HDL-C (mg/dL)	45.5 ± 9.3	46.1 ± 9.7	0.717	

 Table 17. Demographic characteristics, clinical and serological data of patients with type 2 diabetes randomized to receive or not rosuvastatin.

Abbreviations: Fasting plasma glucose (FPG); Glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c); C-reactive proten (CRP) Triglycerides (TG). Data are presented as mean ± SD. Differences between means were evaluated using an Mann-Whitney t-test paired.

Effect of six weeks treatment with rosuvastatin

After six weeks of therapy with rosuvastatin, patients with type 2 diabetes showed a significant decreases in total cholesterol (-25%), TG (-27%) and LDL-C (-37%) in comparison with the observational group (Table 18).

 Table 18. Effect of six weeks treatment with rosuvastatin in serological data of patients with type 2 diabetes

	Without rosuvastatin (n = 35)		With rosuvastatin (n = 76)		
	After 6 weeks	Δ%	After 6 weeks	Δ%	Р
FGP (mg/dL)	147.5 ± 71.4	+5	154.6 ± 76.0	-3	0.415
HbA1c (%)	7.3 ± 2.0	-3	7.6 ± 2.1	+0.6	0.336
CRP (mg/L)	2.9 ± 0.3	+5	2.4 ± 0.3	-4	0.502
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	212.2 ± 20.4	-6	150.2 ± 34.6	-25	<0.0001
TG (mg/dL)	210.0 ± 100.2	-8	161.6 ± 78.1	-27	0.021
LDL-C (mg/dL)	126.1. ± 25.3	-12	76.2 ± 34.7	-37	<0.0001
HDL-C (mg/dL)	45.2 ± 9.7	+0.5	45.3 ± 8.7	-1.6	0.726

Abbreviations: Δ %: percentage difference; Fasting plasma glucose (FPG); Glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c); C-reactive proten (CRP) Triglycerides (TG). Data are presented as mean ± SD. Differences between Δ % were evaluated using an Mann-Whitney t-test paired.

The rosuvastatin arm showed significant decrements in IgG aApoA-I antibodies (-5.%), NO_3^- (-33.5%) and NO_2^- (-25.5%) levels in comparison with the observational group.

Nevertheless the decrease of oxLDL β 2GPI complexes and 3-NT levels were more marked on patients treated with rosuvastatin it was not statistical significant in comparison with observation arm. No changes were noted in the others biological variables analyzed (Table 19).

 Table 19. Biological variables mesuared after treatment with or without rosuvastatin on patients with type 2 diabetes.

	Without rosuvastatin (n = 35)			With rosuvastatin (n = 76)			
	Baseline	After 6 weeks	Δ%	Baseline	After 6 weeks	Δ%	Р
oxLDLβ₂GPI (units/mL)	0.83±0.6	0.76±0.8	-8.3	0.79±0.5	0.53±0.3	-32.6	0.248
PON1 activity (U/L)	205.1±70.6	206.5±78.7	+0.5.	176.4±71.1	176.8±76.9	+0.2	0.880
lgG aHDL antibodies (%p. control)	130.2±62.3	125.6±47.6	-3.5	132.6±51.1	124.3±43.8	-6.3	0.953
IgG aApoA-I antibodies (µg/mL)	0.91±0.4	1.3±0.8	+40.5	1.1±0.7	1.0±0.6	-5.0	0.03
NO ₃ (μM)	33.8±28.2	32.8±22.7	-3.1	53.7±32.2	35.7±13.9	-33.5	0.006
NO ₂ (μM)	20.2±12.2	20.8±14.2	+3.2	23.5±13.8	17.5±10.5	-25.5	0.043
3-NT (nM)	8.3±10.4	8.5±9.7	+1.8	9.9±10.8	8.1±9.2	-17.9	0.142
ADMA (µM)	0.56±0.1	0.53±0.1	-4.7	0.59±0.1	0.56±0.1	-4.6	0.422

Abbreviations: Δ %: percentage difference; oxLDL β 2GPI: oxidised low density lipoprotein-beta 2 glycoprotein-l complex; PON1: paraoxonase 1; aHDL: anti-HDL antibodies; aApoA-I: anti-ApoA-I antibodies; NO₃⁻: nitrate; NO₂⁻: nitrite; 3-NT: 3-nitrotyrosine; ADMA: Asymmetric dimethylarginine. Data are presented as mean ± SD. Differences between Δ % were evaluated using an Mann-Whitney t-test.

5.3.5 Discussion

The interventional arm of this study showed that 10 mg of oral rosuvastatin daily for 6 weeks was associated with a significant reduction of the IgG aApoA-I antibodies, nitric oxide metabolites levels(NO_2^- and NO_3^-) as well as with the expected decrease in total cholesterol, LDL-C and TG.

Contrary to what has been shown in previous clinical trials we did not observe an increase in HDL-C levels, neither PON1 activity was enhanced by rosuvastatin treatment and therefore could not have contributed its specific antioxidant capacity towards the decrease of oxLDLβ2GPI; likewise CRP did not show a significant decrease after treatment and therefore an anti-inflammatory effect of rosuvastatin seemed less likely.

On the other hand a significant decrease of nitric oxide metabolites (NO_2^- and NO_3^-) may represent a beneficial effect of rosuvastatin as it indirectly indicates a reduction in reactive nitrogen species contributing to LDL oxidation.

In the course of inflammation endothelial and mononuclear cells generate more O_2^{\bullet} as well as more NO• that behaves as a pathogenic mediator or as a cytotoxic molecule.⁶²⁵ Most of NO• mediated pathogenicity depends on the formation of secondary intermediates such as ONOO⁻ and •NO₂ that are more reactive and toxic than NO• per se. In fact ONOO⁻ interacts with CO₂ to give ONOOCO₂⁻ that will induce nitration of tyrosine residues in proteins.⁶²³ Measurement of nitrated proteins therefore represents a fingerprint of the interaction of O₂^{•-} with NO•.⁶²⁶ Although rosuvastatin appears to reduce the levels of 3-NT, this reduction was not statistically significant in comparison with the observational arm possibly due to the fact that treatment with rosuvastatin for six weeks was not enough.

Protein and lipid modifications may increase the immunogenicity of intracellular antigens by generations of neo-epitopes, leading to a break in immune tolerance⁶²⁶ This may be the cause for the production of antibodies toward HDL complex. Another reason may simply be due to an increase in antigen level. Although HDL-C levels did not increased with rosuvastatin treatment, it improved the redox imbalance characteristic of these patients, which may have contributed the decrease in antibody titres towards ApoA-I, in contrast to raise of 40.5% in the observational arm.

An apparent limitation of this study may have been the exclusion of type 2 diabetes patients with cardiovascular, cerebrovascular and peripheral vascular disease and patients with abnormal kidney function and macroalbuminuria, thus our population may have a low degree of *vascular inflammation* and therefore marginal or no changes in the markers of inflammation (CRP, ADMA and NT). Another limitation of this study could have been the short period of treatment and the dosage of rosuvastatin that may have limited the effects on HDL.

Our study could not pointedly show that rosuvastatin prevent the oxidative modification of LDL, notably by reducing the oxLDL β2GPI complex concentration and possibly by an antioxidant mechanism mediated by PON1-HDL. Nevertheless, the reduction of the oxidative internal environments by rosuvastatin may have limited the increase of antibodies toward HDL complex demonstrating the benefit of treatment with rosuvastatin.

155

6. OVERALL DISCUSSION AND PROPOSALS FOR FUTURE DIRECTIONS

A possible humoral response towards HDL has been put forward with this thesis. We first tested this hypothesis in patients with autoimmune disease such SLE, using this disease as a clinical model, due to its enhanced atherogenesis and increased immune (including humoral) activity. We were able to show the presence of both IgG aHDL and aApoA-I antibodies in these patients and showed an association with decreased PON1 activity and TAC, increased biomarkers of endothelial dysfunction (NO• metabolites, adhesion molecules: VCAM-1 and ICAM-1) and an increase in disease-related damage and activity.

Another group has recently confirmed this work and its importance has now been recognised, with the recent suggestion by the American College of Rheumatology that aHDL antibodies could be a new biomarker for vascular disease in the context of systemic autoimmune condictions.⁶⁸²

The recognition that the overall background mechanism could be the same outside the spectrum of autoimmune diseases, led us to test whether patients with atherosclerosis-related clinic events such as CAD, IS and type 2 diabetes, would also have these antibodies. Indeed, we found increased titres of IgG aHDL, aApoA-I and aPON1 antibodies in these patients. Moreover, the presence of these antibodies was again associated with a pro-inflammatory and pro-oxidant profile: higher NO•metabolites, VCAM-1, ICAM-1, 3-NT and lower PON1 activity.

Our results suggest that aHDL antibodies were associated with modifications in some known anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory HDL-related functions. However, these findings were cross-sectional clinical studies, which cannot explain whether the antibodies were causal to the clinical events or whether they were merely an epiphenomenon.

With the overall goal to demonstrate the biologic activity and consequent pathogenic capacity of the antibodies towards the HDL complex we set up a protocol for the antibody isolation from serum of different patients.

These antibodies inhibited PON1 activity in a dose-dependent fashion. Moreover the anti-inflammatory effect of HDL on cytokine-induced production of VCAM-1 was abrogated in more than 80% by aHDL antibodies isolated from patients in an *in vitro* experiment. The aHDL antibodies also abolished the HDL-induced angiogenesis by reducing VEGF levels in 65%. These set of experiments provide evidence for a biologic activity and consequent possible pathogenic potential of these antibodies.

To our knowledge, outside the autoimmune context, only one group has studied aApoA-I antibodies but in a different clinical context. They showed a higher prevalence of aApoA-I antibodies in patients with acute coronary syndrome, which were associated with a decrease of ApoA-I plasmatic levels, an increase of oxLDL levels.⁶¹⁵ They suggested that these antibodies increase the atherosclerotic plaque vulnerability⁶¹⁷ and could be used as a prognostic marker in MI.⁶¹⁶ Their work complemented ours but they have only addressed aApoA-I antibodies in a specific group of acute ischemic heart disease patients.

Finally, we investigated the effect of current available pharmacologic agents for increasing HDL-C concentrations on the antibody titres in comparison with placebo in double blind randomized trials with extended release niacin and atorvastatin, and an open label study with a rosuvastatin arm and an observational arm. It should be noted that none of the three trials was designed for the study of a direct effect on the antibodies towards HDL complex titres as the primary endpoint (except for the trial with extended release niacin).

Niacin is the most effective medication in current clinical use for increasing HDL-C, however it is not clear that this increase is translated into a raise of HDL functions. Our results suggest that the extend release niacin may increase levels of total HDL-C or HDL subclasses but it did not induce an enhancement of HDL anti-oxidant properties and improvement of endothelial dysfunction mediated by HDL. In fact, by increasing the titres of aApoA-I antibodies, niacin may hamper the protective effect of HDL.

Statins only modestly raise HDL-C levels and even then there are differences between their potency to increase HDL-C.

Our results do not show an increase of HDL-C levels by atorvastatin neither rosuvastatin. However both statins were associated with a reduction of serum oxidative modification of LDL notably by reducing the oxLDL β2GPI complex concentration. This antioxidant effect was not through a PON1-mediated mechanism. Nevertheless, the reduction of the oxidative internal environment by atorvastatin and rosuvastatin may have limited the increase of aApoA-I antibodies. Even so, our data seems to suggest that rosuvastatin may potential be more beneficial that atorvastatin in preventing the increase in antibody production.

Due to the previously mentioned limitations of our trials some of these results might be viewed as hypothesis-generating and will require replication in others studies.

In clinical trials as well as in the current clinical practice, quantification of total HDL-C is still the test of choice because its a simple determination, easily performed and affordable,

160

particularly in the context of such a common condition. Nevertheless levels of HDL-C often do not translate HDL functions.

The presence of biologic active antibodies towards HDL complex might explain why many patients have low levels of HDL-C and why others remain at risk for clinical events, despite having normal lipid levels. The concept that these antibodies may contribute either to the long-term evolution of atherosclerotic lesions or to the triggering of a clinical event can also explain the heterogeneity found in individual patients and large cohorts when it comes to risk factors and clinical outcomes. Furthermore, recent failures in improving clinical outcomes using drugs that increase HDL concentration such as CETP inhibitors may be explained through the eventual presence of these antibodies.

In conclusion, we have established that aHDL antibodies are a newly found family of auto-antibodies, directed towards different structures in the HDL complex and with the capability to interfere with their biologic functions. Confirmation of the high pathogenic potential of these antibodies may lead to the identification of a new biomarker of vascular disease risk, whilst presenting itself as a novel target for a different treatment approach.

The "clinical phase" of this line of research allowed us to identify differences in the pattern of serum aHDL antibodies according to the different manifestations of patients with vascular disease. However these were cross-sectional studies, and we intend to create prospective cohorts of patients in order to confirm whether antibodies towards HDL components will be in fact a risk factor for atherosclerosis progression and vascular events.

Whether some or all of the aHDL antibodies, by causing HDL dysfunction, can induce atheroma progression or plaque instability in such a way as to have clinical significance will be the final, overall aim of this project.

From the basic research point of view, we intent to investigate what are the structural changes (e.g.oxidation, glycation, nitrosilation) or each identified antigen in the HDL complex that are responsible for this acquired humoral response.

Furthermore, we would like to determinate the role of these antibodies in the functional maturation and activation of human dendritic cells and macrophages as they represent an important part of the immune cellular response in atherogenesis.

As one of the main challenges in the development of new HDL raising drugs will be to insure that any change in HDL metabolism triggered by the new drugs also improves the

161

atheroprotective function of HDL, functional tests for HDL will be critical. The confirmation that aHDL antibodies cause HDL dysfunction may prove to be an indirect way of testing HDL functionality.

REFERENCES

- Roger VL, Go AS, Lloyd-Jones DM, Adams RJ, Berry JD, Brown TM, Carnethon MR, Dai S, Simone G, Ford ES, Fox CS, Fullerton HJ, Gillespie C, Greenlund KJ, Hailpern SM, Heit JA, Ho PM, Howard VJ, Kissela BR, Kittner SJ, Lackland DT, Lichtman JH, Lisabeth LD, Makuc DM, Marcus GM, Marelli A, Matchar DB, McDermott MM, Meigs JB, Moy CS, Mozaffarian D, Mussolino ME, Nichol G, Paynter NP, Rosamond WD, Sorlie PD, Stafford RS, Turan TN, Turner MB, Wong ND and Wylie-Rosett J. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics--2011 Update : A Report From the American Heart Association Circulation. 2011;123:e18-e209.
- Scholte OP, Reimer WJM, Gitt AK, Boersma E, Simoons ML, Cardiovascular Diseases in Europe. Euro Heart Survey and National Registries of Cardiovascular Diseases and Patient Management—2004. Sophia Antipolis; European Society of Cardiology; 2004.
- 3. Murray CJ, Lopez AD. Alternative projections of mortality and disability by cause 1990–2020: Global Burden of Disease Study. Lancet 1997;349:1498–504).
- Classics in arteriosclerosis research: On experimental cholesterin steatosis and its significance in the origin of some pathological processes by N. Anitschkow and S. Chalatow, translated by Mary Z. Pelias, 1913 Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1983, 3:178-182.
- 5. Gofman JW, Lindgren F, Elliott H, Mantz W, Hewitt J and Herring V. The role of lipids and lipoproteins in atherosclerosis. Science. 1950;111(2877):166-71.
- 6. Gofman JW. Serum lipoproteins and the evaluation of atherosclerosis. Ann NY Acad Sci. 1956;64(4):590-5.
- 7. Brown MS and Goldstein JL. Lipoprotein metabolism in the macrophage: implications for cholesterol deposition in atherosclerosis. Annu Rev Biochem. 1983;52:223–261).
- 8. Ross R and Glomset JA. Atherosclerosis and the arterial smooth muscle cell: proliferation of smooth muscle is a key event in the genesis of the lesions of atherosclerosis. Science 1973; 180: 1332–1339.
- 9. Ross R. The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: a perspective for the 1990s. Nature 1993; 362(6423):801–809.
- 10. Cines DB, Pollak ES, Buck CA, Loscalzo J, Zimmerman GA, McEver RP, Pober JS, Wick TM, Konkle BA, Schwartz BS, Barnathan ES, McCrae KR, Hug BA, Schmidt AM and Stern DM, Endothelial cells in physiology and in the pathophysiology of vascular disorders. Blood 1998; 91(10): 3527-61.
- 11. Gross PL and Aird WC, The endothelium and thrombosis. Semin Thromb Hemost 2000; 26(5): 463-78.
- 12. Bombeli T, Mueller M and Haeberli A, Anticoagulant properties of the vascular endothelium. Thromb Haemost 1997; 77(3): 408-23.
- 13. Davignon J, Ganz P. Role of endothelial dysfunction in atherosclerosis. Circulation. 2004; 109:III-27–III-32.
- 14. Behrendt D and Ganz P. Endothelial Function: From Vascular Biology to Clinical Applications. Am J Cardiol. 2002;90:40L–48L
- 15. Goldstein JL & Brown MS. The LDL receptor. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2009,29:431-438.
- 16. Reaven PD, Witztum JL. Oxidized low density lipoproteins in atherogenesis: role of dietary modification. Annu Rev Nutr 1996;16:51-71.
- 17. Cheng AY, Leiter LA. Implications of recent clinical trials for the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III guidelines. Curr Opin Cardiol. 2006;21:400-404.
- 18. Jain MK, Ridker PM. Anti-inflammatory effects of statins: clinical evidence and basic mechanisms. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2005; 4:977-987.
- 19. Gordon DJ, Rifkind BM. High-density lipoprotein—the clinical implications of recent studies. N Engl J Med 1989;321:1311–6.
- 20. Goldstein JL & Brown MS. The LDL receptor. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2009,29:431-438.
- 21. Frick MH, Elo O, Haapa K, Heinonen OP, Heinsalmi P, Helo P, Huttunen JK, Kaitaniemi P, Koskinen P, Manninen V, Maenpaa H, Malkonen M, Manttari M, Norola S, Pasternack A, Pikkaraunen J, Romo M, Sjoblom T and Nikkila EAN. Helsinki Heart Study: primary-prevention trial with gemfibrozil in middle-aged men with dyslipidemia. Safety of treatment, changes in risk factors, and incidence of coronary heart disease Engl. J. Med. 1987;317:1237-1245

- 22. Cordain L, Eaton SB, Sebastian A, Mann N, Lindeberg S, Watkins BA, O'Keefe JH, Brand-Miller J. Origins and evolution of the Western diet: health implications for the 21st century. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005:81:341-54.
- 23. Fontana L, Meyer TE, Klein S and Holloszy JO. Long-term calorie restriction is highly effective in reducing the risk for atherosclerosis in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101: 6659–6663.
- 24. UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Effect of intensive blood-glucose control with metformin on complications in overweight patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 34). Lancet 1998;352:854-65.
- 25. UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). Lancet 1998;352:837-53.
- 26. National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) final report.Circulation 2002;106:3143-421.
- 27. Deedwania PC: Diabetes and vascular disease: Common links in the emerging epidemic of coronary artery disease Am J Cardiol 2003, 91:68-71.
- 28. Morrish NJ, Wang SL, Stevens LK, Fuller JH, Keen H. Mortality and causes of death in the WHO Multinational Study of Vascular Disease in Diabetes. Diabetologia 2001;44:S14-21.
- 29. Beckman JA, Creager MA, Libby P (2002) Diabetes and atherosclerosis: epidemiology, pathophysiology, and management. JAMA 287(19):2570–2581.
- 30. Mooradian AD: Cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes mellitus Arch Intern Med 2003, 163:33-40.
- 31. Kannel WB, McGee DL. Diabetes and cardiovascular risk factors: the Framingham study. Circulation 1979;59:8-13.
- Haffner SM, Lehto S, Rönnemaa T, Pyörälä K, Laakso M. Mortality from coronary heart disease in subjects with type 2 diabetes and in nondiabetic subjects with and without prior myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 1998;339:229-34.
- 33. de Vegt F, Dekker JM, Ruhé HG, et al. Hyperglycaemia is associated with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in the Hoorn population: the Hoorn Study. Diabetologia 1999;42: 926-31.
- 34. Wilson PWF, Kannel WB. Epidemiology of Hyperglycemia and Atherosclerosis in Hyperglycemia, Diabetes and Vascular Disease. New York: Oxford University Press; 1992, pp. 21–9.
- 35. Stamler J, Vaccaro O, Neaton JD, Wentworth D: Diabetes, other risk factors, and 12-yr cardiovascular mortality for men screened in the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. Diabetes Care. 1993;16:434–444.
- 36. Fruchart JC, Nierman MC, Stroes ES, Kastelein JJ, Duriez P. New risk factors for atherosclerosis and patient risk assessment. Circulation. 2004;109:III15-9.
- 37. Pandolfi A, Cetrullo D, Polishuck R, Alberta MM, Calafiore A, Pellegrini G, Vitacolonna E, Capani F, Consoli A. Plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 is increased in the arterial wall of type II diabetic subjects. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2001;21:1378-82.
- 38. Prospective studies collaboration. Cholesterol, diastolic blood pressure, and stroke: 13,000 strokes in 450,000 people in 45 prospective cohorts. Lancet 1995; 346: 1647–1653.
- 39. Kranzhofer R, Browatzki M, Schmidt J and Kubler W: Angiotensin II activates the proinflammatory transcription factor nuclear factor-kappaB in human monocytes Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1999, 257:826-828.
- 40. Han Y, Runge MS and Brasier AR: Angiotensin II induces interleukin- 6 transcription in vascular smooth muscle cells through pleiotropic activation of nuclear factor-kappa B transcription factors Circ Res 1999, 84:695-70.
- 41. Valkonen M, Kuusi T. Passive Smoking Induces Atherogenic Changes In Low-Density Lipoprotein. Circulation 1998;97:2012-6.
- 42. Morrow JD, Frei B, Longmire AW, Gaziano JM, Lynch SM, Shyr Y, et al. Increase In Circulating Products Of Lipid Peroxidation (F2-Isoprostanes) In Smokers -- Smoking As A Cause Of Oxidative Damage. N Engl J Med 1995;332:1198-203.

- 43. Blann AD, Steele C, McCollum CN. The influence of smoking on soluble adhesion molecules and endothelial cell markers. Thromb Res. 1997, 85:433-438.
- 44. Bazzano LA, He J, Muntner P, Vupputuri S, Whelton PK. Relationship Between Cigarette Smoking And Novel Risk Factors For Cardiovascular Disease In The United States. Ann Intern Med 2003;138:891-7.
- 45. Hambrecht R, Gielen S. Essay: Hunter-gatherer to sedentary lifestyle. Lancet. 2005;36:S60-1.
- 46. Schnyder G, Roffi M, Flammer Y, Pin R and Hess OM: Effect of homocysteine-lowering therapy with folic acid, vitamin B12, and vitamin B6 on clinical outcome after percutaneous coronary intervention: the Swiss Heart Study: a randomized controlled trial JAMA 2002, 288:973-97.
- 47. Ungvari Z, Csiszar A, Edwards JG, Kaminski PM, Wolin MS, Kaley G and Koller A: Increased superoxide production in coronary arteries in hyperhomocysteinemia. Role of tumor necrosis factor-α, NAD(P)H oxidase, and inducible nitric oxide synthase Arterioscls Thromb Vasc Biol 2003, 23:418-424.
- 48. Epstein SE, Zhu J, Najafi AH, Burnett MS. Insights into the role of infection in atherogenesis and in plaque rupture. Circulation. 2009;119:3133-41.
- 49. Elkind M. Infectious burden: a new risk factor and treatment target for Atherosclerosis. Infect Disord Drug Targets. 2010 April 1; 10(2): 84–90.
- 50. Xu Q, Willeit J, Marosi M, Kleindienst R, Oberhollenzer F, Kiechl S, Stulnig T, Luef G, Wick G.Association of serum antibodies to heat-shock protein 65 with carotid atherosclerosis. Lancet 1993;341:255–259.
- 51. Tuomisto TT, Binder BR, Ylä-Herttuala S. Genetics, genomics and proteomics in atherosclerosis research. Ann Med. 2005;37:323–332.
- 52. Sorenson TI, Neilsen GG, Andersen PK, et al. Genetic and environmental influences on premature death in adult adoptees. N Engl J Med. 1988;318:727–732.
- 53. Goldbourt U, Neufeld HN. Genetic aspects of arteriosclerosis. Arteriosclerosis. 1986;6:357–377.
- 54. Hansson GK, Libby P, Schonbeck U, Yan ZQ. Innate and adaptive immunity in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Circ Res 2002; 91:281–91.
- 55. Binder CJ, Chang MK, Shaw PX et al. Innate and acquired immunity in atherogenesis. Nat Med 2002; 8:1218–26.
- 56. Hansson GK Inflammation, atherosclerosis and coronary artery disease. N Engl J Med. 2005;352:49–59.
- 57. Rader DJ & Brewer B. Lipids, apolipoproteins and lipoproteins U. Goldbourt et al. (ed .), Genetic Factors in Coronary Heart Disease © Kluwer Academic Publishers 1994.
- 58. Mahley RW, Innerarity TL, Rall SC Jr, Weisgraber KH. Plasma lipoproteins: apolipoprotein structure and function. J Lipid Res. 1984 Dec 1;25(12):1277-94.
- 59. Krauss RM, Burke DJ. Identification of multiple subclasses of plasma lipoproteins in normal humans. J. Lipid Res. 1981;23:97–104.
- 60. Schumaker VN & Adams GH. Circulating Lipoproteins. Annual Review of Biochemistry. 1969: 38: 113-136.
- 61. Olson RE 1998 Discovery of the Lipoproteins, Their Role in Fat Transport and Their Significance as Risk Factors. J Nutr 128:439S-443S.
- 62. Gustafson A. Studies on human serum very low density lipoproteins. Acta Med. Stand. Suppl. 1966;446: 1.
- Rader DJ & Hobbs HH. Disorders of Lipoprotein Metabolism. In Harrison's Principles of Internal Medicine. A. S. Fauci, D. L. Kasper, D. L. Longo, E. Braunwald, S. L. Hauser, J. L. Jameson, and J. Loscalzo, editors. McGraw-Hill, New York.2008;2416–2429.
- 64. Goldberg IJ, Scheraldi CA, Yacoub LK, Saxena U and Bisgaier CL. Lipoprotein ApoC-II activation of lipoprotein lipase. Modulation by apolipoprotein A-IV. J Biol Chem. 1990;265:4266-72.
- 65. Hussain MM. A proposed model for the assembly of chylomicrons. Atherosclerosis. 2000;148(1):1-15.
- Hussain MM, Fatma S, Pan X and Iqbal J. Intestinal lipoprotein assembly. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2005;16(3):281 5.
- 67. Gibbons GF. Assembly and secretion of hepatic very-low-density lipoprotein. Biochem J. 1990;268:1-13.
- 68. Borchardt RA & Davis RA. Intrahepatic assembly of very low density lipoproteins. Rate of transport out of the endoplasmic reticulum determines rate of secretion. J Biol Chem. 1987;262:16394-402.

- 69. Olofsson SO & Boren J. Apolipoprotein B: a clinically important apolipoprotein which assembles atherogenic lipoproteins and promotes the development of atherosclerosis. J Intern Med.2005;258:395-410.
- 70. Friedman G, Gavish D, Vogel T, Eisenberg S. Cellular metabolism of human plasma intermediate-density lipoprotein (IDL). Biochim Biophys Acta. 1990;1044(1):118-26.
- Horton JD, Shah NA, Warrington JA, et al. Combined analysis of oligonucleotide microarray data from transgenic and knockout mice identifies direct SREBP target genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100:12027-12032.
- 72. Goldstein JL & Brown MS. Regulation of the mevalonate pathway. Nature. 1990;343:425-430.
- 73. Lewis GF & Rader DJ. New insights into the regulation of HDL metabolism and reverse cholesterol transport. Circ Res. 2005;96:1221–1232.
- 74. Krimbou L, Marcil M, Genest J, 2006. New insights into the biogenesis of human high-density lipoproteins. Curr Opin Lipidol, 17:258–67.
- 75. Kannel WB, Dawber TR, Kagan A, Revotskie N and Stokes J. Factors of risk in the development of coronary heart disease— six year follow-up experience. The Framingham Study. Ann. Intern. Med. 1961;55:33–50.
- Wilson PW, Garrison RJ, Castelli WP, Feinleib M, Mc-Namara PM and Kannel WB. Prevalence of coronary heart disease in the Framingham Offspring Study: role of lipoprotein cholesterols. Am. J. Cardiol. 1980;46:649–654.
- 77. Framingham Heart Study: Design, Rationale, and Objectives. September 20; Available at: http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/about/ framingham/design.htm. Accessed May 27, 2008.
- Baigent C, Keech A, Kearney PM, Blackwell L, Buck G, Pollicino C, Kirby A, Sourjina T, Peto R, Collins R, Simes R; Cholesterol Treatment Trialists' (CTT) Collaborators. Efficacy and safety of cholesterol-lowering treatment: prospective meta-analysis of data from 90,056 participants in 14 randomised trials of statins. Lancet. 2005;366:1267–1278.
- 79. Scanu AM & Edelstein C. HDL: bridging past and present with a look at the future. FASEB J. 2008;22:4044–4054, Movva R & Rader DJ. Laboratory assessment of HDL heterogeneity and function. Clin. Chem. 2008;54:788–800.
- 80. Gao X, Yuan S, Jayaraman S, Gursky O. Differential stability of high-density lipoprotein subclasses: effects of particle size and protein composition. J Mol Biol. 2009;387:628–638.
- 81. Heinecke JW. The HDL proteome:a marker and perhaps mediator of coronary artery disease. J Lipid Res 2009; 50: S167-171.
- 82. Hoofnagle AN, Heinecke JW. Lipoproteomics: using mass spectrometry-based proteomics to explore the assembly, structure and function of lipoproteins. J Lipid Res 2009; 50:1967-1975.
- 83. Davidson, WS, Silva, RA, Chantepie, S., Lagor, WR, Chapman, MJ, and Kontush, A. (2009) Proteomic analysis of defined HDL subpopulations reveals particle-specific protein clusters: Relevance to antioxidative function. Arterioscler., Thromb., Vasc. Biol. 29, 870–876.
- 84. Davidsson P, Hutlhe J, Fagerberg B and Camejo G. Ptroteomic of apoliproteins and associated proteins from plasma high-density lipoproteins. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2010; 30:156-163.
- 85. Gordon SM, Deng J, Lu LJ and Davidson WS. Proteomic characterization of human plasma high density lipoprotein fractionated by gel filtration chromatography. J. Proteome Res. 2010;9:5239–5249.
- 86. Vaisar T, Pennathur S, Green PS, Gharib SA, Hoofnagle AN, Cheung MC, Byun J, Vuletic S, Kassim S, Singh P, Chea H, Knopp RH, Brunzell J, Geary R, Chait A, Zhao XQ, Elkon K, Marcovina S, Ridker P, Oram JF and Heinecke JW. Shotgun proteomics implicates protease inhibition and complement activation in the antiinflammatory properties of HDL. J. Clin. Invest. 2007;117: 746–756.
- 87. Gordon SM, Deng J, Lu LJ, et al. Proteomic characterization of human plasma high density lipoprotein fractionated by gel filtration chromatography. J Proteome Res 2010; 9:5239–5249.
- 88. Cheung MC & Albers JJ. Characterization of lipoprotein particles isolated by immunoaffinity chromatography. Particles containing A-I and A-II and particles containing A-I but no A-II. J. Biol. Chem. 1984;259:12201–12209.
- 89. Rye KA, Bursill CA, Lambert G, Tabet F and Barter PJ. The metabolism and anti-atherogenic properties of HDL J Lipid Res. 2009; 50 (Supplement):S195–S200.

- 90. Tabet F & Rye KA. High-density lipoproteins, inflammation and oxidative stress Clinical Science. 2009;116:87–98.
- Huang Y, von Eckardstein A, Wu S, Maeda N, Assmann G. A solely apolipoprotein E containing plasma lipoprotein with electrophoretic gamma-mobility takes up cellular cholesterol. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1994;91:1834–8.
- von Eckardstein A, Huang Y, Wu S, Saadat Sarmadi A, Schwarz S, Steinmetz A, Assmann G. Lipoproteins containing apolipoprotein A-IV but not apolipoprotein A-I take up and esterify cell-derived cholesterol in plasma. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1995;15:1755–63.
- 93. Asztalos BF, Tani M and Schaefer EJ. Metabolic and functional relevance of HDL subspecies. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2011;22(3):176-185.
- Rosenson RS, Brewer HB Jr, Chapman MJ, Fazio S, Hussain MM, Kontush A, Krauss RM, Otvos JD, Remaley AT, Schaefer EJ. HDL measures, particle heterogeneity, proposed nomenclature, and relation to atherosclerotic cardiovascular events. Clin Chem. 2011;57(3):392-410.
- 95. Davidson WS & Thompson TB. The structure of apolipoprotein A-I in high density lipoproteins. J. Biol. Chem. 2007;282, 22249–22253.
- 96. Brewer HB Jr, Fairwell T, Kay L, Meng M, Ronan R, Law S, Light JA. Human plasma pro-ApoA-I: isolation and amino-terminal sequence. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1983;113(2):626-32.
- 97. Boguski, M. Freeman, N.A. Elshourbagy, On computer-assisted analysis of biological sequences: proline punctuation, consensus sequences, and apolipoprotein repeats, J. Lipid Res. 27 (1986) 1011–1034.
- Segrest JP, Jones MK, De Loof H, Brouillette CG, Venkatachalapathi YV and Anantharamaiah GM. The amphipathic helix in the exchangeable apolipoproteins: a review of secondary structure and function, J. Lipid Res. 1992;33:141–166.
- 99. Nestruck AC, Suzue G, Marcel YL Studies on the polymorphism of human apolipoprotein A-I. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1980 Jan 18;617(1):110-21.
- 100.Brewer HB Jr, Ronan R, Meng M, Bishop C. Isolation and characterization of apolipoproteins A-I, A-II, and A-IV. Methods Enzymol. 1986;128:223-46.
- 101. Fidge NH, Nestel PJ, Ishikawa T, Reardon M and Billington T. Turnover of apoproteins A-I and A-II of high density lipoprotein and the relationship to other lipoproteins in normal and hyperlipidemic individuals. Metabolism. 1980;29:643-653.
- 102. Brouillette CG, Anantharamaiah GM, Engler JA and Borhani DW. Structural models of human apolipoprotein A-I: A critical analysis and review. Biochim Biophys Acta.2001;1531:4–46.
- 103.Thomas MJ, Bhat S and Sorci-Thomas MG. Three-dimensional models of HDL apoA-I: implications for its assembly and function. J. Lipid Res. 2008;49:1875–1883.
- 104.Segrest JP, Jones MK, Klon AE, Sheldahl CJ, Hellinger M, De Loof H, Harvey SC. A detailed molecular belt model for apolipoprotein A-I in discoidal high density lipoprotein. J Biol Chem. 1999;274:31755–31758.
- 105. Davidson WS & Hilliard GM. The spatial organization of apolipoprotein A-I on the edge of discoidal high density lipoprotein particles: a mass spectrometry study. J. Biol. Chem. 2003;278:27199 27207.
- 106.Silva RA, Hilliard GM, Li L, Segrest JP and Davidson WS. A mass spectrometric determination of the conformation of dimeric apolipoprotein A-I in discoidal high density lipoproteins. Biochemistry. 2005;44:8600 8607.
- 107.Wu Z, Gogonea V, Lee X, Wagner MA, Li XM, Huang Y, Undurti A, May RP, Haertlein M et al. The double super helix model of high density lipoprotein. J. Biol. Chem. 2009;284:36605–36619.
- 108.Borhani DW, Rogers DP, Engler JA and Brouillette CG. Crystal structure of truncated human apolipoprotein A-I suggests a lipid-bound conformation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 1997;94:12291-12296.
- 109.Silva RA, Huang R, Morris J, Fang J, Gracheva EO, Ren G, Kontush A, Jerome WG, Rye KA, Davidson WS. Structure of apolipoprotein A-I in spherical high density lipoproteins of different sizes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008; 105:12176-81.
- 110.Eggerman TL, Hoeg JM, Meng MS, Tombragel A, Bojanovski D and Brewer HB Jr. Differential tissue-specific expression of human apoA-I and apoA-II. J Lipid Res. 1991;32:821-828.

- 111.Blanco-Vaca F, Escolà-Gil JC, Martín-Campos JM, Julve J. Role of apoA-II in lipid metabolism and atherosclerosis: advances in the study of an enigmatic protein. J Lipid Res. 2001;42(11):1727-39.
- 112.Zannis VI, Kan HY, Kritis A, Zanni E and Kardassis D. Transcriptional regulation of the human apolipoprotein genes. Front Biosci. 2001;6:D456-504.
- 113.Desvergne B, Michalik L and Wahli W. Transcriptional regulation of metabolism. Physiol Rev. 2006;86(2):465-514.
- 114. Labeur C, Lambert G, Van Cauteren T, Duverger N, Vanloo B, Chambaz J, et al. Displacement of apo A-I from HDL by apo AII or its C-terminal helix promotes the formation of pre-beta1 migrating particles and decreases LCAT activation. Atherosclerosis 1998;139:351-362.
- 115. Durbin DM and Jonas A. (1999) Lipid-free apolipoproteins A-I and Apo A-II promote remodeling of reconstitued high density lipoproteins and alter their reactivity with lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase. J Lipid Res., 40, 2293-2302.
- 116.Vowinkel T, Mori M, Krieglstein CF, Russell J, Saijo F, Bharwani S, Turnage RH, Davidson WS, Tso P, Granger DN and Kalogeris TJ. Apolipoprotein A-IV inhibits experimental colitis. Journal of Clinical Investigation. 2004;114:260-269.
- 117.Qin XF, Swertfeger DK, Zheng SQ, Hui DY and Tso P. Apolipoprotein AIV: A potent endogenous inhibitor of lipid oxidation. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 1998;274:H1836-H1840.
- 118.Ostos MA, Conconi M, Vergnes L, Baroukh N, Ribalta J, Girona J, Caillaud JM, Ochoa A and Zakin MM. Antioxidative and antiatherosclerotic effects of human apolipoprotein AIV in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology. 2001;21:1023-102816.
- 119.Recalde D, Ostos MA, Badell E, Garcia-Otin AL, Pidoux J, Castro G, Zakin MM and Scott-Algara D. Human apolipoprotein A-IV reduces secretion of proinflammatory cytokines and atherosclerotic effects of a chronic infection mimicked by lipopolysaccharide. Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology. 2004;24:756-761.
- 120.Schaap FG, Rensen PC, Voshol PJ, Vrins C, van der Vliet HN, Chamuleau RA, Havekes LM, Groen AK and van Dijk KW. ApoAV reduces plasma triglycerides by inhibiting very low density lipoprotein-triglyceride (VLDL-TG) production and stimulating lipoprotein lipase-mediated VLDL-TG hydrolysis. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(27):27941-7.
- 121.Asztalos BF, Schaefer EJ, Horvath KV, Yamashita S, Miller M, Franceschini G and Calabresi L. Role of LCAT in HDL remodeling: investigation of LCAT deficiency states. J Lipid Res. 2007;48(3):592-9.
- 122. Meyers NL, Wang L and Small DM. Apolipoprotein C-I binds more strongly to phospholipid/triolein/water than triolein/water interfaces: a possible model for inhibiting cholesterol ester transfer protein activity and triacylglycerol-rich lipoprotein uptake. Biochemistry. 2012;51(6):1238-48.
- 123. Weisgraber KH, Mahley RW, Kowal RC, Herz J, Goldstein JL and Brown MS. Apolipoprotein C-I modulates the interaction of apolipoprotein E with beta-migrating very low density lipoproteins (beta-VLDL) and inhibits binding of beta-VLDL to low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein.J Biol Chem. 1990;265(36):22453-9.
- 124.Kei AA, Filippatos TD, Tsimihodimos V and Elisaf MS. A review of the role of apolipoprotein C-II in lipoprotein metabolism and cardiovascular disease. Metabolism. 2012;61(7):906-21.
- 125.Ooi EM, Barrett PH, Chan DC and Watts GF. Apolipoprotein C-III: understanding an emerging cardiovascular risk factor. Clin Sci (Lond). 2008;114(10):611-24.
- 126.Rassart E, Bedirian A, Do Carmo S, Guinard O, Sirois J, Terrisse L and Milne R. Apolipoprotein D. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2000;1482:185–198.~
- 127. Eichinger A, Nasreen A, Kim HJ and Skerra A. Structural insight into the dual ligand specificity and mode of high density lipoprotein association of apolipoprotein D. J Biol Chem. 2007;282:31068–31075.
- 128.Kalman J, McConathy W, Araoz C, Kasa P and Lacko AG. Apolipoprotein D in the aging brain and in Alzheimer's dementia. Neurol Res 2000;22:330-6.
- 129. Nguyen D, Dhanasekaran P, Nickel M, Nakatani R, Saito H, Phillips MC and Lund-Katz S. Molecular basis for the differences in lipid and lipoprotein binding properties of human apolipoproteins E3 and E4. Biochemistry. 2010;49(51):10881-9.

- 130.Granér M, Kahri J, Varpula M, Salonen RM, Nyyssönen K, Jauhiainen M, Nieminen MS, Syvänne M andTaskinen MR. Apolipoprotein E polymorphism is associated with both carotid and coronary atherosclerosis in patients with coronary artery disease. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2008;18(4):271-7.
- 131.Kim J, Basak JM and Holtzman DM. The role of apolipoprotein E in Alzheimer's disease. Neuron. 2009;63(3):287-303.
- 132.Morton RE. Cholesteryl ester transfer protein and its plasma regulator: lipid transfer inhibitor protein. Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 1999;10:321–327.
- 133.Lagor WR, Brown RJ, Toh S-A, Millar JS, Fuki IV, De la Llera-Moya M, Yuen T, Rothblat G, Billheimer JT and Rader DJ. Overexpression of apolipoprotein F reduces HDL cholesterol levels in vivo. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 2009;29:40–46.
- 134.Shi T, Iverson GM, Qi JC, Cockerill KA, Linnik MD, Konecny P, Krilis SA. Beta 2-Glycoprotein I binds factor XI and inhibits its activation by thrombin and factor XIIa: loss of inhibition by clipped beta 2-glycoprotein I. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004; 101: 3939–3944.
- 135. Maiti SN, Balasubramanian K, Ramoth JA, Schroit AJ. Beta-2-glycoprotein 1-dependent macrophage uptake of apoptotic cells. Binding to lipoprotein receptor-related protein receptor family members. J Biol Chem. 2008; 283:3761–3766.
- 136.Kobayashi K, Matsuura E, Liu Q, Furukawa J, Kaihara K, Inagaki J, Atsumi T, Sakairi N, Yasuda T, Voelker DR, Koike T. A specific ligand for beta(2)-glycoprotein I mediates autoantibody-dependent uptake of oxidized low density lipoprotein by macrophages. J Lipid Res. 2001; 42: 697–709.
- 137.Hasunuma Y, Matsuura E, Makita Z, Katahira T, Nishi S, Koike T. Involvement of beta 2-glycoprotein I and anticardiolipin antibodies in oxidatively modified low-density lipoprotein uptake by macrophages. Clin Exp Immunol 1997;107:569-573.
- 138.Bas de Laat H, Derksen RH and de Groot PG. β2-glycoprotein I, playmaker in the antiphospholipid syndrome. Clin Immunol. 2004;112:161–168.
- 139.Wyatt A, Yerbury J, Poon S, Dabbs R and Wilson M. Chapter 6: The chaperone action of Clusterin and its putative role in quality control of extracellular protein folding. Adv Cancer Res. 2009;104:89–114.
- 140.Trougakos IP & Gonos ES. Regulation of clusterin/apolipoprotein J, a functional homologue to the small heat shock proteins, by oxidative stress in aging and age-related diseases. Free Radic Res. 2006;40:1324–1334.
- 141. Duchateau PN, Pullinger CR, Orellana RE, Kunitake ST, Naya-Vigne J, O'Connor PM, Malloy MJ and Kane JP. Apolipoprotein L, a new human high density lipoprotein apolipoprotein expressed by the pancreas. Identification, cloning, characterization, and plasma distribution of apolipoprotein L. J Biol Chem. 1997;272(41):25576-82.
- 142. Vanhollebeke B, Truc P, Poelvoorde P, Pays A, Joshi PP, Katti R, Jannin JG and Pays E. Human Trypanosoma evansi infection linked to a lack of apolipoprotein L-I. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(26):2752-6.
- 143.Xu N & Dahlbäck B. A novel human apolipoprotein (apoM). J Biol Chem. 1999;274(44):31286-90.
- 144. Wolfrum C, Poy MN and Stoffel M. Apolipoprotein M is required for prebeta-HDL formation and cholesterol efflux to HDL and protects against atherosclerosis. Nat Med. 2005;11(4):418-22.
- 145.Primo-Parmo SL, Sorenson RC, Teiber J and La Du BN. The human serum paraoxonase/arylesterase gene (PON1) is one member of a multigene family. Genomics. 1996;33(3):498-507.
- 146.Davies HG, Richter RJ, Keifer M, Broomfield CA, Sowalla J and Furlong CE. The effect of the human serum paraoxonase polymorphism is reversed with diazoxon, soman and sarin. Nat. Genet. 1996;14 334–336
- 147.Jakubowski H. Calcium-dependent humam serum homocysteine thiolactone hydrolase. The Jounal of Biological Chemistry. 2000;275:6 3957-3962.
- 148.Billecke S, Draganov D, Counsell R, Stetson P, Watson C, Hsu C and La Du BN. Human serum paraoxonase (PON1) isozymes Q and R hydrolyze lactones and cyclic carbonate esters. Drug Metab Dispos. 2000;28(11):1335-42.
- 149.Biggadike K, Angell RM, Burgess CM, Farrell RM, Hancock AP, Harker AJ, Irving WR, Ioannou C, Procopiou PA, Shaw RE, Solanke YE, Singh OM, Snowden MA, Stubbs RJ, Walton S and Weston HE. Selective plasma hydrolysis of glucocorticoid gammalactones and cyclic carbonates by the enzyme paraoxonase: an ideal plasma inactivation mechanism. J. Med. Chem. 2000; 43, 19-21).

- 150. Draganov DI & La Du BN. Pharmacogenetics of paraoxonases: a brief review. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol. 2004;369:78–88.
- 151.Reddy ST, Wadleigh DJ, Grijalva V, Ng C, Hama S, Gangopadhyay A, Shih DM, Lusis AJ, Navab M, Fogelman AM. Human paraoxonase-3 is an HDL-associated enzyme with biological activity similar to paraoxonase-1 protein but is not regulated by oxidized lipids. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2001;21(4):542-7.
- 152.Ng CJ, Wadleigh DJ, Gangopadhyay A, Hama S, Grijalva VR, Navab M, Fogelman AM and Reddy ST. Paraoxonase-2 is a ubiquitously expressed protein with antioxidant properties and is capable of preventing cell-mediated oxidative modification of low density lipoprotein. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(48):44444-9.
- 153.Draganov DI, Teiber JF, Speelman A, Osawa Y, Sunahara R and La Du BN. Human paraoxonases (PON1, PON2, and PON3) are lactonases with overlapping and distinct substrate specificities. J Lipid Res. 2005;46(6):1239-47
- 154. Draganov DI. Lactonases with organophosphatase activity: structural and evolutionary perspectives. Chem Biol Interact. 2010;187(1-3):370-2
- 155.Précourt LP, Amre D, Denis MC, Lavoie JC, Delvin E, Seidman E and Levy E. The three-gene paraoxonase family: physiologic roles, actions and regulation. Atherosclerosis. 2011;214(1):20-36.
- 156.Furlong CE, Cole TB, Jarvik GP and Costa LG. Pharmacogenomic considerations of the paraoxonase polymorphisms. Pharmacogenomics. 2002;3(3):341-8.
- 157.Jarvik GP, Rozek LS, Brophy VH, Hatsukami TS, Richter RJ, Schellenberg GD and Furlong CE. Paraoxonase (PON1) phenotype is a better predictor of vascular disease than is PON1(192) or PON1(55) genotype. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2000;20(11):2441-7.
- 158.Garin MC, James RW, Dussoix P, Blanché H, Passa P, Froguel P and Ruiz J. Paraoxonase polymorphism Met-Leu54 is associated with modified serum concentrations of the enzyme. A possible link between the paraoxonase gene and increased risk of cardiovascular disease in diabetes. J Clin Invest. 1997;99(1):62-6.
- 159.Gaidukov L, Rosenblat M, Aviram M and Tawfik DS. The 192R/Q polymorphs of serum paraoxonase PON1 differ in HDL binding, lipolactonase stimulation, and cholesterol efflux. J Lipid Res. 2006;47(11):2492-502).
- 160.Wang M, Lang X, Zou L, Huang S and Xu Z. Four genetic polymorphisms of paraoxonase gene and risk of coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis based on 88 case-control studies. Atherosclerosis. 2011;214(2):377-385.
- 161.Lohmueller KE, Pearce CL, Pike M, Lander ES and Hirschhorn JN. Meta-analysis of genetic association studies supports a contribution of common variants to susceptibility to common disease. Nat Genet. 2003;33(2):177-182.
- 162. Wheeler JG, Keavney BD, Watkins H, Collins R and Danesh J. Four paraoxonase gene polymorphisms in 11212 cases of coronary heart disease and 12786 controls: meta-analysis of 43 studies. Lancet. 2004;363(9410):689-95.~
- 163.Lawlor DA, Day IN, Gaunt TR, Hinks LJ, Briggs PJ, Kiessling M, Timpson N, Smith GD and Ebrahim S. The association of the PON1 Q192R polymorphism with coronary heart disease: findings from the British Women's Heart and Health cohort study and a meta-analysis. BMC Genet. 2004;5:17).
- 164. Mackness B, Gershan KD, Turkie W, Lee E, Roberts DH, Hill E, Roberts C, Durrington P and Mackness M. Paraoxonase status in coronary heart disease: are activity and concentration more important than genotype? Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2001;21:1451–1457.
- 165. Mackness B, Durrington P, McElduff P, Yarnell J, Azam N, Watt M and Mackness M. Low paraoxonase activity predicts coronary events in the Caerphilly Prospective Study Circulation. 2003;107(22):2775-9.
- 166.Costa LG, Vitalone A, Cole TB and Furlong CE. Modulation of paraoxonase (PON1) activity. Biochem Pharmacol. 2005;69(4):541-50.
- 167.Senti M, Tomas M, Vila J, Marrugat J, Elosua R, Sala J and Masia R. Relationship of age-related myocardial infarction risk and Gln/Arg 192 variants of the human paraoxonase1 gene: the REGICOR study. Atherosclerosis. 2001;156:443-9.
- 168.Schrader C & Rimbach G. Determinants of paraoxonase 1 status: genes, drugs and nutrition.Curr Med Chem. 2011;18(36):5624-43.
- 169.Nygard O, Vollset SE, Refsum H, Brattstro"m L, Ueland PM. Total homocysteine and cardiovascular disease. J Intern Med 1999;246:425–54.

- 170.Jakubowski H & Goldman E. Synthesis of homocysteine thiolactone by methionyl-tRNA synthetase in cultured mammalian cells. FEBS Lett. 1993;317:237–240.
- 171.Głowacki R, Bald E and Jakubowski H Identification and origin of Nε-homocysteinyl-lysine isopeptide in humans and mice. Amino Acids. 2010;39(5):1563-9.
- 172. Jakubowski H. Anti-N-homocysteinylated protein autoantibodies and cardiovascular disease. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2005;43(10):1011–1014.
- 173.Sauls DL, Lockhart E, Warren ME, Lenkowski A, Wilhelm SE and Hoffman M. Modification of fibrinogen by homocysteine thiolactone increases resistance to fibrinolysis: a potential mechanism of the thrombotic tendency in hyperhomocysteinemia. Biochemistry. 2006;45:2480–2487.
- 174.LacinskiM, SkorupskiW, Cieslinski A, Sokolowska J, TrzeciakWH and Jakubowski H. Determinants of homocysteine-thiolactonase activity of the paraoxonase-1 (PON1) protein in humans. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand). 2004;50(8):885–893.
- 175. Domagała TB, ŁacinskiM, TrzeciakWH, Mackness B, MacknessMI and Jakubowski H. The correlation of homocysteine-thiolactonase activity of the paraoxonase (PON1) protein with coronary heart disease status. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand). 2006;52(5):4–10.
- 176.Zannis VI, Chroni A, Krieger M. Role of apoA-I, ABCA1, LCAT, and SR-BI in the biogenesis of HDL. J Mol Med. 2006;84:276 –94.
- 177.Rousset X, Vaisman B, Amar M, Sethi AA, Remaley AT. Lecithin: cholesterol acyltransferase from biochemistry to role in cardiovascular disease. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabestes Obes 2009; 16:163-171.
- 178.Goyal J, Wang K, Liu M, Subbaiah PV. Novel function of lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase. Hydrolysis of oxidized polar phospholipids generated during lipoprotein oxidation. J Biol Chem 1997;272:16231–9.
- 179.Vohl, M. C., Neville, T. A., Kumarathasan, R., Braschi, S., and Sparks, D. L. A novel lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase antioxidant activity prevents the formation of oxidized lipids during lipoprotein oxidation. Biochemistry. 1999;38:5976-5981.
- 180.McCall MR, Tang JY, Bielicki JK and Forte TM. Inhibition of lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase and modification of HDL apolipoproteins by aldehydes. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1995;15(10):1599-606.
- 181.Bielicki JK, Knoff LJ, Tribble DL and Forte TM. Relative sensitivities of plasma lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase, platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolase, and paraoxonase to in vitro gas-phase cigarette smoke exposure. Atherosclerosis. 2001;155(1):71-8.
- 182.Kiziltunç A, Akçay F, Polat F, Kuşkay S and Sahin YN. Reduced lecithin: cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) and Na+, K+, ATPase activity in diabetic patients. Clin Biochem. 1997;30(2):177-82.
- 183.Nobecourt E, Davies MJ, Brown BE, Curtiss LK, Bonnet DJ, Charlton F, Januszewski AS, Jenkins AJ, Barter PJ and Rye KA. The impact of glycation on apolipoprotein A-I structure and its ability to activate lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase. Diabetologia. 2007;50(3):643-53.
- 184.Liao F, Lusis AJ, Berliner JA, Fogelman AM, Kindy M, de Beer MC and de Beer FC. Serum amyloid A protein family. Differential induction by oxidized lipids in mouse strains. Arterioscler Thromb. 1994;14(9):1475-9.
- 185.Charles MA & Kane JP. New molecular insights into CETP structure and function: a review. J Lipid Res. 2012;53(8):1451-8
- 186.Nicholls SJ, Brewer HB, Kastelein JJ, Krueger KA, Wang MD, Shao M, Hu B, McErlean E, Nissen SE. Effects of the CETP inhibitor evacetrapib administered as monotherapy or in combination with statins on HDL and LDL cholesterol: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2011;306(19):2099-109.
- 187.Lamarche B, Uffelman KD, Carpentier A, Cohn JS, Steiner G, Barrett PH, Lewis GF. Triglyceride enrichment of HDL enhances in vivo metabolic clearance of HDL apo A-I in healthy men. J Clin Invest 1999;103:1191–1199.
- 188.Rashid S, Barrett PH, Uffelman KD, Watanabe T, Adeli K and Lewis GF. Lipolytically modified triglycerideenriched HDLs are rapidly cleared from the circulation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2002;22:483–487.
- 189. Moestrup SK, Nielsen LB. The role of the kidney in lipid metabolism. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2005;16:301–306.
- 190. Inazu A, Jiang XC, Haraki T, Yagi K, Kamon N, Koizumi J, Mabuchi H, Takeda R, Takata K, Moriyama Y, et al. Genetic cholesteryl ester transfer protein deficiency caused by two prevalent mutations as a major determinant of increased levels of high density lipoprotein cholesterol. J Clin Invest. 1994;94(5):1872-82.

- 191. Maruyama T, Sakai N, Ishigami M, et al. Prevalence and phenotypic spectrum of cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene mutations in Japanese hyperalphalipoproteinemia. Atherosclerosis 2003;166:177–85.
- 192. Ikewaki, K., et al. 1993. Delayed catabolism of high density lipoprotein apolipoproteins A-I and A-II in human cholesteryl ester transfer protein deficiency. J. Clin. Invest. 92:1650–1658.).
- 193.Stafforini DM, Sheller JR, Blackwell TS, Sapirstein A, Yull FE, McIntyre TM, Bonventre JV, Prescott SM and Roberts LJ., 2nd. Release of free F2-isoprostanes from esterified phospholipids is catalyzed by intracellular and plasma platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolases. J Biol Chem. 2006;281:4616–4623.
- 194. Macphee CH, Moores KE, Boyd HF, Dhanak D, Ife RJ, Leach CA, Leake DS, Milliner KJ, Patterson RA, Suckling KE, Tew DG and Hickey DM: The lipoproteins -associated phospholipases A2, platelet activating factor acetylhydrolase, generates two bioactive products during the oxidation of low density lipoproteins: use of a novel inhibiotor. Biochem J 1999, 338:479-478.
- 195.Silva IT, Mello AP and Damasceno NR. Antioxidant and inflammatory aspects of lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A₂ (Lp-PLA₂): a review. Lipids Health Dis. 2011;10:170.
- 196. Voetsch B, Jin RC, Bierl C, Benke KS, Kenet G, Simioni P, Ottaviano F, Damasceno BP, Annichino-Bizacchi JM, Handy DE, Loscalzo J. Promoter polymorphisms in the plasma glutathione peroxidase (GPx-3) gene: a novel risk factor for arterial ischemic stroke among young adults and children. Stroke. 2007;38(1):41-9.
- 197. Huuskonen J, Olkkonen VM, Jauhiainen M and Ehnholm C. The impact of phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP) on HDL metabolism. Atherosclerosis. 2001;155:269-81.
- 198. Takuwa Y, Okamoto Y, Yoshioka K and Takuwa N. Sphingosine-1-phosphate signaling in physiology and diseases. Biofactors. 2012;38(5):329-37.
- 199. Yamashita S, Tsubakio-Yamamoto K, Ohama T, Nakagawa-Toyama Y and Nishida M. Molecular mechanisms of HDL-cholesterol elevation by statins and its effects on HDL functions. J Atheroscler Thromb. 2010;17:436–451.
- 200.Kontush A & Chapman MJ. Antiatherogenic small, dense HDL--guardian angel of the arterial wall? Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med. 2006;3(3):144-53.
- 201.Yancey PG, Bortnick AE, Kellner-Weibel G, de la Llera-Moya M, Phillips MC and Rothblat GH. Importance of different pathways of cellular cholesterol efflux. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2003;23(5):712-9.
- 202. Duffy D & Rader DJ. Update on strategies to increase HDL quantity and function Nature Reviews Cardiology. 2009;6:455-463.
- 203. Trigatti BL, Krieger M and Rigotti A. Influence of the HDL receptor SR-BI on lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2003;23:1732-8.(RCT)
- 204. Jonas A. Lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase. Biochim Biophys Acta 2000; 1529:245-256.
- 205.Acton S, Rigotti A, Landschulz KT, et al. Identification of scavenger receptor SR-BI as a high density lipoprotein receptor. Science. 1996; 271:518–520.
- 206.Pagler TA, Rhode S, Neuhofer A, Laggner H, Strobl W, Hinterndorfer C, Volf I, Pavelka M, Eckhardt ER, van der Westhuyzen DR, Schütz GJ and Stangl H. SR-BI-mediated high density lipoprotein (HDL) endocytosis leads to HDL resecretion facilitating cholesterol efflux. J Biol Chem. 2006;281(16):11193-204.
- 207.Röhrl C, Pagler TA, Strobl W, Ellinger A, Neumüller J, Pavelka M, Stangl H and Meisslitzer-Ruppitsch C. Characterization of endocytic compartments after holo-high density lipoprotein particle uptake in HepG2 cells. Histochem Cell Biol. 2010;133(3):261-72.
- 208.Yamashita S, Hirano K, Sakai N and Matsuzawa Y. Molecular biology and pathophysiological aspects of plasma cholesteryl ester transfer protein. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2000;1529(1-3):257-75.
- 209.Schwartz CC, VandenBroek JM and Cooper PS. Lipoprotein cholesteryl ester production, transfer, and output in vivo in humans. J. Lipid Res. 2004;45:1594–1607.
- 210.Sugamura K & Keaney JF Jr. Reactive oxygen species in cardiovascular disease. Free Radic Biol Med. 2011;51(5):978-92.
- 211.Navab M, Ananthramaiah GM, Reddy ST, Van Lenten BJ, Ansell BJ, Fonarow GC, Vahabzadeh K, Hama S, Hough G, Kamranpour N, Berliner JA, Lusis AJ and Fogelman AM. The oxidation hypothesis of atherogenesis: the role of oxidized phospholipids and HDL. J Lipid Res. 2004;45(6):993-1007.

- 212. Parthasarathy S, Barnett J and Fong LG. High-density lipoprotein inhibits the oxidative modification of lowdensity lipoprotein. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1990;1044(2):275-283.
- 213.Cockerill GW, Rye KA, Gamble JR, Vadas MA and Barter PJ. High-density lipoproteins inhibit cytokineinduced expression of endothelial cell adhesion molecules. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1995;15(11):1987-1994.
- 214. Robbesyn F, Garcia V, Auge N, Vieira O, Frisach MF, Salvayre R and Negre-Salvayre A HDL counterbalance the proinflammatory effect of oxidized LDL by inhibiting intracellular reactive oxygen species rise, proteasome activation, and subsequent NF-kappaB activation in smooth muscle cells. FASEB J. 2003;17(6):743-5.
- 215.Negre-Salvayre A, Dousset N, Ferretti G, Bacchetti T, Curatola G, Salvayre R Antioxidant and cytoprotective properties of high-density lipoproteins in vascular cells. Free Radic Biol Med. 2006;41(7):1031-40.
- 216.Van Lenten BJ, Navab M, Shih D, Fogelman AM, and Lusis AJ. The role of high-density lipoproteins in oxidation and inflammation. Trends Cardiovasc Med. 2001;11:155–161.
- 217. Proudfoot JM, Barden AE, Loke WM, Croft KD, Puddey IB and Mori TA. HDL is themajor lipoprotein carrier of plasma F2-isoprostanes. J Lipid Res. 2009;50:716-722.
- 218. Mackness MI, Arrol S, Durrington PN. Paraoxonase prevents accumulation of lipoperoxides in low-density lipoprotein. FEBS Lett. 1991;286(1-2):152-4.
- 219. Mackness MI, Arrol S, Abbott C, Durrington PN. Protection of low-density lipoprotein against oxidative modification by high-density lipoprotein associated paraoxonase. Atherosclerosis. 1993;104:129-35.
- 220.Rozenberg O, Shih DM, Aviram M. Human serum paraoxonase 1 decreases macrophage cholesterol biosynthesis: possible role for its phospholipase-A2- like activity and lysophosphatidylcholine formation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2003;23:461–7.
- 221.Rosenblat M, Vaya J, Shih DM, Aviram M. Paraoxonase 1 (PON1) enhances HDL-mediated macrophage cholesterol efflux via the ABCA1 transporter in association with increased HDL binding to the cells: a possible role for lysophosphatidylcholine. Atherosclerosis 2005;179:69–77.
- 222.Ahmed Z, Babaei S, Maguire GF, et al. Paraoxonase-1 reduces monocyte chemotaxis and adhesion to endothelial cells due to oxidation of palmitoyl, linoleoyl glycerophosphorylcholine. Cardiovasc Res 2003;57:225–31
- 223.Ng DS, Chu T, Esposito B, Hui P, Connelly PW, Gross PL. Paraoxonase-1 deficiency in mice predisposes to vascular inflammation, oxidative stress, and thrombogenicity in the absence of hyperlipidemia. Cardiovasc Pathol 2008;17:226–32.
- 224. Tward, A., Xia, Y. R., Wang, X. P., Shi, Y. S., Park, C., Castellani, L. W., Lusis, A. J., and Shih, D. M. Decreased atherosclerotic lesion formation in human serum paraoxonase transgenic mice. Circulation. 2002;106:484-490.
- 225.Perla-Kaján J & Jakubowski H. Paraoxonase 1 protects against protein N-homocysteinylation in humans. FASEB J. 2010;24(3):931-6.).
- 226. Miyata M, Smith JD. Apolipoprotein E allele-specific antioxidant activity and effects on cytotoxicity by oxidative insults and beta-amyloid peptides. Nat Genet 1996; 14:55–61.
- 227.Navab M, Hama-Levy S, Van Lenten BJ, Fonarow GC, Cardinez CJ, Castellani LW, Brennan ML, Lusis AJ, Fogelman AM, La Du BN. Mildly oxidized LDL induces an increased apolipoprotein J/paraoxonase ratio. J Clin Invest. 1997;99(8):2005-19.
- 228. Wong WM, Gerry AB, Putt W, Roberts JL, Weinberg RB, Humphries SE, Leake DS and Talmud PJ. Common variants of apolipoprotein A-IV differ in their ability to inhibit low density lipoprotein oxidation. Atherosclerosis. 2007;192(2):266-74.
- 229. Tangirala RK, Pratico D, FitzGerald GA, et al. Reduction of isoprostanes and regression of advanced atherosclerosis by apolipoprotein E. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:261–266.
- 230.Goulinet S & Chapman MJ. Plasma LDL and HDL subspecies are heterogenous in particle content of tocopherols and oxygenated and hydrocarbon carotenoids. Relevance to oxidative resistance and atherogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1997; 17:786–796.
- 231.Barter PJ, Nicholls S, Rye KA, Anantharamaiah GM, Navab M, Fogelman AM. Antiinflammatory properties of HDL. Circ Res 2004;95:764-72.

- 232.Murphy AJ, Chin-Dusting JP, Sviridov D, Woollard KJ. The anti-inflammatory effects of high density lipoproteins. Curr Med Chem 2009;16:667-75.
- 233.Saemann MD, Poglitsch M, Kopecky C, Haidinger M, Horl WH and Weichhart T. The versatility of HDL: a crucial anti-inflammatory regulator. Eur J Clin Invest. 2010;40(12):1131-43.
- 234.Calabresi L, Franceschini G, Sirtori CR, De Palma A, Saresella M, Ferrante P and Taramelli D. Inhibition of VCAM-1 expression in endothelial cells by reconstituted high density lipoproteins. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1997;238:61–65.
- 235. Baker PW, Rye KA, Gamble JR, Vadas MA and Barter PJ. Ability of reconstituted high density lipoproteins to inhibit cytokine- induced expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. J Lipid Res. 1999;40:345–53.
- 236.van Leuven SI, Birjmohun RS, Franssen R, Bisoendial RJ, de Kort H, Levels JH, Basser RL, Meijers JC, Kuivenhoven JA, Kastelein JJ, Stroes ES. ApoAI-phosphatidylcholine infusion neutralizes the atherothrombotic effects of C-reactive protein in humans. J Thromb Haemost. 2009;7(2):347-54.
- 237.Bursill CA, Castro ML, Beattie DT, Nakhla S, van der Vorst E, Heather AK, Barter PJ and Rye KA. High-density lipoproteins suppress chemokines and chemokine receptors in vitro and in vivo. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2010;30(9):1773-8.
- 238. Nicholls SJ, Dusting GJ, Cutri B, Bao S, Drummond GR, Rye KA and Barter PJ. Reconstituted High-Density Lipoproteins Inhibit the Acute Pro-Oxidant and Proinflammatory Vascular Changes Induced by a Periarterial Collar in Normocholesterolemic Rabbits. Circulation 2005;111;1543-1550.
- 239.Shaw JA, Bobik A, Murphy A, Kanellakis P, Blombery P, Mukhamedova N, Woollard K, Lyon S, Sviridov D and Dart AM. Infusion of reconstituted high-density lipoprotein leads to acute changes in human atherosclerotic plaque. Circ Res. 2008;103(10):1084-91.
- 240. Hyka N, Dayer JM, Modoux C, Kohno T, Edwards CK III, Roux-Lombard P, and Burger D. Apolipoprotein A-I inhibits the production of interleukin-1b and tumor necrosis factor-a by blocking contact-mediated activation of monocytes by T lymphocytes. Blood 2001;97:2381-2389.
- 241.Gruaz L, Delucinge-Vivier C, Descombes P, Dayer JM and Burger D. Blockade of T cell contact-activation of human monocytes by high-density lipoproteins reveals a new pattern of cytokine and inflammatory genes. PLoS One. 2010;5(2):e9418.
- 242. Wang L, Chen WZ and Wu MP. Apolipoprotein A-I inhibits chemotaxis, adhesion, activation of THP-1 cells and improves the plasma HDL inflammatory index. Cytokine, 2010;49, 194-200).
- 243.Randolph GJ. Emigration of monocyte-derived cells to lymph nodes during resolution of inflammation and its failure in atherosclerosis. Curr Opin Lipidol 2008; 19: 462–468
- 244. Angeli V, Llodrá J, Rong JX, Satoh K, Ishii S, Shimizu T, Fisher EA and Randolph GJ. Dyslipidemia associated with atherosclerotic disease systemically alters dendritic cell mobilization. Immunity. 2004;21(4):561-74.
- 245.Yvan-Charvet L, Wang N, Tall AR. Role of HDL, ABCA1, and ABCG1 transporters in cholesterol efflux and immune responses. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2010;30:139-43.
- 246. Murphy AJ, Woollard KJ, Hoang A, Mukhamedova N, Stirzaker RA, McCormick S, Remaley AT, Sviridov D and Chin-Dusting J. High-Density Lipoprotein Reduces the Human Monocyte Inflammatory Response Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2008;28:2071-2077).
- 247.Yvan-Charvet L, Welch C, Pagler TA, Ranalletta M, Lamkanfi M, Han S, Ishibashi M, Li R, Wang N and Tall AR. Increased inflammatory gene expression in ABC transporter-deficient macrophages: free cholesterol accumulation, increased signaling via toll-like receptors, and neutrophil infiltration of atherosclerotic lesions. Circulation. 2008;118(18):1837-47.
- 248.Nofer JR & Assmann G. Atheroprotective effects of high-density lipoprotein associated lysosphingolipids. Trends Cardiovasc Med 2005;15:265–71.
- 249.Grainger DJ. Transforming growth factor beta and atherosclerosis: so far, so good for the protective cytokine hypothesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004;24:399–404.).
- 250. Norata GD, Callegari E, Marchesi M, Chiesa G, Eriksson P and Catapano AL. High-density lipoproteins induce transforming growth factor-beta 2 expression in endothelial cells. Circulation 2005; 111:2805-2811.

- 251.Gomaraschi M, Basilico N, Sisto F, Taramelli D, Eligini S, Colli S, Sirtori CR, Franceschini G and Calabresi L. High-density lipoproteins attenuate interleukin-6 production in endothelial cells exposed to proinflammatory stimuli. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2005;1736(2):136-43.
- 252.Coronado MT, Pozzi AO, Punchard MA, González P and Fantidis P. Inflammation as a modulator of the HDL cholesterol-induced inteleukin-10 production by human circulating mononuclear cells. Atherosclerosis. 2009;202(1):183-4.
- 253.Charakida M, Deanfield J and Halcox J. The role of nitric oxide in early atherosclerosis. European Journal Clinical Pharmacology. 2006;62(1):69-78.
- 254.Lubos E, Handy DE, Loscalzo J. Role of oxidative stress and nitric oxide in atherothrombosis. Front Biosci. 2008;13:5323-5344.
- 255. Mineo C, Yuhanna IS, Quon MJ, Shaul PW. High density lipoprotein-induced endothelial nitric-oxide synthase activation is mediated by Akt and MAP kinases. J Biol Chem 2003;278:9142-9.
- 256.Besler C, Heinrich K, Rohrer L, Doerries C, Riwanto M, Shih DM, Chroni A, Yonekawa K, Stein S, Schaefer N, Mueller M, Akhmedov A, Daniil G, Manes C, Templin C, Wyss C, Maier W, Tanner FC, Matter CM, Corti R, Furlong C, Lusis AJ, von Eckardstein A, Fogelman AM, Lüscher TF and Landmesser U. Mechanisms underlying adverse effects of HDL on eNOS-activating pathways in patients with coronary artery disease. J Clin Invest. 2011;121(7):2693-2708.
- 257.Spieker LE, Sudano I, Hurlimann D, Lerch PG, Lang MG, Binggeli C, Corti R, Ruschitzka F, Luscher TF and Noll G. High-density lipoprotein restores endothelial function in hypercholesterolemic men. Circulation. 2002;105:1399-1402
- 258.Bisoendial RJ, Hovingh GK, Levels JH, Lerch PG, Andresen I, Hayden MR, Kastelein JJ and Stroes ES. Restoration of endothelial function by increasing high-density lipoprotein in subjects with isolated low highdensity lipoprotein. Circulation. 2003;107:2944-2948
- 259.Blair A, Shaul PW, Yuhanna IS, Conrad PA and Smart EJ. Oxidized low density lipoprotein displaces endothelial nitric-oxide synthase (eNOS) from plasmalemmal caveolae and impairs eNOS activation. J Biol Chem 1999; 274: 32512-9.
- 260. Uittenbogaard A, Shaul PW, Yuhanna IS, Blair A and Smart EJ. High density lipoprotein prevents oxidized low density lipoprotein-induced inhibition of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase localization and activation in caveolae. J Biol Chem. 2000;275(15):11278-83.)
- 261.Besler C, Luscher TF and Landmesser U. Molecular mechanisms of vascular effects of High-density lipoprotein: alterations in cardiovascular disease. EMBO Mol Med 2012;4:251-268.
- 262.Yuhanna IS, Zhu Y, Cox BE, Hahner LD, Osborne-Lawrence S, Lu P, Marcel YL, Anderson RG, Mendelsohn ME, Hobbs HH, Shaul PW. High-density lipoprotein binding to scavenger receptor-BI activates endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Nat Med. 2001;7(7):853-857.
- 263.Nofer JR, van der Giet M, Tölle M, Wolinska I, von Wnuck Lipinski K, Baba HA, Tietge UJ, Gödecke A, Ishii I, Kleuser B, Schäfers M, Fobker M, Zidek W, Assmann G, Chun J and Levkau B. HDL induces NO-dependent vasorelaxation via the lysophospholipid receptor S1P3. J Clin Invest. 2004;113(4):569-81.
- 264.Dimmeler S, Fleming I, Fisslthaler B, Hermann C, Busse R and Zeiher AM. Activation of nitric oxide synthase in endothelial cells by Akt-dependent phosphorylation. Nature. 1999;399:601-605.
- 265.Terasaka N, Yu S, Yvan-Charvet L, Wang N, Mzhavia N, Langlois R, Pagler T, Li R, Welch CL, Goldberg IJ, Tall AR. ABCG1 and HDL protect against endothelial dysfunction in mice fed a high-cholesterol diet. J Clin Invest. 2008;118(11):3701-3713.
- 266. Westerterp M, Koetsveld J, Yu S, Han S, Li R, Goldberg IJ, Welch CL and Tall AR. Increased atherosclerosis in mice with vascular ATP-binding cassette transporter G1 deficiency--brief report. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2010;30(11):2103-5.
- 267. Terasaka N, Westerterp M, Koetsveld J, Fernández-Hernando C, Yvan-Charvet L, Wang N, Sessa WC and Tall AR. ATP-binding cassette transporter G1 and high-density lipoprotein promote endothelial NO synthesis through a decrease in the interaction of caveolin-1 and endothelial NO synthase. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2010;30(11):2219-25.
- 268. Fleisher LN, Tall AR, Witte LD, Miller RW and Cannon PJ. Stimulation of arterial endothelial cell prostacyclin synthesis by high density lipoproteins. J Biol Chem. 1982;257:6653–6655

- 269.Norata GD, Callegari E, Inoue H and Catapano AL. HDL3 Induces Cyclooxygenase-2 Expression and Prostacyclin Release in Human Endothelial Cells Via a p38 MAPK/CRE-Dependent Pathway: Effects on COX-2/PGI-Synthase Coupling Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 2004;24;871-877.
- 270.Pomerantz KB, Fleisher LN, Tall AR and Cannon PJ. Enrichment of endothelial cell arachidonate by lipid transfer from high density lipoproteins:relationship to prostaglandin I2 synthesis. J Lipid Res. 1985;26: 1269–1276.
- 271.Cockerill GW, Saklatvala J, Ridley SH, Yarwood H, Miller NE, Oral B, Nithyanathan S, Taylor G, Haskard DO. High-density lipoproteins differentially modulate cytokine-induced expression of E-selectin and cyclooxygenase-2. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1999;19:910 –917.
- 272. Martinez-Gonzalez J, Escudero I and Badimon L. Simvastatin potenciates PGI(2) release induced by HDL in human VSMC: effect on Cox-2up-regulation and MAPK signalling pathways activated by HDL. Atherosclerosis.2004;174:305–313.
- 273.Zhang QH, Zu XY, Cao RX, Liu JH, Mo ZC, Zeng Y, Li YB, Xiong SL, Liu X, Liao DF and Y GH. An involvement of SR-B1 mediated PI3K–Akt–eNOS signaling in HDL-induced cyclooxygenase 2 expression and prostacyclin production in endothelial cells. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 2012;420:17–23.
- 274.Liao PL, Cheng YW, Li CH, et al., Cholesterol-3-beta,5-alpha,6-beta-triol induced PI(3)K–Akt–eNOSdependent cyclooxygenase-2 expression in endothelial cells, Toxicol. Lett. 2009;190:172–178.
- 275.Tso C, Martinic G, Fan WH, Rogers C, Rye KA and Barter PJ. High-Density Lipoproteins Enhance Progenitor-Mediated Endothelium Repair in Mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2006;26:1144-1149.
- 276.van Oostrom O, Nieuwdorp M, Westerweel PE, Hoefer IE, Basser R, Stroes ESG and Verhaar MC. Reconstituted HDL increases circulating endothelial progenitor cells in patients with type 2 diabetes. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2007; 27:1864-1865
- 277.Werner N, Priller J, Laufs U, et al. Bone marrow-derived progenitor cells modulate vascular reendothelialization and neointimal formation: effect of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme a reductase inhibition. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2002;22:1567-72.
- 278.Shantsila E, Watson T, Lip GY. Endothelial progenitor cells in cardiovascular disorders.J Am Coll Cardiol 2007;49: 741-52.
- 279.Sumi M, Sata M, Miura SI, Rye KA, Toya N, Kanaoka Y, Yanaga K, Ohki T, Saku K and Nagai R. Reconstituted High-Density Lipoprotein Stimulates Differentiation of Endothelial Progenitor Cells and Enhances Ischemia-Induced Angiogenesis Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2007;27:813-818.
- 280.Noor R, Shuaib U, Wang CX, Todd K, Ghani U, Schwindt B and Shuaib A. High-density lipoprotein cholesterol regulates endothelial progenitor cells by increasing eNOS and preventing apoptosis. Atherosclerosis 2007;192:92-99.
- 281. Feng Y, van Eck M, Van Craeyveld E, Jacobs F, Carlier V, Van Linthout S, Erdel M, Tjwa M and De Geest B. Critical role of scavenger receptor-BI-expressing bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells in the attenuation of allograft vasculopathy after human apo A-I transfer. Blood. 2009;113(3):755-64.
- 282.Walter DH, Rochwalsky U, Reinhold J, Seeger F, Aicher A, Urbich C, Spyridopoulos I, Chun J, Brinkmann V, Keul P, Levkau B, Zeiher AM, Dimmeler S and Haendeler J. Sphingosine-1-phosphate stimulates the functional capacity of progenitor cells by activation of the CXCR4-dependent signaling pathway via the S1P3 receptor. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2007;27(2):275-82.
- 283.Zhang Q, Yin H, Liu P, Zhang H and She M. Essential role of HDL on endothelial progenitor cell proliferation with PI3K/Akt/cyclin D1 as the signal pathway. Experimental Biology and Medicine 2010;235:1082-1092.
- 284.Nofer JR, Brodde MF and Kehrel BE. High density lipoproteins (HDL), platelets and the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 2010;37:726-735.
- 285.Lindemann S, Krämer B, Daub K, Stellos K, Gawaz M. Molecular pathways used by platelets to initiate and accelerate atherogenesis. Curr Opin Lipidol 2007;18:566–73.
- 286.Podrez EA, Byzova TV, Febbraio M, Salomon RG, Ma Y, Valiyaveettil M, Poliakov E, Sun M, Finton PJ, Curtis BR, Chen J, Zhang R, Silverstein RL and Hazen SL. Platelet CD36 links hyperlipidemia, oxidant stress and a prothrombotic phenotype. Nat Med. 2007;13(9):1086-95.
- 287.Calkin AC, Drew BG, Ono A, Duffy SJ, Gordon MV, Schoenwaelder SM, Sviridov D, Cooper ME, Kingwell BA, Jackson SP. Reconstituted high-density lipoprotein attenuates platelet function in individuals with type 2 diabetes mellitus by promoting cholesterol efflux. Circulation. 2009;120:2095-104.
- 288.Lerch PG, Spycher MO and Doran JE. Reconstituted high density lipoprotein (rHDL) modulates platelet activity in vitro and ex vivo. Thromb Haemost. 1998;80:316-20.
- 289.Korporaal SJA & Akkerman JW. Platelet activation by low density lipoproteins and high density lipoproteins. Pathophysiol Haemost Thromb. 2006;35:270–80.
- 290.Nofer JR, Walter M, Kehrel B, Wierwille S, Tepel M, Seedorf U, Assmann G. HDL3-mediated inhibition of thrombin-induced platelet aggregation and fibrinogen binding occurs via decreased production of phosphoinositide derived second messengers 1,2-diacylglycerol and inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1998;18:861-9.
- 291.Carson SD. Plasma high density lipoproteins inhibit the activation of coagulation factor X by factor VIIa and tissue factor. FEBS Lett 1981;132(932):37–40.
- 292.Calabresi L, Gomaraschi M and Franceschini G. Endothelial protection by high-density lipoproteins: from bench to bedside. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2003;23:1724-31.
- 293.Lesnik P, Vonica A, Guerin M, Moreau M and Chapman MJ. Anti-coagulant activity of tissue factor pathway inhibitor in human plasma is preferentially associated with dense subspecies of LDL and HDL and with Lp(a). Arterioscl Thromb 1993;13:1066–75.
- 294.Oslakovic C, Krisinger MJ, Andersson A, Jauhiainen M, Ehnholm C and Dahlback B. Anionic phospholipids lose their procoagulant properties when incorporated into high density lipoproteins. J Biol Chem 2009;284:5896-904.
- 295.Suc I, Escargueil-Blanc I, Troly M, Salvayre R and Nègre-Salvayre A. HDL and ApoA prevent cell death of endothelial cells induced by oxidized LDL. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1997;17(10):2158-66.
- 296.Speidel MT, Booyse FM, Abrams A, Moore MA and Chung BH. Lipolyzed hypertriglyceridemic serum and triglyceride-rich lipoprotein cause lipid accumulation and are cytotoxic to cultured human endothelial cells. High density lipoproteins inhibit this cytoxicity. Thromb. Res. 1990; 58:251–264.
- 297.Sugano M, Tsuchida K and Makino N. High-density lipoproteins protect endothelial cells from tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced apoptosis. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2000; 272:872–876.
- 298. Hamilton KK, Zhao J, Sims PJ. Interaction between apolipoproteins A–I and A–II and the membrane attack complex of complement. Affinity of the apoproteins for polymeric C9. J. Biol. Chem. 1993; 268:3632–3638.
- 299.Terasaka N, Wang N, Yvan-Charvet L and Tall AR. High-density lipoprotein protects macrophages from oxidized low-density lipoprotein-induced apoptosis by promoting efflux of 7-ketocholesterol via ABCG1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:15093-8.
- 300.Kimura T, Sato K, Malchinkhuu E, Tomura H, Tamama K, Kuwabara A, Murakami M and Okajima F. High-Density Lipoprotein Stimulates Endothelial Cell Migration and Survival Through Sphingosine 1-Phosphate and Its Receptors. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2003;23:1283-8.
- 301.Nofer JR, Junker R, Pulawski E, Fobker M, Levkau B, Von Eckardstein A, Seedorf U, Assmann G and Walter M. High density lipoproteins induce cell cycle entry in vascular smooth muscle cells via mitogen activated protein kinase-dependent pathway. Thromb. Haemost. 2001;85:730–735.
- 302. Rutti S, Ehses JA, Sibler RA, Prazak R, Rohrer L, Georgopoulos S, Meier DT, Niclauss N, Berney T, Donath MY, von Eckardstein A. Low- and high-density lipoproteins modulate function, apoptosis, and proliferation of primary human and murine pancreatic beta-cells. Endocrinology. 2009;150(10):4521-30.
- 303. Von Eckardstein A & Sibler RA. Possible contributions of lipoproteins and cholesterol to the pathogenesis of diabetes mellitus type 2. Curr Opin Lipidol 2011;22:26-32.
- 304.Getz GS and Reardon CA. High density lipoprotein function in regulating insulin secretion: possible relevance to metabolic syndrome. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2010;30:1497–1499.
- 305.Fryirs MA, Barter PJ, Appavoo M, Tuch EB, Tabet F, Heather AK and Rye KA. Effects of High-Density Lipoproteins on Pancreatic β-Cell Insulin Secretion. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2010;30:1642-1648.
- 306.Drew BG, Rye KA, Duffy SJ, Barter PJ and Kingwell BA. The emerging role of HDL in glucose metabolism Nat. Rev. Endocrinol. 2012;8:237-245.

- 307. Drew BG, Duffy SJ, Formosa MF, Natoli AK, Henstridge DC, Penfold SA, Thomas WG, Mukhamedova N, de Courten B, Forbes JM, Yap FY, Kaye DM, van Hall G, Febbraio MA, Kemp BE, Sviridov D, Steinberg GR, Kingwell BA. High-density lipoprotein modulates glucose metabolism in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Circulation. 2009;119: 2103–2111.
- 308. Ruan X, Li Z, Zhang Y, Yang L, Pan Y, Wang Z, Feng GS and Chen Y. Apolipoprotein A-I possesses an antiobesity effect associated with increase of energy expenditure and up-regulation of UCP1 in brown fat. J Cell Mol Med. 2011;15(4):763-72.).
- 309.Drew BG, Carey AL, Natoli AK, Formosa MF, Vizi D, Reddy-Luthmoodoo M, Weir JM, Barlow CK, van Hall G, Meikle PJ, Duffy SD and Kingwell BA. Reconstituted high-density lipoprotein infusion modulates fatty acid metabolism in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Lipid Res. 2011;52:572–581.
- 310.Kontush A & Chapman MJ. Functionally defective high-density lipoprotein: a new therapeutic target at the crossroads of dyslipidemia, inflammation, and atherosclerosis. Pharmacol Rev. 2006;58(3):342-74.
- 311.Navab M, Hama SY, Hough GP, Subbanagounder G, Reddy ST and Fogelman AM. A cell-free assay for detecting HDL that is dysfunctional in preventing the formation of or inactivating oxidized phospholipids. J Lipid Res 2001;42:1308–1317.
- 312.Van Lenten BJ, Reddy ST, Navab M and Fogelman AM. Understanding changes in high density lipoproteins during the acute phase response. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2006;26(8):1687-1688.
- 313.Smith JD. Dysfunctional HDL as a Diagnostic and Therapeutic Target. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2010;30:151-155.
- 314. Pruzanski W, Stefanski E, de Beer FC, de Beer MC, Ravandi A and Kuksis A. Comparative analysis of lipid composition of normal and acute-phase high density lipoproteins. J Lipid Res. 2000;41(7):1035-1047.
- 315.Zheng L, Settle M, Brubaker G, Schmitt D, Hazen SL, Smith JD and Kinter M. Localization of nitration and chlorination sites on apolipoprotein A-I catalyzed by myeloperoxidase in human atheroma and associated oxidative impairment in ABCA1-dependent cholesterol efflux from macrophages. J Biol Chem. 2005;280(1):38-47.
- 316.Panzenböck U & Stocker R. Formation of methionine sulfoxide-containing specific forms of oxidized highdensity lipoproteins. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2005;1703(2):171-81.
- 317.Shao B, Bergt C, Fu X, Green P, Voss JC, Oda MN, Oram JF, Heinecke JW. Tyrosine 192 in apolipoprotein A-I is the major site of nitration and chlorination by myeloperoxidase, but only chlorination markedly impairs ABCA1-dependent cholesterol transport. J Biol Chem. 2005;280(7):5983-5993.
- 318.Shao B. Site-specific oxidation of apolipoprotein A-I impairs cholesterol export by ABCA1, a key cardioprotective function of HDL. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012;1821(3):490-501.
- 319.Otocka-Kmiecik A, Mikhailidis DP, Nicholls SJ, Davidson M, Rysz J, Banac M. Dysfunctional HDL: A novel important diagnostic and therapeutic target in cardiovascular disease? Progress in Lipid Research 2012;51:314–324.
- 320.Bergt C, Pennathur S, Fu X, Byun J, O'Brien K, McDonald TO, Singh P, Anantharamaiah GM, Chait A, Brunzell J, Geary RL, Oram JF and Heinecke JW. The myeloperoxidase product hypochlorous acid oxidizes HDL in the human artery wall and impairs ABCA1-dependent cholesterol transport. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(35):13032-13037.
- 321.Zheng L, Nukuna B, Brennan ML, Sun M, Goormastic M, Settle M, Schmitt D, Fu X, Thomson L, Fox PL, Ischiropoulos H, Smith JD, Kinter M and Hazen SL. Apolipoprotein A-I is a selective target for myeloperoxidase-catalyzed oxidation and functional impairment in subjects with cardiovascular disease. J Clin Invest. 2004;114:529–541.
- 322.Wang XS, Shao B, Oda MN, Heinecke JW, Mahler S, Stocker R. A sensitive and specific ELISA detects methionine sulfoxide-containing apolipoprotein A-I in HDL. J Lipid Res. 2009;50(3):586-594.
- 323. Bakillah A. Nitrated apolipoprotein A-I, a potential new cardiovascular marker, is markedly increased in low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol subjects. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2009;47(1):60-69.
- 324. Park KH, Shin DG, Kim JR and Cho KH. Senescence-related truncation and multimerization of apolipoprotein A-I in high-density lipoprotein with an elevated level of advanced glycated end products and cholesteryl ester transfer activity. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2010;65(6):600-610.

- 325.Lapolla A, Brioschi M, Banfi C, Tremoli E, Cosma C, Bonfante L, Cristoni S, Seraglia R and Traldi P. Nonenzymatically glycated lipoprotein ApoA-I in plasma of diabetic and nephropathic patients. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2008;1126:295-299.
- 326.Park KH & Cho KH. High-density lipoprotein (HDL) from elderly and reconstituted HDL containing glycated apolipoproteins A-I share proatherosclerotic and prosenescent properties with increased cholesterol influx. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2011;66(5):511-20.
- 327.Nobécourt E, Tabet F, Lambert G, Puranik R, Bao S, Yan L, Davies MJ, Brown BE, Jenkins AJ, Dusting GJ, Bonnet DJ, Curtiss LK, Barter PJ and Rye KA. Non-Enzymatic Glycation Impairs the Anti-Inflammatory Properties of Apolipoprotein A-I Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2010; 30(4): 766–772.
- 328.Park KH, Jang W, Kim KI, Kim JR and Cho KH. Fructated apolipoprotein A-I showed severe structural modification and loss of beneficial functions in lipid-free and lipid-bound state with acceleration of atherosclerosis and senescence Biochem Bophys Res Commun. 2010;392:295–300.
- 329. Hoang A, Murphy AJ, Coughlan MT, Thomas MC, Forbes JM, O'Brien R, Cooper ME, Chin-Dusting JP, Sviridov
 D. Advanced glycation of apolipoprotein A-I impairs its anti-atherogenic properties. Diabetologia. 2007;50(8):1770-1779.
- 330.Kontush A, de Faria EC, Chantepie S, Chapman MJ. Antioxidative activity of HDL particle subspecies is impaired in hyperalphalipoproteinemia: relevance of enzymatic and physicochemical properties. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004;24(3):526-533.
- 331. Feingold KR, Memon RA, Moser AH and Grunfeld C. Paraoxonase activity in the serum and hepatic mRNA levels decrease during the acute phase response. Atherosclerosis 1998;139:307–315.
- 332.Van Lenten BJ, Wagner AC, Nayak DP, Hama S, Navab M and Fogelman AM. High-density lipoprotein loses its anti-inflammatory properties during acute influenza a infection. Circulation. 2001;103(18):2283-2288.
- 333.Nobécourt E, Jacqueminet S, Hansel B, Chantepie S, Grimaldi A, Chapman MJ and Kontush A. Defective antioxidative activity of small dense HDL3 particles in type 2 diabetes: relationship to elevated oxidative stress and hyperglycaemia. Diabetologia. 2005;48(3):529-538.
- 334. Hansel B, Kontush A, Bonnefont-Rousselot D, Bruckert E and Chapman MJ. Alterations in lipoprotein defense against oxidative stress in metabolic syndrome. Curr Atheroscler Rep. 2006;8(6):501-509.
- 335. Van Lenten BJ, Hama SY, de Beer FC, Stafforini DM, McIntyre TM, Prescott SM, La Du BN, Fogelman AM and Navab M. Anti-inflammatory HDL becomes pro-inflammatory during the acute phase response. Loss of protective effect of HDL against LDL oxidation in aortic wall cell cocultures. J Clin Invest. 1995;96(6):2758-67.
- 336. Aviram M, Rosenblat M, Billecke S, Erogul J, Sorenson R, Bisgaier CL, Newton RS and La Du B. Human serum paraoxonase (PON 1) is inactivated by oxidized low density lipoprotein and preserved by antioxidants. Free Radic Biol Med. 1999;26(7-8):892-904.
- 337.Jaouad L, Milochevitch C and Khalil A. PON1 paraoxonase activity is reduced during HDL oxidation and is an indicator of HDL antioxidant capacity. Free Radic Res. 2003;37(1):77-83.
- 338.Nguyen SD & Sok DE. Oxidative inactivation of paraoxonase1, an antioxidant protein and its effect on antioxidant action. Free Radic Res. 2003;37(12):1319-30.
- 339.Nguyen SD, Hung ND, Cheon-Ho P, Ree KM and Dai-Eun S. Oxidative inactivation of lactonase activity of purified human paraoxonase 1 (PON1). Biochim Biophys Acta. 2009;1790(3):155-60.
- 340. Charakida M, Besler C, Batuca JR, Sangle S, Marques S, Sousa M, Wang G, Tousoulis D, Delgado Alves J, Loukogeorgakis SP, Mackworth-Young C, D'Cruz D, Luscher T, Landmesser U, Deanfield JE. Vascular abnormalities, paraoxonase activity, and dysfunctional HDL in primary antiphospholipid syndrome JAMA. 2009;302(11):1210-1217.
- 341. Hedrick CC, Thorpe SR, Fu MX, Harper CM, Yoo J, Kim SM, Wong H and Peters AL. Glycation impairs highdensity lipoprotein function. Diabetologia. 2000;43(3):312-320.
- 342.Feretti G, Baccheti T, Marchionni C, Calderetti L and Curatola T. Effect of glycation of high-density lipoproteins on their physicochemical properties and on paraoxonase activity. Acta Diabetol 2001;38:163–169.
- 343.Ferretti G, Bacchetti T, Marotti E and Curatola G. Effect of homocysteinylation on human high-density lipoproteins: a correlation with paraoxonase activity. Metabolism. 2003;52(2):146-151.

- 344.Ferretti G, Bacchetti T, Masciangelo S and Bicchiega V. Effect of homocysteinylation on high density lipoprotein physico-chemical properties. Chem Phys Lipids. 2010;163(2):228-235.
- 345.MacRitchie AN, Gardner AA, Prescott SM and Stafforini DM. Molecular basis for susceptibility of plasma platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolase to oxidative inactivation. FASEB J. 2007;21: 1164–76.).
- 346.Khovidhunkit W, Shigenaga JK, Moser AH, Feingold KR, Grunfeld C. Cholesterol efflux by acute-phase high density lipoprotein: role of lecithin: cholesterol acyltransferase. J Lipid Res. 2001;42(6):967-975.
- 347.Nakhjavani M, Asgharani F, Khalilzadeh O, Esteghamati A, Ghaneei A, Morteza A and Anvari M. Oxidized low-density lipoprotein is negatively correlated with lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase activity in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Am J Med Sci. 2011;341(2):92-95.
- 348.Tsimihodimos V, Karabina SA, Tambaki AP, Bairaktari E, Miltiadous G, Goudevenos JA, Cariolou MA, Chapman MJ, Tselepis AD and Elisaf M. Altered distribution of platelet-activating factor- acetylhydrolase activity between LDL and HDL as a function of the severity of hypercholesterolemia. J Lipid Res. 2002;43(2):256-63.
- 349.Kujiraoka T, Iwasaki T, Ishihara M, Ito M, Nagano M, Kawaguchi A, Takahashi S, Ishi J, Tsuji M, Egashira T, Stepanova IP, Miller NE and Hattori H. Altered distribution of plasma PAF-AH between HDLs and other lipoproteins in hyperlipidemia and diabetes mellitus. J Lipid Res. 2003;44(10):2006-2014.
- 350.Greene DJ, Skeggs JW and Morton RE. Elevated triglyceride content diminishes the capacity of high density lipoprotein to deliver cholesteryl esters via the scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI). J Biol Chem 2001;276:4804–4811.
- 351.Ansell BJ, Navab M, Hama S, Kamranpour N, Fonarow G, Hough G, Rahmani S, Mottahedeh R, Dave R, Reddy ST and Fogelman AM. Inflammatory / antiinflammatory properties of high-density lipoprotein distinguish patients from control subjects better than high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels and are favorably affected by simvastatin treatment. Circulation 2003;108:2751–2756.
- 352.Perségol L, Foissac M, Lagrost L, Athias A, Gambert P, Vergès B and Duvillard L. HDL particles from type 1 diabetic patients are unable to reverse the inhibitory effect of oxidised LDL on endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation. Diabetologia. 2007;50(11):2384-2387.
- 353.Brites FD, Bonavita CD, De Geitere C, Cloës M, Delfly B, Yael MJ, Fruchart J, Wikinski RW, Castro GR. Alterations in the main steps of reverse cholesterol transport in male patients with primary hypertriglyceridemia and low HDL-cholesterol levels. Atherosclerosis. 2000;152(1):181-192.
- 354.Gordon T, Castelli WP, Hjortland MC, Kannel WB and Dawber TR. High density lipoprotein as a protective factor against coronary heart disease. The Framingham Study. Am J Med. 1977;62(5):707-14.
- 355.Gordon DJ, Probstfield JL, Garrison RJ, Neaton JD, Castelli WP, Knoke JD, Jacobs DR Jr, Bangdiwala S, Tyroler HA. High density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular disease. Four prospective American studies. Circulation. 1989;79(1):8-15.
- 356. West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study Group. Influence of pravastatin and plasma lipids on clinical events in the West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study (WOSCOPS). Circulation 1998;97:1440-1445.
- 357. Heart Protection Study Collaborative Group. MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study of cholesterol lowering with simvastatin in 20,536 high-risk individuals: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2002;360:7-22.
- 358. Cooney MT, Dudina A, De Bacquer D, Wilhelmsen L, Sans S, Menotti A, De Backer G, Jousilahti P, Keil U, Thomsen T, Whincup P, Graham IM and SCORE investigators. HDL cholesterol protects against cardiovascular disease in both genders, at all ages and at all levels of risk. Atherosclerosis. 2009;206(2):611-616).
- 359. Chirovsky DR, Fedirko V, Cui Y, Sazonov V and Barter P. Prospective studies on the relationship between high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular risk: a systematic review. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil. 2009;16(4):404-23.).
- 360. Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration, Di Angelantonio E, Sarwar N, Perry P, Kaptoge S, Ray KK, et al. Major lipids, apolipoproteins and risk of vascular disease. JAMA 2009;302:1993–2000.
- 361.Marma AK & Lloyd-Jones DM. Systematic examination of the updated Framingham heart study general cardiovascular risk profile. Circulation. 2009;120(5):384-90.

- 362.Cooney MT, Dudina A, De Bacquer D, Fitzgerald A, Conroy R, Sans S, Menotti A, De Backer G, Jousilahti P, Keil U, Thomsen T, Whincup P, Graham I; SCORE Investigators. How much does HDL cholesterol add to risk estimation? A report from the SCORE Investigators. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil. 2009;16(3):304-14.
- 363. Fruchart JC, Sacks F, Hermans MP, Assmann G, Brown WV, Ceska R, Chapman MJ, Dodson PM, Fioretto P, Ginsberg HN, Kadowaki T, Lablanche JM, Marx N, Plutzky J, Reiner Z, Rosenson RS, Staels B, Stock JK, Sy R, Wanner C, Zambon A and Zimmet P. The Residual Risk Reduction Initiative: a call to action to reduce residual vascular risk in patients with dyslipidemia. Am J Cardiol. 2008;102(10 Suppl):1K-34K.
- 364. Alagona P Jr. Beyond LDL cholesterol: the role of elevated triglycerides and low HDL cholesterol in residual CVD risk remaining after statin therapy. Am J Manag Care. 2009;15(3 Suppl):S65-73.
- 365.Judge EP, Phelan D and O'Shea D. Beyond statin therapy: a review of the management of residual risk in diabetes mellitus. J R Soc Med. 2010;103(9):357-62.
- 366.Chapman MJ, Redfern JS, McGovern ME and Giral P. Niacin and fibrates in atherogenic dyslipidemia: pharmacotherapy to reduce cardiovascular risk. Pharmacol Ther. 2010;126(3):314-345.
- 367.Brown MS & Goldstein JL. The SREBP pathway: regulation of cholesterol metabolism by proteolysis of a membrane-bound transcription factor. Cell. 1997;89:331–340.
- 368.Vega GL & Grundy SM. Effect of statins on metabolism of apo-B-containing lipoproteins in hypertriglyceridemic men. Am J Cardiol. 1998;81:36B–42B.
- 369.Breuer HW. Hypertriglyceridemia: a review of clinical relevance and treatment options: focus on cerivastatin. Curr Med Res Opin. 2001;17(1):60-73.
- 370.Law MR, Wald NJ and Rudnicka AR. Quantifying effect of statins on low density lipoprotein cholesterol, ischaemic heart disease, and stroke: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2003;326(7404):1423-1427.
- 371.Chong PH, Kezele R and Franklin C. High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and the role of statins. Circ J. 2002;66(11):1037-44.
- 372.McTaggart F & Jones P. Effects of statins on high-density lipoproteins: a potential contribution to cardiovascular benefit. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther. 2008;22(4):321-38.
- 373.Barter PJ, Brandrup-Wognsen G, Palmer MK, Nicholls SJ. Effect of statins on HDL-C: a complex process unrelated to changes in LDL-C: analysis of the VOYAGER Database. J Lipid Res. 2010;51(6):1546-53.
- 374. Davidson MH, Ose L, Frohlich J, Scott RS, Dujovne CA, Escobar ID, Bertolami MC, Cihon F, Maccubbin DL, Mercuri M. Differential effects of simvastatin and atorvastatin on high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and apolipoprotein A-I are consistent across hypercholesterolemic patient subgroups. Clin Cardiol. 2003;26(11):509-514.
- 375. Jones PH, Hunninghake DB, Ferdinand KC, Stein EA, Gold A, Caplan RJ, Blasetto JW; Statin Therapies for Elevated Lipid Levels Compared Across Doses to Rosuvastatin Study Group. Effects of rosuvastatin versus atorvastatin, simvastatin, and pravastatin on non-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, apolipoproteins, and lipid ratios in patients with hypercholesterolemia: additional results from the STELLAR trial. Clin Ther. 2004;26(9):1388-99.
- 376. Martin G, Duez H, Blanquart C, Berezowski V, Poulain P, Fruchart JC, Najib-Fruchart J, Glineur C and Staels B. Statin-induced inhibition of the Rho-signaling pathway activates PPARα and induces HDL apoA-I. J Clin Invest. 2001; 107(11): 1423–1432.
- 377.Le Goff W, Guerin M and Chapman MJ: Pharmacological modulation of cholesteryl ester transfer protein, a new therapeutic target in atherogenic dyslipidemia. Pharmacol Ther 2004, 101:17–38.
- 378.Guérin M, Lassel TS, Le Goff W, Farnier M and Chapman MJ. Action of atorvastatin in combined hyperlipidemia: preferential reduction of cholesteryl ester transfer from HDL to VLDL1 particles. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2000;20:189–197.
- 379. Liao JK & Laufs U. Pleiotropic effects of statins. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol. 2005;45:89-118.
- 380. Christidis DS, Liberopoulos EN, Kakafika AI, Miltiadous GA, Liamis GL, Kakaidi B, Tselepis AD, Cariolou MA and Elisaf MS. Effect of paraoxonase 1 polymorphisms on the response of lipids and lipoprotein-associated enzymes to treatment with fluvastatin. Arch Med Res. 2007;38(4):403-10.
- 381.Tomás M, Sentí M, García-Faria F, Vila J, Torrents A, Covas M and Marrugat J. Effect of simvastatin therapy on paraoxonase activity and related lipoproteins in familial hypercholesterolemic patients. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2000;20(9):2113-9.

- 382.Deakin S, Leviev I, Guernier S and James RW. Simvastatin modulates expression of the PON1 gene and increases serum paraoxonase: a role for sterol regulatory element-binding protein-2. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2003;23(11):2083-2099.
- 383.Nagila A, Permpongpaiboon T, Tantrarongroj S, Porapakkham P, Chinwattana K, Deakin S and Porntadavity S. Effect of atorvastatin on paraoxonase1 (PON1) and oxidative status. Pharmacol Rep. 2009;61(5):892-898.
- 384.Harangi M, Mirdamadi HZ, Seres I, Sztanek F, Molnár M, Kassai A, Derdák Z, Illyés L and Paragh G. Atorvastatin effect on the distribution of high-density lipoprotein subfractions and human paraoxonase activity. Transl Res. 2009;153(4):190-198.
- 385.Bergheanu SC, Van Tol A, Dallinga-Thie GM, Liem A, Dunselman PH, Van der Bom JG and Jukema JW. Effect of rosuvastatin versus atorvastatin treatment on paraoxonase-1 activity in men with established cardiovascular disease and a low HDL-cholesterol. Curr Med Res Opin. 2007;23(9):2235-2240.
- 386.Arii K, Suehiro T, Ota K, Ikeda Y, Kumon Y, Osaki F, Inoue M, Inada S, Ogami N, Takata H, Hashimoto K, Terada Y. Pitavastatin induces PON1 expression through p44/42 mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling cascade in Huh7 cells. Atherosclerosis. 2009;202(2):439-445.
- 387.Golomb BA & Evans MA. Statin adverse Effects: A Review of the Literature and Evidence for a Mitochondrial Mechanism. Am J Cardiovasc Drugs. 2008; 8(6): 373–418.
- 388. Chapman MJ. Fibrates in 2003: therapeutic action in atherogenic dyslipidaemia and future perspectives. Atherosclerosis. 2003;171(1):1-13.).
- 389.Willson TM, Brown PJ, Sternbach DD and Henke BR. The PPARs: from orphan receptors to drug discovery. J Med Chem. 2000;43:527–550.).
- 390.Staels B, Dallongeville J, Auwerx J, Schoonjans K, Leitersdorf E, Fruchart JC. Mechanism of action of fibrates on lipid and lipoprotein metabolism. Circulation. 1998;98:2088–2093.
- 391. Chapman MJ. Fibrates: therapeutic review. Br J Diabetes Vasc Dis. 2006;6:11-21.
- 392.Birjmohun RS, Hutten BA, Kastelein JJ and Stroes ES. Efficacy and safety of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol-increasing compounds: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2005;45(2):185-197.
- 393. Steiner G. Fibrates and coronary risk reduction. Atherosclerosis. 2005;182(2):199-207.
- 394.Shah A, Rader DJ and Millar JS. The effect of PPAR-alpha agonism on apolipoprotein metabolism in humans. Atherosclerosis. 2010;210(1):35-40.).
- 395. Hossain MA, Tsujita M, Gonzalez FJ and Yokoyama S. Effects of fibrate drugs on expression of ABCA1 and HDL biogenesis in hepatocytes. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 2008;51(3):258-266.
- 396. Mardones P, Pilon A, Bouly M, Duran D, Nishimoto T, Arai H, Kozarsky KF, Altayo M, Miquel JF, Luc G, Clavey V, Staels B and Rigotti A. Fibrates down-regulate hepatic scavenger receptor class B type I protein expression in mice. J Biol Chem. 2003;278(10):7884-7890.
- 397.Beyer TP, Chen Y, Porter RK, Lu D, Schmidt RJ, Mantlo NB, Konrad RJ, Cao G. Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor alpha agonists regulate cholesterol ester transfer protein. Lipids. 2008;43:611-8.
- 398. Franceschini G, Calabresi L, Colombo C, Favari E, Bernini F, Sirtori CR. Effects of fenofibrate and simvastatin on HDL-related biomarkers in low-HDL patients. Atherosclerosis. 2007;195:385-91.
- 399.Phuntuwate W, Suthisisang C, Koanantakul B, Chaloeiphap P, Mackness B and Mackness M. Effect of fenofibrate therapy on paraoxonase1 status in patients with low HDL-C levels. Atherosclerosis. 2008;196(1):122-128.
- 400. Tsimihodimos V, Kakafika A, Tambaki AP, Bairaktari E, Chapman MJ, Elisaf M and Tselepis AD. Fenofibrate induces HDL-associated PAF-AH but attenuates enzyme activity associated with apoB-containing lipoproteins. J Lipid Res. 2003;44(5):927-934.
- 401.Saougos VG, Tambaki AP, Kalogirou M, Kostapanos M, Gazi IF, Wolfert RL, Elisaf M and Tselepis AD. Differential effect of hypolipidemic drugs on lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2007;27(10):2236-2243.
- 402.Barter PJ & Rye KA. Is there a role for fibrates in the management of dyslipidemia in the metabolic syndrome? Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2008;28(1):39-46.

- 403.Keech A, Simes RJ, Barter P, Best J, Scott R, Taskinen MR, Forder P, Pillai A, Davis T, Glasziou P, Drury P, Kesäniemi YA, Sullivan D, Hunt D, Colman P, d'Emden M, Whiting M, Ehnholm C, Laakso M; FIELD study investigators. Effects of long-term fenofibrate therapy on cardiovascular events in 9795 people with type 2 diabetes mellitus (the FIELD study): randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2005;366(9500):1849-1861.
- 404.Taskinen MR, Sullivan DR, Ehnholm C, Whiting M, Zannino D, Simes RJ, Keech AC, Barter PJ; FIELD study investigators. Relationships of HDL cholesterol, ApoA-I, and ApoA-II with homocysteine and creatinine in patients with type 2 diabetes treated with fenofibrate. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2009;29(6):950-955.
- 405.Zambon A, Gervois P, Pauletto P, Fruchart JC, Staels B. Modulation of hepatic inflammatory risk markers of cardiovascular diseases by PPAR-alpha activators: clinical and experimental evidence. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2006;26(5):977-986.
- 406. Marx N, Sukhova GK, Collins T, Libby P and Plutzky J. PPARalpha activators inhibit cytokine-induced vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 expression in human endothelial cells. Circulation. 1999;99(24):3125-3131.
- 407. Delerive P, Martin-Nizard F, Chinetti G, Trottein F, Fruchart JC, Najib J, Duriez P and Staels B. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor activators inhibit thrombin-induced endothelin-1 production in human vascular endothelial cells by inhibiting the activator protein-1 signaling pathway. Circ Res. 1999;85(5):394-402.
- 408. Dierkes J, Luley C, Westphal S. Effect of lipid-lowering and anti-hypertensive drugs on plasma homocysteine levels. Vasc Health Risk Manag. 2007;3(1):99-108.
- 409. Davidson MH, Armani A, McKenney JM and Jacobson TA. Safety considerations with fibrate therapy. Am J Cardiol. 2007;99(6A):3C-18C.
- 410. Davidson MH. Statin/fibrate combination in patients with metabolic syndrome or diabetes: evaluating the risks of pharmacokinetic drug interactions. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2006;5:145–156.
- 411.Jacobson TA. Myopathy with statin-fibrate combination therapy: clinical considerations. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2009;5(9):507-518.
- 412.Kota SK, Meher LK, Rao ES, Jammula S and Modi KD. Efficacy and safety of statin and fibrate combination therapy in lipid management. Diabetes Metab Syndr. 2012;6(3):173-174.
- 413.Altschul R, Hoffer A, Stephen JD. Influence of nicotinic acid on serum cholesterol in man. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 1955;54(2):558–559.
- 414.Carlson LA, Hamsten A and Asplund A. Pronounced lowering of serum levels of lipoprotein Lp(a) in hyperlipidaemic subjects treated with nicotinic acid. J. Intern. Med. 1989;226:271–276.
- 415. Tavintharan S & Kashyap ML. The benefits of niacin in atherosclerosis. Curr Atheroscler Rep 2001;3(1):74– 82.
- 416.Bodor ET & Offermanns S. Nicotinic acid: an old drug with a promising future. British Journal of Pharmacology. 2008:153:S68–S75.
- 417.Ganji SH, Kamanna VS and Kashyap ML. Niacin and cholesterol: role in cardiovascular disease (review). J Nutr Biochem. 2003;14(6):298-305.
- 418.Karpe F & Frayn KN. The nicotinic acid receptor-a new mechanism for an old drug. Lancet 2004;363:1892– 1894.
- 419.Tunaru S, Kero J, Schaub A, Wufka C, Blaukat A, Pfeffer K and Offermanns S. PUMA-G and HM74 are receptors for nicotinic acid and mediate its anti-lipolytic effect. Nat Med. 2003;9(3):352-355.
- 420. Duncan RE, Ahmadian M, Jaworski K, Sarkadi-Nagy E and Sul HS. Regulation of lipolysis in adipocytes. Annu Rev Nutr. 2007;27:79–101.
- 421.Ganji SH, Tavintharan S, Zhu D, Xing Y, Kamanna VS and Kashyap ML. Niacin noncompetitively inhibits DGAT2 but not DGAT1 activity in HepG2 cells. J Lipid Res. 2004;45(10):1835-1845.
- 422.Gille A, Bodor ET, Ahmed K and Offermanns S. Nicotinic Acid: Pharmacological Effects and Mechanisms of Action. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 2008;48:79–106.)
- 423.Lamon-Fava S, Diffenderfer MR, Barrett PH, Buchsbaum A, Nyaku M, Horvath KV, Asztalos BF, Otokozawa S, Ai M and Matthan NR. Extended-release niacin alters the metabolism of plasma apolipoprotein (Apo) A-I and ApoB-containing lipoproteins. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2008;28:1672-1678.

- 424.Haas MJ, Alamir AR, Sultan S, Chehade JM, Wong NC and Mooradian AD. Nicotinic acid induces apolipoprotein A-I gene expression in HepG2 and Caco-2 cell lines. Metabolism. 2011;60:1790-1796.
- 425.Rubic T, Trottmann M, and Lorenz RL. Stimulation of CD36 and the key effector of reverse cholesterol transport ATP-binding cassette A1 in monocytoid cells by niacin. Biochem Pharmacol. 2004;67:411–419.
- 426.Wu ZH & Zhao SP. Niacin promotes cholesterol efflux through stimulation of the PPARgamma-LXRalpha-ABCA1 pathway in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Pharmacology. 2009;84:282-287.
- 427.Ganji SH, Qin S, Zhang L, Kamanna VS and Kashyap ML. Niacin inhibits vascular oxidative stress, redoxsensitive genes, and monocyte adhesion to human aortic endothelial cells. Atherosclerosis. 2009;202:68– 75.
- 428. Tavintharan S, Lim SC and Sum CF. Effects of niacin on cell adhesion and early atherogenesis: biochemical and functional findings in endothelial cells. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 2009;104(3):206-210.
- 429.Digby JE, Martinez F, Jefferson A, Ruparelia N, Chai J, Wamil M, Greaves DR and Choudhury RP. Antiinflammatory effects of nicotinic acid in human monocytes are mediated by GPR109A dependent mechanisms. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2012 Mar;32(3):669-676.
- 430.Kuvin JT, Dave DM, Sliney KA, Mooney P, Patel AR, Kimmelstiel CD and Karas RH. Effects of extendedrelease niacin on lipoprotein particle size, distribution, and inflammatory markers in patients with coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol. 2006;98:743–745.
- 431.Sorrentino SA, Besler C, Rohrer L, Meyer M, Heinrich K, Bahlmann FH, Mueller M, Horváth T, Doerries C, Heinemann M, Flemmer S, Markowski A, Manes C, Bahr MJ, Haller H, von Eckardstein A, Drexler H and Landmesser U. Endothelial-vasoprotective effects of high-density lipoprotein are impaired in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus but are improved after extended-release niacin therapy. Circulation. 2010;121(1):110-22.
- 432.Warnholtz A, Wild P, Ostad MA, Elsner V, Stieber F, Schinzel R, Walter U, Peetz D, Lackner K, Blankenberg S and Munzel T. Effects of oral niacin on endothelial dysfunction in patients with coronary artery disease: results of the randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled INEF study. Atherosclerosis. 2009;204:216–221.
- 433.Wu BJ, Yan L, Charlton F, et al. Evidence that niacin inhibits acute vascular inflammation and improves endothelial dysfunction independent of changes in plasma lipids. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2010; 30:968–975.
- 434. Rosenson RS. Antiatherothrombotic effects of nicotinic acid. Atherosclerosis. 2003;171(1):87-96.
- 435.Westphal S, Borucki K, Taneva E, Makarova R and Luley C. Extended-release niacin raises adiponectin and leptin. Atherosclerosis. 2007;193(2):361-365.
- 436.Plaisance EP, Lukasova M, Offermanns S, Zhang Y, Cao G and Judd RL. Niacin stimulates adiponectin secretion through the GPR109a receptor. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2009;296:E549–E558.
- 437. Digby JE, McNeill E, Dyar OJ, et al. Anti-inflammatory effects of nicotinic acid in adipocytes demonstrated by suppression of fractalkine, RANTES, and MCP-1 and upregulation of adiponectin. Atherosclerosis. 2010;209:89–95.
- 438.Garg A, Grundy SM. Nicotinic acid as therapy for dyslipidemia in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. JAMA. 1990;264(6):723-726.
- 439. Poynten AM, Gan SK, Kriketos AD, O'Sullivan A, Kelly JJ, Ellis BA, Chisholm DJ, Campbell LV. Nicotinic acidinduced insulin resistance is related to increased circulating fatty acids and fat oxidation but not muscle lipid content. Metabolism. 2003;52(6):699-704.
- 440.Lawrence SP. Transient focal hepatic defects related to sustained-release niacin. J. Clin. Gastroenterol. 1993;16:234–236.
- 441.Elam MB, Hunninghake DB, Davis KB, Garg R, Johnson C, Egan D, Kostis JB, Sheps DS and Brinton EA. Effect of niacin on lipid and lipoprotein levels and glycemic control in patients with diabetes and peripheral arterial disease: the ADMIT study: A randomized trial. Arterial Disease Multiple Intervention Trial. JAMA. 2000;284(10):1263-1270.
- 442.Shah PK. Emerging HDL-based therapies for atherothrombotic vascular disease.Curr Treat Options Cardiovasc Med. 2007;9(1):60-70.)
- 443.Badimon JJ, Badimon L and Fuster V. Regression of atherosclerotic lesions by high density lipoprotein plasma fraction in the cholesterol-fed rabbit. J Clin Invest. 1990;85:1234-1241.

- 444. Miyazaki A, Sakuma S, Morikawa W, Takiue T, Miake F, Terano T, Sakai M, Hakamata H, Sakamoto Y, Natio M, et al. Intravenous injection of rabbit apolipoprotein A-I inhibits the progression of atherosclerosis in cholesterol-fed rabbits. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1995;15(11):1882-1888.
- 445.Ibanez B, Vilahur G, Cimmino G, Speidl WS, Pinero A, Choi BG, Zafar MU, Santos-Gallego CG, Krause B, Badimon L, Fuster V, Badimon JJ: Rapid change in plaque size, composition, and molecular footprint after recombinant apolipoprotein A-I Milano (ETC-216) administration: magnetic resonance imaging study in an experimental model of atherosclerosis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008, 51:1104-1109.
- 446.Ibanez B, Giannarelli C, Cimmino G, Santos-Gallego CG, Alique M, Pinero A, Vilahur G, Fuster V, Badimon L, Badimon JJ. Recombinant HDL(Milano) exerts greater anti-inflammatory and plaque stabilizing properties than HDL(wild-type). Atherosclerosis. 2012;220(1):72-77.).
- 447.Nissen SE, Tsunoda T, Tuzcu EM, Schoenhagen P, Cooper CJ, Yasin M, Eaton GM, Lauer MA, Sheldon WS, Grines CL, Halpern S, Crowe T, Blankenship JC and Kerensky R. Effect of recombinant ApoA-I Milano on coronary atherosclerosis in patients with acute coronary syndromes: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2003;290:2292-2300.
- 448.Nicholls SJ, Tuzcu EM, Sipahi I, Schoenhagen P, Crowe T, Kapadia S and Niossen SE. Relationship between atheroma regression and change in lumen size after infusion of apolipoprotein A-I Milano. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2006;47:992-997.
- 449.Tardif JC, Grégoire J, L'Allier PL, Ibrahim R, Lespérance J, Heinonen TM, Kouz S, Berry C, Basser R, Lavoie MA, Guertin MC, Rodés-Cabau J; Effect of rHDL on Atherosclerosis-Safety and Efficacy (ERASE) Investigators. Effects of reconstituted high-density lipoprotein infusions on coronary atherosclerosis: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2007;297(15):1675-1682.
- 450.Redondo S, Martínez-González J, Urraca C, Tejerina T. Emerging therapeutic strategies to enhance HDL function. Lipids Health Dis. 2011;10:175.
- 451.Sethi AA, Amar M, Shamburek RD, Remaley AT. Apolipoprotein AI mimetic peptides: possible new agents for the treatment of atherosclerosis. Curr Opin Investig Drugs. 2007 Mar;8(3):201-212.
- 452.Getz GS, Wool GD, Reardon CA. Biological properties of apolipoprotein a-I mimetic peptides. Curr Atheroscler Rep. 2010;12(2):96-104.
- 453.Sherman CB, Peterson SJ, Frishman WH. Apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptides: a potential new therapy for the prevention of atherosclerosis.Cardiol Rev. 2010;18(3):141-147.
- 454.Bloedon LT, Dunbar R, Duffy D, Pinell-Salles P, Norris R, DeGroot BJ, Movva R, Navab M, Fogelman AM, Rader DJ. Safety, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics of oral apoA-I mimetic peptide D-4F in high-risk cardiovascular patients. J Lipid Res. 2008;49(6):1344-1352.
- 455.Bailey D, Jahagirdar R, Gordon A, Hafiane A, Campbell S, Chatur S, Wagner GS, Hansen HC, Chiacchia FS, Johansson J, Krimbou L, Wong NC and Genest J. RVX-208: a small molecule that increases apolipoprotein A-I and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol in vitro and in vivo. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010;55(23):2580-2589.
- 456. McNeill E. RVX-208, a stimulator of apolipoprotein AI gene expression for the treatment of cardiovascular diseases. Curr Opin Investig Drugs. 2010;11(3):357-364.
- 457.Nicholls SJ, Gordon A, Johansson J, Wolski K, Ballantyne CM, Kastelein JJ, Taylor A, Borgman M, Nissen SE. Efficacy and safety of a novel oral inducer of apolipoprotein a-I synthesis in statin-treated patients with stable coronary artery disease a randomized controlled trial. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;57(9):1111-1119.
- 458.Nicholls SJ, Gordon A, Johannson J, Ballantyne CM, Barter PJ, Brewer HB, Kastelein JJ, Wong NC, Borgman MR, Nissen SE. ApoA-I induction as a potential cardioprotective strategy: rationale for the SUSTAIN and ASSURE studies. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther. 2012 Apr;26(2):181-187.
- 459.Shoenfeld Y, Gerli R, Doria A, Matsuura E, Cerinic MM, Ronda N, Jara LJ, Abu-Shakra M, Meroni PL, Sherer Y. Accelerated atherosclerosis in autoimmune rheumatic diseases. Circulation. 2005;112(21):3337-47.
- 460.Zeller CB & Appenzeller S. Cardiovascular disease in systemic lupus erythematosus: the role of traditional and lupus related risk factors. Curr Cardiol Rev. 2008;4(2):116-122
- 461. Abou-Raya A. & Abou-Raya S. Inflammation: a pivotal link between autoimmune diseases and atherosclerosis. Autoimm Rev. 2006,5:331–7.
- 462.Pawlik A, Ostanek L, Brzosko I, Brzosko M, Masiuk M, Machalinski B and Gawronska-Szklarz B. The expansion of CD4+CD28- T cells in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Res Ther. 2003;5(4):R210-3.

- 463.Ronda N & Meroni PL. Accelerated Atherosclerosis in Autoimmune diseases, In. Diagnostic Criteria in Autoimmune Diseases. 2008;383-387 Shoenfeld, Y.; Cervera, R.& Gershwin, M. E., 383-388, Humana Press, ISBN 978-1-60327-284-1, Totowa
- 464. Febbraio M, Podrez EA, Smith JD, Hajjar DP, Hazen SL, Hoff HF, Sharma K, Silverstein RL. Targeted disruption of the class B scavenger receptor CD36 protects against atherosclerotic lesion development in mice. J Clin Invest. 2000 Apr;105(8):1049-56.
- 465.Dansky HM, Charlton SA, Harper MM, Smith JD. T and B lymphocytes play a minor role in atherosclerotic plaque formation in the apolipoprotein E-deficient mouse. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997 Apr 29;94(9):4642-6.
- 466. Freigang S, Hörkkö S, Miller E, Witztum JL, Palinski W. Immunization of LDL receptor-deficient mice with homologous malondialdehyde-modified and native LDL reduces progression of atherosclerosis by mechanisms other than induction of high titers of antibodies to oxidative neoepitopes. rterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1998 Dec;18(12):1972-82.
- 467.Areschoug T & Gordon S. Scavenger receptors: role in innate immunity and microbial pathogenesis. Cell Microbiol. 2009;11(8):1160-1169.
- 468.Kumar H, Kawai T and Akira S. Toll-like receptors and innate immunity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2009;388(4):621-625.
- 469. Libby P, Ridker PM and Maseri A. Inflammation and atherosclerosis. Circulation. 2002;105(9):1135-1143.
- 470.van Vliet SJ, den Dunnen J, Gringhuis SI, Geijtenbeek TB and van Kooyk Y. Innate signaling and regulation of Dendritic cell immunity. Curr Opin Immunol. 2007;19(4):435-440.
- 471.Akira S. Pathogen recognition by innate immunity and its signaling. Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci. 2009;85(4):143-156.
- 472.Packard RR, Lichtman AH and Libby P. Innate and adaptive immunity in atherosclerosis. Semin Immunopathol. 2009;31(1):5-22.
- 473.Andersson J, Libby P and Hansson GK. Adaptive immunity and atherosclerosis. Clin Immunol. 2010;134(1):33-46.
- 474.Zhang S, Zhang H and Zhao J. The role of CD4 T cell help for CD8 CTL activation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2009;384:405-440.
- 475.Janeway CA Jr, Travers P, Walport M, et al. Immunobiology: The Immune System in Health and Disease. 5th edition. New York: Garland Science; 2001. B-cell activation by armed helper T cells.).
- 476.Chen X & Jensen PE. The role of B lymphocytes as antigenpresenting cells. Arch. Immunol. Ther. Exp. (Warsz). 2008;56:77–83.
- 477.Lund FE. Cytokine-producing B lymphocytes-key regulators of immunity. Curr Opin Immunol. 2008;20(3):332-338.
- 478. Avci FY, Li X, Tsuji M, Kasper DL. The mechanism for glycoconjugate vaccine activation of the adaptive immune system and its implications for vaccine design. Nat Med. 2011;17(12):1602-1609.
- 479. Lundberg AM & Hansson GK. Innate immune signals in atherosclerosis. Clin. Immunol. 2010;134:5–24.
- 480.Edfeldt K, Swedenborg J, Hansson GK, Yan ZQ. Expression of toll-like receptors in human atherosclerotic lesions: a possible pathway for plaque activation. Circulation. 2002;105:1158–1161.
- 481.Newton K & Dixit VM. Signaling in innate immunity and inflammation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2012;4(3):1-19
- 482.Miller YI, Choi SH, Wiesner P, Fang L, Harkewicz R, Hartvigsen K, Boullier A, Gonen A, Diehl CJ, Que X, Montano E, Shaw PX, Tsimikas S, Binder CJ, Witztum JL. Oxidation-specific epitopes are danger-associated molecular patterns recognized by pattern recognition receptors of innate immunity. Circ Res. 2011;108(2):235-248.
- 483. Duewell P, Kono H, Rayner KJ, Sirois CM, Vladimer G, Bauernfeind FG, Abela GS, Franchi L, Nuñez G, Schnurr M, Espevik T, Lien E, Fitzgerald KA, Rock KL, Moore KJ, Wright SD, Hornung V and Latz E. NLRP3 inflammasomes are required for atherogenesis and activated by cholesterol crystals. Nature. 2010;464(7293):1357-1361.
- 484. Hansson GK & Hermansson A. The immune system in atherosclerosis. Nat Immunol. 2011;12(3):204-212.

- 485.Seneviratne AN, Sivagurunathan B and Monaco C. Toll-like receptors and macrophage activation in atherosclerosis. Clin Chim Acta. 2012;413(1-2):3-14.
- 486.Hansson GK, Holm J and Jonasson L. Detection of activated T lymphocytes in the human atherosclerotic plaque. Am J Pathol. 1989;135(1):169-175.
- 487.Stemme S, Faber B, Holm J, Wiklund O, Witztum JL and Hansson GK. T lymphocytes from human atherosclerotic plaques recognize oxidized low density lipoprotein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92(9):3893-3897.
- 488.Grivel JC, Ivanova O, Pinegina N, Blank PS, Shpektor A, Margolis LB and Vasilieva E. Activation of T lymphocytes in atherosclerotic plaques. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2011;31(12):2929-2937.
- 489. Frostegard J, Ulfgren AK, Nyberg P, Hedin U, Swedenborg J, Andersson U and Hansson GK. Cytokine expression in advanced human atherosclerotic plaques: dominance of pro-inflammatory (Th1) and macrophage-stimulating cytokines. Atherosclerosis. 1999;145(1):33-43.
- 490. Whitman SC, Ravisankar P, Elam H and Daugherty A. Exogenous interferon-[gamma] enhances atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E–/– mice. Am J Pathol. 2000;157(6):1819–1824.
- 491.Buono C, Come CE, Stavrakis G, Maguire GF, Connelly PW and Lichtman AH. Influence of interferon-gamma on the extent and phenotype of diet-induced atherosclerosis in the LDLR-deficient mouse. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2003;23(3):454–460.
- 492.Panousis CG & Zuckerman SH. Regulation of cholesterol distribution in macrophage-derived foam cells by interferon-gamma. J Lipid Res. 2000;41:75-83.
- 493.King VL, Szilvassy SJ and Daugherty A. Interleukin-4 deficiency decreases atherosclerotic lesion formation in a site-specific manner in female LDL receptor-/- mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2002;22(3):456–4613.
- 494.King VL, Cassis LA and Daugherty A. Interleukin-4 does not influence development of hypercholesterolemia or angiotensin II-induced atherosclerotic lesions in mice. Am J Pathol. 2007;171(6):2040–2047.
- 495.Cardilo-Reis L, Gruber S, Schreier SM, Drechsler M, Papac-Milicevic N, Weber C, Wagner O, Stangl H, Soehnlein O and Binder CJ. Interleukin-13 protects from atherosclerosis and modulates plaque composition by skewing the macrophage phenotype. EMBO Mol Med. 2012;4(10):1072-1086.
- 496.Binder CJ, Hartvigsen K, Chang MK, Miller M, Broide D, Palinski W, Curtiss LK, Corr M and Witztum JL. IL-5 links adaptive and natural immunity specific for epitopes of oxidized LDL and protects from atherosclerosis. J Clin Invest. 2004;114(3):427-437.
- 497.Harrington LE, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM and Weaver CT. Interleukin 17producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. Nature immunology. 2005;6(11):1123-1132.
- 498.Waite JC & Skokos D. Th17 response and inflammatory autoimmune diseases. Int J Inflam. 2012;2012:819467.
- 499.Taleb S, Tedgui A, and Mallat Z. Interleukin-17: friend or foe in atherosclerosis? Curr Opin Lipidol. 2010;21(5):404–408.
- 500.Smith E, Prasad KM, Butcher M, Dobrian A, Kolls JK, Ley K and Galkina E. Blockade of interleukin-17A results in reduced atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Circulation. 2010;121(15):1746-1755.
- 501.Xie JJ, Wang J, Tang TT, Chen J, Gao XL, Yuan J, Zhou ZH, Liao MY, Yao R, Yu X, Wang D, Cheng Y, Liao YH and Cheng X. The Th17/Treg functional imbalance during atherogenesis in ApoE(-/-) mice. Cytokine. 2010;49(2):185-193.
- 502. Eid RE, Rao DA, Zhou J, Lo SF, Ranjbaran H, Gallo A, Sokol SI, Pfau S, Pober JS and Tellides G. Interleukin-17 and interferon-gamma are produced concomitantly by human coronary artery-infiltrating T cells and act synergistically on vascular smooth muscle cells. Circulation. 2009;119(10):1424-1432.
- 503.Erbel C, Dengler TJ, Wangler S, Lasitschka F, Bea F, Wambsganss N, Hakimi M, Böckler D, Katus HA and Gleissner CA. Expression of IL-17A in human atherosclerotic lesions is associated with increased inflammation and plaque vulnerability. Basic Res Cardiol. 2011;106(1):125-134.
- 504.Ng HP, Burris RL and Nagarajan S. Attenuated atherosclerotic lesions in apoE-Fcγ-chain-deficient hyperlipidemic mouse model is associated with inhibition of Th17 cells and promotion of regulatory T cells. J Immunol. 2011;187(11):6082-6093.

- 505. Taleb S, Romain M, Ramkhelawon B, Uyttenhove C, Pasterkamp G, Herbin O, Esposito B, Perez N, Yasukawa H, Van Snick J, Yoshimura A, Tedgui A and Mallat Z. Loss of SOCS3 expression in T cells reveals a regulatory role for interleukin-17 in atherosclerosis. J Exp Med. 2009;206(10):2067-2077.
- 506. Cheng X, Taleb S, Wang J, Tang TT, Chen J, Gao XL, Yao R, Xie JJ, Yu X, Xia N, Yan XX, Nie SF, Liao MY, Cheng Y, Mallat Z and Liao YH. Inhibition of IL-17A in atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis. 2011;215(2):471-474.
- 507.Wilke CM, Bishop K, Fox D, Zou W. Deciphering the role of Th17 cells in human disease. Trends Immunol. 2011;32(12):603–611.
- 508.Lee YK, Turner H, Maynard CL, Oliver JR, Chen D, Elson CO and Weaver CT. Late developmental plasticity in the T helper 17 lineage. Immunity. 2009;30(1):92-107.
- 509.Peck A & Mellins ED. Plasticity of T-cell phenotype and function: the T helper type 17 example. Immunology. 2010;129(2):147-153.
- 510.Taleb S, Tedgui A and Mallat Z. Regulatory T-cell immunity and its relevance to atherosclerosis. J Intern Med. 2008;263(5):489-499.
- 511.Ait-Oufella H, Taleb S, Mallat Z and Tedgui A. Cytokine network and T cell immunity in atherosclerosis. Semin Immunopathol. 2009;31(1):23-33.
- 512.Ait-Oufella H, Salomon BL, Potteaux S, Robertson AK, Gourdy P, Zoll J, Merval R, Esposito B, Cohen JL, Fisson S, Flavell RA, Hansson GK, Klatzmann D, Tedgui A and Mallat Z. Natural regulatory T cells control the development of atherosclerosis in mice. Nat Med. 2006;12(2):178-180.
- 513.Gotsman I, Grabie N, Gupta R, Dacosta R, MacConmara M, Lederer J, Sukhova G, Witztum JL, Sharpe AH, Lichtman AH. Impaired regulatory T-cell response and enhanced atherosclerosis in the absence of inducible costimulatory molecule. Circulation. 2006;114(19):2047-2055.
- 514.van Es T, van Puijvelde GH, Foks AC, Habets KL, Bot I, Gilboa E, Van Berkel TJ and Kuiper J. Vaccination against Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells aggravates atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis. 2010;209(1):74-80.
- 515. Robertson AK, Rudling M, Zhou X, Gorelik L, Flavell RA and Hansson GK. Disruption of TGF-beta signaling in T cells accelerates atherosclerosis.J Clin Invest. 2003;112(9):1342-1350.
- 516. Feng J, Zhang Z, Kong W, Liu B, Xu Q and Wang X. Regulatory T cells ameliorate hyperhomocysteinaemiaaccelerated atherosclerosis in apoE-/- mice. Cardiovasc Res. 2009;84(1):155-163.
- 517. Mallat Z, Gojova A, Brun V, Esposito B, Fournier N, Cottrez F, Tedgui A and Groux H. Induction of a regulatory T cell type 1 response reduces the development of atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-knockout mice. Circulation. 2003;108(10):1232-1237.
- 518.Lin J, Li M, Wang Z, He S, Ma X and Li D. The role of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in macrophage-derived foam-cell formation. J Lipid Res. 2010;51(5):1208-1217.
- 519. Maganto-García E, Bu DX, Tarrio ML, Alcaide P, Newton G, Griffin GK, Croce KJ, Luscinskas FW, Lichtman AH, Grabie N. Foxp3+-inducible regulatory T cells suppress endothelial activation and leukocyte recruitment. J Immunol. 2011;187(7):3521-3529.
- 520.Maganto-García E, Tarrio ML, Grabie N, Bu DX, Lichtman AH. Dynamic changes in regulatory T cells are linked to levels of diet-induced hypercholesterolemia. Circulation. 2011;124(2):185-195.
- 521.Zhou X & Hansson GK. Detection of B cells and proinflammatory cytokines in atherosclerotic plaques of hypercholesterolaemic apolipoprotein E knockout mice. Scand J Immunol. 1999;50:25-30.
- 522. Aubry MC, Riehle DL, Edwards WD, Maradit-Kremers H, Roger VL, Sebo TJ and Gabriel SE. B-Lymphocytes in plaque and adventitia of coronary arteries in two patients with rheumatoid arthritis and coronary atherosclerosis: preliminary observations. Cardiovasc Pathol. 2004;13(4):233-236
- 523.Metzler B, Abia R, Ahmad M, Wernig F, Pachinger O, Hu Y and Xu Q. Activation of heat shock transcription factor 1 in atherosclerosis. Am J Pathol. 2003;162(5):1669-1676.
- 524.Armitage JD, Homer-Vanniasinkam S and Lindsey NJ. The role of endothelial cell reactive antibodies in peripheral vascular disease. Autoimmun Rev. 2004;3(2):39-44.
- 525.Prohászka Z & Fust G. Immunological aspects of heat-shock proteins the optimum stress of life. Mol Immunol. 2004;41:29-44.

- 526.Xu Q, Kiechl S, Mayr M, Metzler B, Egger G, Oberhollenzer F, Willeit J, Wick G. Association of serum antibodies to heat-shock protein 65 with carotid atherosclerosis : clinical significance determined in a follow-up study. Circulation. 1999;100(11):1169-1174.
- 527.Knoflach M, Kiechl S, Kind M, Said M, Sief R, Gisinger M, van der Zee R, Gaston H, Jarosch E, Willeit J and Wick G. Cardiovascular risk factors and atherosclerosis in young males: ARMY study (Atherosclerosis Risk-Factors in Male Youngsters). Circulation. 2003;108(9):1064-1069.
- 528.Zhu J, Quyyumi AA, Rott D, Csako G, Wu H, Halcox J and Epstein SE. Antibodies to human heat-shock protein 60 are associated with the presence and severity of coronary artery disease: evidence for an autoimmune component of atherogenesis. Circulation. 2001;103(8):1071-1075
- 529.Ghayour-Mobarhan M, Lamb DJ, Tavallaie S and Ferns GA. Relationship between plasma cholesterol, von Willebrand factor concentrations, extent of atherosclerosis and antibody titres to heat shock proteins-60, 65 and -70 in cholesterol-fed rabbits. Int J Exp Pathol. 2007;88(4):249-255.
- 530. Mandal K, Jahangiri M and Xu Q. Autoimmunity to heat shock proteins in atherosclerosis. Autoimmun Rev. 2004;3(2):31-37.
- 531.Shi Y & Tokunaga O. Chlamydia pneumoniae and multiple infections in the aorta contribute to atherosclerosis. Pathol Int. 2002;52:755-763.
- 532. Blasi C. The autoimmune origin of atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis. 2008 201:17-32
- 533.Binder CJ, Shaw PX, Chang MK, Boullier A, Hartvigsen K, Hörkkö S, Miller YI, Woelkers DA, Corr M and Witztum JL. The role of natural antibodies in atherogenesis.J Lipid Res. 2005;46(7):1353-1363).
- 534.Palinski W, Rosenfeld ME, Ylä-Herttuala S, Gurtner GC, Socher SS, Butler SW, Parthasarathy S, Carew TE, Steinberg D and Witztum JL. Low density lipoprotein undergoes oxidative modification in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1989;86(4):1372-1376.
- 535.Ameli S, Hultgårdh-Nilsson A, Regnström J, Calara F, Yano J, Cercek B, Shah PK, Nilsson J. Effect of immunization with homologous LDL and oxidized LDL on early atherosclerosis in hypercholesterolemic rabbits. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1996 Aug;16(8):1074-1079.
- 536.Zhou X, Caligiuri G, Hamsten A, Lefvert AK, Hansson GK. LDL immunization induces T-cell-dependent antibody formation and protection against atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2001;21(1):108-114.
- 537. Hulthe J, Bokemark L and Fagerberg B. Antibodies to oxidized LDL in relation to intima-media thickness in carotid and femoral arteries in 58-year-old subjectively clinically healthy men. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2001; 21:101-107.
- 538.Karvonen J, Päivänsalo M, Kesäniemi YA, Horkko S. Immunoglobulin M type of autoantibodies to oxidized low-density lipoprotein has an inverse relation to carotid artery atherosclerosis. Circulation. 2003;108(17):2107-2112.
- 539.Tsimikas S, Brilakis ES, Lennon RJ, Miller ER, Witztum JL, McConnell JP, Kornman KS and Berger PB. Relationship of IgG and IgM autoantibodies to oxidized low density lipoprotein with coronary artery disease and cardiovascular events. J Lipid Res. 2007;48(2):425-433.
- 540.Gonçalves I, Gronholdt ML, Söderberg I, Ares MP, Nordestgaard BG, Bentzon JF, Fredrikson GN and Nilsson J. Humoral immune response against defined oxidized low-density lipoprotein antigens reflects structure and disease activity of carotid plaques. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2005 Jun;25(6):1250-1255.
- 541.George J, Harats D, Gilburd B, Afek A, Levy Y, Schneiderman J, Barshack I, Kopolovic J and Shoenfeld Y. Immunolocalization of beta2-glycoprotein I (apolipoprotein H) to human atherosclerotic plaques: potential implications for lesion progression. Circulation. 1999;99(17):2227-2230.
- 542.Kasahara J, Kobayashi K, Maeshima Y, Yamasaki Y, Yasuda T, Matsuura E and Makino H. Clinical significance of serum oxidized low-density lipoprotein/beta2-glycoprotein I complexes in patients with chronic renal diseases. Nephron Clin Pract. 2004;98(1):c15-24.
- 543.Lopez D, Kobayashi K, Merrill JT, Matsuura E, Lopez LR. IgG autoantibodies against beta2-glycoprotein I complexed with a lipid ligand derived from oxidized low-density lipoprotein are associated with arterial thrombosis in antiphospholipid syndrome. Clin Dev Immunol. 2003;10:203-211

- 544. Ames PR, Delgado Alves J, Lopez LR, Gentile F, Margarita A, Pizzella L, Batuca J, Scenna G, Brancaccio V, Matsuura E. Antibodies against beta2-glycoprotein I complexed with an oxidised lipoprotein relate to intima thickening of carotid arteries in primary antiphospholipid syndrome. Clin Dev Immunol. 2006;13(1):1-9.
- 545. Tabuchi M, Inoue K, Usui-Kataoka H, Kobayashi K, Teramoto M, Takasugi K, Shikata K, Yamamura M, Ando K, Nishida K, Kasahara J, Kume N, Lopez LR, Mitsudo K, Nobuyoshi M, Yasuda T, Kita T, Makino H and Matsuura E. The association of C-reactive protein with an oxidative metabolite of LDL and its implication in atherosclerosis. J Lipid Res. 2007;48(4):768-781.
- 546. Chang MK, Binder CJ, Torzewski M and Witztum JL. C-reactive protein binds to both oxidized LDL and apoptotic cells through recognition of a common ligand: Phosphorylcholine of oxidized phospholipids. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(20):13043-13048
- 547. Forastiero RR, Martinuzzo ME and de Larrañaga GF. Circulating levels of tissue factor and proinflammatory cytokines in patients with primary antiphospholipid syndrome or leprosy related antiphospholipid antibodies. Lupus. 2005;14(2):129-136.
- 548.Ames PR, Antinolfi I, Ciampa A, Batuca J, Scenna G, Lopez LR, Delgado Alves J, Iannaccone L, Matsuura E. Primary antiphospholipid syndrome: a low-grade auto-inflammatory disease? Rheumatology (Oxford). 2008;47(12):1832-1837.
- 549. Harris EN, Gharavi AE, Boey ML, Patel BM, Mackworth-Young CG, Loizou S and Hughes GR. Anticardiolipin antibodies: detection by radioimmunoassay and association with thrombosis in systemic lupus erythematosus. Lancet. 1983;2(8361):1211-1214.
- 550.McNeil HP, Simpson RJ, Chesterman CN and Krilis SA. Anti-phospholipid antibodies are directed against a complex antigen that includes a lipid-binding inhibitor of coagulation: beta 2-glycoprotein I (apolipoprotein H). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1990;87(11):4120-448.
- 551.Love PE & Santoro SA. Antiphospholipid antibodies: anticardiolipin and the lupus anticoagulant in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and in non-SLE disorders. Ann Intern Med. 1990;112:682:698.
- 552. Matsuura E, Kobayashi K, Tabuchi M and Lopez LR. Accelerated atheroma in the antiphospholipid syndrome. Rheum Dis Clin North Am. 2006;32(3):537-551.
- 553.Kobayashi K, Lopez LR, Shoenfeld Y and Matsuura E. The role of innate and adaptive immunity to oxidized low-density lipoprotein in the development of atherosclerosis. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2005;1051:442-454.
- 554.George J, Afek A, Gilburd B, Blank M, Levy Y, Aron-Maor A, Levkovitz H, Shaish A, Goldberg I, Kopolovic J, Harats D and Shoenfeld Y. Induction of early atherosclerosis in LDL-receptor-deficient mice immunized with beta2-glycoprotein I. Circulation. 1998;98(11):1108-1115.
- 555. Ames PR, Margarita A, Delgado Alves J, Tommasino C, Iannaccone L, Brancaccio V. Anticardiolipin antibody titre and plasma homocysteine level independently predict intima media thickness of carotid arteries in subjects with idiopathic antiphospholipid antibodies. Lupus. 2002;11(4):208-14.
- 556. Delgado Alves J, Ames PR, Donohue S, Stanyer L, Nourooz-Zadeh J, Ravirajan C, Isenberg DA. Antibodies to high-density lipoprotein and beta2-glycoprotein I are inversely correlated with paraoxonase activity in systemic lupus erythematosus and primary antiphospholipid syndrome. Arthritis Rheum. 2002;46(10):2686-2694.
- 557.Caligiuri G, Nicoletti A, Poirier B, Hansson GK. Protective immunity against atherosclerosis carried by B cells of hypercholesterolemic mice. J Clin Invest. 2002;109(6):745-753.
- 558. Major AS, Fazio S and Linton MF. B-lymphocyte deficiency increases atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-null mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2002;22(11):1892-1898.
- 559.Ait-Oufella H, Herbin O, Bouaziz JD, Binder CJ, Uyttenhove C, Laurans L, Taleb S, Van Vré E, Esposito B, Vilar J, Sirvent J, Van Snick J, Tedgui A, Tedder TF and Mallat Z. B cell depletion reduces the development of atherosclerosis in mice. J Exp Med. 2010;207(8):1579-1587.
- 560.Kyaw T, Tay C, Khan A, Dumouchel V, Cao A, To K, Kehry M, Dunn R, Agrotis A, Tipping P, Bobik A and Toh BH. Conventional B2 B cell depletion ameliorates whereas its adoptive transfer aggravates atherosclerosis. J Immunol. 2010;185(7):4410-4419.
- 561.Kyaw T, Tay C, Hosseini H, Kanellakis P, Gadowski T, MacKay F, Tipping P, Bobik A and Toh BH. Depletion of B2 but not B1a B cells in BAFF receptor-deficient ApoE mice attenuates atherosclerosis by potently ameliorating arterial inflammation.PLoS One. 2012;7(1):e29371.

- 562.Sage AP, Tsiantoulas D, Baker L, Harrison J, Masters L, Murphy D, Loinard C, Binder CJ and Mallat Z. BAFF receptor deficiency reduces the development of atherosclerosis in mice--brief report. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2012;32(7):1573-1576.
- 563.Sims GP, Ettinger R, Shirota Y, Yarboro CH, Illei GG and Lipsky PE. Identification and characterization of circulating human transitional B cells. Blood. 2005;105(11):4390-4398.
- 564.Lee J, Kuchen S, Fischer R, Chang S, Lipsky PE. Identification and characterization of a human CD5+ pre-naive B cell population. J Immunol. 2009;182(7):4116-4126.
- 565.Baumgarth N. The double life of a B-1 cell: self-reactivity selects for protective effector functions. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11(1):34-46.
- 566. Mauri C & Bosma A. Immune regulatory function of B cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 2012;30:221-2241.
- 567. Ulevitch RJ, Johnston AR and Weinstein DB. New function for high density lipoproteins. Isolation and characterization of a bacterial lipopolysaccharide-high density lipoprotein complex formed in rabbit plasma. J Clin Invest. 1981;67(3):827-837.
- 568. Levine DM, Parker TS, Donnelly TM, Walsh A and Rubin AL. In vivo protection against endotoxin by plasma high density lipoprotein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993;90(24):12040-12044.
- 569. Wang Y, Zhu X, Wu G, Shen L, Chen B. Effect of lipid-bound apoA-I cysteine mutants on lipopolysaccharideinduced endotoxemia in mice. J Lipid Res. 2008;49(8):1640-16405.
- 570. Dai L, Datta G, Zhang Z, Gupta H, Patel R, Honavar J, Modi S, Wyss JM, Palgunachari M, Anantharamaiah GM and White CR. The apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide 4F prevents defects in vascular function in endotoxemic rats. J Lipid Res. 2010;51(9):2695-2705.).
- 571.Kim KD, Lim HY, Lee HG, Yoon DY, Choe YK, Choi I, Paik SG, Kim YS, Yang Y and Lim JS. Apolipoprotein A-I induces IL-10 and PGE2 production in human monocytes and inhibits dendritic cell differentiation and maturation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2005 Dec 16;338(2):1126-1136.
- 572.Yvan-Charvet L, Ranalletta M, Wang N, Han S, Terasaka N, Li R, Welch C, Tall AR. Combined deficiency of ABCA1 and ABCG1 promotes foam cell accumulation and accelerates atherosclerosis in mice. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(12):3900-8.
- 573.Weber C & Noels H. Atherosclerosis: current pathogenesis and therapeutic options. Nat Med. 2011;17(11):1410-1422.
- 574. Kabouridis PS, Janzen J, Magee AL and Ley SC. Cholesterol depletion disrupts lipid rafts and modulates the activity of multiple signaling pathways in T lymphocytes. Eur J Immunol. 2000;30(3):954-963.
- 575. Anderson HA, Hiltbold EM and Roche PA. Concentration of MHC class II molecules in lipid rafts facilitates antigen presentation. Nat Immunol 2000;1:156e62.1.
- 576.Goebel J, Forrest K, Flynn D, Rao R and Roszman TL. Lipid rafts, major histocompatibility complex molecules, and immune regulation. Hum Immunol. 2002;63(10):813-820.
- 577.Wang SH, Yuan SG, Peng DQ and Zhao SP. HDL and ApoA-I inhibit antigen presentation-mediated T cell activation by disrupting lipid rafts in antigen presenting cells. Atherosclerosis. 2012;225(1):105-114
- 578.Dinu AR, Merrill JT, Shen C, Antonov IV, Myones BL and Lahita RG. Frequency of antibodies to the cholesterol transport protein apolipoprotein A1 in patients with SLE. Lupus. 1998;7(5):355-60.
- 579. Delgado Alves J, Kumar S and Isenberg DA. Cross-reactivity between anti-cardiolipin, anti-high-density lipoprotein and anti-apolipoprotein A-I IgG antibodies in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and primary antiphospholipid syndrome. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2003;42(7):893-899.
- 580.Dati F & Tate J. Reference Materials for the Standardization of the Apolipoproteins A-I and B, and Lipoprotein(a). eJIFCC. 2002;13(3).)
- 581.Eckerson HW, Wyte CM, La Du BN. The human serum paraoxonase/arylesterase polymorphism. Am J Hum Genet. 1983;35(6):1126-1138.
- 582. Moshage H, Kok B, Huizenga JR, Jansen PL. Nitrite and nitrate determinations in plasma: a critical evaluation. Clin Chem. 1995; 41:892-6.).
- 583.Giovannoni G, Land JM, Keir G, Thompson EJ, Heales SJ. Adaptation of the nitrate reductase and Griess reaction methods for the measurement of serum nitrate plus nitrite levels. Ann Clin Biochem. 1997;34 (Pt 2):193-198.

- 584. Morrow J, Nelson L, Watts R, Isenberg D. Systemic lupus erythematosus. In Autoimmune rheumatic disease. Oxford (UK): Oxford University Press 1999; 56-103.
- 585. Molokhia M & McKeigue P. Systemic lupus erythematosus: genes versus environment in high risk populations. Lupus. 2006;15(11):827-832.
- 586.Chakravarty EF, Bush TM, Manzi S, Clarke AE and, Ward MM. Prevalence of adult systemic lupus erythematosus in California and Pennsylvania in 2000: estimates obtained using hospitalization data. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56(6):2092-2094.
- 587.Tan EM, Cohen AS, Fries JF, Masi AT, McShane DJ, Rothfield NF, Schaller JG, Talal N and Winchester RJ. The 1982 revised criteria for the classification of systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 1982;25(11):1271-1277.
- 588. Hochberg MC. Updating the American College of Rheumatology revised criteria for the classification of systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 1997;40:1725.
- 589. Mok CC & Lau CS. Pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. J Clin Pathol. 2003; 56(7): 481–490.
- 590.Dean GS, Tyrrell-Price J, Crawley E and Isenberg DA. Cytokines and systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Rheum Dis. 2000;59(4):243-251.
- 591.McHugh NJ. Systemic lupus erythematosus and dysregulated apoptosis-what is the evidence? Rheumatology (Oxford). 2002;41(3):242-245.
- 592.Nagy G, Koncz A and Perl A. T- and B-cell abnormalities in systemic lupus erythematosus. Crit Rev Immunol. 2005;25(2):123-140.
- 593.Sherer Y, Gorstein A, Fritzler MJ and Shoenfeld Y. Autoantibody explosion in systemic lupus erythematosus: more than 100 different antibodies found in SLE patients. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2004;34(2):501-537.
- 594. Ward MM. Premature morbidity from cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases in women with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 1999;42: 338–346.
- 595. Manzi, S. Systemic lupus erythematosus: a model for atherogenesis? Rheumatology (Oxford) 2000; 39:353– 9.
- 596.Svenungsson E, Jensen-Urstad K, Heimbürger M, et al. Risk factors for cardiovascular disease in systemic lupus erythematosus Circulation. 2001;104(16):1887-93.
- 597.Roman MJ, Shanker BA, Davis A, et al. Prevalence and correlates of accelerated atherosclerosis in systemic lupus erythematosus. N Engl J Med 2003; 349:2399–406.
- 598.Borba EF, Bonfa E. Dyslipoproteinemias in systemic lupus erythematosus: influence of disease, activity, and anticardiolipin antibodies. Lupus 1997; 6: 533-539.
- 599.Lahita RG et al. Low levels of total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein, and apolipoprotein A1 in association with anticardiolipin antibodies in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 1993;36: 1566-1574.
- 600.Leong K.H, Koh ET, Feng PH, Boey ML. Lipid profiles in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol 1994; 21:1264-1267.
- 601. Vaarala O, Alfthan G, Jauhiainen M, Leirisalo-Repo M, Aho K, Palosuo T. Crossreaction between antibodies to oxidised low-density lipoprotein and to cardiolipin in systemic lupus erythematosus. Lancet 1993; 341:923-5.
- 602.Gladman D, Ginzler E, Goldsmith C et al. The development and initial validation of the Systemic Lupus International Collaborating Clinics/American College of Rheumatology damage index for systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 1996; 39: 363-369.
- 603.Yee CS, Isenberg DA, Prabu A et al. BILAG-2004 Index captures SLE disease activity better than SLEDAI-2000. Ann Rheum Dis 2008; 67:873-876.
- 604. Tripi LM, Manzi S, Chen Q et al. Relationship of serum paraoxonase 1 activity and paraoxonase 1 genotype to risk of systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 2006; 54: 1928-1939.
- 605.Belmont HM, Levartovsky D, Goel A et al. Increased nitric oxide production accompanied by the upregulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase in vascular endothelium from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 1997;40:1810-1816.

- 606. Moshage H, Kok B, Huizenga JR, Jansen PL. Nitrite and nitrate determinations in plasma: a critical evaluation. Clin Chem 1995; 41: 892-896.
- 607.Gilkeson G, Cannon C, Oates J, Reilly C, Goldman D, Petri M. Correlation of serum measures of nitric oxide production with lupus disease activity. J Rheumatology 1999;26: 318–324.
- 608.Calabresi L, Gomaraschi M, Villa B, Omoboni L, Dmitrieff C, Franceschini G. Elevated soluble cellular adhesion molecules in subjects with low HDL-cholesterol. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2002; 22:656–61.
- 609.Janssen BA, Luqmani RA, Gordon C, Hemingway IH, Bacon PA, Gearing AJ, Emery P. Correlation of blood levels of soluble vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 with disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus and vasculitis. Br J Rheumatol 1994; 33: 1112-1116.
- 610. Ikeda Y, Fujimoto T, Ameno M, Shiiki H, Dohi K. Relationship between lupus nephritis activity and the serum level of soluble VCAM-1. Lupus 1998; 7: 347-354.
- 611.Ho CY, Wong CK, Li EK, Tam LS, Lam CW. Elevated plasma concentrations of nitric oxide, soluble thrombomodulin and soluble vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Rheumatology 2003; 42: 117-122.
- 612.Sabry A, Sheashaa H, El-Husseini A, El-Dahshan K, Abdel-Rahim M, Elbasyouni SR. Intercellular adhesion molecules in systemic lupus erythematosus patients with lupus nephritis. Clin Rheumatol 2007; 26: 1819-1823.
- 613.Spronk PE, Bootsma H, Huitema MG, Limburg PC, Kallenberg CG. Levels of soluble VCAM-1, soluble ICAM-1, and soluble E-selectin during disease exacerbations in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE); a long-term prospective study. Clin Exp Immunol 1994; 97: 439-444.
- 614.Cybulsky MI, liyama K, Li H et al. A major role for VCAM-1, but not ICAM-1, in early atherosclerosis. J Clin Invest 2001; 107: 1255-1262.
- 615. Vuilleumier N, Charbonney E, Fontao L, Alvarez M, Turck N, Sanchez JC, Burkhard PR, Mensi N, Righini M, Reber G, James R, Mach F, Chevrolet JC, Dayer JM, Frostegard J, Roux-Lombard P. Anti-(apolipoprotein A-1) IgGs are associated with high levels of oxidized low-density lipoprotein in acute coronary syndrome. Clin Sci (Lond). 2008;115(1):25-33.
- 616. Vuilleumier N, Rossier MF, Pagano S, Python M, Charbonney E, Nkoulou R, James R, Reber G, Mach F, Roux-Lombard P. Anti-apolipoprotein A-1 IgG as an independent cardiovascular prognostic marker affecting basal heart rate in myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J. 2010;31(7):815-23
- 617. Montecucco F, Vuilleumier N, Pagano S, Lenglet S, Bertolotto M, Braunersreuther V, Pelli G, Kovari E, Pane B, Spinella G, Pende A, Palombo D, Dallegri F, Mach F, Roux-Lombard P. Anti-Apolipoprotein A-1 autoantibodies are active mediators of atherosclerotic plaque vulnerability.Eur Heart J. 2011;32(4):412-21.
- 618.Sirtori CR, Fumagalli R. LDL-cholesterol lowering or HDL-C raising for cardiovascular prevention. A lesson from cholesterol turnover studies and others. Atherosclerosis. 2006; 186:1-11.
- 619. Tousoulis D, Boger RH, Antoniades C, Siasos G, Stefanadi E, Stefanadis C. Mechanisms of disease: L-arginine in coronary atherosclerosis--a clinical perspective. Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med. 2007; 4: 274-283.
- 620.Lauer T, Preik M, Rassaf T, Strauer BE, Deussen A, Feelisch M, Kelm M. Plasma nitrite rather than nitrate reflects regional endothelial nitric oxide synthase activity but lacks intrinsic vasodilator action. PNAS. 2001; 98:12814–12819.
- 621.Kleinbongard P, Dejam A, Lauer T, Rassaf T, Schindler A, Picker O et al. Plasma nitrite reflects constitutive nitric oxide synthase activity in mammals. Free Radic Biol Med. 2003; 35:790-796.
- 622.Kleinbongard P, Dejam A, Lauer T, Jax T, Kerber S, Gharini P et al. Plasma nitrite concentrations reflect the degree of endothelial dysfunction in humans. Free Radic Biol Med 2006; 40:295-302.
- 623.Pacher P, Beckman JS, Liaudet L. Nitric oxide and peroxynitrite in health and disease. Physiol Rev. 2007;87(1):315-424.
- 624. Ponnuswamy P, Ostermeier E, Schrottle A, Chen J, Huang PL, Ertl G, Nieswandt B, Kuhlencordt PJ. Oxidative stress and compartment of gene expression determine proatherosclerotic effects of inducible nitric oxide synthase. Am J Pathol. 2009;174(6):2400-2410.
- 625. Thomas DD, Ridnour LA, Isenberg JS, Flores-Santana W, Switzer CH, Donzelli S, Hussain P, Vecoli C, Paolocci P, Ambs S, Colton CA, Harris CC, Roberts DD, Wink DA. The chemical biology of nitric oxide: Implications in cellular signalling. Free Radical Biology & Medicine. 2008; 45:18-31.

- 626.Peluffo G, Radi R. Biochemistry of protein tyrosine nitration in cardiovascular pathology. Cardiovasc Res 2007; 75:291-302.
- 627.Shai I, Pischon T, Hu FB, Ascherio A, Rifai N, Rimm EB. Soluble intercellular adhesion molecules, soluble vascular cell adhesion molecules, and risk of coronary heart disease. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2006;14(11):2099-2106.
- 628.Shyu KG, Chang H, Lin CC. Serum levels of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 and E-selectin in patients with acute ischaemic stroke. J Neurol. 1997;244(2):90-93.
- 629.Brondani R, Rieder CR, Valente D, Araujo LF, Clausell N. Levels of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and endothelin-1 in ischemic stroke: a longitudinal prospective study. Clin Biochem. 2007;40(3-4):282-284.
- 630. O'Brien KD, Allen MD, McDonald TO, Chait A, Harlan JM, Fishbein D, McCarty J, Ferguson M, Hudkins K, Benjamin CD, et al. Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 is expressed in human coronary atherosclerotic plaques. Implications for the mode of progression of advanced coronary atherosclerosis. J Clin Invest. 1993;92(2):945-951.
- 631.Cybulsky MI, Gimbrone MA, Jr. Endothelial expression of a mononuclear leukocyte adhesion molecule during atherogenesis. Science. 1991;251(4995):788-791.
- 632. Hwang SJ, Ballantyne CM, Sharrett AR, Smith LC, Davis CE, Gotto AM, Jr., Boerwinkle E. Circulating adhesion molecules VCAM-1, ICAM-1, and E-selectin in carotid atherosclerosis and incident coronary heart disease cases: the Atherosclerosis Risk In Communities (ARIC) study. Circulation. 1997;96(12):4219-4225.
- 633.Ridker PM, Hennekens CH, Roitman-Johnson B, Stampfer MJ, Allen J. Plasma concentration of soluble intercellular adhesion molecule 1 and risks of future myocardial infarction in apparently healthy men. Lancet. 1998;351(9096):88-92.
- 634.de Lemos JA, Hennekens CH, Ridker PM. Plasma concentration of soluble vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and subsequent cardiovascular risk. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2000; 36 (2):423-426.
- 635. Malik I, Danesh J, Whincup P, Bhatia V, Papacosta O, Walker M, Lennon L, Thomson A, Haskard D. Soluble adhesion molecules and prediction of coronary heart disease: a prospective study and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2001; 358 (9286): 971-976.
- 636.Blankenberg S, Rupprecht HJ, Bickel C, Peetz D, Hafner G, Tiret L, Meyer J. Circulating cell adhesion molecules and death in patients with coronary artery disease. Circulation. 2001;104(12):1336-1342.
- 637.Castillo J, Alvarez-Sabín J, Martínez-Vila E, Montaner J, Sobrino T, Vivancos J; MITICO Study Investigators. Inflammation markers and prediction of post-stroke vascular disease recurrence: the MITICO study. Neurol. 2009; 256:217-224.
- 638. Rallidis LS, Zolindaki MG, Vikelis M, Kaliva K, Papadopoulos C, Kremastinos DT: Elevated soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 levels are associated with poor short-term prognosis in middle-aged patients with acute ischaemic stroke. Int J Cardiol 2009, 132(2):216-220.
- 639.Patel S, Drew BG, Nakhla S, Duffy SJ, Murphy AJ, Barter PJ, Rye KA, Jaye-Chin-Dusting, Hoang A, Sviridov D, Celermajer DS and Kingwell BA. Reconstituted High-Density Lipoprotein Increases Plasma High-Density Lipoprotein Anti-Inflammatory Properties and Cholesterol Efflux Capacity in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. J American College of Cardiology. 2009;53:962-971.
- 640. Van Linthout S, Spillmann F, Schultheiss HP, Tschöpe C. High-density lipoprotein at the interface of type 2 diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disorders. Curr Pharm Des. 2010 May;16(13):1504-16.
- 641. American Diabetes Association. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2008 Jan;31 Suppl 1:S55-60.
- 642. Elkeles RS. Blood glucose and coronary heart disease. Eur Heart J. 2000;21(21):1735-1737.
- 643.Khan HA. Clinical significance of HbA1c as a marker of circulating lipids in male and female type 2 diabetic patients. Acta Diabetol. 2007;44(4):193-200.
- 644.Schmidt AM, Yan SD, Wautier JL, Stern D. Activation of receptor for advanced glycation end products: a mechanism for chronic vascular dysfunction in diabetic vasculopathy and atherosclerosis. Circ Res. 1999; 84:489–497.
- 645.Basta G, Schmidt AM, De Caterina R. Advanced glycation end products and vascular inflammation: implications for accelerated atherosclerosis in diabetes. Cardiovasc Res 2004;63:582–92.

- 646.Mastorikou M, Mackness B, Liu Y and Mackness M. Glycation of paraoxonase-1 inhibits its activity and impairs the ability of high-density lipoprotein to metabolize membrane lipid hydroperoxides. Diabet Med. 2008;25(9):1049-1055.
- 647.Liu D, Ji L, Zhang D, Tong X, Pan B, Liu P, Zhang Y, Huang Y, Su J, Willard B and Zheng L. Nonenzymatic glycation of high-density lipoprotein impairs its anti-inflammatory effects in innate immunity. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2012;28(2):186-195.
- 648. Ashby DT, Rye K-A, Clay MA, Vadas MA, Gamble JR and Barter PJ. 1998. Factors influencing the ability of HDL to inhibit expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 in endothelial cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 18:1450–5.
- 649.Xia P, Vadas MA, Rye KA, Barter PJ, Gamble JR. High density lipoproteins (HDL) interrupt the sphingosine kinase signaling pathway: a possible mechanism for protection against atherosclerosis by HDL. J Biol Chem. 1999;274:33143–33147.
- 650.Lee S, Chen TT, Barber CL, Jordan MC, Murdock J, Desai S, Ferrara N, Nagy A, Roos KP and Iruela-Arispe ML. Autocrine VEGF signaling is required for vascular homeostasis. Cell. 2007 Aug 24;130(4):691-703.
- 651.Scott RC, Rosano JM, Ivanov Z, Wang B, Chong PL, Issekutz AC, Crabbe DL and Kiani MF. Targeting VEGFencapsulated immunoliposomes to MI heart improves vascularity and cardiac function. FASEB J. 2009;23(10):3361-3367.
- 652. Miura S, Fujino M, Matsuo Y, Kawamura A, Tanigawa H, Nishikawa H, Saku K. High density lipoproteininduced angiogenesis requires the activation of Ras/MAP kinase in human coronary artery endothelial cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2003. 23(5):802-8.
- 653.Backes JM, Gibson CA and Howard PA. Optimal lipid modification: the rationale for combination therapy. Vasc Health Risk Manag. 2005;1(4):317-331.
- 654. Jin FY, Kamanna VS and Kashyap ML. Niacin decreases removal of high-density lipoprotein apolipoprotein A-I but not cholesterol ester by Hep G2 cells. Implication for reverse cholesterol transport. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1997;17:2020-2028.
- 655.van der Hoorn JW, de Haan W, Berbée JF, Havekes LM, Jukema JW, Rensen PC and Princen HM. Niacin increases HDL by reducing hepatic expression and plasma levels of cholesteryl ester transfer protein in APOE*3Leiden.CETP mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2008;28:2016-2022.
- 656. McCormick SP. Lipoprotein(a): biology and clinical importance. Clin Biochem Rev. 2004 Feb;25(1):69-80.
- 657.Kamstrup PR, Tybjaerg-Hansen A, Steffensen R and Nordestgaard BG. Genetically elevated lipoprotein(a) and increased risk of myocardial infarction. JAMA. 2009;301(22):2331-2339.
- 658.Abbott Laboratories (2008). Prescribing Information for NIASPAN extended release tablets. Available at http://www.rxabbott.com/pdf/niaspan.pdf, accessed 5 January, 2010.
- 659.Tang WH, Villines T, Hazen S, Stanek E, Hulten E and Taylor A. Effect of niacin and ezetimebe on serum paraoxonase/arylesterase activity of HDL cholesterol. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012;59(13s1):E1497-E1497.
- 660. Manzi S, Meilahn EN, Rairie JE, Conte CG, Medsger TA Jr, Jansen-McWilliams L, D'Agostino RB and Kuller LH. Age-specific incidence rates of myocardial infarction and angina in women with systemic lupus erythematosus: comparison with the Framingham Study. Am J Epidemiol. 1997;145(5):408-415.
- 661. Bruce IN, Gladman DD and Urowitz MB. Premature atherosclerosis in systemic lupus erythematosus. Rheum Dis Clin North Am. 2000;26:257-278.
- 662.Schönbeck U & Libby P. Inflammation, immunity, and HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors: statins as antiinflammatory agents? Circulation. 2004;109(21 Suppl 1):II18-26.
- 663.Gazzerro P, Proto MC, Gangemi G, Malfitano AM, Ciaglia E, Pisanti S, Santoro A, Laezza C and Bifulco M. Pharmacological actions of statins: a critical appraisal in the management of cancer. Pharmacol Rev. 2012;64(1):102-146.
- 664. Malhotra HS, Goa KL. Atorvastatin: an updated review of its pharmacological properties and use in dyslipidaemia. Drugs. 2001;61(12):1835-1881.
- 665.McTaggart F & Jones P. Effects of statins on high-density lipoproteins: a potential contribution to cardiovascular benefit. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther. 2008;22(4):321-338.

- 666. Atmeh RF, Shepherd J, Packard CJ. Subpopulations of apolipoprotein A-I in human high-density lipoproteins. Their metabolic properties and response to drug therapy. Biochim Biophys Acta 1983;751:175–88.
- 667.Deakin S, Leviev I, Guernier S and James RW. Simvastatin modulates expression of the PON1 gene and increases serum paraoxonase: a role for sterol regulatory element-binding protein-2. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2003;23(11):2083-2099.
- 668.Nagila A, Permpongpaiboon T, Tantrarongroj S, Porapakkham P, Chinwattana K, Deakin S and Porntadavity S. Effect of atorvastatin on paraoxonase1 (PON1) and oxidative status. Pharmacol Rep. 2009;61(5):892-898.
- 669.Harangi M, Mirdamadi HZ, Seres I, Sztanek F, Molnár M, Kassai A, Derdák Z, Illyés L and Paragh G. Atorvastatin effect on the distribution of high-density lipoprotein subfractions and human paraoxonase activity. Transl Res. 2009;153(4):190-198.
- 670.Ahmad FK, Zhiheng H, King GL. Molecular Targets of Diabetic Cardiovascular Complications. Current Drug Targets. 2005;6:487–494.
- 671.Mazzone T, Chait A and Plutzky J. Cardiovascular disease risk in type 2 diabetes mellitus: insights from mechanistic studies. Lancet. 2008;371(9626):1800-1809.
- 672.Gopaul NK, Anggård EE, Mallet AI, Betteridge DJ, Wolff SP and Nourooz-Zadeh J. Plasma 8-epi-PGF2 alpha levels are elevated in individuals with non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. FEBS Lett. 1995;368(2):225-229.
- 673. Davì G, Ciabattoni G, Consoli A, Mezzetti A, Falco A, Santarone S, Pennese E, Vitacolonna E, Bucciarelli T, Costantini F, Capani F and Patrono C. In vivo formation of 8-iso-prostaglandin f2alpha and platelet activation in diabetes mellitus: effects of improved metabolic control and vitamin E supplementation. Circulation. 1999;99(2):224-229.
- 674.Davì G, Falco A and Patrono C. Lipid peroxidation in diabetes mellitus. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2005;7(1-2):256-268.
- 675.Lopez LR, Hurley BL, Simpson DF and Matsuura E. Oxidized low-density lipoprotein/β2-glycoprotein I complexes in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Ann NY Acad Sci 2005;1051:97-103.
- 676.Kopprasch S, Pietzsch J, Kuhlisch E, Fuecker K, Temelkova-Kurktschiev T, Hanefeld M, Kühne H, Julius U and Graessler J. In vivo evidence for increased oxidation of circulating LDL in impaired glucose tolerance. Diabetes. 2002;51(10):3102-3106.
- 677.Serin O, Konukoglu D, Firtina S and Mavis O. Serum oxidized low density lipoprotein, paraoxonase 1 and lipid peroxidation levels during oral glucose tolerance test. Horm Metab Res. 2007;39(3):207-211.
- 678. Mackness B, Marsillach J, Elkeles RS, Godsland IF, Feher MD, Rubens MB, Flather MD, Humphries SE, Cooper J and Mackness M. Paraoxonase-1 is not associated with coronary artery calcification in type 2 diabetes: results from the PREDICT study. Dis Markers. 2012;33(2):101-12.
- 679.Istvan ES, Desienhofer J. Structural mechanism for statin inhibition of HMG-CoA reductase. Science. 2001;292:1160–1164.
- 680.World Health Organisation: Diabetes mellitus: Report of a WHO Study Group. Tech Rep Ser #727:1-113. Geneva: World Health Organisation, 1985.
- 681.Arellano-Montano S, Bastarrachea-Sosa RA, Bourges-Rodriguez H et al. La obesidad en Mexico. Revista Endocrinologia Nutricion 2004; 12 (Suppl 3):S80-87.
- 682.Hahn BH Should antibodies to high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and its components be measured in all systemic lupus erythematosus patients to predict risk of atherosclerosis? Arthritis Rheum. 2010;62(3):639-642.